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Morningstar® Document Research™

FORM10-K

READING INTERNATIONAL INC -RDI

Filed: March 07, 2014 (period: December 31, 2013)

Annual report with a comprehensive overview of the company

The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user
assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information, except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be
limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.
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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549
FORM 10-K
[ ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Forthe fiscal year ended December 31,2013 or

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934
For the transition period from to

Commission File No. 1-8625
READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

NEVADA 95-3885184
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (LR.S. Employer Identification Number)
6100 Center Dr., Suite 900
Los Angeles, CA 90045
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
Registrant’s telephone number, including Area Code: (213)235-2240
Securities Registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Name ofeach exchange on which registered
Class A Nonvoting Common Stock, $0.01 par value NASDAQ
Class B Voting Commeon Stock, $0.01 par value NASDAQ

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities
Act. Yes [0 No

If this report is an annual or transition report, indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file
reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Yes O No

Indicate by check mark whether registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of
the Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for shorter period than the Registrant was required to file
such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes M No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site,
if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation 5-T (§ 232.405
of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and
post such files). Yes¥ No [

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation $-K is not contained
herein, and will not be contained, to the best ofthe registrants knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements
incomporated by reference in Part Il ofthis Form 10-K of any amendments to this Form 10-K. O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated
filer, or a smaller reporting company. See definition of“large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting
company” in Rule 12b-2 ofthe Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer 00 Accelerated filer ¥ Non-accelerated filer 0 Smaller reporting company O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act). Yes [0 No M

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer’s classes of common stock, as of the latest
practicable date. AsofMarch 6,2014, there were 22,015,738 shares of class A non-voting common stock, par value $0.01
per share and 1,495,490 shares of class B voting common stock, par value $0.01 per share, outstanding. The aggregate
market value of voting and nonvoting stock held by non-affiliates of the Registrant was $112,400.,258 as of June 30,
2013,
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PART 1
Item 1 — OQur Business

General Description of Qur Business

Reading Intemational, Inc., a Nevada corporation (“RDI”), was incomporated in 1999 incident to our
reincorporation in Nevada. Our class Anon-voting common stock (“Class A Stock™) and class B voting common stock
(“Class B Stock™) are listed for trading on the NASDAQ Capital Market (Nasdag-CM) under the symbols RDI and RDIB,
respectively. Our principal executive offices are located at 6100 Center Drive, Suite 900, Los Angeles, California
90045. Our general telephone number is (213) 235-2240 and our website is www.readingrdi.com. It is our practice to
make available free of charge on our website our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, cumrent
reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Sections 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after we have electronically filed such material with or furnished it to the
Securities and Exchange Commission. In this Annual Report, we from time to time use terms such as the “Company,”
“Reading” and “we,” “‘us,” or “our” to refer collectively to RDI and our various consolidated subsidiaries and comporate
predecessors.

We are an internationally diversified “hard asset” company principally focused on the development,
ownership and operation of entertainment and real property assets in the United States, Australia, and New
Zealand. Currently, we have two business segments:

1. Cinema Exhibition, through our 56 cinemas, and
2.  Real Estate, including real estate development and the rental of retail, commercial and live theater assets.

We believe that these two business segments complement one another, as the comparatively consistent cash
flows generated by our cinema operations allow us to be opportunistic in acquiring and holding real estate assets, and can
be used not only to grow and develop our cinema business but also to help fund the front-end cash demands of our real
estate development business.

At December 31, 2013, the book value of our assets was $386.8 million, and, as of that same date, we had a
consolidated stockholders’ book equity of $121.7 million. Calculated based on book value, $120.7 million or 30%, of
our assets relate to our cinema exhibition activities and $226.9 million or 59%, of our assets relate to our real estate
activities. At December 31, 2013, we had cash and cash equivalents of $37.7 million, which is accounted for as a
corporate asset. Our cash included $23.0 million denominated in the U.S. dollars, $7.5 million (AUS$$8.4 million) in
Australia dollars, and $7.2 million (NZ$8.7 million) in New Zealand dollars.

Bedi e _
Business Line Asset Allocation
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For additional segment financial information, please see Note 22 — Business Segments and Geographic Area
Information to our 2013 Consolidated Financial Statements.

We have diversified our assets among three countries: the United States, Australia, and New Zealand. At
December 31, 2013, we had approximately 29% of our assets (based on net book value) in the United States, 51% in
Australia and 20% in New Zealand compared to 29%, 53%, and 18% at the end of 2012. For 2013, our gross revenue in
these jurisdictions was §131.5 million, $100.4 million, and $26.3 million, respectively, compared to $121.5 million,
$108.3 million, and $24.6 million for 2012.

20113
Geographic Revenue Rlloeation
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For additional financial information conceming the geographic distribution of our business, please see Note 22 —
Business Segmenis and Geographic Avea Information to our 2013 Consolidated Financial Statements.

While we do not believe the cinema exhibition business to be a growth business, we do believe it to be a
business that will likely continue to generate fairly consistent cash flows in the years ahead even in recessionary or
inflationary environments. This is based on our belief that people will continue to spend some reasonable portion of their
entertainment dollar on entertainment outside of the home, and, that when compared to other forms of outside the home
entertainment, movies continue to be a popular and competitively priced option. As we believe the cinema exhibition
business to be a mature business with most markets either adequately screened or over-screened, we see growth in our
cinema business coming principally from the enhancement of our current cinemas, the development in select markets of
specialty cinemas, and the oppeortunistic acquisition of already existing cinemas rather than from the development of new
conventional cinemas.

In 2012, we essentially completed the conversion of our U.S. cinemas to digital projection, and followed that up
with a conversion of our Australia and New Zealand cinemas, which was completed in 2013. In 2013, we took back a
cinema in New Zealand that, at the time we acquired the property, was already leased to a competitor We are now in the
process of upgrading that cinema into a state-ofithe art facility and plan to begin operations in the 3® Quarter of
2014. We are also working to expand our Angelika Film Center circuit. In the last quarter of 2013, we and Edens, a
nationally known developer, announced our plans to develop a new Angelika style cinema in the Union Market district
of Washington D.C. It is currently anticipated that this Angelika will open in mid-2016. Also, we are advancing plans to
convert one of our San Diego area cinemas to an upgraded Angelika format, and working on plans to upgrade the food
and beverage offerings at a number of our U.S. cinemas. Finally, during 2013, we acquired equity interests in entities
holding the leases to two of our Angelika Film Centers.

Given the resurgence of Manhattan commercial real estate values, we intend to redevelop our Cinemas 1,2 & 3
property and our Union Square property. Overseas, in 2013, we entered into a lease agreement for a new grocery store
anchor tenant in our Courtenay Central property in Wellington, New Zealand and are actively pursuing

APP_PAGE_1032



the development of the next phase of that center. Additionally, we have obtained the necessary land use approvals and
are working on plans to add a cinema to our Newmarket shopping center in Brisbane, Australia.

Historically, it has not been our practice to sell assets, except in connection with the repositioning of such assets
to a higher and better use. However, in light of the current market conditions and our desire to free up capital and pay
down debt, in 2012, we sold our 24,000 square foot office building in Indooroopilly, Australia for $12.4 million
(AUS$12.0 million). In 2013, we entered into a purchase and sale agreement to sell our 3.3-acre properties in Moonee
Ponds for AUS$23.0 million which is scheduled to close on April 16, 2015 and is classified as land held for sale on our
December 31, 2013 consolidated balance sheet. We are continuing to evaluate our options with respect to our 50.6-acre
Burwood property in Australia and our 70.3-acre Manukau property in New Zealand. We may sell all or portions ofthese
properties to provide liquidity for other projects. In evaluating whether to sell a particular property, we consider the
potential upside in a particular property and costs required to achieve that upside compared to the opportunities
presented by our other properties.

Typically, we have endeavored to mateh the cumrency in which we have financed our development with the
jurisdiction within which these developments are located. We have followed this approach to reduce our risk to currency
fluctuations.  This structure has, however, somewhat limited our ability to move cash from one jurisdiction to
another. During 2012, we deviated somewhat from this policy by purchasing $8.0 million in time deposits denominated
in U.S. dollars and held by an Australian bank which matured in January 2013. Additionally, at December 31, 2013, we
hold $4.5 million in Australia and $495,000 in New Zealand denominated in U.S. dollars.

In summary, while we do have operating company attributes, we see ourselves principally as a geographically
diversified real estate and cinema company and intend to add to stockhelder value by building the value of our portfolio
of tangible real estate and entertainment-oriented assets. We endeavor to maintain a reasonable asset allocation between
our U.5. and international assets and operations, and between our cash generating cinema operations and our cash
consuming real estate development activities. We believe that by blending the cash generating capabilities of a cinema
operation with the investment and development opportunities of our real estate operation coupled with our international
diversification of assets, our business strategy is unigque among public companies. While historically we have retained our
properties through development, we continue to evaluate the sale of certain assets to provide capital to develop our
remaining properties.

At December 31,2013, our principal assets included:

s interestsin 55 cinemas comprising some 463 screens;

e fee interests in four live theaters (the Union Square, the Orpheum and Minetta Lane in Manhattan and the Royal
George in Chicago);

e fee ownership of approximately 24.0 million square feet of developed and undeveloped real estate; and

e cash, cash equivalents, and time deposits aggregating $37.7 million.

Our Cinema Exhibition Activities
General
We conduct our cinema operations on four basic and rather simple premises:

¢ first, notwithstanding the enormous advances that have been made in home entertainment technology, humans
are essentially social beings, and will continue to want to go beyond the home for their entertainment, provided
that they are offered clean, comfortable and convenient facilities, with state ofthe art technology;

s second, cinemas can be used as anchors for larger retail developments and our invelvement in the cinema
business can give us an advantage over other real estate developers or redevelopers who must identify and
negotiate exclusively with third party anchor tenants;

e third, pure cinema operators can get themselves into financial difficulty as demands upon them to produce
cinema based earnings growth tempt them into reinvesting their cash flow into increasingly marginal cinema
sites. While we believe that there will continue to be attractive opportunities to acquire cinema assets and/or to
develop upper end specialty type theaters (like our Angelika Film Centers) in the future, we do not feel pressure
to build or acquire cinemas for the sake of adding units. We intend to focus ouruse
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of cash flow on our real estate development and operating activities, to the extent that attractive cinema
opportunities are not available to us; and

« fourth, we are always open to the idea of converting an entertainment property to another use, if there is a higher
and better use for the property, or to sell individual assets, if we are presented with an attractive opportunity.

Our current cinema assets that we own and/or manage are as set forth in the following chart:

Wholly Owned Consolidated" Tlnconsolidated® Managed® Totals
Australia 18 cinemas 2 cinemas | cinema’ None 21 cinemas
138 screens 11 screens 16 screens 165 screens
New Zealand 7 cinemas None 2 cinemas® None 9 cinemas
40 screens 13 screens 53 screens
United States 24 cinemas | cinema None 1 cinema 26 cinemas
242 screens 3 screens 4 screens 249 screens
Totals 49 cinemas 3 cinemas 3 cinemas 1 cinemas 56 cinemas
420 screens 14 screens 29 screens 4 screens 467 screens

[1] Cinemas owned and operated through consolidated, but not wholly owned subsidiaries.

[2] Cinemas owned and operated through unconsolidated subsidiaries.

[3] Cinemas in which we have no ownership interest, but which are operated by us under management agreements.
[4] 33.3% unincorporated joint venture interest.

[5] 50% unincorporated joint venture interests.

We focus on the ownership and/or operation of three categories of cinemas:

o first, modern stadium seating multiplex cinemas featuring conventional film product;

e second, specialty and art cinemas, such as our Angelika Film Centers in Manhattan, Dallas, Plano, and Fairfax,
Virginia and the Rialto cinema chain in New Zealand; and

e third, in some markets, particularly small town markets that will not support the development of a modern
stadium design multiplex cinema, conventional sloped floor cinemas.

We also have various premium class offerings including luxury seating, premium audio, private lounges, café
and bar service, and other amenities in certain of our cinemas and are in the process of converting certain of our exiting
cinemas to provide this premium offering.

Although we operate cinemas in three jurisdictions, the general nature of our operations and operating strategies
does not vary materially from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. In each jurisdiction, our gross receipts are primarily from box
office receipts, concession sales, and screen advertising. Our ancillary revenue is created principally from theater rentals
(for example, for film festivals and special events), ancillary programming (such as concerts and sporting events), and
internet advertising and ticket sales.

Our cinemas generated approximately 67% oftheir 2013 revenue from box office receipts. Ticket prices vary by
location and we offer reduced rates for senior citizens and children.

Show times and features are placed in advertisements in local newspapers, intemet sites, and on our various
websites. In the United States, film distributors may also advertise certain feature films in various print, radio and
television media, as well as on the internet and those costs are generally paid by distributors. In Australia and New
Zealand, the exhibitor typically pavs the costs of local newspaper film advertisements, while the distributors are
responsible for the cost of any national advertising campaign.
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Concession sales accounted for approximately 27% ofour total 2013 cinema revenue. Although certain cinemas
have licenses for the sale and consumption of alcoholic beverages, concession products primarily include popcorn,
candy, and soda.

Screen advertising and other revenue contribute approximately 6% of our total 2013 cinema revenue. With the
exception of certain rights that we have retained to sell to local advertisers, generally speaking, we are not in the screen
advertising business and nationally recognized screen-advertising companies provide such advertising for us.

In New Zealand, we also own a one-third interest in Rialto Distribution. Rialto Distribution, an unincorporated
joint venture, is engaged in the business of distributing art film in New Zealand and Australia. The remaining 2/3 interest
is owned by the founders ofthe company, who have been in the art film distribution business since 1993.

Management of Cinemas

With the exception of our three unconsolidated cinemas, we manage all of our cinemas with executives located
in Los Angeles, Manhattan, Melbourne, Australia, and Wellington, New Zealand. Approximately 2,311 individuals were
employed (on a full time or part time basis) in our cinema operations in 2013. Our two New Zealand Rialto cinemas are
owned by a joint venture in which Reading New Zealand is a 50% joint venture partner. While we are principally
responsible for the booking of the cinemas, our joint venture partner, Greater Union, manages the day-to-day operations
of these cinemas. In addition, we have a 33.3% interest in a 16-screen Brisbane cinema. Greater Union manages that
cinema as well.

Licensing/Pricing,

Film product is available from a variety of sources ranging from the major film distributors such as Columbia,
Disney, Buena Vista, DreamWorks, Fox, MGM, Paramount, Warmner Bros, and Universal, to a variety of smaller
independent film distributors. In Australia and New Zealand, some of those major distributors distribute through local
unaffiliated distributors. The major film distributors dominate the market for mainstream conventional films. Similarly,
most art and specialty films come from the art and specialty divisions of these major distributors, such as Fox’s
Searchlight and Miramax. Generally speaking, film payment terms are based upon an agreed upon percentage of box
office receipts which will vary from film to film as films are licensed in Australia, New Zealand and the United States on a
film-by-film, theater by theater basis.

While in certain markets film may be allocated by the distributor among competitive cinemas, tvpically in the
markets in which we operate, we have access to all conventional film product. In the art and specialty markets, due to the
limited number of prints available, we from time to time are unable to license all of the films that we might desire to
play. In summary, while in some markets we are subject to film allocation, on the whole, access to film produect has not in
recent periods been a major impediment to our operations.

Competition

In each of the United States, Australia, and New Zealand, film patrons typically select the cinema that they are
going to go to first by selecting the film they want to see, and then by selecting the cinema in which they would prefer to
see it. Accordingly, the principal factor in the success or failure of a particular cinema is access to popular film
products. Ifa particular film is only offered at one cinema in a given market, then customers wishing to see that film will,
of necessity, go to that cinema. If two or more cinemas in the same market offer the same film, then customers will
typically take into account factors such as the relative convenience and quality ofthe various cinemas. In many markets,
the number of digital “prints” available is less than the number of exhibitors seeking that film for that market, and
distributors typically take the position that they are free to provide or not provide their films to particular exhibitors, at
their complete and absolute discretion.

Competition for films can be intense, depending upon the number of cinemas in a particular market. Our ability
to obtain top grossing first run feature films may be adversely impacted by our comparatively small size, and the limited
number of screens we can supply to distributors. Moreover, in the United States, because of the dramatic consolidation of
screens into the hands of a few very large and powerful exhibitors such as Regal and AMC, these mega exhibition
companies are in a position to offer distributors access to many more screens in major markets than
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we can. Accordingly, distributors may decide to give preference to these mega exhibitors when it comes to licensing top
grossing films, rather than deal with independents such as ourselves. The situation is different in Australia and New
Zealand where typically every major multiplex cinema has access to all of the film currently in distribution, regardless of
the ownership of that multiplex cinema. However, we have suffered somewhat in these markets from competition from
boutique operators, who are able to book top grossing commercial films for limited runs, thus increasing competition for
customers wishing to view such top film product.

Once a patron has selected the film, the choice of cinema is typically impacted by the quality of the cinema
experience offered weighed against convenience and cost. For example, most cinema patrons seem to prefer a modern
stadium design multiplex, to an older sloped floor cinema, and to prefer a cinema that either offers convenient access to
free parking (or public transport) over a cinema that does not. However, if the film they desire to see is only available at a
limited number of locations, they will typically choose the film over the quality of the cinema and/or the convenience of
the cinema. Generally speaking, our cinemas are modern multiplex cinemas with good and convenient parking. As
discussed further below, the availability of 3D or digital technology and/or premium class seating can also be a factor in
the preference of one cinema over another.

In recent periods, a number of cinemas have been opened or re-opened featuring expanded food and beverage
service, including the sale of alcoholic beverages and food served to the seat. We have for a number of years offered
aleoholic beverages in certain of our Australia and New Zealand cinemas and our Angelika cinemas in the U.S. We are
cumrently studying a number of our existing locations as candidates for such expanded food and beverage offerings.

The film exhibition markets in the United States, Australia, and New Zealand are to a certain extent dominated
by a limited number of major exhibition companies. The principal exhibitors in the United States are Regal (with 7,342
screens in 576 cinemas), AMC (with 4,950 screens in 343 cinemas), Cinemark (with 4,413 screens in 331 cinemas), and
Carmike (with 2,484 screens in 246 cinemas). As of December 31,2013, we were the 11th largest exhibitor with 1% ofthe
box office in the United States with 249 screens in 26 cinemas.

The principal exhibitors in Australia are Greater Union, which do business under the Event name (a subsidiary of
Amalgamated Holdings Limited), Hoyts Cinemas (“Hoyts”), and Village. The major exhibitors control approximately
65% of the total cinema box office: Event 30%, Hoyts 20%, and Village 14%. Event has 478 screens nationally, Hoyts
359 screens, and Village 218 screens. By comparison, our 148 screens represent approximately 6% of the total box office.

The principal exhibitors in New Zealand are Event with 93 screens nationally and Hoyts with 63
screens. Reading has 40 screens (not including partnerships). The major exhibitors in New Zealand control
approximately 55% of the total box office: Event 34% and Hoyts 21%. Reading has 12% of the market (Event and
Reading market share figures again do not include any partnership theaters).

Greater Union is the owner of Birch Carroll & Coyle in Australia and purchased Sky Cinemas in New Zealand
during 2010. In addition, generally speaking, all new multiplex cinema projects announced by Village are being jointly
developed by a joint venture comprised of Greater Union and Village. These companies have substantial capital
resources. Village had a publicly reported consolidated net worth of approximately $524.3 million (AUS$572.1 million)
at June 30, 2013. The Greater Union organization does not separately publish financial reports, but its parent,
Amalgamated Holdings, had a publicly reported consolidated net worth of approximately $824.5 million (AUS$899.6
million) at June 30, 2013. Hoyts is privately held and does not publish financial reports. Hoyts is currently owned by
Pacific Equity Partners.

In Australia, the industry is somewhat vertically integrated in that Roadshow Film Distributors, a subsidiary of
Village, serves as a distributor of film in Australia and New Zealand for Warner Brothers and New Line Cinema. Films
produced or distributed by the majority of the local international independent producers are also distributed by
Roadshow Film Distributors. Hoyts is also invoelved in film production and distribution.

Digital Exhibition

After years of uncertainty as to the future of digital exhibition and the impact of this technology on cinema
exhibition, it became clear in 2012 that the industry must go digital. We have now completed the conversion ofall

APP_PAGE_1036



of our U.5., Australian, and New Zealand cinema operations to digital projection. We anticipate that the cost of this
conversion, over time, will be covered in substantial part by the receipt of Virtual Print Fees paid by film distributors for
the use of such digital projection equipment.

In-Home Competition

The “in-home” entertainment industry has experienced significant leaps in recent periods in both the quality and
affordability of in-home entertainment systems and in the accessibility to entertainment programming through cable,
satellite, DVD, and internet distribution channels. These alternative distribution channels are putting pressure on cinema
exhibitors to reduce the time period between theatrical and secondary release dates, and certain distributors are talking
about possible simultaneous or near simultaneous releases in multiple channels of distribution. These are issues common
to both our U.S. and international cinema operations.

Competitive issues are discussed in greater detail above under the caption, Competition, and under the caption,
Item 1 A - Risk Factors.

Seasonality

Major films are generally released to coincide with holidays. With the exception of Christmas and New Year’s
Days, this fact provides some balancing of our revenue because there is no material overlap between holidays in the
United States and those in Australia and New Zealand. Distributors will delay, in certain cases, releases in Australia and
New Zealand to take advantage of Australian and New Zealand holidays that are not celebrated in the United States.

Emplovees

We have 74 full time executive and administrative employees and approximately 2,311 cinema employees. Qur
cinema employees in Wellington, New Zealand and our projectionists in Hawaii are unionized. None of our other
employees are subject to union contracts. Qur one union contract with respect to our projectionists in Hawaii expired on
March 31, 2012. Our union contracts with respect to our New Zealand employees have been renewed through to
2015. None of our Australian based employees is unionized. Overall, we are of the view that the existence of these
contracts does not materially increase our costs of labor or our ability to compete. We believe our relations with our
employees to be generally good.

Our Real Estate Aclivities
Our real estate activities have historically consisted principally of:

e the ownership of fee or long-term leasehold interests in properties used in our cinema exhibition activities or
which were acquired for the development of cinemas or cinema based real estate development projects;

s the acquisition of fee interests in land for general real estate development;

o theleasing to production companies of our live theaters; and

o theredevelopment of our existing fee owned cinema or live theater sites to their highest and best use.

While we report our real estate as a separate segment, it has historically operated as an integral portion of our
overall business and, again historically, has principally been in support of that business. In recent periods, however, we
have acquired or developed properties which do not have any cinema or other entertainment component. As
opportunities for cinema development become more limited, it is likely that our real estate activities will continue to
expand beyond the development of entertainment-oriented properties.

Our real estate activities, holdings and developments are described in greater detail in Item 2 — Properties.
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Item 1A — Risk Factors

Investing in our securities inveolves risk. Set forth below is a summary of various risk factors that you should
consider in connection with your investment in our company. This summary should be considered in the context of our
overall Annual Report on Form 10K, as many ofthe topics addressed below are discussed in significantly greater detail in
the context of specific discussions of our business plan, our operating results, and the various competitive forces that we
face.

Business Risk Factors

We are currently engaged principally in the cinema exhibition and real estate businesses. Since we operate in
two business segments (cinema exhibition and real estate), we discuss separately below the risks we believe to be material
to our involvement in each of these segments. We have discussed separately certain risks relating to the international
nature of our business activities, our use of leverage, and our status as a controlled corporation. Please note, that while we
report the results of our live theater operations as real estate operations — since we are principally in the business of
renting space to producers rather than in licensing or producing plays ourselves — the cinema exhibition and live theater
businesses share certain risk factors and are, accordingly, discussed together below.

Cinema Exhibition and Iive Theater Business Risk Factors

We aperate in a highly competitive environmeni, with many competitors who are significantly larger and may
have significantly better access to funds than do we.

We are a comparatively small cinema operator and face competition from much larger cinema exhibitors. These
larger exhibitors are able to offer distributors more screens in more markets — including markets where they may be the
exclusive exhibitor — than can we. In some cases, faced with such competition, we may not be able to get access to all of
the films we want, which may adversely affect our revenue and profitability.

These larger competitors may also enjoy (i) greater cash flow, which can be used to develop additional cinemas,
including cinemas that may be competitive with our existing cinemas, (ii) better access to equity capital and debt, and
(iii) better visibility to landlords and real estate developers, than do we.

In the case of our live theaters, we compete for shows not only with other “for profit” off-Broadway theaters, but
also with not-for-profit operators and, increasingly, with Broadway theaters. We believe our live theaters are generally
competitive with other off-Broadway venues. However, due to the increased cost of staging live theater productions, we
are seeing an increasing tendency for plays that would historically have been staged in an off-Broadway theater, moving
directly to larger Broadway venues.

We face competition from other sources of entertainment and other entertainment delivery sysiems.

Both our cinema and live theater operations face competition from developing “in-home” sources of
entertainment. These include competition from DVDs, cable and satellite television, pay per view, the internet and other
sources of entertainment, and video games. The quality of in-house entertainment systems has increased while the cost of
such systems has decreased in recent petiods, and some consumers may prefer the security of an ”in-home” entertainment
experience to the more public experience offered by our cinemas and live theaters. The movie distributors have been
responding to these developments by, in some cases, decreasing the period of time between cinema release and the date
such product is made available to “in-home™ forms of distribution.

The narrowing of this so-called “window” for cinema exhibition may be problematic for the cinema exhibition
industry. On the other hand, the significant quantity of films produced in recent periods has probably had more to do, at
least to date, with the shortening of the time most movies play in the cinemas, than any shortening of the cinema
exhibition window. In recent periods, there has been discussion about the possibility of eliminating the cinema window
altogether for certain films, in favor of a simultaneous release in multiple channels of distribution, such as theaters, pay-
per-view, and DVD. However, again to date, this move has been strenuously resisted by the cinema exhibition industry
and we view the total elimination of the cinema exhibition window, while theoretically possible, to be unlikely.
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However, there is the risk that, over time, distributors may move towards simultaneous release of motion picture
product in multiple channels of distribution. This would adversely affect the competitive advantage enjoyed by cinemas
over “in-home” forms of entertainment, as it may be that both the cinema market and the “in-home™ market will have
simultaneous access to motion picture produect.

We also face competition from various other forms of “beyond-the-home” entertainment, including sporting
events, concerts, restaurants, casinos, video game arcades, and nightclubs. Our cinemas also face competition from live
theaters and vice versa.

Competition from less expensive “in-home” entertainment alternatives may be intensified as a result of the
current economic recession.

Our cinema operations depend upon access to film that is attractive to our patrons and our live theater
operations depend upon the continued attractiveness of our theaters to producers.

Our ability to generate revenue and profits is largely dependent on factors outside of our control, specifically, the
continued ability of motion picture and live theater producers to produce films and plays that are attractive to audiences,
the amount of money spent by film distributors to promote their motion pictures, and the willingness of these producers to
license their films on terms that are financial viable to our cinemas and to rent our theaters for the presentation of their
plays. To the extent that popular movies and plays are produced, our cinema and live theater activities are ultimately
dependent upon our ability, in the face of competition from other cinema and live theater operators, to book these movies
and plays into our facilities.

We rely on film distributors to supply the films shown in our theatres. In the 1.5, the film distribution business is
highly concentrated, with six major film distributors accounting for approximately 83.0% of U.S. box office revenues.
Numerous antitrust cases and consent decrees resulting from these antitrust cases affect the distribution of films. The
consent decrees bind certain major film distributors to license films to exhibitors on a theatre-by-theatre and film-by-film
basis. Consequently, we cannot guarantee a supply of films by entering into long-term amrangements with major
distributors. We are therefore required to negotiate licenses for each film and for each theatre. A deterioration in our
relationship with any of the [six] major film distributors could adversely affect our ability to obtain commercially
successful films and to negotiate favorable licensing terms for such films, both of which could adversely affect our
business and operating results.

Adverse economic conditions could materially affect our business by reducing discretionary income and by
limiting or reducing sources of film and live theater funding.

Cinema and live theater attendance is a luxury, not a necessity. Accordingly, a decline in the economy resulting
in a decrease in discretionary income, or a perception of such a decline, may result in decreased discretionary spending,
which could adversely affect our cinema and live theater businesses. Adverse economic conditions can also affect the
supply side of our business, as reduced liquidity can adversely affect the availability of funding for movies and
plays. This is particularly true in the case of Off-Broadway plays, which are often times financed by high net worth
individuals or groups of such individuals and which are very risky due to the absence of any ability to recoup investment
in secondary markets like DVD or cable.

Our screen advertising revenue may decline.

Over the past several vears, cinema exhibitors have been looking increasingly to screen advertising as a way to
boost income. No assurances can be given that this source of income will be continuing or that the use of such
advertising will not ultimately prove to be counterproductive by giving consumers a disincentive to choose going to the
movies over “in-home” entertainment alternatives.

We face uncertainty as fo the timing and dirvection of technological innovations in the cinema exhibition
business and as to our access to those technologies.

We have converted all of our cinema auditoriums to digital projection. However, no assurances can be given
that other technological advances will not require us to make further material investments in our cinemas or face loss of
business. For example, only a limited number of our cinemas are equipped with the 48 frame per second
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equipment that is required to show such films as The Hobbit. Also, equipment is currently being developed for
holographic or laser projection. The future ofthese technologies in the cinema exhibition industry is uncertain.

We face competition from new competitors offering food and beverage as an integral part of their cinema
offerings.

Anumber of new entrants, such as Alamo Draft House, offering an expanded food and beverage menu (including
the sale of alcoholic beverages) have emerged in recent periods. In addition, some competitors are converting existing
cinemas to provide such expanded menu offerings. The existence of such cinemas may alter traditional cinema selection
practices of moviegoers, as they seek out cinemas with such expanded offerings as a preferred alternative to traditional
cinemas.

Real Estate Development and Ownership Business Risks

We operate in a highly competitive environment, in which we must compete against companies with much
greater financial and human resources than we have.

We have limited financial and human resources, compared to our principal real estate competitors. In recent
periods, we have relied heavily on outside professionals in connection with our real estate development activities. Many
of our competitors have significantly greater resources than do we and may be able to achieve greater economies of scale
than can we.

Risks Related to the Real Estate Industrv Generally

Cur financial performance will be affected by risks associated with the real estate industry generally.

Events and conditions generally applicable to developers, owners, and operators of real property will affect our
performance as well. These include (i) changes in the national, regional and local economic climate, (i) local conditions
such as an oversupply of, or a reduction in demand for commercial space and/or entertainment oriented properties, (iii)
reduced attractiveness of our properties to tenants, (iv) the rental rates and capitalization rates applicable to the markets in
which we operate and the quality of properties that we own, (v) competition from other properties, (vi) inability to collect
rent from tenants, (vii) increased operating costs, including labor, materials, real estate taxes, insurance premiums, and
utilities, (viii) costs of complying with changes in government regulations, (ix) the relative illiquidity of real estate
investments, and (x) decreases in sources of both construction and long-term lending as traditional sources of such
funding leave or reduce their commitments to real estate based lending. In addition, periods of economic slowdown or
recession, rising interest rates or declining demand for real estate, or the public perception that any of these events may
occur, could result in declining rents or increased lease defaults.

We may incur costs complyving with the Americans with Disabiliiies Act and similar laws.

Under the Americans with Disabilities Act and similar statutory regimes in Australia and New Zealand or under
applicable state law, all places of public accommodation (including cinemas and theaters) are required to meet certain
governmental requirements related to access and use by persons with disabilities. A determination that we are not in
compliance with those governmental requirements with respect to any of our properties could result in the imposition of
fines or an award of damages to private litigants. The cost of addressing these issues could be substantial.

IHigquidity of real estate investments could impede our ability to respond to adverse changes in the performance
of our properties.

Real estate investments are relatively illiquid and, therefore, tend to limit our ability to vary our portfolio
promptly in response to changes in economic or other conditions. Many of our properties are either (i) “special purpose”
properties that could not be readily converted to general residential, retail or office use, or (ii) undeveloped land. In
addition, certain significant expenditures associated with real estate investment, such as real estate taxes and maintenance
costs, are generally not reduced when circumstances cause a reduction in income from the investment and competitive
factors may prevent the pass-through ofsuch costs to tenants.

APP_ PAGE_1040



Real estate development involves a variety of risks.
Real estate development includes a variety ofrisks, including the following:

o The identification and acquisition of suitable development properties. Competition for suitable development
properties is intense. Our ability to identify and acquire development properties may be limited by our size and
resources. Also, as we and our affiliates are considered to be “foreign owned™ for purposes of certain Australian
and New Zealand statutes, we have been in the past, and may in the future be, subject to regulations that are not
applicable to other persons doing business in those countries.

o The procuvement of necessavy land use entitlements for the project. This process can take many years,
particularly if opposed by competing interests. Competitors and community groups (sometimes funded by such
competitors) may object based on various factors including, for example, impacts on density, parking, traffic,
noise levels and the historic or architectural nature ofthe building being replaced. If they are unsuccessful at the
local govemmental level, they may seek recourse to the courts or other tribunals. This can delay projects and
increase costs.

o The comstruction of the profect on time and on budget. Construction risks include the availability and cost of
finance; the availability and costs of material and labor; the costs of dealing with unknown site conditions
(including addressing pollution or environmental wastes deposited upon the property by prior owners);
inclement weather conditions; and the ever-present potential for labor related disruptions.

o The leasing or sell-out of the project. Ultimately, there are risks involved in the leasing of a rental property or
the sale of a condominium or built-for-sale property. For our entertainment themed retail centers (“ETRCs”), the
extent to which our cinemas can continue to serve as an anchor tenant will be influenced by the same factors as
will influence generally the results of our cinema operations. Leasing or sale can be influenced by economic
factors that are neither known nor knowable at the commencement of the development process and by local,
national, and even international economic conditions, both real and perceived.

o Therefinancing of completed properties. Properties are often developed using relatively short-term loans. Upon
completion of the project, it may be necessary to find replacement financing for these loans. This process
involves risk as to the availability of such permanent or other take-out financing, the interest rates, and the
payment terms applicable to such financing, which may be adversely influenced by local, national, or
international factors. To date, we have been successful in negotiating development loans with roll over or other
provisions mitigating ourneed to refinance immediately upon completion of construction.

The ownership of properties involves risk.

The ownership of investment properties involves risks, such as: (i) ongoing leasing and re-leasing risks, (ii)
ongoing financing and re-financing risks, (iii) market risks as to the multiples offered by buyers of investment properties,
(iv) risks related to the ongoing compliance with changing governmental regulation (including, without limitation,
environmental laws and requirements to remediate environmental contamination that may exist on a property (such as, by
way of example, asbestos), even though not deposited on the property by us), (v) relative illiquidity compared to some
other tvpes of assets, and (vi) susceptibility of assets to uninsurable risks, such as biological, chemical or nuclear
terrorism. Furthermore, as our properties are typically developed around an entertainment use, the attractiveness of these
propetties to tenants, sources of finance and real estate investors will be influenced by market perceptions of the benefits
and detriments of such entertainment type properties.

A number of our assets are in geologically active areas, presenting visk of earthquake and land movement.

We have cinemas in Califomia and New Zealand, areas which present a greater risk of earthquake and/or land
movement than other locations. New Zealand has in recent periods had several major earthquakes damaging our facilities
in Christchurch and Wellington. The ability to insure for such casualties is limited and may become more difficult and/or
more expensive in future periods.

International Business Risks

Our intemational operations are subject to a variety ofrisks, including the following:
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Risk of currency fluctuations. While we report our eamings and assets in US dollars, substantial portions of our
revenue and of our obligations are denominated in either Australian or New Zealand dollars. The value of these
currencies can vary significantly compared to the US dollar and compared to each other. We typically have not hedged
against these currency fluctuations, but rather have relied upon the natural hedges that exist as a result of the fact that our
film costs are typically fixed as a percentage of the box office, and our local operating costs and obligations are likewise
typically denominated in local currencies. However, we do have debt at our parent company level that is serviced by our
overseas cash flow and our ability to service this debt could be adversely impacted by declines in the relative value ofthe
Australian and New Zealand dollar compared to the US dollar. $7.5 million (AUS$8.4 million) of our Australian cash and
$7.2 million (NZ$8.7 million) of our New Zealand cash is denominated in local cumrencies and subject to the risk of
currency exchange rate fluctuations. Also, our use of local borrowings to mitigate the business risk of currency
fluctuations has reduced our flexibility to move cash between jurisdictions. Set forth below is a chart of the exchange
ratios between these three currencies over the past twenty years:
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e Riskof adverse government regulation. At the present time, we believe that relations between the United States,
Australia, and New Zealand are good. However, no assurances can be given that this relationship will continue
angd that Australia and New Zealand will not in the future seek to regulate more highly the business done by US
companies in their countries.

e Risk of adverse labor rvelations. Our labor relations and costs of labor (including future government
requirements with respect to pension liabilities, disability insurance and health coverage, and vacations and

leave).

Risks Associated with Certain Discontinued Operations

Certain of our subsidiaries were previously in industrial businesses. As a consequence, properties that are
currently owned or may have in the past been owned by these subsidiaries may prove to have environmental
issues. Where we have knowledge of such environmental issues and are in a position to make an assessment as to our
exposure, we have established what we believe to be appropriate reserves, but we are exposed to the risk that
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currently unknown problems may be discovered. These subsidiaries are also exposed to potential claims related to
exposure of former emplovees to coal dust, ashestos, and other materials now considered to be, or which in the future may
be found to be, carcinogenic or otherwise injurious to health.

Operating Results, Financial Structure and Borrowing Risk

From time to time, we may have negative working capital.

In recent years, as we have invested our cash in new acquisitions and the development of our existing properties,
we have from time to time had negative working capital. This negative working capital is typical in the cinema
exhibition industry because our short-term liabilities are in part financing our long-term assets instead of long-term
liabilities financing short-term assets as is the case in other industries such as manufacturing and distribution.

We have substantial shovt to medium term debi.

Generally speaking, we have historically financed our operations through relatively short-term debt. No
assurances can be given that we will be able to refinance this debt, or if we can, that the terms will be
reasonable. However, as a counterbalance to this debt, we have significant unencumbered real property assets, which
could be sold to pay debt or encumbered to assist in the refinancing of existing debt, ifnecessary.

In February 2007, we issued $50.0 million in 20-year Trust Preferred Securities (“TPS™), and utilized the net
proceeds principally to retire short-term bank debt in New Zealand and Australia. The interest rate on our TPS was only
fixed for five years. Additionally, we used US dollar denominated obligations to retire debt denominated in New Zealand
and Australian dollars which has increased our exposure to cumency risk. In the first quarter of 2009, we repurchased
$22.9 million of our TPS at a 50% discount.

At the present time, corporate borrowers both domestically and internationally are facing greater than normal
constraints on liquidity. No assurances can be given that we will be able to refinance these debts as they become due.

We have substantial lease liabilities.

Most of our cinemas operate in leased facilities. These leases typically have cost of living or other rent
adjustment features and require that we operate the properties as cinemas. A down turn in our cinema exhibition business
might, depending on its severity, adversely affect the ability of our cinema operating subsidiaries to meet these rental
obligations. Even if our cinema exhibition business remains relatively constant, cinema level cash flow will likely be
adversely affected unless we can increase our revenue sufficiently to offset increases in our rental liabilities. Unlike
property rental leases, our newly added digital equipment leases do not have cost of living or other lease adjustment
features.

Our stock is thinly traded.

Our stock is thinly traded, with an average daily volume in 2013 of only approximately 33,000 shares. This can
result in significant volatility, as demand by buyers and sellers can easily get out of balance.

Ownership and Management Structure. Corporate Govemance, and Change of Control Risks

The interests of aur controlling stockholder may conflict with your interests.

Mr. James J. Cotter beneficially owns 70.4% of our outstanding Class B Stock. Our Class A Stock is non-voting,
while our Class B Stock represents all of the voting power of our Company. As a result, as of December 31, 2013, Mr.
Cotter controlled 70.4% of the voting power ofall of our outstanding common stock. For as long as Mr. Cotter continues
to own shares of common stock representing more than 50% of the voting power of our common
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stock, he will be able to elect all of the members of our board of directors and determine the outcome of all matters
submitted to a vote of our stockholders, including matters involving mergers or other business combinations, the
acquisition or disposition of assets, the incurrence of indebtedness, the issuance of any additional shares of common stock
or other equity securities and the payment of dividends on common stock. Mr. Cotter will also have the power to prevent
or cause a change in control, and could take other actions that might be desirable to Mr Cotter but not to other
stockholders. In addition, Mr. Cotter and his affiliates have controlling interests in companies in related and unrelated
industries. In the future, we may participate in transactions with these companies (see Note 25 — Related Parties and
Transactionsto our 2013 Consolidated Financial Statements).

Since we are a Controlled Company, our Directors have determined to take advaniage of certain exemptions
provide by the NASDAQ from the corporate governance rules adopted by that Exchange.

Generally speaking, the NASDAQ requires listed companies to meet certain minimum corporate govemance
provisions. However, a Controlled Corporation, such as we, may elect not to be govermned by certain of these
provisions. Our beard of directors has elected to exempt our Company from requirements that (i) at least a majority of our
directors be independent, (ii) nominees to our board of directors be nominated by a committee comprised entirely of
independent directors or by a majority of our Company’s independent directors, and (iii) the compensation of our chief
executive officer be determined or recommended to our board of directors by a compensation committee comprised
entirely of independent directors or by a majority of our Company’s independent directors. Notwithstanding the
determination by our board of directors to opt-out of these NASDAQ requirements, a majority of our board of directors is
nevertheless currently comprised of independent directors, and our compensation committee is nevertheless cumrently
comprised entirely of independent directors.

We depend on key personnel for our current and future performance.

Our current and future performance depends to a significant degree upon the continued contributions of our
senior management team and other key personnel. The loss or unavailability to us of any member of our senior
management team or a key employee could significantly harm us. We cannot assure you that we would be able to locate
or employ qualified replacements for senior management or key employees on acceptable terms.
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Item 1B - Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
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Item 2 — Properties

Execntive and Administrative Offices

We lease approximately 11,700 square feet of office space in Los Angeles, California to serve as our executive
headquarters. We own an 8,100 square foot office building in Melbourne, Australia, approximately 5,200 square feet of
which serves as the headquarters for our Australian and New Zealand operations (the remainder being leased to an
unrelated third party). We maintain our accounting personnel and certain IT and operational personnel in approximately
5,900 square foot of offices located in our Wellington Courtenay Central shopping center. We occupy approximately
3,500 square feet at our Village East leasehold property for administrative purposes. We also own a residential
condominium unit in Los Angeles, used for offsite corporate meetings and residential space by our Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer.

Entertainment Properties

Entertainment Use Leasehold Interests

As of December 31, 2013, we lease approximately 1.8 million square feet of completed cinema space in the
United States, Australia, and New Zealand as follows:

Approximate Range of
Remaining [.ease Terms

Awate Square Footage (including renewals)
United States 942,000 2014 - 2049
Australia 724,000 2017 —2049
New Zealand 150,000 2024 -2034

On December 31, 2013, we settled a management fee claim that we had with the owner of the lease interest in the
Plano, Texas cinema that we had managed since 2003. As part of the settlement, we acquired that entity. Also, in
September 2013, we took back a cinema at one of our fee properties in New Zealand and commenced to refurbish and
upgrade that facility with the intent of operating the cinema ourselves. The cinema was already leased to a competitor at
the time we acquired it in May 2007. We expect to begin operations of this cinema in the third quarter of 2014. During
the first quarter 2014, we entered into a lease for a new Angelika style cinema currently being developed by Edens in the
Union Market area of Washington D.C.

Fee Interests

In Australia, as of December 31, 2013, we own approximately 3.2 million square feet of land at nine
locations. Most of this land is located in the greater metropolitan areas of Brisbane, Melbourne, Perth, and Sydney,
including the 50.6-acre Burwood site. Of these fee interests, approximately 138,000 square feet are currently improved
with cinemas. These figures include the 33-acre Moonee Ponds property which is under a contract of sale with
completion due on April 16, 2015.

In New Zealand, as of December 31, 2013, we own approximately 3.4 million square feet of land at seven
locations. This includes the Courtney Central ETRC in Wellington, the 70.3 acre Manukau site, and the fee interests
underlying three cinemas in New Zealand, which properties include approximately 21,000 square feet of ancillary retail
space.

In the United States, as of December 31,2013, we own approximately 134,000 square feet of improved real estate
comprised of four live theater buildings, which include approximately 58,000 square feet of leasable space, and the fee
interest in our Cinemas 1, 2 & 3 in Manhattan (held through a limited liability company in which we have a 75%
managing member interest).

Live Theaters (“Libertv Theaters™)

Included among our real estate holdings are four “Off Broadway” style live theaters, operated through our
Liberty Theaters subsidiary. We license theater auditoriums to the producers of “Off Broadway™ theatrical
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productions and provide various box office and concession services. The terms of our licenses are, naturally, principally
dependent upon the commercial success of our tenants. STOMP has been playing at our Orpheum Theatre in excess of 17
vears. While we attempt to choose productions that we believe will be successful, we have no control over the production
itself. Atthe current time, we have three single auditorium theaters in Manhattan:

e the Minetta Lane (399 seats);
o the Orpheum (347 seats); and
e the Union Square (499 seats).

We also own a four-auditorium theater complex, the Roval George in Chicago (main stage 452 seats, cabaret 199
seats, great room 100 seats and gallery 60 seats). Two of the properties, the Union Square and the Royal George, have
ancillary retail and office space.

Liberty Theaters is primarily in the business of renting theater space. However, we may from time to time
participate as an investor in a play, which can help facilitate the production of the play at one of our facilities, and do
from time to time rent space on a basis that allows us to share in a production’s revenue or profits. Revenue, expense, and
profits are reported as a part of the real estate segment of our business.

Joint Venture Cinema Interests

We also hold real estate through several unincorporated joint ventures, two 75% owned subsidiaries, and one
majority-owned subsidiary, as described below:

e in Australia, we own a 75% interest in a subsidiary company that leases two cinemas with eleven screens in two
Australian country towns, and a 33% unincorporated joint venture interest in a 1 6-screen leasehold cinema in a
suburb of Brisbane.

¢ in New Zealand, we own a 50% unincomporated joint venture interest in two cinemas with 13 screens in the New
Zealand cities of Auckland and Dunedin.

o In the United States, we own a 75% managing member interest in the limited liability company that owns our
Cinemas |, 2 & 3 property and a 50% managing member interest in Shadow View Land & Farming, LLC which
owns an approximately 202-acre property in Riverside County, California which, while zoned residential and
approved for 816 single family lots.
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Income Operating Property

As of December 31, 2013, we own fee interests in approximately 1.0 million square feet of income producing
properties (including certain properties principally occupied by our cinemas).

Square Feet of
Improvements Percentage Gross Book Value
Property’ (rental/entertainment) Leased (in U.S. Dollars)
Aubum 60000 / 57000
100 Parramatta Road Plus a 871-space 100% $30,646,000
Auburn, NSW, Australia parking structure
Belmont
Knutsford Avenue and 15000 / 45000 100% $13,840,000
Fulham Street
Belmont, WA, Australia
Cinemas 1, 2 & 37
1003 Third Avenue 0/21000 N/A $23,837,000
Manhattan, NY, USA
Courtenay Central 33000 /76000
100 Courtenay Place Plus a 1 ,086-space T0% $26,216,000
Wellington, New Zealand parking structure

[6] Rental square footage refers to the amount of area available to be rented to third parties and the percentage leased is the amount of such
rental square footage currently leased to third parties. A number of our real estate holdings include entertainment components rented to one
or more of our subsidiaries. The rental area to such subsidiaries is noted under the entertainment square footage. The gross book value refers
to the gross carrying cost of the land and buildings of the property. Book value and rental information are as of December 31, 2013.

[7] This property is owned by a limited liability company in which we hold a 75% managing interest. The remaining 25% is owned by
Sutton Hill Investments, LLC, a company owned in equal parts by our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Mr. James JI. Cotter, and a third

party.
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Square Feet of

Improvements Percentage Gross Book Value
Property (rental/entertainment) Leased (in U.S. Dollars)
Invercargill Cinema
29 Dee Street 9000 / 24000 69% $3,231,000
Invercargill, New Zealand
Lake Taupo Motel
138-140 Lake Terrace Road 9000 /0 Short-term rentals $2,304,000
Taupo, New Zealand
Maitland Cinema
Ken Tubman Drive 0/22000 N/A $2,124.,000
Maitland, NSW, Australia
Minetta Lane Theatre
18-22 Minetta Lane 0 /9000 N/A $8,679,000
Manhattan, NY, USA
Napier Cinema
154 Station Street 12000 / 18000 100% $3,530,000
Napier, New Zealand
Newmarket
400 Newmarket Road 93000/ 0
Newmarket, Queensland, Plus a 436-space 100% $38,951,000
Australia parking structure
Ormpheum Theatre
126 2°¢ Strect 1000 / 5000 0% $3,639.,000
Manhattan, NY, USA
Royal George 37000 /23000
1633 N. Halsted Street Plus a 55-space 91% $3.485,000
Chicago, I, USA parking structure
Rotorua Cinema
1281 Eruera Street 0/19000 N/A $3,030,000
Rotorua, New Zealand
Union Square Theatre
100 E. 1 7* Stroet 21000 / 17000 100% $8.923,000

Manhattan, NY, USA
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Long-Term Leasehold Operating Property

In addition, in certain cases we have long-term leases that we view more akin to real estate investments than
cinema leases. As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately 155,000 square foot of space subject to such long-term

leases.
Square Feet of
Improvements Percentage Gross Book Value
Property® (rental/entertainment) Leased (in U.S. Dollars)
Manville 0/53000 N/A $2,321,000
Tower 0/16000 N/A $1,017,000
Village East’ 4000 /38000 100% $8,454,000
Waum Ponds 6000 / 38000 100% $3,961,000

[8] Rental square footage refers to the amount of area available to be rented to third parties, and the percentage leased is the amount of rental
square footage currently leased to third parties. A number of our long-term leasehold operating property include entertainment components
rented to one or more of our subsidiaries. The rental area to such subsidiaries is noted under the entertainment square footage. Book value
includes the entire investment in the leased property, including any cinema fit-out. Rental and book value information is as of December 31,
2013.

[9] The lease of the Village East provides for a call option pursuant to which Reading may purchase the cinema ground lease for $5.9 million
at the end of the lease term in 2020. Additionally, the lease has a put option pursuant to which SHC may require Reading to purchase all or a
portion of SHC's interest in the existing cinema lease and the cinema ground lease at any time between July 1, 2013 and December 4,
2019. See Note 25 - Related Parties and Transactions to our 2013 Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Invesiment and Development Property

We are engaged in several investment and development projects relative to our currently undeveloped parcels of
land. In addition, we anticipate that redevelopment of one or more of our existing developed properties may also occur.

Gross Book Value
Property" Acreage (in U.S. Dollars) Status
Auburn, [We are actively pursuing the development of the
Sydney, Australia 2.6 acres $1,824,000 Inext phase of this property.
Burwood, [We continue to evaluate our options with regards tof
Victoria, Australia 50.6 acres $46,528,000 this property.
Coachella, [We continue to evaluate our options with regards to
CA, USA 202 acres $4,047,000 this property.
Coureny e, s o iy e e e o
Wellington, 1.1 acres $6,953,000 P property & sign
New Zealand agreement for a Countdown (Woolworths)
supermarket to be developed on this site.
Lake Taupo, Taupo, New [We are pursuing various options to dispose of this
Zealand 0.5 acre $2,304,000 property.
The bulk of the land is zoned for agriculture and is
currently used for  horticulture commercial
purposes. A development plan has been filed to
64 acres zoned agricultural rezone the Property for warehouse, d1str%b.ut10n and)
Manukau, 464 ed Tight $13.993.000 manufacturing uses. We currently anticipate that
Auckland, New Zealand ane b ;(Zﬁz ;Oarll ! o this rezoning will be approved. In 2010, wel
acquired an adjacent property which is zoned
industrial, but is currently unimproved. This
property links our existing parcel with the existing]
road network.
In November 2013, we entered into a definitive]
Moonee Ponds, Victoria, purchase and sale agreement to sell our properties
Australia 3.3 acres $11.053.000 located in Moonee Ponds, Victoria, Australia with
a scheduled closing date of April 16, 2015

[10] A number of our real estate holdings include additional land held for development. In addition, we have acquired certain parcels for
future development. The gross book value includes, as applicable, the land, building, development costs, and capitalized interest.

Some of our income operating property and our investment and development property carry various debt
encumbrances based on their income streams and geographic locations. For an explanation of our debt and the associated
security collateral please see Note 12 — Notes Payable to our 2013 Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Other Propertv Interests and Invesiments

We own the fee interest in 11 parcels comprising 195 acres in Pennsylvania and Delaware. These acres consist
primarily of vacant land. With the exception of certain properties located in Philadelphia (including the raised railroad
bed leading to the old Reading Railroad Station), the properties are principally located in rural areas of Pennsylvania and
Delaware. Additionally, we own a condominium in the Los Angeles, California area that is used for offsite cormporate
meetings and by our Chief Executive Officer when he is in town. Except for a negative pledge on the aforementioned Los
Angeles condominium, these properties are unencumbered with any debt and are lien free.
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Item 3 — I.egal Proceedings

Tax Audit/Litigation

The Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) has examined the tax return of Reading Entertainment Inc. (“RDGE”)
for its tax years ended December 31, 1996 through December 31, 1999 and the tax return of Craig Corporation (**CRG”)
for its tax year ended JTune 30, 1997. These companies are both now wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company, but for
the time periods under audit, were not consolidated with the Company for tax purposes.

CRG and the IRS agreed to compromise the claims made by the IRS against CRG and the Tax Court’s order was
entered on January 6, 2011. In the settlement, the IRS conceded 70% of its claimed adjustment to income. Instead ofa
claim for unpaid taxes of $20.9 million plus interest, the effect of settlement on the Reading consolidated group was to
require a total federal income tax obligation of $5.4 million, reduced by a federal tax refund of $800,000 and increased by
interest of $9.3 million, for a net federal tax liability of $13.9 million as of January 6, 2011. On October 26, 2011, CRG
reached an agreement with the IRS for an installment plan to pay off this federal tax liability, including additional interest
accruals at the prescribed IRS floating rate. The agreement requires monthly payments of $290,000 over a period of
approximately five years. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, after the payments made during 2013 and 2012,
respectively, the remaining federal tax obligation was $8.3 million and $10.0 million, respectively, in tax and interest. Of
the $8.3 million owed under the installment agreement as of December 31, 2013, $3.5 million was recorded as cument
taxes payable, with the remaining balance being recorded as non-current tax liability. Ofthe $10.0 million owed under
the installment agreement as of December 31, 2012, $3.5 million was recorded as current taxes payable, with the
remaining balance being recorded as non-current tax liability.

The impact ofthe settlement upon the state taxes ofthe Reading consolidated group, ifthe adjustment to income
agreed with the IRS were reflected on state returns, would be an obligation of approximately §1.4 million in tax plus
interest and potential penalty. As of December 31,2013, no deficiency has been asserted by the State of California, and
we have made no final decision as to the course of action to be followed ifa deficiency is asserted.

Environmental and Asbestos Claims

Certain of our subsidiaries were historically involved in rmilroad operations, coal mining, and
manufacturing. Also, certain of these subsidiaries appear in the chain of title of properties that may suffer from
pollution. Accordingly, certain of these subsidiaries have, from time to time, been named in and may in the future be
named in various actions brought under applicable environmental laws. Also, we are in the real estate development
business and may encounter from time to time unanticipated environmental conditions at properties that we have
acquired for development. These environmental conditions can increase the cost of such projects, and adversely affect
the value and potential for profit of such projects. We do not currently believe that our exposure under applicable
environmental laws is material in amount.

From time to time, we have claims brought against us relating to the exposure of former employees of our
railroad operations to asbestos and coal dust. These are generally covered by an insurance settlement reached in
September 1990 with our insurance carriers. However, this insurance settlement does not cover litigation by people who
were not our employees and who may claim second hand exposure to asbestos, coal dust and/or other chemicals or
elements now recognized as potentially causing cancer in humans. Qur known exposure to these types of claims, asserted
or probable ofbeing asserted, is not material.
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In connection with the development of our 50.6 acre Burwood site, it will be necessary to address certain
environmental issues. That property was at one time used as brickworks and we have discovered petroleum and asbestos
at the site. During 2007, we developed a plan for the remediation of these materials, in some cases through remowval and
in other cases through encapsulation. As of December 31, 2013, we estimate that the total site preparation costs
associated with the removal of this contaminated soil will be $15.2 million (AUS$17.1 million) and as ofthat date we had
already incurred a total of 87.4 million (AUS$8.3 million) ofthese costs. We do not believe that this has added materially
to the overall development cost of the site, as it is anticipated that all of the work will be done in connection with the
excavation and other development activity already contemplated for the property.

26

L s
Ly cdan

APP_ PAGE_1054



PART 11

Item 5 — Market for Registrant’s Common Equityv, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity

Securities

(a) Market Price of and Dividends on the Registrant’s Commeon Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

Market Information

Reading International, Inc., a Nevada corporation (“RDI” and collectively with our consolidated subsidiaries and
corporate predecessors, the “Company,” “Reading” and “we,” “us,” or “our”), was incomporated in 1999. Historically, we
have been listed on the AMEX and due to the 2008 purchase of the AMEX by the NYSE Alternext US ; we were listed on
that exchange at December 31, 2008. During July 2009, we moved our listing from NYSE Altemext to NASDAQ.

The following table sets forth the high and low closing prices ofthe RDI and RDIB common stock for each ofthe
quarters in 2013 and 2012 asreported by NASDAQ:

Class A Stock Class B Stock

High Low High Low

2013 Fourth Quarter F 749 $ 6.5 § 9.00 $ 699
Third Quarter § 658 $ e6.15 § 799 § 652

Second Quarter $ 636 $ 550 $ 740 $  6.200

First Quarter § 608 $ 542 3 749 $ 565

2012 Fourth Quarter $ 623 § 548 $ 740 § 5064
Third Quarter § 6538 $ 473 $ 795 $ 500

Second Quarter § 588 § 462 $ 675 $ 453

First Quarter $ 456 § 412 $ 7.00 § 426

The following table summarizes the securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans:

Number of
Number of Weighted- securities
securities to be average exercise remaining
issued upon price of available for
exercise of outstanding future issuance
outstanding options, under equity
options, warrants, warrants, and compensation
Plan category and rights rights plans
Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders 894,950 $ 7.33 1,829,436
Total 894,950 3 7.33 1,829,436

Performance Graph

The following line graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return on Reading International, Inc.’s
common stock for the years ended December 31, 2009,2010, 2011, 2012, and 2013 against the cumulative total return
as calculated by the NASDAQ composite, the motion picture theater operator group, and the real estate operator group.
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Holders of Record

The number of holders of record of our Class A Stock and Class B Stock in 2013 was approximately 3,500 and
300, respectively. On March 6, 2014, the closing price per share of our Class A Stock was $7.54 and the closing price per
share of our Class B Stock was $10.23.

Dividends on Common Stock

We have never declared a cash dividend on our common stock and we have no current plans to declare a
dividend; however, we review this matter on an ongoing basis.

(b) Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities

None.

(c) Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

During 2011, we purchased 172,300 of Class A Nonvoting shares on the open market for $747,000. No shares
were purchased during either 2013 or 2012.
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Itemn 6 — Selected Financial Data

The table below sets forth certain historical financial data regarding our Company. This information is derived
in part from, and should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements included in Item B of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013 (the “2013 Annual Report™), and the related notes to
the consolidated financial statements (dollars in thousands, except per share amounts).

Ator for the Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Revente $ 258,221 §$ 254,430 $ 244979 % 229,322 § 216,740
Operating income b 20,935 % 19,127 % 18,178 § 13,069 § 13,910
Income (loss) from discontinued operations $ - % (405 §$ 1,888 % 97 3 12
Net income (loss) § 9,145 § (1,406) § 10,896 § (12,034) % 6,482
Net income (loss) attributable to Reading

International, Inc. shareholders 3 9,041 § 914y § 9,956 § (12,650 $ 6,094
Bagic earnings (loss) per share — continuing

operations $ 0.39 % (0.02) $ 036 § (0.56) § 0.27
Basic earnings (loss) per share — discontinued

operations $ - % (0.02y % 0.08 % - % -
Basic earnings (loss) per share b 039 % 0.04) 8§ 044 § (0.56) § 0.27
Diluted earnings {loss) per share — continuing

operations $ 038 % (0.02) $ 035 % (0.56) % 0.27
Diluted earnings {loss) per share — discontinued

operations 5 - § (0.02) % 0.08 % - § -
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 038 % (0.04) % 043 % (0.56) % 0.27
Other Information:

Shares outstanding 23,083,265 23,083,265 22,806,838 22,804,313 22,588,403
Weighted average number of  shares

outstanding-basic 23,348,003 23,028,596 22,764,666 22,781,392 22,580,942
Weighted  average number of  shares

outstanding—diluted 23,520,271 23,028,596 22,993,135 22,781,392 22,767,735
Total assets b 386,807 § 428,588 §$ 430,764 % 430,349 §$ 406,417
Total debt $ 168,460 § 196,597 § 209,614 % 228,821 % 226,993
Working capital (deficit) b (71,794) % (21,415) % (12,844) % (57,634) % (16,229)
Stockholders® equity $ 121,747  § 130,954 8 124,987 § 112,639 8 110,263
EBIT b 24,020 % 20,416 % 18,664 § 13,900 § 22,618
Depreciation and amortization 3 15,197 § 16,049 § 16,595 § 15,563 § 15,034
Add: Adjustments for discontinued operations $ - % 335 % 365 % 351 % 134
EBITDA 5 39,217 % 36,800 % 35,624 % 29,814 % 37,786
Debt to EBITDA 3 430 § 534 % 588 % 7.67 § 6.01
Capital expenditure (including acquisitions) 5 20,082 % 13,723 % 9,376 § 19,371 % 5,686
Number of employees at 12/31 2,494 2,412 2,263 2,109 2,207

EBIT presented above represents net income (loss) adjusted for interest expense (calculated net of interest
income) and income tax expense. EBIT is presented for informational purposes to show the significance of depreciation
and amortization in the calculation of EBITDA. We use EBIT in our evaluation of our operating results since we believe
that it is useful as a measure of financial performance, particularly for us as a multinational company. We believe it is a
useful measure of financial performance principally for the following reasons:

e since we operate in multiple tax jurisdictions, we find EBIT removes the impact of the varying tax rates and tax
regimes in the jurisdictions in which we operate.

e in addition, we find EBIT useful as a financial measure that removes the impact from our effective tax rate of
factors not directly related to our business operations, such as, whether we have acquired operating assets by
purchasing those assets directly, or indirectly by purchasing the stock of a company that might hold such
operating assets.

e the use of EBIT as a financial measure also (i) removes the impact oftax timing differences which may vary from
time to time and from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, (ii) allows us to compare our performance to
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that achieved by other companies, and (iii) is useful as a financial measure that removes the impact of our
historically significant net loss carry-forwards.

¢ the elimination of net interest expense helps us to compare our operating performance to those companies that
may have more or less debt than we do.

EBITDA presented above is net income (loss) adjusted for interest expense (again, calculated net of interest
income), income tax expense, and in addition depreciation and amortization expense. We use EBITDA in our evaluation
of our performance since we believe that EBITDA provides a useful measure of financial performance and value. We
believe this principally for the following reasons:

¢ we believe that EBITDA is an industry comparative measure of financial performance. It is, in our experience, a
measure commonly used by analysts and financial commentators who report on the ¢cinema exhibition and real
estate industries and a measure used by financial institutions in underwriting the creditworthiness of companies
in these industries. Accordingly, our management monitors this calculation as a method of judging our
performance against our peers and market expectations and our creditworthiness.

e also, analysts, financial commentators, and persons active in the cinema exhibition and real estate industries
typically value enterprises engaged in these businesses at various multiples of EBITDA. Accordingly, we find
EBITDA valuable as an indicator ofthe underlying value of our businesses.

We expect that investors may use EBITDA to judge our ability to generate cash, as a basis of comparison to other
companies engaged in the cinema exhibition and real estate businesses and as a basis to value our company against such
other companies.

Neither EBIT nor EBITDA is a measurement of financial performance under accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America and should not be considered in isolation or construed as a substitute for net
income or other operations data or cash flow data prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States for purposes of analyzing our profitability. The exclusion of various components such as interest,
taxes, depreciation, and amortization necessarily limit the usefulness of these measures when assessing our financial
performance, as not all funds depicted by EBITDA are available for management’s discretionary use. For example, a
substantial portion of such funds are subject to contractual restrictions and functional requirements to service debt, to
fund necessary capital expenditures and to meet other commitments from time to time as described in more detail in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

EBIT and EBITDA also fail to take into account the cost of interest and taxes. Interest is clearly a real cost that
for us is paid periodically as accrued. Taxes may or may not be a current cash item but are nevertheless real costs that, in
most situations, must eventually be paid. A company that realizes taxable eamings in high tax jurisdictions may be
ultimately less valuable than a company that realizes the same amount of taxable earmings in a low tax
jurisdiction. EBITDA fails to take into account the cost of depreciation and amortization and the fact that assets will
eventually wear out and have to be replaced.

EBITDA, as calculated by us, may not be comparable to similarly titled measures reported by other
companies. Areconciliation of net income (loss) to EBIT and EBITDA is presented below (dollars in thousands):

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Net income (loss) attributable to Reading

International, Inc. shareholders 5 9,041 § (914 §$ 9,956 § (12,650) § 6,094
Add: Interest expense, net 10,037 16,426 21,038 12,286 14,572
Add: Income tax (benefit) expense 4,942 4,904 (12,330) 14,264 1,952
EBIT $ 24,020 § 20,416 % 18,664 % 13,900 § 22,618
Add: Depreciation and amortization 15,197 16,049 16,595 15,563 15,034
Adjustments for discontinued operations - 335 365 351 134
EBITDA 5 39,217 % 36,800 % 35,624 % 29814 § 37,786
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Item 7 — Management’s Discussions and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following review should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes
included in this 2013 Annual Report. Historical results and percentage relationships do not necessarily indicate
operating results for any future periods.

Overview

We are an internationally diversified company principally focused on the development, ownership, and
operation of entertainment and real property assets in the United States, Australia, and New Zealand. Currently, we
operate in two business segments:

+ Cinema Exhibition, through our 56 multiplex theaters, and
« Real Estate, including investment, development, and the rental ofretail, commercial and live theater assets.

We believe that these two business segments complement one another, as the comparatively consistent cash flows
generated by our cinema operations can be used to fund new cinema business opportunities and the front-end cash
demands of ourreal estate investment and development business.

We manage our worldwide cinema exhibition businesses under various different brands:

e inthe US, under the Reading, Angelika Film Center, Consolidated Amusements, and City Cinemas brands;
e in Australia, under the Reading brand; and
e in New Zealand, under the Reading and Rialto brands.

While we do not believe the cinema exhibition business to be a growth business, we do believe it to be a
business that will likely continue to generate fairly consistent cash flows in the years ahead even in recessionary or
inflationary environment. This is based on our belief that people will continue to spend some reasonable portion of their
entertainment dollar on entertainment outside of the home and that, when compared to other forms of outside the home
entertainment, movies continue to be a popular and competitively priced option. Since we believe the cinema exhibition
business to be a mature business with most markets either adequately screened or over-screened, we see growth in our
cinema business coming principally from the enhancement of our current cinemas, the development in select markets of
specialty cinemas, and the opportunistic acquisition of already existing cinemas rather than from the development of new
conventional cinemas. From time to time, we invest in the securities of other companies, where we believe the business or
assets of those companies to be attractive or to offer synergies to our existing entertainment and real estate businesses. In
the current environment, we intend to focus on the development and redevelopment of our existing assets (particularly
our New York assets and our Angelika Film Center chain), as well as to continue to be opportunistic in identifying and
endeavoring to acquire undervalued assets, particularly assets with proven cash flow and which we believe to be resistant
to current recessionary trends.

In summary, while we do have operating company attributes, we see ourselves principally as a geographically
diversified real estate company and intend to add to stockholder value by building the value of our portfolio of tangible
assets including both entertainment and other types of land and brick and mortar assets. We endeavor to maintain a
reasonable asset allocation between our domestic and intemational assets and operations, and between our cash
generating cinema operations and our cash consuming real estate investment and development activities. We believe that
by blending the cash generating capabilities of a cinema operation with the investment and development opportunities of
ourreal estate operations, our business strategy is unique among public companies.

Business Climate
Cinema Exhibition - General

After years of uncertainty as to the future of digital exhibition and the impact of this technology on cinema
exhibition, it became clear in 2012 that the industry must go digital. We have now completed the conversion ofall of our
U.S., Australia, and New Zealand cinema operations to digital projection. Over several years, we anticipate
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that the cost of this conversion will be covered in substantial part by the receipt of Virtual Print Fees paid by film
distributors for the use of such digital projection equipment.

In the case of “in-home” entertainment alternatives, the industry has experienced significant leaps in recent
periods in both the quality and affordability of in-home entertainment systems and in the accessibility to entertainment
programming through cable, satellite, DVD, and intemet distribution channels. These altemative distribution channels
are putting pressure on cinema exhibitors to reduce the time period between theatrical and secondary release dates, and
certain distributors are talking about possible simultaneous or near simultaneous releases in multiple channels of
distribution. These issues are common to both our domestic and international cinema operations.

Certain new entrants to the cinema exhibition market, as well as certain of our historic competitors, have begun
to develop new and to reposition existing cinemas that offer a broader selection of premium seating and food and
beverage offerings. These include, in some cases, food service to the seat and the offering of alcoholic beverages. We
have for some years offered premium seating and alcoholic beverages in certain of our overseas cinemas. We have also
offered café food selections and alcoholic beverages domestically in certain of our Angelika Film Centers. Accordingly,
we are experienced in and believe that we can compete effectively with this emerging competition. We are currently
reviewing the potential for expanding our offerings at a variety of our domestic cinemas.

Cinema Exhibition — Australia / New Zealand

The film exhibition industry in Australia and New Zealand is highly concentrated in that Village, Event, and
Hoyts (the “Major Exhibitors™) control approximately 65% of the cinema box office in Australia while Event and Hoyts
control approximately 55% of New Zealand’s cinema box office. The industry is also vertically integrated in that one of
the Major Exhibitors, Roadshow Film Distributors (part of Village), also serves as a distributor of film in Australia and
New Zealand for Wamer Bros. and New Line. Films produced or distributed by the majority of the local international
independent producers are also distributed by Roadshow. Typically, the Major Exhibitors own the newer multiplex and
megaplex cinemas, while the independent exhibitors typically have older and smaller cinemas. In addition, the Major
Exhibitors have in recent periods built a number of new multiplexes asjoint venture partners or under shared facility
arrangements, and have historically not engaged in head-to-head competition.

Cinema Exhibition — North America

In North America, distributors may find it more commercially appealing to deal with major exhibitors, rather than
to deal with independents like us, which tends to compress the supply of screens in a very limited number of
markets. This competitive disadvantage has increased significantly in recent periods with the development of mega
circuits like Regal and AMC who are able to offer distributors access to screens on a truly nationwide basis, or, on the
other hand, to deny access if their desires with respect to film supply are not satisfied.

These consolidations can adversely affect our ability to get film in certain U.S. markets where we compete
against major exhibitors. With the restructuring and consolidation undertaken in the industry, and the emergence of
increasingly attractive “in-home” entertainment alternatives, strategic cinema acquisitions by our U.S. operation have and
can continue to be a way to combat such a competitive disadvantage.

Real Estate — Australia and New Zealand

Over the past few years, there has been a noted stabilization in real estate market activity resulting in some
increases to commercial and retail property values in Australia and to a lesser extent in New Zealand. Both countries have
relatively stable economies with varying degrees of economic growth that are mostly influenced by global trends. Also,
we have noted that our Australian and New Zealand developed properties have had consistent growth in rentals and
values although project commencements have slowed. Once developed, we remain confident that our Australian and New
Zealand holdings will continue to provide value and cash flows to our operations.

Real Estate — North America

3z

APP_ PAGE_1060



The commercial real estate market has improved somewhat over the past two years and we have noted some
strong increases associated with our real estate located in large urban environments.

Business Segments

As indicated above, our two primary business segments are cinema exhibition and real estate. These segments
are summarized as follows:

Cinema Exhibition

One of our primary businesses consists of the ownership and operation of cinemas. For a breakdown of our
current cinema assets that we own and/or manage please see Item 1 — Our Business of this 2013 Annual Report under the
subheading “Our Cinema Exhibition Activities.”

On December 31,2013, we acquired a 5-screen cinema in the U.S. that we previously had managed since 2003.
In 2012, we opened one cinema with 8 screens and closed two cinemas having a total of 8 screens. In 2011, we purchased
one | 7-screen cinema.

Our cinema revenue consists of admissions, concessions, and advertising. The cinema operating expense
consists ofthe costs directly attributable to the operation of the cinemas including film rent expense, operating costs, and
occupancy costs. Cinema revenue and expense fluctuate with the availability of quality first-run films and the numbers of
weeks the first—run films stay in the market.

Real Estate
For fiscal 2013, our income operating property consisted ofthe following:

e our Belmont, Western Australia ETRC, our Auburn, New South Wales ETRC and our Wellington, New Zealand
ETRC;

e our Newmarket shopping center in Newmarket, Queensland, a suburb of Brisbane;

o three single auditorium live theaters in Manhattan (Minetta Lane, Orpheum, and Union Square) and a four
auditorium live theater complex in Chicago (The Royal George) and, in the case of the Union Square and the
Royal George, their accompanying ancillary retail and commercial tenants;

+ a New Zealand commercial property located at Lake Taupo and Australian commercial properties rented to
unrelated third parties, to be held for cumrent income and long-term appreciation; and

o theancillary retail and commercial tenants at some of ournon-ETRC cinema properties.

In addition, we had various parcels of unimproved real estate held for development in Australia and New Zealand
and certain unimproved land in the United States that was used in our historic activities. We also owned an 8,100 square
foot commercial building in Melbourne, which serves as our administrative headquarters for Australia and New Zealand,
approximately 36% of which is leased to an unrelated third party.

Acquisitions
Operating Assets

On December 31, 2013, we settled a management fee claim that we had against the owner of the Plano, Texas
cinema that we had managed since 2003 for a cash receipt of $1.9 million. As part of the settlement, we acquired that
entity, and through the purchase of that entity acquired the underlying cinema’s lease and the associated personal
property, equipment, and trade fixtures. Because the fair value of the lease, in light of anticipated rent payments, resulted
in a lease liability of $320,000 and the acquired net assets, including cash received in connection with the settlement,
were valued at $1.7 million, we recorded a net gain on acquisition and settlement of $1.4 million which is included as
other income in our statement of operating income for the year ended December 31,2013, We also acquired in 2013 the
50% interest we did not own in AFC LLC. In August 2011, we purchased the CalOaks Cinema, our largest multi-screened
cinema to date, for $4.2 million.

Nonoperating Assets
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On January 10, 2012, Shadow View Land and Farming, LL.C, a limited liability company owned by our Company,
acquired a 202-acre property, zoned for the development of up to 816 single-family residential units, located in the City
of Coachella, California. The property was acquired at a foreclosure auction for $5.5 million. The property was acquired
as a long-term investment in developable land. Half of the funds used to acquire the land were provided by James J.
Cotter, our Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and controlling shareholder Upon the approval of our Conflicts
Committee, these funds were converted into a 50% interest in Shadow View Land and Farming, LL.C. We are the
managing member of this company.

Disposals
Moonee Ponds Properties — Held for Sale

In 2013, we entered into a purchase and sale agreement to sell our 3.3-acre properties in Moonee Ponds for
AUS$23.0 million which is scheduled to close on April 16, 2015 and is classified as land held for sale on our December
31,2013 consolidated balance sheet.

Indooroopilly Property

On November 20, 2012, we sold our Indooroopilly property for $12.4 million (AUS$12.0 million). As the book
value was $12.5 million (AUS$12.1 million) for this property, we recorded a loss on sale as an impairment expense of
$318,000 (AUS$306,000) for the year ended December 31, 2012 which included the cost to sell the property.

Taringa Properties

On February 21, 2012, we sold our three properties in the Taringa area of Brisbane, Australia of approximately
1.1 acres for $1.9 million (AUS$1.8 million). Because the net carrying amounts of these properties were greater than the
total sale price, we recorded an impairment expense for these properties of $369,000 (AUSS$365,000) for the year ended
December 31,201 1.

Elsternwick Cinema
On April 14, 2011, we sold our 66.7% share of the 5-screen Elsternwick Classic cinema located in Melbourne,

Australia to our joint venture partner for $1.9 million (AUS$ 1.8 million) and recognized a gain on sale of a discontinued
operation of $1.7 million (AUS§ 1.6 million).

Investment and Development Property

We are engaged in several real estate development projects. For a complete list of these properties with their
size, status, and gross book values see [tem 2 — Properties under the heading of “Investment and Development Property.”

Critical Accounting Policies

The Securities and Exchange Commission defines critical accounting policies as those that are, in management’s
view, most important to the portrayal of the company’s financial condition and results of operations and the most
demanding in their calls on judgment. We believe our most critical accounting policies relate to:

e impairment oflong-lived assets, including goodwill and intangible assets;
e tax valuation allowance and obligations; and
s legal and environmental obligations.

Impairment of long-lived assets, including goodwill and intangible assets

We review long-lived assets, including goodwill and intangibles, for impairment as part of our annual budgeting
process, at the beginning ofthe fourth quarter, and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount ofthe asset may not be fully recoverable.
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Pursuant to FASB ASC 360-35, we review intemal management reports on a monthly basis as well as monitoring
cumrent and potential future competition in film markets for indications of potential impairment. We evaluate our long-
lived assets using historical and projected data of cash flow as our primary indicator of potential impairment and we take
into consideration the seasonality of our business. If the sum of the estimated, undiscounted future cash flows is less than
the carrying amount of the asset, then impairment is recognized for the amount by which the camrying value of the asset
exceeds its estimated fair value based on an appraisal or a discounted cash flow calculation.

For certain non-income producing properties, we obtain appraisals or other evidence to evaluate whether there
are impairment indicators for these assets. Based on calculations of cumrent value from appraisals and a sales contract, we
recorded impairment losses of $1.5 million and $369,000 relating to certain of our property and cinema locations for the
yvears ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. No impairment losses were recorded in 2013. For a further
explanation of our 2012 impairment losses see below under the heading “Coachella impairment” and see Note 7 —
Investment and Development Property to our 2013 Consolidated Financial Statements.

Pursuant to FASB ASC 350-33, goodwill and intangible assets are evaluated annually on a reporting unit
basis. The impairment evaluation is based on the present value of estimated future cash flows of the segment plus the
expected terminal value. There are significant assumptions and estimates used in determining the future cash flows and
terminal value. The most significant assumptions include our cost of debt and cost of equity assumptions that comprise
the weighted average cost of capital for each reporting unit. Accordingly, actual results could vary materially from such
estimates. There was no impairment for the goodwill and intangible assets for the years ended December 31,2013,2012,
and 2011, respectively.

Tax valuation allowance and obligations

We record our estimated future tax benefits and liabilities arising from the temporary differences between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and amounts reported in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, as well as operating
loss carry-forwards. We estimate the recoverability of any tax assets recorded on the balance sheet and provide any
necessary allowances as required. As of December 31, 2013, we had recorded approximately $43.8 million of deferred tax
assets related to the temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and amounts reported in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets, as well as operating loss carry-forwards and tax credit carry-forwards. These
deferred tax assets were offset by a valuation allowance of $35.0 million resulting in a net deferred tax asset of $8.8
million. The recoverability of deferred tax assets is dependent upon our ability to generate future taxable income. There
is no assurance that sufficient future taxable income will be generated to benefit from our tax loss camry-forwards and tax
credit carry-forwards.

Legal and environmental obligations

Certain of our subsidiaries were historically involved in mailroad operations, coal mining, and
manufacturing. Also, certain of these subsidiaries appear in the chain of title of properties that may suffer from
pollution. Accordingly, certain of these subsidiaries have, from time to time, been named in and may in the future be
named in various actions brought under applicable environmental laws. Also, we are in the real estate development
business and may encounter from time to time unanticipated environmental conditions at properties that we have
acquired for development. These environmental conditions can increase the cost of such projects and adversely affect the
value and potential for profit of such projects. We do not currently believe that our exposure under applicable
environmental laws is material in amount.

From time to time, we have claims brought against us relating to the exposure of former employees of our
railroad operations to asbestos and coal dust. These are generally covered by an insurance settlement reached in
September 1990 with our insurance carriers. However, this insurance settlement does not cover litigation by people who
were not our employees and who may claim second hand exposure to asbestos, coal dust, and/or other chemicals or
elements now recognized as potentially causing cancer in humans. Our known exposure to these types of claims, asserted
or probable of being asserted, is not material.

From time to time, we are involved with claims and lawsuits arising in the ordinary course of our business that
may include contractual obligations, insurance claims, tax claims, employment matters, and anti-trust issues, among other
matters.
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2012 Coachella impairment

In January 2012, we acquired in a foreclosure auction for $5.5 million a 202-acre property located in Coachella,
Califomia zoned for the development of up to 816 single-family residential units. The only other bidder was the holder
of the mortgage on the property who bid $5.46 million for the property. At the time of the purchase, we knew, based on
our due diligence that we were paying more for the property than would be supported by an appraisal done under the
Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (“USPAP”’). However, the amount that we bid was the lowest price at
which we were able to acquire the property from the mortgagor.  In valuing the property, we took into account a variety
of factors, including the fact that the property is located within the City of Coachella, the state of the land use
entitlements, and the fact that the prior owner had invested considerable time and money in obtaining the entitlements
from the City of Coachella. Since an independent USPAP appraisal of the property produced an appraised value as of
December 2012 at $4.0 million, we wrote down the book value of the property by $1.5 million as of the end of our2012
fiscal year. As noted below, this property is owned by a limited liability company which is, in turn, 50% owned by Mr.
JTames J. Cotter who, accordingly, shares in any impairment loss to the extent of his ownership interest.

We acquired the property as a potentially long-term investment based on the expectation that ready-for-
development residential real estate will recover in value. As we are not in the business of developing single family
residences, it is anticipated that the property will eventually be sold to a developer of this type of property.

We hold the property in a limited liability company, which we manage. This company is owned 30/50 by
ourselves and our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, James J. Cotter. The opportunity to acquire the property was
originally presented to Mr Cotter in his individual capacity and the transaction was approved by our Conflicts
Committee, comprised entirely of independent directors.

Results of Operations

We currently have two operating segments: Cinema Exhibition and Real Estate. Our cinema exhibition segment
includes the operations of our consolidated cinemas. Our real estate segment includes the operating results of our
commercial real estate holdings, cinema real estate, live theater real estate, and ETRC’s.

The tables below summarize the results of operations for our principal business segments for the years ended
December31,2013,2012, and 2011 (dollars in thousands).

Cinema Intersegment
Year Ended December 31, 2013 Exhibition Real Estate Eliminations Total
Revenue 3 239,418 § 26,456 % (7,653) % 258221
Operating expense 200,859 10,830 {7,653) 204,036
Depreciation and amortization 10,741 4,023 - 14,764
General and administrative expense 3,273 644 -- 3,917
Segment operating income 3 24,545 5 10,959 § - § 35,504

Cinema Intersegment
Year Ended December 31, 2012 Exhibition Real Estate Eliminations Total
Revenue 3 234,703 § 27,256 $ (7.526) $ 254430
Operating expense 198,040 11,163 (7,529) 201,674
Depreciation and amortization 11,154 4,441 - 15,595
General and administrative expense 2,598 718 - 3,316
Impairment expense -- 1,463 -- 1,463
Segment operating income 3 22,911 3 9,471 3 -3 32,382
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Cinema Intersegment

Year Ended December 31, 2011 Exhibition Real Estate Eliminations Total

Revenue 3 225849 % 26,562 § (7,432) $ 244979
Operating expense 189,647 10,190 {7,432) 192,405
Depreciation and amortization 11,842 4,444 - 16,286
General and administrative expense 2,740 646 - 3,386
[mpairment expense -- 369 -- 369
Segment operating income 3 21,620 5 10,913 § - % 32,533

Reconciliation to net income attributable

to Reading International, Inc. shareholders: 2013 2012 2011
Total segment operating income 3 35,504 5 32,382 § 32,533
Non-segment:
Depreciation and amortization expense 433 454 309
General and administrative expense 14,136 12,801 14,046
Operating income 20,935 19,127 18,178
Interest expense, net {10,037 (16,426) (21,038)
Other income (loss) 1,876 (563) 1,157
Gain (loss) on sale of assets (56) 144 67
Income tax benefit (expense) (4,942) {4,904) 12,330
Equity earnings (loss) of unconsolidated joint ventures and
entities 1,369 1,621 (1,552)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations - (85) 232
Gain (loss) on sale of discontinued operation -- (320) 1,656
Net income (loss) 3 9,145 3 (1,4006) $ 10,896
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (104) 492 (940)
Net income (loss) attributable to Reading International, Inc.
common sharcholders 3 9,041 § 914) $ 9,956

Cinema Exhibition Segment

The following tables and discussion that follows detail our operating results for our 2013, 2012, and 2011
cinema exhibition segment (dollars in thousands). All percentages below are expressed as a percent of total revenue,
except film rent and advertising cost which is expressed as a percentage of admissions revenue and concession cost which
is expressed as a percentage of concessions revenue:

Operating Income by Country for the

Year Ended December 31,2013 United States Australia New Zealand Total

Admissions revenue Y 84,725 § 61,741 § 15,039 § 161,505
Concessions revenue 35,056 24,025 5,596 64,677
Advertising and other revenues 6,540 5,655 1,041 13,236
Total revenues 126,321 91,421 21,676 239418
Filmrent and advertising cost 44,284 29,060 7,116 80,460
Concession cost 5,924 4,847 1,438 12,209
Occupancy expense 25981 18,371 3,943 48295
Other operating expense 31,930 22,218 5,747 59,895
Total operating expense 108,119 74,496 18,244 200,859
Depreciation and amortization 6,181 3,603 957 10,741
General and administrative expense 2,347 926 -- 3,273
Segment operating income 5 9,674 § 12,396 § 2,475 § 24,545
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Operating Data as a Percentage of
Revenue for Year Ended

December 31,2013 United States Australia New Zealand Total

Admissions revenue 67.1% 67.5% 69.4% 67.5%
Concessions revenue 27.8% 26.3% 25.8% 27.0%
Advertising and other revenue 5.2% 6.2% 4.8% 5.5%
Total revenue 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Filmrent and advertising cost 52.3% 47.1% 47.3% 49 8%
Concession cost 16.9% 20.2% 25.7% 18.9%
Occupancy expense 20.6% 20.1% 18.2% 20.2%
Other operating expense 253% 24.3% 26.5% 25.0%
Total operating cost and expense B5.6% 81.5% 84.2% 83.9%
Depreciation and amortization 4.9% 3.9% 4.4% 4.5%
General and administrative expense 1.9% 1.0% 0.0% 1.4%
Segment operating income 7.7% 13.6% 11.4% 10.3%

Operating Income by Country for the

Year Ended December 31,2012 United States Australia New Zealand Total

Admissions revenue $ 78,745 § 68,819 § 13,897 §$ 161,461
Concessions revenue 32,219 24,564 4266 61,049
Advertising and other revenues 5433 5,806 954 12,193
Total revenues 116,397 99,189 19,117 234,703
Filmrent and advertising cost 40,690 32,953 6,517 80,160
Concession cost 5,205 4908 1,034 11,147
Occupancy expense 26,143 19,233 3,503 48.879
Other operating expense 29,870 23,024 4.960 57,854
Total operating expense 101,908 80,118 16,014 198,040
Depreciation and amortization 6,482 3,589 1,083 11,154
General and administrative expense 1,937 661 - 2,598
Segment operating income 5 6,070 § 14,821 § 2,020 § 22911

Operating Data as a Percentage of
Revenue for Year Ended

December 31,2012 United States Australia New Zealand Total

Admissions revenue 67.7% 69.4% 72.7% 68.8%
Concessions revenue 27.7% 24.8% 22.3% 26.0%
Advertising and other revenue 4.7% 5.9% 5.0% 5.2%
Total revenue 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Film rent and advertising cost 51.7% 47.9% 46.9% 49.6%
Concession cost 16.2% 20.0% 24.2% 18.3%
Occupancy expense 22.5% 19.4% 18.3% 20.8%
Other operating expense 25.7% 23.2% 25.9% 24.6%
Total operating cost and expense B7.6% 80.8% 83.8% 84.4%
Depreciation and amortization 5.6% 3.6% 5.7% 4.8%
General and administrative expense 1.7% 0.7% 0.0% 1.1%
Segment operating income 5.2% 14.9% 10.6% 9.8%
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Operating Income by Country for the

Year Ended December 31,2011 United States Australia New Zealand Total
Admissions revenue 73,062 72,887 12,622 § 158,571
Concessions revenue 28,225 23,3006 3,446 54977
Advertising and other revenues 5482 6,019 800 12,301
Total revenues 106,769 102,212 16,868 225,849
Film rent and advertising cost 37,360 34,390 5,878 77,628
Concession cost 4460 4963 852 10,275
Occupancy expense 25,210 19,107 3,157 47474
Other operating expense 27,033 22,274 4963 54,270
Total operating expense 94,063 80,734 14,850 189,647
Depreciation and amortization 6,525 4218 1,099 11,842
General and administrative expense 1,973 691 76 2,740
Segment operating income 4,208 16,569 843 21,620
Operating Data as a Percentage of

Revenue for Year Ended

December 31,2011 United States Australia New Zealand Total
Admissions revenue 68.4% 71.3% 74.8% 70.2%
Concessions revenue 26.4% 22.8% 20.4% 24.3%
Advertising and other revenue 5.1% 5.9% 4.7% 54%
Total revenue 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Filmrent and advertising cost 51.1% 47.2% 46.6% 49.0%
Concession cost 15.8% 21.3% 24.7% 18.7%
Occupancy expense 23.6% 18.7% 18.7% 21.0%
Other operating expense 25.3% 21.8% 29.4% 24.0%
Total operating cost and expense 88.1% 79.0% 88.0% 84.0%
Depreciation and amortization 6.1% 4.1% 6.5% 52%
General and administrative expense 1.8% 0.7% 0.5% 1.2%
Segment operating income 3.9% 16.2% 5.0% 9.6%

Cinema Results for 2013 Compared to 2012

e Cinema revenue increased in 2013 by $4.7 million or 2.0% compared to 2012. The geographic activity of our
revenue can be summarized as follows:

o United States - Revenue in the United States increased by $9.9 million or8.5%. This increase in
revenue was predominately attributable to a 440,000 person increase in box office admissions and a
2.6% increase in the average ticket price coupled with a commensurate increase in concessions revenue.

Both of these increases were primarily related to the quality of film product in 2013 compared to the
same period in 2012.

o Australia - Revenue in Australia decreased by $7.8 million or7.8%. This decrease in revenue was
primarily related to a 5.1% decrease in the average ticket price resulting from a continued and expanded
competitive ticket pricing model; offset in part by, a 60,000 person increase in box office
admissions. As noted below, this decrease in revenue was exacerbated by a decrease in the value ofthe
Australian dollar compared to the U.S. dollar for the comparable periods (see below).

o New Zealand - Revenue in New Zealand increased by $2.6 million or 13.4%. This increase in revenue
was predominately attributable to a year over year 121,000 person increase in admissions; somewhat
offset by, a decrease in the average ticket price of 0.4%. The increase in New Zealand admissions was
primarily as a result of increased revenues coming from our previously earthquake
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damaged New Zealand multiplex. This increase in revenue was somewhat enhanced by an increase in
the value ofthe New Zealand dollar compared to the U.S. dollar (see below).
¢ Operating expense increased in 2013 by $2.8 million or 1.4% compared to 2012. Year over year operating
expense percentage decreased in relation to revenue from 84.4% to 83.9%.

¢ United States - Operating expense in the United States increased by $6.2 million or 6.1% primarily
related to a $3.6 million increase in film rent and adverising primarily associated with the
aforementioned increases in revenues from admissions and a $2.0 million increase in other operating
expense including a $778,000 increase in projection costs primarily related to our new digital
equipment lease.

©  Australia - Operating expense in Australia decreased by $5.6 million or 7.0%. This decrease was in line
with the above-mentioned decrease in cinema revenue which directly affects film rental costs and
exacerbated by the year over year decrease in the value of the Australian dollar compared to the U.S.
dollar (see below).

o New Zealand - Operating expense in New Zealand increased by $2.2 million or 13.9%. This increase
was in line with the above-mentioned increase in cinema revenue which directly affects film rental costs
and with the above-mentioned year over year increase in the value of the New Zealand dollar compared
to the U.S. dollar (see below).

e Depreciation expense decreased in 2013 by $413,000 or 3.7% compared to 2012. This decrease was primarily
related to several of our cinema assets reaching the end of their depreciable lives.

+ General and administrative expense increased in 2013 by $675,000 or 26.0% compared to 2012. This increase
was primarily related to an increase in labor expense from our U.S. and Australian cinema operations.

+ Australian average exchange rates decreased by 6.5% from 2012 to 2013 and the New Zealand average exchange
rates increased by 1.2% from 2012 to 2013 both of which had an impact on our statements of operations.

e As aresult, cinema exhibition segment operating income increased in 2013 by $1.6 million compared to 2012
primarily from the aforementioned increase in revenue from our U.S. and New Zealand cinema operations.

Cinema Results for 2012 Compared to 2011

¢ Cinema revenue increased in 2012 by $8.9 million or 3.9% compared to 2011. The geographic activity of our
revenue can be summarized as follows:

o United States - Revenue in the United States increased by $9.6 million or 9.0%. This increase in
revenue was predominately attributable to a 722,000 person increase in box office admissions and a
commensurate increase in admissions and concessions revenue primarily from our 2011 acquisition of
the CalOaks cinema in Murrieta, California and from our newly opened AFC Mosaic cinema in the
greater Washington D.C. metropolitan area; offset by, a 0.7% decrease in the average ticket price.

Cc  Australia - Revenue in Australia decreased by $3.0 million or 3.0%. This decrease in revenue was
primarily related to a 91,000 person decrease in box office admissions coupled with a 3.9% decrease in
the average ticket price resulting from a more competitive ticket pricing model. This decrease included
the temporary closure of a cinema in Australia due to renovations during the second quarter. As noted
below, there was only a nominal change in the Australian dollar compared to the U.S. do llar for the
comparable period (see below).

o New Zealand - Revenue in New Zealand increased by $2.2 million or 13.3%. This increase in revenue
was predominately attributable to a year over year 236,000 person increase in admissions; offset by, a
decrease in the average ticket price of 7.6% resulting from a more competitive ticket pricing model. The
increase in New Zealand admissions was primarily as a result of the reopening of an earthquake
damaged New Zealand multiplex in early January 2012. This increase in revenue was somewhat
enhanced by an increase in the value ofthe New Zealand dollar compared to the U.S. dollar (see below).

¢ Operating expense increased in 2012 by $8.4 million or 4.4% compared to 2011. Year over year operating
expense percentage increased in relation to revenue from 84.09% to 84.4%.

© United States - Operating expense in the United States increased by $7.8 million or 8.3% primarily

related to a $3.3 million increase in film rent and advertising and a $3.1 million increase in other
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operating expense both of which were primarily associated with the aforementioned newly acquired and
opened cinemas.

©  Australia - Operating expense in Australia decreased by $616,000 or 0.8%. This decrease was in line
with the above-mentioned decrease in cinema revenue which directly affects film rental costs and with
the year over year nominal increase in the value of the Australian dollar compared to the U.S. dollar (see
below).

o New Zealand - Operating expense in New Zealand increased by 81.2 million or 7.8%. This increase was
in line with the above-mentioned increase in cinema revenue which directly affects film rental costs
offset by the above-mentioned year over year increase in the value of the New Zealand dollar compared
to the U.S. dollar (see below).

e Depreciation expense decreased in 2012 by $688,000 or 5.8% compared to 2011. This decrease was primarily
related to several of our cinema assets reaching the end of their depreciable lives.

e General and administrative expense decreased in 2012 by $142,000 or 5.2% compared to 2011. This decrease
was primarily related to preopening costs in 2011 for a newly opened Australian cinema which did not recur in
2012.

e Australian and New Zealand monthly average exchange rates for 2012 increased by 0.3% and 2.4%,
respectively, from those in 2011, which had an overall positive impact our statements of operations.

e As aresult, cinema exhibition segment operating income increased in 2012 by $1.3 million compared to 2011
primarily from the aforementioned increase in revenue from our Australian cinema operations.

Real Estate Segment

As discussed above, our other business segment is the development and management of real estate. These
holdings include our rental live theaters, certain fee owned properties used in our cinema business, and unimproved real
estate held for development.

The tables and discussion that follow detail our operating results for our 2013, 2012, and 2011 real estate
segment (dollars in thousands). All percentages below are expressed as a percent of total revenue except live theater cost
which is expressed as a percentage of live theater rental and ancillary revenue, and property cost which is expressed as a
percentage of property rental revenue:

Operating Income by Country for the

Year Ended December 31,2013 United States Australia New Zealand Total

Live theater rental and ancillary income $ 3500 % - 8 - 8 3,500
Property rental income 1,692 14,424 6,840 22,956
Total revenues 5,192 14,424 6,840 26,456
Live theater costs 1,574 -- -- 1,574
Property rental cost 316 2,362 1,684 4,362
Occupancy expense 946 3,139 809 4,894
Total operating expense 2,836 5,501 2,493 10,830
Depreciation and amortization 314 2,635 1,074 4,023
General and administrative expense 67 527 50 644
Segment operating income $ 1975 § 5761 % 3223 § 10,959

Operating Data as a Percentage of
Revenue for Year Ended

December 31,2013 United States Australia New Zealand Total

Live theater rental and ancillary revenue 67.4% 132%

Property rental revenue 32.6% 100.0% 100.0% 86.8%

Total revenue 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Live theater cost 45.0% 45.0%
41
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Property cost 18.7% 16.4% 24.6% 19.0%
Occupancy expense 18.2% 21.8% 11.8% 18.5%
Total operating cost and expense 54.6% 38.1% 364% 40.9%
Depreciation and amortization 6.0% 18.3% 15.7% 152%
General and administrative expense 1.3% 3.7% 0.7% 24%
Impairment expense 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Segment operating income 38.0% 39.9% 47.1% 41.4%
Operating Income by Country for the
Year Ended December 31,2012 United States Australia New Zealand Total
Live theater rental and ancillary income $ 3416 - - 3416
Property rental income 1.690 14,536 7,614 23,840
Total revenues 5,106 14,536 7,614 27,256
Live theater costs 1,538 -- -- 1,538
Property rental cost 456 3,262 1,459 5,177
Occupancy expense 857 2,815 776 4,448
Total operating expense 2,851 6,077 2,235 11,163
Depreciation and amortization 305 2,824 1,312 4,441
General and administrative expense 100 535 83 718
Impairment expense 1,463 -- -- 1,463
Segment operating income 3 387 5,100 3,984 9471
Operating Data as a Percentage of
Revenue for Year Ended
December 31,2012 United States Australia New Zealand Total
Live theater rental and ancillary revenue 66.9% 12.5%
Property rental revenue 33.1% 100.0% 100.0% 87.5%
Total revenue 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Live theater cost 45.0% 45.0%
Property cost 27.0% 22.4% 19.2% 21.7%
Occupancy expense 16.8% 19.4% 10.2% 16.3%
Total operating cost and expense 55.8% 41.8% 29.4% 41.0%
Depreciation and amortization 6.0% 19.4% 17.2% 16.3%
General and administrative expense 2.0% 3.7% 1.1% 2.6%
Impairment expense 28.7% 0.0% 0.0% 54%
Segment operating income 7.6% 35.1% 52.3% 34.7%
Operating Income by Country for the
Year Ended December 31,2011 United States Australia New Zealand Total
Live theater rental and ancillary income $ 3.507 - - 3,507
Property rental income 1,714 13,850 7,491 23,055
Total revenues 5221 13,850 7491 26,562
Live theater costs 1,505 - - 1,505
Property rental cost 124 2,507 1,375 4,006
Occupancy expense 845 3,121 713 4,679
Total operating expense 2474 5,628 2,088 10,190
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Depreciation and amortization 326 2,848 1,270 4,444
General and administrative expense 32 554 60 646
Impairment expense -- 369 -- 369
Segment operating income 2389 4451 4,073 10,913
Operating Data as a Percentage of

Revenue for Year Ended

December 31,2011 United States Australia New Zealand Total
Live theater rental and ancillary revenue 67.2% 13.2%
Property rental revenue 32.8% 100.0% 100.0% 86.8%
Total revenue 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Live theater cost 42.9% 42.9%
Property cost 7.2% 18.1% 18.4% 17.4%
Occupancy expense 16.2% 22.5% 9.5% 17.6%
Total operating cost and expense 47.4% 40.6% 27.9% 384%
Depreciation and amortization 6.2% 20.6% 17.0% 16.7%
General and administrative expense 0.6% 4.0% 0.8% 24%
Impairment expense 0.0% 2.7% 0.0% 1.4%
Segment operating income 45.8% 32.1% 544% 41.1%

Real Estate Results for 2013 Compared to 2012

+ Real estate revenue decreased by $800,000 or 2.9% compared to 2012. The decrease in revenue was primarily
related to the closure of our Courtenay Central parking structure in July 2013 as a result of an earthquake in
Wellington, New Zealand. Revenue was also affected by the aforementioned fluctuations in currency exchange
rates (see below).

e Operating expense for the real estate segment decreased by $333,000 or 3.0% compared to 2012. This decrease
resulted primarily from a decrease in professional fees from our 2012 legal work associated with protecting the
property rights of our Burwood property and with our residual railroad properties and the aforementioned
fluctuations in currency exchange rates (see below). These decreases were in part offset by additional costs
associated with the start of development work on our Wellington, New Zealand location in 2013.

e General and administrative costs decreased by $74,000 or 10.3% compared to 2012 primarily due to an increase
in our allowance for doubtful accounts for our U.S. properties in 2012 which did not recurin 2013.

e Australian average exchange rates decreased by 6.5% from 2012 to 2013 and the New Zealand average exchange
rates increased by 1.2% from 2012 to 2013 both of which had an impact on our statements of operations.

s Asaresult ofthe above, real estate segment income increased by $1.5 million or 15.7% compared to 2012.

Real Estate Results for 2012 Compared to 2011

¢ Real estate revenue increased by $694,000 or 2.6% compared to 2011. The increase in revenue was primarily
related to an inerease in rental income from our Australian and New Zealand ETRCs coupled with fluctuations in
currency exchange rates (see below); offset by, a decrease in rent from our live theater venues in the U.S.

e Opermating expense for the real estate segment increased by $973,000 or 9.5% compared to 2011. This increase
in expense was primarily related to higher repair, maintenance, and insurance costs for our operating properties,
from legal costs incurred in 2012 associated with protecting the property rights of our Burwood property and
with our residual railroad propetties, and the aforementioned fluctuations in cumrency exchange rates (see below).

+ Werecorded a real estate impairment lossin 2012 of $1.5 million related to our Coachella property (see Note 7 —
Investment and Development Property to our 2012 Consolidated Financial Statements). As noted above, this
property is owned by a limited liability company which is, in turn, 50% owned by Mr. James J.
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Cotter who, accordingly, shares in any impairment loss to the extent of his ownerwship interest. In 2011, we
recorded a $369,000 impairment loss related to our Taringa real estate property. We subsequently sold the
Taringa property on February 21, 2012 for $1.9 million (AUS$ 1.8 million).

e General and administrative costs increased by $72,000 or 11.1% compared to 2011 primarily due to an increase
in our allowance for doubtful accounts for our U.S. properties in 2012.

e Australian and New Zealand monthly average exchange rates for 2012 increased by 0.3% and 2.4%,
respectively, from those in 2011, which had an overall positive impact on our statements of operations.

+ Asaresult ofthe above, real estate segment income decreased by $1.4 million or 13.2% compared to 2011.

Non-Segment Aclivity

Non-segment expense/income includes expense and/or income that is not directly attributable to our two
operating segments.

2013 Compared to 2012

¢ general and administrative expense increased by $1.3 million primarily related to an increase in compensation
expense, pension costs, and additional audit fees..

e net interest expense decreased by $6.4 million compared to 2012. The decrease in interest expense during the
2013 resulted from an overall decrease in our worldwide debt balances and a decrease in the interest rates on our
corporate loans in the U.S. and Australia. Additionally, our interest expense was lower in the 2013 due to a
decrease in the fair value of our interest rate swap liabilities in 2013 compared to an increase in these liabilities
during the same period in 2012 resulting in a comparative decrease in interest expense from 2012 to 2013.

s the $1.9 million in other income during 2013 was primarily related to a $1 4 million gain on the acquisition ofa
cinema and the receipt of insurance proceeds from our business interruption claim for the temporary closure of
our cinema in Christchurch, New Zealand (see Note 26 — Casualiy Loss to our 2013 Consolidated Financial
Statements). The $563,000 in other income during 2012 was primarily related to the write off of our GE Capital
loan costs at the time of the refinance of our U.S. Corporate Credit Facility with Bank of America; offset by,
insurance proceeds from our business interruption claim for the temporary closure of our cinema in Christchureh,
New Zealand due to the February 22, 2011 earthquake.

e ©quity earnings from unconsolidated investments decreased by $252,000 primarily related to decrease in income
from our Mt. Gravatt investment.

2012 Compared to 2011

e general and administrative expense decreased by $1.2 million primarily related to the one-time additional labor
costs incurred during 2011, associated with the transfer of our accounting functions from the U.S. and Australia
to New Zealand not being repeated in 2012, as well as some cost savings resulting from the synergies gained asa
result of this move.

e net interest expense decreased by $4.6 million compared to 2011. The decrease in interest expense during 2012
was primarily due to a smaller increase in the fair value of our interest rate swaps in 2012 than that noted for the
same period in 2011 and to a decrease in interest rates specifically from our Trust Preferred Securities. Effective
May 1,2012,that interest rate changed from a fixed rate 0f 9.22%, which was in effect for the past five years, to a
variable rate of 3 month LIBOR plus 4.00%, which will reset each quarter through the end of'the loan, unless we
choose to fix the rate again.

e the $563,000 in other loss during 2012 was primarily related to the write off of our GE Capital loan costs at the
time ofthe refinance of our U.S. Corporate Credit Facility with Bank of America; offset by, additional insurance
proceeds from our business interruption claim for the temporary closure of our cinema in Christchurch, New
Zealand due to the February 22, 2011 earthquake. The $1.2 million in other income during 2011 was primarily
related to insurance proceeds from a partial payment of our business intemuption claim for the aforementioned
temporary closure of our cinema in Christchurch, New Zealand (see Note 26 — Casualty Loss to our 2012
Consolidated Financial Statements).

o the net income tax expense was 84.9 million during 2012 compared to a net income tax benefit of $12.3 million
during 201 1. The year over year change in 201 2 was primarily related to a reduction in deferred
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tax assets in Australia, caused by the sale of certain assets, plus a reduction in loss carryforwards available to
offset future Australia taxable income. For 2011, the change was primarily related to a one-time tax provision
adjustment of $14.4 million caused by a reduction in the valuation allowance related to our Australian
operations (see Note 14 — mcome Tax to our 2012 Consolidated Financial Statements).

e equity earnings from unconsolidated investments increased by $3.2 million primarily related to a 2011 $2.9
million impairment to our interest in Rialto Entertainment not repeated in 2012.

Income Taxes

We are subject to income taxation in several jurisdictions throughout the world. Our effective tax rate and
income tax liabilities will be affected by a number of factors, such as:

e the amount oftaxable income in particular jurisdictions;
e thetax ratesin particular jurisdictions;

e tax treaties between jurisdictions;

e theextent to which income is repatriated; and

. future changes in law.

Generally, we file consolidated or combined tax returns in jurisdictions that permit or require such filings. For
jurisdictions that do not permit such a filing, we may owe income, franchise, or capital taxes even though, on an overall
basis, we may have incurred a net loss for the tax year.

Net Income Attributable to Reading International Ine. Common Shareholders

For the years ending 2013, 2012, and 2011, our consolidated business units produced a net income 0£$9.0
million (primarily driven by a decrease in our interest expense as noted above), a net loss of $214,000, and a net income
of $10.0 million (primarily driven by a decrease in our tax provision of $14.4 million caused by a reduction in the
valuation allowance related to our Australian operations), respectively, attributable to Reading International, Inc.
common shareholders. For many of the years prior to 2013, we consistently experienced net losses. However, as
explained in the Cinema and Real Estate segment sections above, we have generally noted improvements in our segment
operating income such that we have a positive segment operating income for each of the years 0f2013,2012, and 2011,
that in years past has been negative. Although we cannot assure that this trend will continue, we are committed to the
overall improvement of earnings through good fiscal management.

Business Plan, Liquidity, and Capital Resources of the Company

Business Plan

While we do not believe the cinema exhibition business to be a growth business, we do believe it to be a
business that will likely continue to generate fairly consistent cash flows in the years ahead even in recessionary or
inflationary environment. This is based on our belief that people will continue to spend some reasonable portion of their
entertainment dollar on entertainment outside of the home and that, when compared to other forms of outside the home
entertainment, movies continue to be a popular and competitively priced option. Since we believe the cinema exhibition
business to be a mature business with most markets either adequately screened or over-screened, we see growth in our
cinema business coming principally from the enhancement of our current cinemas, the development in select markets of
specialty cinemas, and the opportunistic acquisition of already existing cinemas rather than from the development of new
conventional cinemas. From time to time, we invest in the securities of other companies, where we believe the business or
assets of those companies to be attractive or to offer synergies to our existing entertainment and real estate
businesses. Also, in the current environment, we intend to be opportunistic in identifying and endeavoring to acquire
undervalued assets, particularly assets with proven cash flow and which we believe to be resistant to current recessionary
trends.

In summary, while we do have operating company attributes, we see ourselves principally as a geographically
diversified real estate company and intend to add to stockholder value by building the value of our portfolio of tangible
assets including both entertainment and other types of land and brick and mortar assets. We endeavor to maintain a
reasonable asset allocation between our domestic and international assets and operations, and between our cash
generating cinema operations and our cash consuming real estate development activities. We
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believe that by blending the cash generating capabilities of a cinema operation with the investment and development
opportunities of our real estate development operation, our business strategy is unique among public companies.

Liguiditv and Capital Resources

Our ability to generate sufficient cash flows from operating activities in order to meet our obligations and
commitments drives our liquidity position. This is further affected by our ability to obtain adequate, reasonable
finaneing and/or to convert non-performing or non-strategic assets into cash.

Currently, our liquidity needs continue to arise mainly from:

¢ working capital requirements;
e capital expenditures; and
e debt servicing requirements.

With the changes to the worldwide credit markets, the business community is concerned that credit will be more
difficult to obtain especially for potentially risky ventures like business and asset acquisitions. However, we believe that
our acquisitions over the past few years coupled with our strengthening operational cash flows demonstrate our ability to
improve our profitability. We believe that this business model will help us to demonstrate to lending institutions our
ability not only to make strategic acquisitions but also to service the associated debt.

Discussion of Qur Statement of Cash Flows
The following discussion compares the changes in our cash flows over the past three years.
Operating Activities
2013 Compared to 2012, Cash provided by operations was $25.2 million in 2013 compared to $25.5 million in

the 2012. The decrease in cash provided by operations of8313,000 was due primarily to a $5.1 million increase in
operational cash flows; offset by, a $5.4 million decrease in cash from changes in operating assets and liabilities

2012 Compared to 2011. Cash provided by operations was $25.5 million in 2012 compared to $24.3 million in
the 2011. The increase in cash provided by operations of $1.2 million was due primarily to a $4.4 million increase in
operational cash flows; offset by, a $3.2 million decrease in cash from changes in operating assets and liabilities.

Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities was $6.1 million in 2013, $6.1 million in 2012, and $3.8 million in 2011. The
following summarizes our discretionary investing activities for each of the three years ending December 31, 2013:

The $6.1 million cash used in 2013 was primarily related to:
e $20.1 million in property enhancements to our existing properties;
offset by

e« $1.6 million in cash provided from restricted cash;

o $1.9million in cash received associated with a cinema acquisition;
e $2.0million ofproceeds from a note receivable; and

+ $8.0 million of proceeds from time deposits;

The $6.1 million cash used in 2012 was primarily related to:

¢ $8.2 million in property enhancements to our existing properties;
e 3B.0 million to purchase time deposits;

APP_PAGE_1074



e $1.8 million to purchase a note receivable; and
e $5.5million for the purchase ofthe Coachella land acquisition;

offset by,

e J$14.1 million of proceeds from the sale of our Taringa and Indooroopilly properties;
+« $382.000 in return of investment in unconsolidated entities; and
e $3.0million of proceeds from the sale of marketable securities.

The $3.8 million cash used in 2011 was primarily related to:

e $3.9 million for the purchase ofthe CalOaks cinema;

e $5.5million in property enhancements to our existing properties;
¢ $168,000 ofachange in restricted cash; and

e $2.8million for the purchase of mortgage notes receivable;

offset by,

e $1.9 million of net proceeds from the sale of our 66.7% share of the 5-screen Elstemwick Classic cinema located
in Melbourne, Australia;

¢ $143.000 of proceeds from the sale of marketable securities; and

¢ $6.8 million of proceeds from thepayoff of a long-term other receivable associated with our Malulani
investment.

Financing Activities

Cash used in financing activities was $17.8 million in 2013, $12.7 million in 2012 and $23.4 million in
2011. The following summarizes our financing activities for each ofthe three vears ending December 31,2013:

The $17.8 million cash used in 2013 was primarily related to:

+ $28.1 million of loan repayments including a $6.4 million payoff of our former Liberty Theaters Term Loan, a
$6.8 million payoff of our Sutton Hill Capital Note, $5.5 million in payments on our Bank of America Revolver
and Line of Credit, $8.6 million in payments on our NAB term debt, and a $592,000 payoff of the Nationwide
Loan 1; and

e 52.1 million in noncontrolling interests’ distributions;

offset by,

e $12.5 million of new borrowing including $5.0 million from our Bank of America Revolver and 87.5 million
from our new loan on the Orpheum and Minetta Lane Theatres offset by $563,000 of borowing costs;
e $263.000 in noncontrolling interests’ contributions; and

s $248.000 of proceeds from the exercise of employee stock options.
The $12.7 million cash used in 2012 was primarily related to:

e $62.6 million of loan repayments including $15.0 million to pay off our Eurohypo Cinemas 1, 2, 3 loan, $32.2
million to pay off our GE Capital Loan, and $14.8 million in payments on our NAB term debt;

offset by,

e $47.0 million of new borrowing including $30.0 million of loan proceeds from our new Bank of America U.S.
Credit Facility and 815.0 million of loan proceeds from our new Cinemas 1, 2, 3 loan (both offset by a total of
$782,000 of capitalized borrowing cost) and $2.0 million of borrowing from our Bank of America line of credit;
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e $3.4million in noncontrolling interests’ contributions; and
e $308,000 ofproceeds from the exercise of employee stock options.

The $23.4 million cash used in 2011 was primarily related to:

e $126.8 million of loan repayments including the $105.8 million payoff of our Australian BOSI loan, $5.3
million in loan repayment on our GE Capital Loan, $9.7 million payoff of our NAB revolver, $3.4 million loan
repayment of our NAB term debt, and $2.0 million pay down of our Nationwide Notes;

e $747,000 to repurchase our Class A Nonvoting Common Stock; and

e $654,000 in noncontrolling interests” distributions.

offset by,

e 51053 million of new borrowing including $104.2 million of loan proceeds from our new NAB loan net of
$774,000 of capitalized bomrowing costs and $1.1 million of borrowing from our New Zealand credit facility;
and

« $233,000 in noncontrolling interests’ contributions.

Future Liquidity and Capital Resources

During the past 24 months, we have put into place several measures that currently have or will have a positive
effect on our overall liquidity, including:

e refinancing our Liberty Theaters loan with a $7.5 million loan securitized by our Minetta and Orpheum theatres
having a maturity date of June 1,2018.

e replacing our GE Capital Term Loan of $27.7 million with a new revolving line of credit from Bank of America
(the “BofA Revolver™) of $30.0 million which has significantly lower principal payments than those of our
former GE Capital Term Loan. On March 25,2013, Bank of America increased the borrowing limit on our BofA
Revolver from $30.0 million to $35.0 million.

+ renewing and increasing our existing $3.0 million line of credit with Bank of America to $5.0 million.

e replacing our Eurohypo AG, New York Branch loan with a new $15.0 million Sovereign Bank, N.A. term loan
having a one-year term ending on June 27,2013 one year extension option to June 27,2014 which we exercised
in June 2013.

e receiving, on February 8, 2012, an approved amendment from Westpac renewing our existing $36.9 million
(NZ$45.0 million) New Zealand credit facility with a 3-year $32.8 million (NZ$40.0 million) credit facility.

We believe that we have sufficient borrowing capacity to meet our short-term working capital requirements. To
meet our current and future liquidity requirements, we have the following external sources of unused liquidity:

e $99million (NZ$12.0 million) is available on our New Zealand Corporate Credit facility;
e $4.5million (AUS$5.0 million) is available on our NAB revolver facility; and
¢ $5.0million is available on our Bank of America Line of Credit.

Potential uses for funds during 2014 that would reduce our liquidity, other than those relating to working capital
needs and debt service requirements include:

e payments on our legal settlement obligation for the Tax/Audit Litigation;
e theselective development of our currently held for development projects; and
« the acquisition of assets with proven cash flow that we believe to be resistant to the current recessionary trends.

We are in the process of negotiating a renewal of our Australian NAB Corporate Term Loan and Corporate
Revolver and are optimistic that a renewal will be consummated by May 31, 2014, on terms that are at least equal to those
that are expiring at June 30,2014. In addition we are seeking a further 12 to 24 month extension on our US
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Cinema 1, 2, 3 Term Loan which expires on June 27, 2014 and remain optimistic that this can be achieved by May 31,
2014 as well.

Our worldwide cash position at December 31,2013 was $37.7 million including $16.4 million in the U.S, $12.1
million in Australia, and $7.7 million in New Zealand. As part of our main credit facilities in Australia, New Zealand, and
the U.S., we are subject to certain debt covenants which limit the transfer or use of cash outside of the various regional
subsidiaries in which the cash is held. As such, at December 31, 2013, we have approximately $15.8 million of cash that
is not restricted by loan covenants.

Based upon the cumrent levels of the consolidated operations, further anticipated cost savings and future growth,
we believe our cash flow from operations, together with both the existing and anticipated lines-of-credit and other sources
of liquidity (including future potential asset sales) will be adequate to meet our anticipated requirements for principal
repayments, interest payments, and short-term debt maturities plus any other debt service obligations, working capital,
capital expenditures and other operating needs.

There can be no assurance, however, that the business will continue to generate cash flow at or above cument
levels or that estimated cost savings or growth can be achieved. Future operating performance and our ability to service
or refinance existing indebtedness will be subject to future economic conditions and to financial and other factors, such
as aceess to first-run films, many of which are beyond our control. If our cash flow from operations and/or proceeds from
anticipated borrowings should prove to be insufficient to meet our funding needs, our current intention is either:

e to defer construction of projects currently slated for land presently owned by us;
e totake on joint venture partners with respect to such development projects; and/or
. to sell assets.

Contractual Obligations

The following table provides information with respect to the maturities and scheduled prineipal repayments of
oursecured debt and lease obligations at December 31,2013 (in thousands):

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Thereafter Total

Debt 5 75,538 3 33,009 $ 3500 § 21,000 3 7,500 % -3 140,547
Subordinated notes (trust preferred
securities) - - - - - 27,913 27,913
Tax settlement liability 3,480 2,301 - - - - 5,781
Pension liability 14 32 50 633 607 7,191 8,527
Lease obligations 33,676 31,431 27,777 25,188 21,427 58,410 197,909
Estimated interest on debt 5,640 3,744 3,010 1,846 1,238 9,761 25,239

Total $ 118348 % 70,517 § 34337 3 48,667 § 30,772 3 103,275 § 405,916

Estimated interest on long-term debt is based on the anticipated loan balances for future periods caleulated
against current fixed and variable interest rates.

We adopted FASB ASC 740-10-25 — Icome Taxes - Uncertain Tax Positions on January 1, 2007. As of
adoption, the total amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits for uncertain tax positions was $12.5 million increasing to
$13.7 million, to $14.5 million, and to $15.3 million as of December 31, 2007, 2008, and 2009, respectively. As of
December 31 2010, the gross unrecognized tax benefit increased to $20.6 million, substantially as a result of having
settled our Tax Audit/Litigation case (see Note 19 — Commitments and Contingencies to our 2013 Consolidated Financial
Statements). As of December 31, 201, the gross unrecognized tax benefit decreased to $4.1 million largely because the
Tax Audit/Litigation matter is no longer in the nature of an uncertain tax position govemed by FASB ASC 740-10-25,
but is a fixed and determinable tax liability. As of December 31, 2012 and 2013, the gross unrecognized tax benefit was
85.3 million and $4.0 million, respectively. We do not expect a significant tax payment related to the $4.0 million in
uncertain tax positions within the next 12 months.

Unconsolidated Joint Venture Debt
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Total debt of unconsolidated joint ventures was $634,000 and $703,000 as of December 31, 2013 and December
31, 2012, respectively. Our share of unconsolidated debt, based on our ownership percentage, was $211,000 and
$234,000 as of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively. This loan is guaranteed by one of our
subsidiaries to the extent of our ownership percentage.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

There are no off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, or obligations (including contingent obligations) that
have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or future material effect on our financial condition, changes in the
financial condition, revenue or expense, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures, or capital resources.

Financial Risk Management

Our internally developed risk management procedure, seeks to minimize the potentially negative effects of
changes in foreign exchange rates and interest rates on the results of operations. Our primary exposure to fluctuations in
the financial markets is currently due to changes in foreign exchange rates between U.S and Australia and New Zealand,
and interest rates.

If our operational focus shifts more to Australia and New Zealand, unrealized foreign currency translation gains
and losses could materially affect our financial position. Historically, we managed our cumrency exposure by creating
natural hedges in Australia and New Zealand. This involves local country sourcing of goods and services as well as
borrowing in local currencies. During 2012, we deviated somewhat from this practice by purchasing $8.0 million in time
deposits denominated in U.S. dollars and held by an Australian bank. As a consequence, at December 31, 2013, we hold
84.5 million in Australia and $495,000 in New Zealand denominated in U.S. dollars. Also, by paying off our New
Zealand debt and paying down on our Australian debt with the proceeds of our TPS in 2007, we added an increased
element of currency risk to our Company. We believe that this cumrency risk is mitigated by the long-term nature of the
fully subordinated notes and our ability in 2009 to repurchase, at a discount, some ofthese securities.

Our exposure to interest rate risk arises out of our long-term debt obligations. Consistent with our internally
developed guidelines, we seek to reduce the negative effects of changes in interest rates by changing the character of the
interest rate on our long-term debt, converting a fixed rate into a variable rate and vice versa. Our internal procedures
allow us to enter into derivative contracts on certain borrowing transactions to achieve this goal. Our Australian Credit
Facility provides for floating interest rates based on the Bank Bill Swap Bid Rate (BBSY bid rate), but requires that not
less than 75% of the loan be swapped into fixed rate obligations but we have elected to swap 100% of the balance.
Although our Bank of America Revolver does not require a fixed interest swap agreement, we entered into an approximate
three-year $31.5 million fixed interest rate swap that has a balance reduction schedule which matches the contraction
amortization of the Bank of America Revolver. Effective October 28, 2013, we entered into a three-year $27.9 million
fixed interest rate swap for our Trust Preferred Securities (see Note 13 —Derivative mstruments to our 2013 Consolidated
Financial Statements).

In accordance with FASB ASC 815-20 — Derivatives and Hedging, we marked our interest swap instruments to
market on the consolidated balance sheet resulting in a $2.0 million decrease to interest expense during 2013, a $1.1
million increase to interest expense during 2012, and a $5.0 increase to interest expense during 201 1.

Inflation

We continually monitor inflation and the effects of changing prices. Inflation increases the cost of goods and
services used. Competitive conditions in many of our markets restrict our ability to recover fully the higher costs of
acquired goods and services through price increases. We attempt to mitigate the impact of inflation by implementing
continuous process improvement solutions to enhance productivity and efficiency and, as a result, lower costs and
operating expenses. In our opinion, the effects of inflation have been managed appropriately and as a result, have not had
a material impact on our operations and the resulting financial position or liquidity.

Accounting Pronouncements Adopted During 2013
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Please see Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to our 2013 Consolidated Financial Statements.
New Accounting Pronouncements
Please see Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to our 2013 Consolidated Financial Statements.

Forward-L.ooking Statements

Our statements in this annual report contain a variety of forward-looking statements as defined by the Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements reflect only our expectations regarding future events and
operating performance and necessarily speak only as of the date the information was prepared. No guarantees can be
given that our expectation will in fact be realized, in whole or in part. You can recognize these statements by our use of
words such as, by way of example, “may,” “will,” “expect,” “believe,” and “anticipate” or other similar terminology.

These forward-looking statements reflect our expectation after having considered a variety of risks and
uncertainties. However, they are necessarily the product of internal discussion and do not necessarily completely reflect
the views of individual members of our Board of Directors or of our management team. Individual Board members and
individual members of our management team may have different view as to the risks and uncertainties involved, and may
have different views as to future events or our operating performance.

Among the factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in or underlying our
forward-looking statements are the following:

e  with respect to our cinema operations:

o the number and attractiveness to movie goers ofthe films released in future periods;

© the amount of money spent by film distributors to promote their motion pictures;

o the licensing fees and terms required by film distributors from metion picture exhibitors in order to
exhibit their films;

o the comparative attractiveness of motion pictures as a source of entertainment and willingness and/or
ability of consumers (i) to spend their dollars on entertainment and (ii) to spend their entertainment
dollars on movies in an outside the home environment;

o the extent to which we encounter competition from other cinema exhibitors, from other sources of
outside of the home entertainment, and from inside the home entertainment options, such as “home
theaters” and competitive film product distribution technology such as, by way of example, cable,
satellite broadcast, DVD and VHS rentals and sales, and so called “movies on demand;” and

o the extent to and the efficiency with which, we are able to integrate acquisitions of cinema circuits with
our existing operations.

« withrespect to our real estate development and operation activities:

o the rental rates and capitalization rates applicable to the markets in which we operate and the quality of
properties that we own;

o the extent to which we can obtain on a timely basis the various land use approvals and entitlements

needed to develop our properties;

the risks and uncertainties associated with real estate development;

the availability and cost of labor and materials;

competition for development sites and tenants;

environmental remediation issues;

the extent to which our cinemas can continue to serve as an anchor tenant who will, in tum, be
influenced by the same factors as will influence generally the results of our cinema operations; and

o certain of our activities are in geologically active areas, creating a risk of damage and/or disruption of
real estate and/or cinema businesses from earthquakes.

e with respect to our operations generally as an intemational company involved in both the development and
operation of cinemas and the development and operation ofreal estate; and previously engaged for many years
in the railroad business in the United States:

o o O 0 0
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© ourongoing access to borrowed funds and capital and the interest that must be paid on that debt and the
returns that must be paid on such capital;

o therelative values ofthe currency used in the countries in which we operate;

o changes in govemment regulation, including by way of example, the costs resulting from the
implementation of the requirements of Sarbanes-Oxley;

© ourlabor relations and costs of labor (including future govemment requirements with respect to pension
liabilities, disability insurance and health coverage, and vacations and leave);

© our exposure from time to time to legal claims and to uninsurable risks such as those related to our
historic railroad operations, including potential environmental claims and health related claims relating
to alleged exposure to asbestos or other substances now or in the future recognized as being possible
causes of cancer or other health related problems;

o changes in future effective tax rates and the results of currently ongoing and future potential audits by
taxing authorities having jurisdiction over our various companies; and

o changes in applicable accounting policies and practices.

The above list is not necessarily exhaustive, as business is by definition unpredictable and risky, and subject to
influence by numerous factors outside of our control such as changes in government regulation or policy, competition,
interest rates, supply, technological innovation, changes in consumer taste and fancy, weather, and the extent to which
consumers in our markets have the economic wherewithal to spend money on beyond-the-home entertainment.

Given the variety and unpredictability of'the factors that will ultimately influence our businesses and our results
of operation, it naturally follows that no guarantees can be given that any of our forward-looking statements will
ultimately prove to be correct. Actual results will undoubtedly vary and there is no guarantee as to how our securities will
perform either when considered in isolation or when compared to other securities or investment opportunities.

Finally, we undertake no obligation to update publicly or to revise any of our forward-looking statements,
whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required under applicable
law. Accordingly, you should always note the date to which our forward-looking statements speak.

Additionally, certain of the presentations included in this annual report may contain “non-GAAP financial
measures.” In such case, a reconciliation of this information to our GAAP financial statements will be made available in
connection with such statements.
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Item 7A — Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk

The Securities and Exchange Commission requires that registrants include information about potential effects of
changes in cumrency exchange and interest rates in their Form 10-K filings. Several alternatives, all with some limitations,
have been offered. The following discussion is based on a sensitivity analysis, which models the effects of fluctuations in
currency exchange rates and interest rates. This analysis is constrained by several factors, including the following:

e itisbased on asingle pointin time.
e it doesnot include the effects of other complex market reactions that would arise from the changes modeled.

Although the results of such an analysis may be useful as a benchmark, they should not be viewed as forecasts.

At December 31,2013, approximately 55% and 18% of our assets (determined by the book value of such assets)
were invested in assets denominated in Australian dollars (Reading Australia) and New Zealand dollars (Reading New
Zealand), respectively, including approximately $34.5 million in cash and cash equivalents. At December 31, 2012,
approximately 51% and 18% of our assets were invested in assets denominated in Australian and New Zealand dollars,
respectively, including approximately $15.8 million in cash and cash equivalents.

Our policy in Australia and New Zealand is to match revenue and expenses, whenever possible, in local
currencies. As a result, a majority of our expenses in Australia and New Zealand have been procured in local
currencies. Due to the developing nature of our operations in Australia and New Zealand, our revenue is not yet
significantly greater than our operating expense. The resulting natural operating hedge has led to a negligible foreign
cumency effect on our eamings. As we continue to progress our acquisition and development activities in Australia and
New Zealand, we cannot assure you that the foreign cumrency effect on our earnings will be insignificant in the future.

Historically, our policy has been to borrow in local currencies to finance the development and construction of
our entertainment complexes in Australia and New Zealand whenever possible. As a result, the borrowings in local
currencies have provided somewhat of a natural hedge against the foreign currency exchange exposure. Even so,
approximately 63% and 48% of our Australian and New Zealand assets (based on book value), respectively, remain
subject to such exposure unless we elect to hedge our foreign currency exchange between the U.S. and Australian and
New Zealand dollars. If the foreign currency rates were to fluctuate by 10% the resulting change in Australian and New
Zealand assets would be $14.9 million and $3.7 million, respectively, and the change in annual net income would be
$23,000 and $21,000, respectively. At the present time, we have no plan to hedge such exposure. We believe that this
currency risk is mitigated by the long-term nature of the fully subordinated notes.

We record unrealized foreign cumrency translation gains or losses that could materially affect our financial
position. We have accumulated unrealized foreign currency translation gains of approximately $65.6 million and $64.6
million as of December 31,2013 and 2012, respectively.

Historically, we maintained most of our cash and cash equivalent balances in short-term money market
instruments with original maturities of six months or less. Some of our money market investments may decline in value if
interest rates increase. Due to the short-term nature of such investments, a change of 1% in short-term interest rates would
not have a material effect on our financial condition.

The majority of our loans have fixed interest rates; however, one of our international loans has a variable interest
rate and a change of approximately 1% in short-term interest rates would have resulted in approximately $660,000
increase or decrease in our 2013 interest expense.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Reading International, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Reading International, Inc. and subsidiaries
(the “Company™) as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2013, Our audits ofthe consolidated financial statements included the financial statement schedule listed
in the index appearing under Schedule II. These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Reading International, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the results of
their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2013 in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the related financial
statement schedule, when considered in relation to the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly,
in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the Company’s intemal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on criteria
established in the 1992 Intemal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated March 7, 2014 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP
Los Angeles, California
March 7,2014
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Reading International, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,2013 and 2012
(U.S. dollars in thousands)

December 31,

2013 2012

ASSETS
Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 37,696 § 38,531

Time deposits -- 8,000

Receivables 9,087 8,514

Inventory 941 918

Investment in marketable securities 55 55

Restricted cash 782 2,465

Deferred tax asset 3,273 3,659

Prepaid and other current assets 3,283 3,576
Total current assets 55,117 65,718
Operating property, net 191,660 202,778
Land held for sale 11,052 --
Investment and development property, net 74,230 94,922
[nvestment in unconsolidated joint ventures and entities 6,735 7,715
Investment in Reading International Trust I 838 838
Goodwill 22,159 22,898
Intangible assets, net 13,440 15,661
Deferred tax asset, net 5,566 8,989
Other assets 6,010 9,069
Total assets 3 386,807 § 428,588
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities b 18,608 % 18,909

Film rent payable 6,438 6,657

Notes pavable — current portion 75,538 19,714

Notes payable to related party — current portion -- 9,000

Taxes payable 8,308 15,234

Deferred current revenue 11,864 11,587

Other current liabilities 6,155 6,032
Total current liabilities 126,911 87,133
Notes payable — long-term portion 65,009 139,970
Subordinated debt 27913 27913
Noncurrent tax liabilities 12,478 8,859
Other liabilities 32,749 33,759
Total liabilities 265,060 297,634
Commitments and contingencies (Note 19)
Stockholders’ equity:
Class A non-voting common stock, par value $0.01, 100,000,000 shares authorized,

32,254,199 issued and 21,890,029 outstanding at Decermber 31, 2013 and 31,951,945

issued and 21,587,775 outstanding at December 31, 2012 225 223
Class B voting common stock, par value $0.01, 20,000,000 shares authorized and

1,495,490 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2013 and at December 31, 2012 15 15
Nonvoting preferred stock, par value $0.01, 12,000 shares authorized and no issued

or outstanding shares at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 - --
Additional paid-in capital 137,849 136,754
Accumulated deficit (57,952) (66,993)
Treasury shares {4,512) (4,512)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 41,515 61,369
Total Reading International, Inc. stockholders’ equity 117,140 126,856
Noncontrolling interests 4,607 4,098
Total stockholders’ equity 121,747 130,954
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity b 386,807 § 428,588

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statement.
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Reading International, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Three Years Ended December 31,2013
(U.S. dollars in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011

Operating revenue

Cinema b 239418 § 234703 § 225,849
Real estate 18,803 19,727 19,130
Total operating revenue 258,221 254,430 244,979
Operating expense

Cinema 193,206 190,511 182,215
Real estate 10,830 11,163 10,190
Depreciation and amortization 15,197 16,049 16,595
General and administrative 18,053 16,117 17432
Impairment expense -- 1,463 369
Total operating expense 237,286 235,303 226,801
Operating income 20,935 19,127 18,178
Interest income 407 800 1482
Interest expense (10.,444) (17,226) (22,5200
Net gain (loss) on sale of assets (56) 144 67)
Other income (expense) 1,876 {563) 1,157
Income (loss) before income tax expense and equity earnings of unconsolidated

joint ventures and entities 12,718 2,282 (1,770)
Income tax benefit (expense) (4,942) (4,904) 12,330
Income (loss) before equity earnings (loss) of unconsolidated joint ventures

and entities 7,776 (2,622) 10,560
Equity earnings (loss) of unconsolidated joint ventures and entities 1,369 1,621 (1,552)
Income (loss) before discontinued operations 9,145 (1,001} 5,008
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax -- (85) 232
Gain (loss) on sale of discontinued operations - (320) 1,656
Net income (loss) 3 9,145 % (1,406) $ 10,896
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (104) 492 (940)
Net income (loss) attributable to Reading International, Inc. common

shareholders 3 9,041 § (914) § 9,956
Basic income (loss) per common share attributable to Reading International,

Inc. shareholders:

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations 3 039 % 0.02) 3 0.36
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net - (0.02) 0.08
Basic income (loss) per share attributable to Reading International, Imc.

sharcholders 3 039 § 0.04) % 0.44
Diluted income (loss) per common share attributable to Reading International,

Inc. shareholders:

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations 3 038 § 0.02) 3 0.35
Barnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net - (0.02) 0.08
Diluted income (loss) per share attributable to Reading International, Inc.

shareholders 3 038 % 0.04) § 0.43
Weighted average number of shares outstanding—basic 23,348,003 23,028,596 22,764,666
Weighted average number of shares outstanding-diluted 23,520,271 23,028,596 22,993,135

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Reading International, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the Three Years Ended December 31,2013
(U.S. dollars in thousands)

Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

Net income (loss) $ 9,145 &% (1,406) $ 10,896

Cumulative foreign currency adjustment (19,368) 4419 1,028

Reclassification of realized gain on available for sale investments included in

net income (loss) -- {109) 25)
Unrealized income (loss) on available for sale investments -- 107 {7
Accrued pension service benefit (costs) (593) (1,980) 832

Comprehensive income (loss) 3 (10,816) $ 1,031 % 12,724

Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (104) 492 940y
Comprehensive (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests 107 (5) (11)
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Reading International, Inc. $ (10,813) & 1,518 % 11,773

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Reading International, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Three Years Ended December 31, 2013

(In thousands)

Common Stock Accumulated Reading
International
Class A Class B Addidonal Other Inc. Total

Class A Par Class B Par PaidIn Accumulated Treasury Comprehensive Stockholders’ Noncontrolling Stockholders®

Shares VYalue Shares Value Capital Delicit Stock Income/{Loss) Equity Interests Equity
At January 1,2011 21,309 5 216 1495 | $ 15§ 134236 $ (76,035) § (3,765) § 57,120 $ 111,787 § 352 % 112,639
Net. income - -- -- - -- 9.956 - -- 9,956 940 10,896
Other comprehensive income, net of tax — - - — - - - 1817 1,817 11 1,828
Stock option and restricted stock]
compensation expense - 4 - - 935 - - - 939 - 939
Purchase of treasury shares (172) - -- - -- -- (747) -- (747) - (747)
Class A common stock issued for stock]
bonuses and options exercised 174 - - - - - - - - - -
Cinema sale to noncontrolling shareholder - - - - - - - - - (147 (147)
Contributions from noncontrolling]
shareholders - - - - - - - - - 233 233
Distributions to noncontrolling shareholders — — - — - - - - — (654) (654)
AtDecenlberSI 2011 21311 5 220 1495 | § 15§ 135171 § (66,079) § (4512) & 58937 § 123,752 % 1h235 $ 124,987
Net loss - - - - - (914) - - (914) 492) (1,406)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax — - - — - - - 2432 2,432 5 2437
Stock option and restricted stock]
compensation expense - 2 - - 1276 - - - 1,278 - 1,278
Class A common stock issued for stock]
bonuses and options exercised 277 1 - - 307 - - - 308 - 308
Contributions from noncontrolling
shareholders — — — — — — — - — 3,350 2350
At December 31,2012 21588 | § 223 1495 | % 15 5 136754 §  (66993) 5  (4,512) § 61369 § 126,356 § 4098 § 130954
Net income -- - -- - -- 9,041 -- - 9,041 104 9,145
Other comprehensive loss, net oftax - -- - - - - - (19,854) (19.854) (107) (19,961)
Stock  option  and  restricted stock]
compensation expense - 2 - - 948 - - - 950 - 950
In-kind exchange of stock for the exercise off
options, net issued 22 - - - - - - - - - -
Class A common stock issued for stock]
bonuses and options exercised 280 - - - 248 - - - 248 - 248
Conversion of noncontrolling interest to
equity -- - -- - (101) -- -- -- (101) 101 --
Contributions from noncontrolling
shareholders — - - — - - - - — 2,513 2,513
Distributions to noncontrolling shareholders —- -- -- - -- -- -- -- — (2,102) (2,102)
At December 31,2013 21,890 5 2235 1495 | $ 15 § 137849 § (57,952) § (4,512) § 41,515 $ 117,140 § 4,607 § 121,747

See accompanying notes to

consolidated financial staternent.
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Reading International, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Three Years Ended December 31,2013
(U.S. dollars in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Operating Activities
Net income (loss) 5 9,145 § (1,406)5 10,896
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) 1o net cash provided by operating activities:
(Income) loss recognized on foreign currency transactions 415) (20) 16
Equity (eamings) loss ofunconsolidated joint ventures and entities (1,369) (1,621 1,552
Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated joint ventures and entities 1,095 1,540 1,119
Loss provision on impairment of asset - 1,463 369
(Gain) loss on sale of assets 56 176 (1.589)
Change in valuation allowance for net deferred tax assets 2,198 1,929 (15,028)
Gain on sale of marketable securities - (109 (25)
Gain on cinema acquisition and settlement (1,359) - -
Depreciation and amortization 15,197 16,384 16,960
Amortization of prior service costs 660 304 832
Amortization of above and below market leases 413 395 427
Amortization of deferred financing costs 954 1,440 1,276
Amortization of straight-line rent 574 1,213 782
Stock based compensation expense 950 1,278 939
Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in receivables 281 (1,449 (1468)
(Increase) decrease in prepaid and other assets (16) 1,907 (7
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued expenses 556 1,800 833
Increase in film rent payable 133 435 361
Increase (decrease) in taxes payable (3,294) (2,965) 908
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue and other liabilities (376) 2,802 5,100
Net cash provided by operating activities 25,183 25.496 24,253
Investing Activities
Cash paid for acquisitions -- (5.510) (3.917)
Acquisition deposit paid - - (200)
Cash received fromcinema acquisition 1,936 - -
Purchases of and additions to operating property (20,082) (8,213) (5459
Change in restricted cash 1,609 (6) (168)
Purchase of notes receivable - (1,800) (2,784)
Proceeds from notes receivable 2,000 - -
Sale of marketable securities - 2,974 143
Distributions of investment in unconsolidated joint ventures and entities 395 382 -
Proceeds from sale of property - 14,078 6,750
Purchase of time deposits - (8,000} -
Proceeds from time deposits 8,000 - -
Cinema sale proceeds from noncontrolling shareholder -- -- 1,867
Net cash used in investing activities (6,142) (6,095) (3,768)
Financing Activities
Repayment of long-term borrowings (28,121) (62,602) (126,780)
Proceeds from borrowings 12,500 47,007 105,311
Capitalized borrowing costs (563) (782) (774)
Repurchase of Class A Nonvoting Common Stock - -- (747)
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options 248 308 -
Noncontrolling interest contributions 263 3,350 233
Noncontrolling interest distributions (2,102) - (654)
Net cash used in financing activities (17,773) (12,719 (23411)
Effect of exchange rate on cash (2,101) 252 45)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (835) 6,934 (2.971)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 38,531 31,597 34,568
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 5 37,696 5 38,531 % 21,597
Supplemental Drisclosures
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest on borrowings 5 6,953 § 14,526 % 16,957
Income taxes 5903 5,666 2,688
Non-Cash Transactions
Contribution from noncontrolling shareholder in exchange for debt reduction - relaied party 5 22508 -5 -
Conversion of noncontrolling interest to equity 101 -- --
In-kind exchange of stock for the exercise of options, net 301 - -
Contribution from noncontrolling shareholder from bonus accrual - 255 -
Foreclosure of a mortgage note to obtain title of the underlying property - - 1,984

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Reading International, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31,2013

Note 1 — Nature of Business

Reading International, Inc., a Nevada corporation (“RDI” and collectively with our consolidated subsidiaries and
corporate predecessors, the “Company,” “Reading™ and “‘we,” “us,” or “our”), was incorporated in 1999, and, following
the consummation of a consolidation transaction on December 31, 2001 (the “Consolidation™), is now the owner of the
consolidated businesses and assets of Reading Entertainment, Inc. (“RDGE”), Craig Corporation (““CRG”), and Citadel
Holding Corporation (““CDL™). Our businesses consist primarily of:

e the development, ownership and operation of multiplex cinemas in the United States, Australia, and New
Zealand; and

e the development, ownership, and operation of retail and commercial real estate in Australia, New Zealand, and
the United States.

Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of RDI and its subsidiaries include the accounts of RDGE, CRG, and
CDL. Also consolidated are Australia Country Cinemas Pty, Limited (“ACC”), a company in which we own a 75%
interest and whose only assets are our leaschold cinemas in Townsville and Dubbo, Australia, Sutton Hill Properties, LLC,
a company in which we own a 75% interest and whose only asset is the fee interest in the Cinemas 1, 2, 3, and Shadow
View Land and Farming, LLC in which we own a 50% controlling membership interest and whose only asset is a 202 acre
land parcel in Coachella, Califomia.

Our investment interests are accounted for as unconsolidated joint ventures and entities, and accordingly, our
unconsolidated joint ventures and entities in 20% to 50% owned companies are accounted for on the equity
method. These investment interests include our

¢ 25% undivided interest in the unincorporated joint venture that owns 205-209 East 57th Street Associates, LL.C
(Place 57) a limited liability company formed to redevelop our former cinema site at 205 East 57th Street in
Manhattan;

e 33.3% undivided interest in the unincorporated joint venture that owns the Mt. Gravatt cinema in a suburb of
Brisbane, Australia;

¢ 33.3% undivided interest in Rialto Distribution, an unincorporated joint venture engaged in the business of
distributing art film in New Zealand and Australia; and

¢ 50%undivided interest in the unincorporated joint venture that owns Rialto Cinemas.

Refinancing Loneg-Term Debt

Australian Credit Facility

Our Australian NAB Corporate Term Loan matures on June 30, 2014. Accordingly, the outstanding balance of
this debt of $56.7 million (AUSE63.5 million) is classified as cument on our December 31, 2013 balance sheet. The
Australian NAB Corporate Term Loan is secured by the majority of our theater and entertainment-themed retail center
(“ETRC”) properties in Australia. While no assurances can be given that we will be successful, we are currently in the
process of renewing this loan and anticipate that the refinancing will be completed at the latest by May 31, 2014.

Cinemas I, 2, 3 Term Loan
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Our Cinemas 1, 2, 3 Term Loan matures on June 27,2014, Accordingly, the outstanding balance ofthis debt of
815.0 million is classified as current on our December 31, 2013 balance sheet. While no assurances can be given that we
will be successful, we are currently in the process of negotiating an extension ofthis loan.

Liberty Theatre Term Loans

On May 29, 2013, we replaced our Liberty Theater Term Loan with a loan securitized by our Orpheum and
Minetta Lane theaters, thus releasing the Roval George from the securitization and leaving it unencumbered. This new
loan, called the Minetta and Orpheum Theatres Loan, has a note balance o $7.5 million. See Note 12 — Notes Payable.

US. Credit Facility

On October 31, 2012, we replaced our GE Capital Term Loan of $27.7 million with a new credit facility from
Bank of America of $30.0 million with an interest rate of between 2.50% and 3.00% above LIBOR and an expiration date
of October 31, 2017. In addition, Bank of America increased our existing $3.0 million line of credit to $5.0 million. On
March 25, 2013, Bank of America extended the borrowing limit on our BofA Revolver from $30.0 million to $35.0
million. See Note 12 — Notes Payable.

Cash Position

Our cash position at December 31, 2013 was $37.7 million including $17.9 million in the U.S., §12.1 million in
Australia, and 87.7 million in New Zealand. As part of our main credit facilities in Australia, New Zealand and the U.S,,
we are subject to certain debt covenants which limit the transfer or use of cash outside of the various regional subsidiaries
in which the cash is held. Assuch, at December31,2013,we have approximately $15.8 million of cash worldwide that is
not restricted by loan covenants.

At December 31, 2013, we had undrawn funds of $4.5 million (AUS$5.0 million} available under our NAB line
of credit in Australia, $9.9 million (NZ§$12.0 million) available under our New Zealand Corporate Credit facility, and $5.0
million available under our BofA Revolver in the U.S. Accordingly, we believe that we have sufficient borrowing
capacity under our various credit facilities, together with our $37.7 million cash balance, to meet our anticipated short-
term working capital requirements.

Accounting Principles

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“US GAAP”).

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less when purchased to be
cash equivalents for which cost approximates fair value.

Time Deposits

Time deposits are cash depository investments in which the original maturity of the investments is greater than
90 days. During May 2012, we purchased $8.0 million in U.S. dollar time deposits in Australia which matured on January
3,2013 having an interest rate of 0.48%. On December 31,2013, we had the following funds in U.S. dollars: in Australia,
$4.6 million and in New Zealand, $495,000.

Receivables

Our receivables balance is composed primarily of credit card receivables, representing the purchase price of
tickets, concessions, or coupon books sold at our various businesses. Sales charged on customer credit cards are collected
when the credit card transactions are processed. The remaining receivables balance is primarily made up of the goods and
services tax (“GST”) refund receivable from our Australian taxing authorities and the management fee receivable from the
managed cinemas. We have no history of significant bad debt losses and we have established an allowance for accounts
that we deem uncollectible.
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Inventory

Inventory is composed of concession goods used in theater operations and is stated at the lower of cost (first-in,
first-out method) or net realizable value.

Investment in Marketable Securities

We account for investments in marketable debt and equity securities in accordance with Financial Accounting
Standards Board (“FASB™) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC™) 320-10 - Imvestments—Debt and Eguity
Securities (“ASC 320-107). Our investment in Marketable Securities includes equity instruments that are classified as
available for sale and are recorded at market using the specific identification method. In accordance with ASC 320-10,
available for sale securities are carried at their fair market value and any difference between cost and market value is
recorded as unrealized gain or loss, net of income taxes, and is reported as accumulated other comprehensive income in
the consolidated statement of stockholders’ equity. Premiums and discounts of any debt instruments are recognized in
interest income using the effective interest method. Realized gains and losses and declines in value expected to be other-
than-temporary on available for sale securities are included in other expense. We evaluate our available for sale securities
for other than temporary impairments at the end of each reporting period. These investments have a cumulative
unrealized gain of $9,000 included in other comprehensive income at December 31, 2013. For the years ended December
31,2013,2012, and 2011, our net unrealized losses were $0, $2,000, and $32,000, respectively. The cost of securities
sold is based on the specific identification method. Interest and dividends on securities classified as available for sale are
included in interest income.

Restricted Cash

We classify restricted cash as those cash accounts for which the use of funds is restricted by contract or bank
covenant. At December 31,2013 and 2012, our restricted cash balance was $782,000 and $2.5 million, respectively.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of our cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, restricted cash, and accounts
payable approximate fair value due to their short-term maturities. See Note 16 — Fair Value of Financial Insiruments.

Derivative Financial Instruments

In accordance with FASB ASC 815-20 — Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815-207), we camry all derivative
financial instruments on our consolidated balance sheets at fair value. Derivatives are generally executed for interest rate
management purposes but are not designated as hedges in accordance with ASC 815-20. Therefore, changes in market
values are recognized in current earnings.

Operating propertv.

Operating property consists of land, buildings and improvements, leasehold improvements, fixtures and
equipment which we use to derive operating income associated with our two business segments, cinema exhibition and
real estate. Buildings and improvements, leasehold improvements, fixtures and equipment initially recorded at the lower
of cost or fair market value and depreciated over the useful lives ofthe related assets. In accordance with US GAAP, land
is not depreciated.

Investment and Development Property

Investment and development property consists of land, new buildings and improvements under development,
and their associated capitalized interest and other development costs that we are either holding for development,
currently developing, or holding for investment appreciation purposes. These properties are initially recorded at the
lower of cost or fair market value. Within investment and development property are building and improvement costs
directly associated with the development of potential cinemas (whether for sale or lease), the development of
entertainment themed retail centers (“ETRCs”), or other improvements to real property. As incurred, we expense start-up
costs (such as pre-opening cinema advertising and training expense) and other costs
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not directly related to the acquisition and development of long-term assets. We cease capitalization on a development
property when the property is complete and ready for its intended use, or if activities necessary to get the property ready
for its intended use have been substantially curtailed. During the year-ended December 31, 2009, we decided to curtail
our current development progress on certain Australian and New Zealand land development projects. As a result, these
properties are considered held for development and we have not capitalized interest for these projects and will not do so,
until the development work recommences.

Incident to the development of our Burwood property, in late 2006, we began various fill and earth moving
operations. In late February 2007, it became apparent that our cost estimates with respect to site preparation were low, as
the extent of the contaminated soil present at the site, a former brickworks site, was greater than we had originally
believed. As we were not the source of this contamination, we are not cumrently under any legal obligation to remove this
contaminated soil from the site. However, as a practical matter, we intend to address these issues in connection with our
planned redevelopment of the site as a mixed-use retail, entertainment, commercial and residential complex. As of
December 31, 2013, we estimate that the total site preparation costs associated with the removal ofthis contaminated soil
will be $15.2 million (AUSE17.1 million) and as of that date we had incurred a total of 87.4 million (AUS$8.3 million) of
these costs. In accordance with FASB ASC 410-30-25 — Environmental Obligations, contamination clean-up costs that
improve the property from its original acquisition state are capitalized as part ofthe property’s overall development costs.

Accounting forthe Impairment ofLong Lived Assets

We review long-lived assets, including goodwill and intangibles, for impairment as part of our annual budgeting
process, at the beginning ofthe fourth quarter, and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount ofthe asset may not be fully recoverable.

Pursuant to FASB ASC 360-35, we review intemal management reports on a monthly basis as well as monitoring
current and potential future competition in film markets for indications of potential impairment. We evaluate our long-
lived assets using historical and projected data of cash flow as our primary indicator of potential impairment and we take
into consideration the seasonality of our business. If the sum of the estimated, undiscounted future cash flows is less than
the carrying amount of the asset, then impairment is recognized for the amount by which the camrying value of the asset
exceeds its estimated fair value based on an appraisal or a discounted cash flow calculation.

For certain non-income producing properties, we obtain appraisals or other evidence to evaluate whether there
are impairment indicators for these assets. Based on calculations of current value from appraisals and a sales contract, we
recorded impairment losses of $1.5 million and $369,000 relating to certain of our property and cinema locations for the
years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. No impairment losses were recorded in 2013. For a further
explanation of our 2012 impairment losses see below under the heading “Coachella impairment” and see Note 7 —
Investment and Development Property to our 2013 Conselidated Financial Statements.

Pursuant to FASB ASC 350-35, goodwill and intangible assets are evaluated annually on a reporting unit
basis. The impairment evaluation is based on the present value of estimated future cash flows of the segment plus the
expected terminal value. There are significant assumptions and estimates used in determining the future cash flows and
terminal value. The most significant assumptions include our cost of debt and cost of equity assumptions that comprise
the weighted average cost of capital for each reporting unit. Accordingly, actual results could vary materially from such
estimates. There was no impairment for the goodwill and intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012,
and 2011, respectively.

Variable Interest Entity

Our determination of the appropriate accounting method with respect to our investment in Reading International
Trust [, which is considered a Variable Interest Entity (“VIE™), is based on FASB ASC 810-10. We account for this VIE, of
which we are not the primary beneficiary, under the equity method of accounting.

We determine if an entity is a VIE under FASB ASC 810-10 based on several factors, including whether the
entity’s total equity investment at risk upon inception is sufficient to finance the entity’s activities without additional
subordinated financial support. We make judgments regarding the sufficiency ofthe equity at risk based
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first on a qualitative analysis, then a quantitative analysis, if necessary. In a quantitative analysis, we incorporate various
estimates, including estimated future cash flows, asset hold periods and discount rates, as well as estimates of the
probabilities of various scenarios occumring. Ifthe entity is a VIE, we then determine whether we consolidate the entity as
the primary beneficiary. We determine whether an entity is a VIE and, if so, whether it should be consolidated by
utilizing judgments and estimates that are inherently subjective. If we made different judgments or utilized different
estimates in these evaluations, it could result in differing conclusions as to whether or not an entity is a VIE and whether
or not to consolidate such entity. Our investments in unconsolidated entities in which we have the ability to exercise
significant influence over operating and financial policies, but de not control, or entities which are variable interest
entities in which we are not the primary beneficiary are accounted for under the equity method.

We carry our investment in the Reading International Trust [ using the equity method of accounting because we
have the ability to exercise significant influence (but not control) over operating and financial policies of the entity. We
eliminate transactions with an equity method entity to the extent of our ownership in such an entity. Accordingly, our
share of net income (loss) of this equity method entity is included in conseolidated net income (loss). We have no implicit
or explicit obligation to further fund our investment in Reading Intemational Trust L

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

We use the purchase method of accounting for all business combinations. Goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but instead, tested for impairment at least annually. Prior to conducting our
goodwill impairment analysis, we assess long-lived assets for impairment in accordance with FASB ASC 360-15 -
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (“ASC 360-15"). We then perform the impairment analysis at the reporting
unit level (one level below the operating segment level) (see Note 10 — Goodwill and Intangibles) as defined by FASB
ASC 350-35 — Goodwill Subsequent Measurement (“ASC 350-35”). This analysis requires management to make a series
of critical assumptions to: (1) evaluate whether any impairment exists; and (2) measure the amount of impairment. We
estimate the fair value of our reporting units as compared with their current book value. Ifthe estimated fair value of a
reporting unit is less than the book value, then impairment is deemed to have occurred. In estimating the fair value of our
reporting units, we primarily use the income approach (which uses forecasted, discounted cash flows to estimate the fair
value ofthe reporting unit).

Discontinued Operations and Properties Held for Sale

In accordance with ASC 360-13, the revenue, expenses and net gain on dispositions of operating properties and
the revenue and expenses on properties classified as held for sale are reported in the consolidated statements of operations
as discontinued operations for all periods presented through the date of the respective disposition. The net gain (loss) on
disposition is included in the period the property is sold. In determining whether the income and loss and net gain on
dispositions of operating properties is reported as discontinued operations, we evaluate whether we have any significant
continuing involvement in the operations, leasing or management of the sold property in accordance with FASB ASC
205-20 — Presentation of Financial Statements — Discontinued Operations (“ASC 205-207). If we were to determine that
there was any significant continuing invelvement, the income and loss and net gain on dispositions of the operating
property would not be recorded in discontinued operations.

A property is classified as held for sale when certain criteria, as set forth under ASC 360-15, are met. At such
time, we present the respective assets and liabilities related to the property held for sale separately on the balance sheet
and cease to record depreciation and amortization expense. Properties held for sale are reported at the lower of their
carrying value or their estimated fair value less the estimated costs to sell. For a description of the properties previously
held for sale see Note 9 — Transfer of Held for Sale Real Estate to Continuing Operations and Related Items. These asset
transfers from held for sale to operating resulted in a reclassification of their operating results which is reflected in our
December31,2013,2012, and 2011 Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from cinema ticket sales and concession sales are recognized when sold. Revenue from gift certificate
sales is deferred and recognized when the certificates are redeemed. Rental revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis
in accordance with FASB ASC 840-20-25 — Leases Having Both Scheduled Rent creases and Contingent Rents (“ASC
840-20-257).

65

APP_PAGE_1093



Deferred Leasing/Financing Costs

Direct costs incurred in connection with obtaining tenants and/or financing are amortized over the respective
term ofthe lease or loan on a straight-line basis. Direct costs incurred in connection with financing are amortized over the
respective term of the loan utilizing the effective interest method, or straight-line method if the result is not materially
different. In addition, interest on loans with increasing interest rates and scheduled principal pre-payments are also
recognized on the effective interest method.

Advertising Expense

We expense our advertising as incurred. The amount of our advertising expense was $3.4 million, $3.8 million,
and $3.8 million for the years ended December 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively.

Legal Settlement Income/Expense

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, we recorded gains/(losses) on the settlement of
litigation of ($285,000), ($194,000), and $0, respectively, included in other income (expense). Also included in other
income/expense for the year ended December 31, 2013 was a $1.4 million net gain on acquisition and settlement (see
Note 8 — dcquisitions, Disposals, and Assets Held for Sale).

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization are provided using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
assets. The estimated useful lives are generally as follows:

Building and improvements 15-40 years

Leasehold improvement Shorter ofthe life ofthe lease or useful life ofthe improvement
Theater equipment 7 years

Furniture and fixtures 510 years

Translation ofNon-U.S. Currency Amounts

The financial statements and transactions of our Australian and New Zealand cinema and real estate operations
are reported in their functional currencies, namely Australian and New Zealand dollars, respectively, and are then
translated into U.S. dollars. Assets and liabilities of these operations are denominated in their functional currencies and
are then translated at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Revenue and expenses are translated at the
average exchange rate for the reporting period. Translation adjustments are reported in “Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income,” a component of Stockholders’ Equity.

The carrying value of our Australian and New Zealand assets fluctuates due to changes in the exchange rate
between the U.S. dollar and the Australian and New Zealand dollars. The exchange rates of the U.S. dollar to the
Australian dollar were $0.8929 and $1.0393 as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The exchange rates of the
U.S. dollar to the New Zealand dollar were $0.8229 and $0.8267 as of December 31,2013 and 2012, respectively.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under FASB ASC 740-10 — Income Taxes (““ASC 740-10™), which prescribes an
asset and liability approach. Under the asset and liability method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the
expected future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing
assets and liabilities and the respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or
settled. Valuation allowances are established, when necessary, to reduce defered tax assets to the amount expected to be
realized. Income tax expense (benefit) is the tax payable (refundable) for the period and the change during the period in
deferred tax assets and liabilities.
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In evaluating our ability to recover our deferred tax assets within the jurisdiction from which they arise we
consider all available positive and negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected
future taxable income, tax planning strategies and recent financial operations. In projecting future taxable income, we
begin with historical results adjusted for the results of discontinued operations and changes in accounting policies. We
then include assumptions about the amount of projected future state, federal and foreign pretax operating income, the
reversal of temporary differences, and the implementation of feasible and prudent tax planning strategies. These
assumptions require significant judgment about the forecasts of future taxable income and are consistent with the plans
and estimates we use to manage the underlying businesses. In evaluating the objective evidence that historical results
provide, we consider three years of cumulative operating income (loss). In the event we were to determine that we would
be able to realize our deferred income tax assets in the future in excess of their net recorded amount, we would make an
adjustment to the valuation allowance, which would reduce the provision for income taxes.

ASC 740-10 provides that a tax benefit from an uncertain tax position may be recognized when it is more likely
than not that the position will be sustained upon examination, including resolutions of any related appeals or litigation
processes, based on the technical merits.

We recognize tax liabilities in accordance with ASC 740-10 and we adjust these liabilities when our judgment
changes as a result ofthe evaluation of new information not previously available. Due to the complexity ofsome ofthese
uncertainties, the ultimate resolution may result in a payment that is materially different from our current estimate of the
tax liabilities. These differences will be reflected as increases or decreases to income tax expense in the period in which
they are determined.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is calculated using the weighted average number of shares of Class A and Class B Stock
outstanding during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively. Diluted earnings per share is
calculated by dividing net earnings available to common stockholders by the weighted average common shares
outstanding plus the dilutive effect of stock options and unvested restricted stock. We had issued stock options to
purchase 709,850, 672,350, and 622,350 shares of Class A Common Stock at December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011,
respectively, at a weighted average exercise price of 86.66, $6.24, and $5.65 per share, respectively. Stock options to
purchase 185,100, 185,100, and 185,100 shares of Class B Common Stock were outstanding at the years ended December
31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively, at a weighted average exercise price of $9.90, $9.90, and $9.90 per share,
respectively. In accordance with FASB ASC 260-10 — Earnings Per Share (“ASC 260-10™), for any years that we record
losses from continuing operations before discontinued operations, the effect of the stock options and restricted stock are
anti-dilutive and accordingly excluded from the diluted earnings per share computation (see Note 4 — Earnings (Loss) Per
Share).

Real Estate Purchase Price Allocation

We allocate the purchase price to tangible assets of an acquired property (which includes land, building and
tenant improvements) based on the estimated fair values of those tangible assets assuming the building was
vacant. Estimates of fair value for land are based on factors such as comparisons to other properties sold in the same
geographic area adjusted for unique characteristics. Estimates of fair values of buildings and tenant improvements are
based on present values determined based upon the application ofhypothetical leases with market rates and terms.

We record above-market and below-market in-place lease values for acquired properties based on the present
value (using an interest rate which reflects the risks associated with the leases acquired) of the difference between (i) the
contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place leases and (ii) management’s estimate of fair market lease rates for
the comesponding in-place leases, measured over a period equal to the remaining non-cancelable term of the lease. We
amortize any capitalized above-market lease values as a reduction of rental income over the remaining non-cancelable
terms of the respective leases. We amortize any capitalized below-market lease values as an increase to rental income
over the initial term and any fixed-rate renewal periods in the respective leases.
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We measure the aggregate value of other intangible assets acquired based on the difference between (i) the
property valued with existing in-place leases adjusted to market rental rates and (ii) the property valued as if
vacant. Management’s estimates of value are made using methods similar to those used by independent appraisers (e.g.,
discounted cash flow analysis). Factors considered by management in its analysis include an estimate of carrying costs
during hypothetical expected lease-up periods considering cumrent market conditions, and costs to execute similar
leases. We also consider information obtained about each property as a result of our pre-acquisition due diligence,
marketing, and leasing activities in estimating the fair value of the tangible and intangible assets acquired. In estimating
carrying costs, management includes real estate taxes, insurance and other operating expenses and estimates of lost rentals
at market rates during the expected lease-up periods. Management also estimates costs to execute similar leases including
leasing commissions, legal, and other related expenses to the extent that such costs are not already incurred in connection
with a new lease origination as part ofthe transaction.

The total amount of other intangible assets acquired is further allocated to in-place lease values and customer
relationship intangible values based on management’s evaluation of the specific characteristics of each tenant’s lease and
our overall relationship with that respective tenant. Characteristics considered by management in allocating these values
include the nature and extent of our existing business relationships with the tenant, growth prospects for developing new
business with the tenant, the tenant’s credit quality and expectations of lease renewals (including those existing under the
terms ofthe lease agreement), among other factors.

We amortize the value of in-place leases to expense over the initial term of the respective leases. The value of
customer relationship intangibles is amortized to expense over the initial term and any renewal periods in the respective
leases, but in no event may the amortization period for intangible assets exceed the remaining depreciable life of the
building. Should a tenmant terminate its lease, the unamortized portion of the in-place lease value and customer
relationship intangibles would be charged to expense.

These assessments have a direct impact on revenue and net income. If we assign more fair value to the in-place
leases versus buildings and tenant improvements, assigned costs would generally be depreciated over a shorter period,
resulting in more depreciation expense and a lower net income on an annual basis. Likewise, if we estimate that more of
our leases in-place at acquisition are on terms believed to be above the current market rates for similar properties, the
calculated present value of the amount above market would be amortized monthly as a direct reduction to rental revenue
and ultimately reduce the amount of net income.

Business Acguisition Valuations

The assets and liabilities of businesses acquired are recorded at their respective preliminary fair values as of the
acquisition date in accordance with FASB ASC B05-10 — Business Combinations (“ASC 805-10"). Upon the acquisition
of real properties, we allocate the purchase price of such properties to acquired tangible assets, consisting of land and
building, and identified intangible assets and liabilities, consisting ofthe value of above market and below market leases
and the value of in-place leases, based in each case on their fair values. We use independent appraisals to assist in the
determination of the fair values of the tangible assets of an acquired property (which includes land and building). We
also perform valuations and physical counts of property, plant and equipment, valuations of investments and the
involuntary termination of employees, as necessary. Costs in excess of the net fair values of assets and liabilities acquired
are recorded as goodwill.

We record and amortize above-market and below-market operating leases assumed in the acquisition of a
business in the same way as those under real estate acquisitions.

The fair values of any other intangible assets acquired are based on the expected discounted cash flows of the
identified intangible assets. Finite-lived intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method of amortization
over the expected period in which those assets are expected to contribute to our future cash flows. We do not amortize
indefinite lived intangibles and goodwill.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

FASB ASC 820-10 — Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (“ASC 820-107) defines fair value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value in GAAP and provides for expanded disclosure about fair value
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measurements. ASC 820-10 applies to all other accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value
measurements.

The fair value of our financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in Note 16 — Fair Value of Financial
Instruments to our consolidated financial statements. We generally determine or calculate the fair value of financial
instruments using quoted market prices in active markets when such information is available or using appropriate present
value or other valuation techniques, such as discounted cash flow analyses, incorporating available market discount rate
information for similar types of instruments while estimating for non-performance and liquidity risk. These techniques
are significantly affected by the assumptions used, including the discount rate, credit spreads, and estimates of future cash
flow.

The financial assets and liabilities recorded at fair value in our consolidated financial statements are marketable
securities and interest rate swaps/cap. The carrying amounts of our cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and
accounts payable approximate fair value due to their short-term maturities. The remaining financial assets and liabilities
that are only disclosed at fair value are comprised of notes payable, TPS, and other debt instruments. We estimated the
fair value of our secured mortgage notes payable, our unsecured notes payable, TPS and other debt instruments by
performing discounted cash flow analyses using an appropriate market discount rate. We calculated the market discount
rate by obtaining period-end treasury rates for fixed-rate debt, or LIBOR rates for variable-rate debt, for maturities that
comespond to the maturities of our debt adding an appropriate credit spreads derived from information obtained from
third-party financial institutions. These credit spreads take into account factors such as our credit standing, the maturity
of the debt, whether the debt is secured or unsecured, and the loan-to-value ratios ofthe debt.

Assets and liabilities typically recorded at fair value on a non-recurring basis to which ASC 820-10 applies
include:

¢ Non-financial assets and liabilities initially measured at fair value in an acquisition or business combination;
¢ Long-lived assets measured at fair value due to an impairment assessment under ASC 360-15; and

e Asset retirement obligations initially measured under FASB ASC 410-20 — Assef Retirement Obligations (“ASC
410-20™).

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires us to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reported period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Accounting Pronouncements Adopted During 2013

No new pronouncements were adopted during the year ended December 31,2013.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-11, Presentation of an Unvecognized Tax Benefit When a Net
Operaiing Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Exists ("ASU 2013-11"). ASU2013-11 is
effective for the first interim or annual period beginning on or after December 15, 2013 with early adoption permitted.
ASU 2013-11 amends ASC Topic 740, Income Iaxes, to provide guidance and reduce diversity in practice on the
finanecial statement presentation of an unrecognized tax benefit when a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss,
or a tax credit carryforward exists. We do not anticipate that the application ofthis standard will impact our company.
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Note 3 — Stock Based Compensation and Emplovee Stock Option Plan

Stock Based Compensation

As part of his compensation package, Mr. James I. Cotter, our Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive
Officer, was granted $750,000, $950,000, and $750,000, respectively, of restricted Class A Non-voting Common Stock
(“Class A Stock™) for each of the years ended December 31,2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively. The 2013, 2012, and
2011 stock grants of 125,209, 217,890, and 155,925 shares, respectively, were granted with stock grant prices of $5.99,
3436, and $4.81, respectively. Mr. Cotter’s stock compensation is granted fully vested with a five-year restriction on
sale. AsofDecember31,2013,the 2013 stock grant had not yet been issued to Mr. Cotter. During 2013, we issued to Mr.
Cotter 217,890 of Class A Stock for his 2012 vested stock grants which had a stock grant price of $4.36 and a grant date
fair value 0£ $950,000.

During 2012, we issued 9,680 shares as a one-time stock grant of Class A Stock to our employees valued at
$44,000.

During the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, we recorded compensation expense of $750,000,
8994,000, and $750,000, respectively, for the vesting of all our restricted stock grants. The following table details the
grants and vesting ofrestricted stock to our employees (dollars in thousands):

Weighted
Average Fair
Non-Vested Value at Grant
Restricted Stock Date
Outstanding — January 1,2011 - $ -
Granted 155925 750
Vested (155.925) (750)
Outstanding — December 31,2011 - $ --
Granted 227,570 994
Vested (227.,570) (994)
Outstanding — December 31,2012 - 5 -
Granted 125,209 750
Vested (125,209) (750)
QOutstanding — December 31,2013 - 5 --

Emplovee Stock Option Plan

We have a long-term incentive stock option plan that provides for the grant to eligible employees, directors, and
consultants of incentive or nonstatutory options to purchase shares of our Class A Stock. Our 1999 Stock Option Plan
expired in November 2009, and was replaced by our new 2010 Stock Incentive Plan, which was approved by the holders
of our Class B Voting Common Stock in May 2010.

FASB ASC 718-10 — Stock Compensation (“ASC 718-107) requires that all stock-based compensation be
recognized as an expense in the financial statements and that such costs be measured at the fair value of the award. We
estimate the valuation of stock based compensation using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model.

When our tax deduction from an option exercise exceeds the compensation cost resulting from the option, a tax
benefit is created. ASC 718-10 requires that excess tax benefits related to stock option exercises be reflected as financing
cash inflows instead of operating cash inflows. For the years ended December 31,2013, 2012, and 2011, there was no
impact to the consolidated statements of cash flows because there were no recognized tax benefits during these periods.

ASC 718-10 requires companies to estimate forfeitures. Based on our historical experience, we did not estimate
any forfeitures for the options granted during the years ended December 31, 2013,2012, and 2011.

In accordance with ASC 718-10, we estimate the fair value of our options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model, which takes into account assumptions such as the dividend yield, the risk-free interest rate, the
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expected stock price volatility, and the expected life of the options. The dividend yield is excluded from the calculation,
as it is our present intention to retain all eamings. We estimated the expected stock price volatility based on our
historical price volatility measured using daily share prices back to the inception of the Company in its current form
beginning on December 31, 2001. We estimate the expected option life based on our historical share option exercise
experience during this same period. We expense the estimated grant date fair values of options issued on a straight-line
basis over their vesting periods.

No options were granted during 2011. For the 175,000 and 206,000 options granted during 2013 and 2012,
respectively, we estimated the fair value ofthese options at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model
with the following weighted average assumptions:

2013 2012
Stock option exercise price $6.19 $5.94
Risk-free interest rate 2.259%, 1.71%
Expected dividend vield - -
Expected option life 5.00 yis. 7.20 yrs.
Expected volatility 31.80% 32.15%
Weighted average fair value $1.98 $2.62

Using the above assumptions and based on our use of the modified prospective method, we recorded $199,000,
$285,000, and $189,000 in compensation expense for the total estimated grant date fair value of stock options that vested
during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively. At December 31, 2013, total unrecognized
estimated compensation cost related to non-vested stock options granted was $432,000 which is expected to be
recognized over a weighted average vesting period of2.15 years.

For the stock options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, we issued 62,500 and
95,000 shares of Class A Stock for cash to employees of the corporation under this stock based compensation plan with
weighted average exercise prices of $3.98 and $4.68, respectively. No options were exercised in 2011, The total realized
value of stock options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 was $133,000 and $136,000,
respectively. We recorded cash received from stock options exercised of $248,000 and $308,000 during the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. In 2013, 75,000 options were exercised having a realized value of $124,000
for which we did not receive any cash but the employee elected to exchange 53,136 personally owned shares of the
company with a market price of $5.66 for the 75,000 shares based on an exercise price of $4.01 for the related options. In
2012,41,000 options were exercised having a realized value of $103,000 for which we did not receive any cash but the
employee elected to receive the net incremental number of in-the-money shares of 15,822 based on an exercise price of
$4.01 and a market price of $6.53. At December 31, 2013, the intrinsic, unrealized value of all options outstanding,
vested and expected to vest, was $939,000 of which 68.8% were cumrently exercisable.

Pursuant to both our 1999 Stock Option Plan and our 2010 Stock Incentive Plan, all stock options expire within
ten years of their grant date. The aggregate total number of shares of Class A Stock and Class B voting common stock
authorized for issuance under our 2010 Stock Option Plan is 1,250,000. At the time that options are exercised, at the
discretion of management, we will either issue treasury shares or make a new issuance of shares to the employee or board
member. Dependent on the grant letter to the employee or board member, the required service period for option vesting is
between zero and four years.

We had the following stock options outstanding and exercisable:
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Weichted Weichted Average

Common Stock Average Exercise Common Stock Price of
Options Price of Options Exercisable Exercisable
Outstanding Outstanding Options Options
Class A ClassB Class A Class B Class A ClassB Class A Class B
Outstanding-January 1, 2011 622,350 185100 § 565 § 9.90 449750 150,000 § 622 § 10.24
No activity during the period -- -3 -5 --
Outstanding-December 31, 2011 622,350 185100 $ 565 % 9.90 544,383 167,550 § 5.86 § 10.05
Granted 206,000 -3 594 % -
Exercised (136,000 -3 468 % --
Expired (20,000) -3 375 % -
Outstanding - December 31, 2012 672,350 185100 § 624 § 9.90 546,350 185,100 § 6.26 % 9.90
Granted 175,000 -5 619 % -
Exercised {137,500) -3 400 % --
Outstanding - December 31, 2013 709,850 185100 § 666 § 9.90 490,350 185,100 $ 6.85 % 9.90

The weighted average remaining contractual life of all options outstanding, vested and expected to vest, at
December 31, 2013 and 2012 were approximately 4.70 and 5.32 years, respectively. The weighted average remaining
contractual life of the exercisable options outstanding at December 31, 2013 and 2012 was approximately 3.63 and 4.28
years, respectively.

Note 4 — Earnings (Loss) Per Share

For the three years ended December 31, 2013, we calculated the following earnings (loss) per share (dollars in
thousands, except per share amounts):

2013 2012 2011
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 9,041 § (509) § 8,068
Income (loss) from discontinued operations - (405) 1,888
Net income (loss) attributable to Reading International, Inc. common shareholders 9,041 (914) 9,956
Basic income (loss) per common share attributable to Reading International,
Inc. shareholders:
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations 3 039 § 0.02) $ 0.36
Barnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net - (0.02) 0.08
Basic income (loss) per share attributable to Reading International, Inc.
shareholders $ 039 § 0.04) % 0.44
Diluted income (loss) per common share attributable to Reading
International, Inc. shareholders:
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations ¥ 038 § 0.02) $ 0.35
EBarnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net - (0.02) .08
Diluted income (loss) per share atiributable to Reading International, Inc.
shareholders 3 038 § (0.04) § 0.43
Weighted average shares of common stock — basic 23,348,003 23,028,596 22,764,666
Weighted average shares of common stock — diluted 23,520,271 23,028,596 22,993,135

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2011, the weighted average common stock — dilutive included
172,268 and 228,469, respectively, of incremental shares of exercisable in-the-money stock options and unissued
restricted Class A Stock. For the year ended December 31,2012, we recorded a loss from continuing operations. As such,
the 284,054 of incremental shares of exercisable in-the-money stock options and unissued restricted Class A Stock were
excluded from the computation of diluted loss per share because they were anti-dilutive in that period. In addition,
847,891, 791,286, and 734,906 of out-of-the-money stock options were excluded from the computation of diluted
earnings (loss) per share for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively. The total number of in-
the-money stock options, out-of-the-money stock options, and unissued restricted Class A Stock that
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could potentially dilute basic earnings per share was 1,020,159, 1,075,340, and 963,375 forthe years ended December 31,
2013,2012,and 2011, respectively.

Note 5 — Prepaid and Other Assets

Prepaid and other assets are summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):

December 31,

2013 2012
Prepaid and other current assets
Prepaid expenses b 1,079 % 1,150
Prepaid taxes 623 855
Prepaid rent 1,210 1,044
Deposits 368 373
Other 3 154
Total prepaid and other current assets 5 3283 % 3,576
Other non-current asse(s
Other non-cinema and non-rental real estate assets $ 1,134 § 1,134
Long-term deposits 144 212
Deferred financing costs, net 1,833 2,230
Interest rate cap at fair value 75 --
Note receivable - 2,000
Tenant inducement asset 512 716
Straight-line rent asset 2,310 2,775
Other 2 2
Total non-current assets $ 6,010 § 9.069

Note 6 — Operating Property

Property associated with our operating activities is summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):

December 31,

Operating property 2013 2012
Land b 65,578 % 69,370
Building and improvements 123,061 136,225
Leasehold improvements 46,330 45391
Fixtures and equipment 106,099 108,169
Total cost 341,068 359,155
Iess: accumulated depreciation (149.408) (156,377)
Operating property, net 3 191,660 § 202,778

Depreciation expense for operating property was $14.0 million, $14.9 million, and $14.9 million for the three
vears ended December 31,2013,2012, and 2011, respectively.

In 2011, we recorded impairment losses totaling $65,000 on two of our cinema properties. We did not record an
impairment charge for our operating assets during 2013 or 2012.

Note 7 — Investment and Development Property

Investment and development property is summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):
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December 31,

Investment and Development Property 2013 2012
Land 5 59,550 % 77,020
Construction-in-progress (including capitalized interest) 14,680 17,902
Investment and development property, net $ 74,230 % 94,922

During the year-ended December 31, 2009, we decided to curtail our cument development progress on certain
Australian and New Zealand land development projects. As a result, we did not capitalize interest on these projects
during 2013,2012, and 2011 and we will not capitalize interest for these projects until development work recommences.

Coachella, California Land

Based on a December 2012 appraisal, the fair value of our Coachella property was $4.0 million resulting in a
$1.5 million impairment to the carrying value of the asset. As noted below, this property is 50% owned by Mzt James I.
Cotter who shares in any impairment loss to the extent of his ownership interest.

Note 8 — Acquisitions, Disposals, and Assets Held for Sale

2013 Transactions
Plarno Cinema

On December 31, 2013, we settled a management fee claim that we had against the owner of the Plano, Texas
cinema that we had managed since 2003 for a cash receipt of $1.9 million. As part of the settlement, we acquired that
entity, and through the purchase of that entity acquired the underlying cinema’s lease and the associated personal
property, equipment, and trade fixtures. Because the fair value of the lease, in light of anticipated rent payments, resulted
in a lease liability of $320,000 and the acquired net assets, including cash received in connection with the settlement,
were valued at $1.7 million, we recorded a net gain on acquisition and settlement of$1.4 million.

Property Held for Sale — Moonee Ponds

On October 15, 2013, we entered into a definitive purchase and sale agreement with Moonee Ponds Pty Ltd, an
affiliate of Leighton Properties Pty Ltd, for the sale of our properties located in Moonee Ponds, Victoria, Australia. The
agreement calls for a sale price of AUS$23.0 million payable in full on April 16, 2015. Leighton Properties Pty Ltd. has
guaranteed the purchaser’s performance. Our attomey has received from the purchaser bank guaranties and checks to the
value of AUUS$2.3 million representing the agreed upon 10% deposit. These amounts will be held by our attorney and
released to us upon settlement on April 16,2015. Prior to settlement, Reading retains title to the properties, is responsible
for their costs (including taxes and utilities), and is entitled to receive all of their revenues (the properties are cumrently
used as a parking lot). The properties comprise approximately 3.3 acres and are camried on our books at $11.6 million
(AUS$12.4 million) at December 31, 2013 which is classified as land held for sale on our December 31, 2013
consolidated balance sheet. The historical operations of this property were as an non-attendant parking lot which are not
material and thus not separately presented as discontinued operations.

2012 Transactions

Indooroopilly - Sale
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On November 20, 2012, we sold our Indooroopilly property for $12.4 million (AUS$12.0 million). As its book
value at the time of sale was $12.5 million (AUS$12.1 million), we recorded a loss on sale in the form of an impairment
expense of $3 18,000 (AUS$306,000) for the year ended December 31, 2012 which included the cost to sell the property.
The operational results are included in income (loss) from discontinued operations on our Consolidated Statements of
Operations for the years ended December 31, 2012, and 2011, respectively. The condensed statement of operations for
Indooroopilly is as follows {dollars in thousands):

2012 2011
Revenue $ 793§ 825
Less: operating expense 560 593
Less: impairment expense 318 --
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net oftax 3 (85 § 232

Taringa - Sale

On February 21, 2012, we sold our three properties of approximately 1.1 acres in the Taringa area of Brisbane,
Australia for $1.9 million (AUS$1.8 million). Because the net carrying amounts of these properties were greater than the
total sale price, we recorded an impairment expense for these properties of $369,000 (AUSS$365,000) for the year ended
December 31, 201 1.

Coachella, California Land - Acquisition

On January 10, 2012, Shadow View Land and Farming, LLC, a limited liability company owned by our
Company, acquired a 202-acre property, zoned for the development of up to 816 single-family residential units, located
in the City of Coachella, Califomia. The property was acquired at a foreclosure auction for $5.5 million. The property
was acquired as a long-term investment in developable land. Half of the funds used to acquire the land were provided by
Mr. James J. Cotter, our Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and controlling shareholder Upon the approval of our
Conflicts Committee, these funds were converted on January 18, 2012 into a 50% interest in Shadow View Land and
Farming, LLC. We are the managing member of this company. See Note 20 — Noncontrolling Interesis.

2011 Transactions
Cal Qaks Cinema - Acquisition

On August 23, 2011, we purchased a | 7-screen multiplex in Murrieta, California (the “CalQaks Cinema™) for
$4.2 million.

Elsternwick Classic Cinema - Sale

On April 14, 2011, we sold our 66.7% share of the 5-screen Elsternwick Classic cinema located in Melbourne,
Australia to our joint venture partner for $1.9 million (AUS$ 1.8 million) and recognized a gain on sale of'a discontinued
operation of $1.7 million (AUS$1.6 million).

Note 9 — Transfer of Held for Sale Real Estate to Continuing Operations and Related Ttems

2013 and 2012 Transactions

There were no transfers ofheld for sale real estate to continuing operations orrelated items in 2013 or2012.
2011 Transactions
Lake Taupo Motel

During the fourth quarter of 2010, we listed for sale the residential units of our Lake Taupo property and the
adjoining 1.0-acre parcel located in Lake Taupo, New Zealand. A portion of this property was previously
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improved with a motel in which we recently renovated the property’s units to be condominiums and have enhanced the
property value with residential apartment entitlements for the adjoining vacant land. At December 31,2011, we had not
vet sold the property. Pursuant to ASC 360-10-45, as twelve months had passed since this announcement and we did not
meet the criteria to classify this property as held for sale. As a result of the transfer of the asset from held for sale to
continuing operations, we recorded a loss for 2011 of $37,000 (NZ$48.,000) to measure the property at the lower of its
carrying amount, adjusted for depreciation and amortization expense that would have been recognized had the asset been
continuously classified as a continuing operational asset, or its fair value at the date of the decision not to sell. We
continue to discuss with potential buyers and plan to monetize the property in time.

Burwood Development Property

In May 2010, we announced our intent to sell and began actively marketing our 50.6-acre Burwood
development site in suburban Melboume. At June 30,2011, we had not yet achieved that aim. Pursuant to ASC 360-10-
45, as twelve months had passed since this announcement and we did not meet the criteria to classify this property as held
for sale, we reclassified the current camrying value of this property of $53.4 million (AUS$52.1 million) from assets held
for sale to investment and development property on our December 31,2011 consolidated balance sheet. We continue to
evaluate our options conceming this property.

Note 10 — Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill associated with our business combinations is tested for impairment at the beginning of the fourth
quarter with continued evaluation through the end ofthe fourth quarter of every year. The fair value estimates of each of
our reporting units is based on the projected profits and cash flows of the related assets using each reporting unit’s
weighted average cost of capital as a discount rate. As a result of this test, whereby the Step | Test was passed for all
reporting units, it was determined that there is no impairment to our goodwill as of December 31,2013 or 201 2.

At December 31,2013 or 2012, our goodwill consisted ofthe following (dollars in thousands):

2013 Cinema Real Estate Total

Balance as of January 1,2013 $ 17674 % 5224 § 22,898
Foreign currency translation adjustment (739) - (739)
Balance at December 31,2013 $ 16,935 § 5,224 § 22,159
2012 Cinema Real Estate Total

Balance as of January 1,2012 $ 17,053 % 5224 § 22,277
Foreign currency translation adjustment 621 -- 621
Balance at December 31,2012 $ 17,674 % 5224 § 22,898

We have intangible assets other than goodwill that are subject to amortization which are being amortized over
various periods (dollars in thousands):

Other
Beneficial Intangible
As of December 31,2013 Leases Trade Name Assets Total
Gross carying amount b 24223  § 7254 § 455  § 31,932
Less: Accumulated amortization 14,520 3,517 455 18,492
Total, net 5 9,703 % 3,737 8§ - % 13,440
Other
Beneficial Intangible
As of December 31,2012 Leases Trade Name Assels Total
Gross carying amount b 24284 § 7254 § 458  § 31,996
Less: Accumulated amortization 12,873 3,059 403 16,335
Total, net $ 11411  § 4,195 § 55 & 15,661
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We amortize our beneficial leases over the lease period, the longest of which is approximately 30 years; our trade
name using an accelerated amortization method over its estimated useful life of 45 years; and our option fee and other
intangible assets over 10 years. For the years ended December 31, 2013,2012, and 2011, our amortization expense was
$2.2 million, $2.2 million, and $2.4 million, respectively. The estimated amortization expense in the five succeeding
years and thereafter is as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ending December 31,

2014 3 1,994
2015 1,921
2016 1,724
2017 1,327
2018 1,211
Thereafter 5,263
Total future amortization expense $ 13,440

Note 11 — Investments in and Advances to Unconsolidated Joint Ventures and Entities
Investments in and advances to unconsolidated joint ventures and entities are accounted for under the equity

method of accounting except for Rialto Distribution as described below. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, these
investments in and advances to unconsolidated joint ventures and entities include the following (dollars in thousands):

December 31,

Interest 2013 2012
Rialto Distribution 33.3% h - § --
Rialto Cinemas 50.0% 1,571 1,561
205-209 East 57™ Street Associates, LLC 25.0% - 60
Mt. Gravatt 33.3% 5,164 6,094
Total investments $ 6,735 § 7,715

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, we recorded our earnings (loss) from our
unconsolidated joint ventures and entities as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Rialto Distribution h 159 % 199 § 383
Rialto Cinemas 221 209 (72)
205-209 East 57" Street Associates, LLC () 27 33
Mt. Gravatt 990 1,186 1,038
Total investor share of earnings 1,369 1,621 1,382
Rialto Cinemas impairment recorded at investor level - -- (2,934)
Total equity eamings $ 1369 § 1621 § (1,552)

Rialto Distribution

Due to significant losses in years past, we determined that the goodwill associated with Rialto Distribution’s
investment in the film distribution business was fully impaired. As a result ofthese losses, as of January 1,2010, we treat
our interest as a cost method interest in an unconsolidated joint venture. For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012,
and 2011 we received $159,000 (NZ$195,000), $199,000 (NZ2$245,000), and $383,000 (NZ$500,000), respectively, in
distributions from our interest in Rialto Distribution which we recorded as earnings at the time ofreceipt.

Rialto Cinemas
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We own an undivided 50% interest in the assets and liabilities ofthe Rialto Entertainment joint venture and treat
our interest as an equity method interest in an unconsolidated joint venture. Subsequent to the February 22, 2011
earthquake in Christchurch, the joint venture obtained a termination agreement with the landlord associated with the
Christchurch cinema lease (see Note 26 — Casualty Loss). As of December 31, 2013, following the closure of three
cinemas with |5 screens, the joint venture owned two cinemas with 13 screens in the New Zealand cities of Auckland and
Dunedin. As part of our investment impairment analysis for 2011, we determined that the value of our investment was
impaired. For this reason, we recorded an impairment charge to our investment in Rialto Cinemas of $2.9 million (NZ$3.8
million) during December 31, 201 | and included it in our equity loss from unconsolidated joint ventures and entities for
the year ended December31,2011.

205-209 East 57th Street Associates, LIL.C

We own a non-managing 25% membership interest in 205-209 East 57th Street Associates, LLC a limited
liability company formed to redevelop our former cinema site at 205 East 57th Street in Manhattan.

During the fourth quarter of 2010, the last residential condominium was sold for $900,000 from which we
recorded earnings of $64.000 and received distributions totaling $293,000. During 2012, as a consequence of a
purchaser’s dispute, a condominium which was previously sold was repurchased, renovated, and resold for a small gain
resulting in additional earnings to us of $27,000. We do not anticipate any further income or expense from this
investment.

Mt. Gravatt

We own an undivided 33.3% interest in Mt. Gravatt, an unincorporated joint venture that owns and operates a
l6-screen multiplex cinema in Australia. The condensed balance sheets and statements of operations of Mt. Gravatt are as
follows (dollars in thousands):

Mt. Gravatt Condensed Balance Sheet Information

December 31,

2013 2012
Current assets b BR7 § 1,318
Noncurrent assets 3,288 4,078
Current liabilities 751 1,111
Noncurrent liabilities 30 43
Members’ equity 3,394 4,242

Mt. Gravatt Condensed Statements of Operations Information

December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Total revenue h 12949 § 15,236 § 14,097
Net income 2923 3,513 3,045

Malulani Investments, Limited

On Tune 26, 2006, we acquired for $1.8 million, an 18.4% interest in a private real estate company. On July 2,
2009, Magoon Acquisition and Development, LLC (*“Magoon LLC”) and we entered into a settlement agreement (the
“Settlement Terms™) with respect to a lawsuit against certain officers and directors of Malulani Investments, Limited
(“MIL”). Under the Settlement Terms, Magoon LLC and we received $2.5 million in cash, a $6.8 million three-year
6.25% secured promissory note issued by The Malulani Group (“TMG”), and a ten-year “tail interest” in MIL and TMG in
exchange for the transfer of all ownership interests in MIL and TMG held by both Magoon, LLC and RDI and for the
release of all claims against the defendants in this matter A gain on the transfer of our ownership interest in MIL of
$268,000 was recognized during 2009 as a result of this transaction. The tail interest allows us to participate in certain
distributions made or received by MIL, TMG, and in certain cases, the shareholders of TMG. The tail interest, however,
continues only for a period of ten vears and we cannot assure that we will receive any distributions from this tail
interest. During 2011, we received $191,000 in interest on the
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promissory note, and, on June 14,2011, we received $6.8 million of principal and interest owed on this note. We believe
that further amounts are owed under the note and we have begun litigation to collect such amounts. Any further
collections will be recognized when received.

Combined Condensed Financial Information

The combined condensed financial information for all of the above unconsolidated joint ventures and entities
accounted for under the equity method is as follows; therefore, these financials only exclude Rialto Distribution (dollars

in thousands):

Condensed Balance Sheet Information

December 31,

2013 2012
Current assets $ 3255 §% 3,488
Noncurrent assets 5,934 6,621
Current liabilities 2,516 2,197
Noncurrent liabilities 670 751
Members’ equity 6,002 7,161
Condensed Statements of Operations Information
December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Total revenue $ 23070 § 26,138 § 28,017
Net income 3,598 4,590 4,021
Note 12 - Notes Pavable
Notes payable are summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
Name of Note Payable or Security 2013 2012 Maturity Date 2013 2012
Trust Preferred Securities 4.24% 431% April 30, 2027 $ 27,914 § 27.913
Australian NAB Corporate Term Loan 5.09% 5.82% June 30,2014 56,699 75,349
Australian NAB Corporate Revolver 5.09% 5.82% June 30, 2014 - -
Australian Shopping Center Loans -- -- November 1, 2014 89 208
New Zealand Corporate Credit Facility 4.80% 4.70% March 31,2015 23,041 23,148
US Bank of America Revolver 2.67% 3.26% October 31, 2017 31,500 30,000
US Bank of America Line of Credit 3.17% 3.21% October 31,2017 -- 2,007
US Cinema 1, 2, 3 Term Loan 5.21% 5.24% June 27,2014 15,000 15,000
US Liberty Theaters Term Loan -- 6.20% April 1, 2013 -- 6,429
US Minetta & Orpheumn Theatres Loan 2.91% -- June 1, 2018 7,500 --
US Nationwide Loan 1 -- 8.50% February 21,2013 -- 593
US Sutton Hill Capital Note — Related Party -- 8.25% Tune 18, 2013 -- 9,000
US Union Square Theatre Term Loan 5.92% 5.92% May 1, 2015 6,717 6,950
Total 3 168,460 § 196,597

Trust Preferved Securities

On February 5, 2007, we issued $51.5 million in 20-year fully subordinated notes to a trust that we control,
which in turn issued $51.5 million in securities. Of the $51.5 million, $50.0 million in TPS were issued to unrelated
investors in a private placement and $1.5 million of common trust securities were issued by the trust to Reading called
“Investment in Reading International Trust I on our balance sheet. Effective May 1, 2012, the interest rate on our Trust
Preferred Securities changed from a fixed rate 0£9.22%, which was in effect for five years, to a
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variable rate of three month LIBOR plus 4.00%, which will reset each quarter through the end of the loan unless we
exercise our right to refix the rate at the current market rate at that time. Effective October 28, 2013, we entered into a
fixed interest rate swap of $27.9 million at 1.20% plus the 4.00% margin, expiring on October 31, 2017, see Note 13 —
Derivative Instruments. There are no principal payments due until maturity in 2027 when the notes and the trust
securities are scheduled to be paid in full. We may pay off the debt after the first five years at 100% of the principal
amount without any penalty. The trust is essentially a pass through, and the transaction is accounted for on our books as
the issuance of fully subordinated notes. The credit facility includes a number of affirmative and negative covenants
designed to monitor our ability to service the debt. The most restrictive covenant of the facility requires that we must
maintain a fixed charge coverage ratio at a certain level. However, on December 31, 2008, we secured a waiver of all
financial covenants with respect to our TPS for a period of nine years (through December 31, 2017), in consideration of
the payment of $1.6 million, consisting of an initial payment of 81.1 million, a payment of $270,000 made in December
2011, and a contractual obligation to pay $270,000 in December 2014.

During the first quarter of 2009, we took advantage of the then cument market illiquidity for securities such as
our TPS to repurchase $22.9 million in face value of those securities through an exchange of $11.5 million worth of
marketable securities purchased during the period for the express purpose of executing this exchange transaction with the
third party holder of these TPS. During the twelve months ended 2009, we amortized $106,000 of discount to interest
income associated with the holding of these securities prior to their extinguishment. On April 30, 2009, we extinguished
$22.9 million ofthese TPS, which resulted in a gain on retirement of subordinated debt (TPS) of $10.7 million net of loss
on the associated write-off of deferred loan costs of $749,000 and a reduction in our Investment in Reading International
Trust I from $1.5 million to $838.,000.

During the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, we paid $1.2 million, $1.9 million, and $2.5
million, respectively, in preferred dividends to the unrelated investors that are included in interest expense. At December
31,2013 and 2012, we had preferred dividends payable of $191,000 and $198,000, respectively. Interest payments for
this loan are required every three months.

Australia
NAB Australian Corporate Term Loan

On June 24, 2011, we replaced our Australian Corporate Credit Facility of $115.8 million (AUS$110.0 million)
with BOS International (“BOSI”) with a new credit facility from National Australia Bank (*NAB™) of $110.5 million
(AUS$105.0 million). NAB provided us term debt of $94.7 million (AUS$90.0 million) and $9.5 million (AUS$9.0
million) in line of credit which we used combined with our cash of $1.6 million (AUS$1.5 million) to pay off our $105.8
million (AUS$100.5 million) of outstanding BOSI debt.

The NAB three-tiered credit facility (the “NAB Credit Facility™) has a term of three years, due and payable June
30, 2014, and comprised of a term loan with a December 31, 2013 balance of $56.7 million (AUS$63.5 million); a $4.5
million (AUS$5.0 million) revolving facility for which we do not have a balance at December 31, 2013; and a $8.9
million (AUS$10.0 million) guarantee facility. During 2013, to support a guarantee on the Australian digital projection
conversion, we transferred $4.5 million (AUS$5.0 million) of our revolving facility to the guarantee facility. This transfer
will remain in place until we refinance the NAB Credit Facility during 2014. This loan to Reading Entertainment
Australia commenced on June 24, 201 | with an interest rate of between 2.90% and 2.15% above the BBSY bid rate. This
credit facility is secured by substantially all of our cinema assets in Australia and is only guaranteed by several of our
wholly owned Australian subsidiaries. The NAB Credit Facility requires annual principal payments of between $6.3
million (AUS$7.0 million) and $8.0 million (AUS$9.0 million) which we anticipate will be paid from Reading
Entertainment Australia operating cash flows. The covenants of the NAB Credit Facility include a fixed charge coverage
ratio, a debt service cover ratio, an operating leverage ratio, a loan to value ratio, and other financial
covenants. Additionally, the NAB Credit Facility allows us to transfer only $3.6 million (AUS$4.0 million) per year
outside of Australia. In December 2012, as part of the sale of our Indooroopilly property, we paid down $6.3 million
(AUS$6.0 million) on our NAB term loan.

In conjunction with this NAB Credit Facility, we entered into a five-year interest swap agreement which swaps
over 100% of our $56.7 million (AUS$63.5 million) variable rate term loan (decreasing in line with scheduled principal
repayments) based on BBSY, for a 5.50% fixed rate. For further information regarding our swap agreements, see Note 13 —
Derivative Instruments.
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As indicated above, this NAB Credit Facility matures on June 30,2014. Accordingly, the outstanding balance of
this debt of $56.7 million (AUS$63.5 million) is classified as cument on our December 31, 2013 balance sheet. While no
assurances can be given that we will be successful, we are currently in the process of renewing this loan and anticipate
that the refinancing will be completed at the latest by May 31,2014,

Australian Shopping Center Loans

In July 2004, as part of the acquisition of the Anderson Cinema Circuit, we assumed the three loans on the
Epping, Rhodes, and West Lakes properties. The total amount assumed on the transaction date was $1.5 million
(AUS32.1 million) and the loans camry no interest as long as we make timely principal payments of approximately
$89.000 (AUSS100,000) per year. Early repayment is possible without penalty. The only recourse on default of these
loans is the security on the properties.

New Zealand
New Zealand Corporate Credit Facility

On February 8, 2012, we received an approved amendment from Westpac renewing our existing $36.9 million
(NZ$45.0 million) New Zealand credit facility with a 3-year credit facility. The renewed facility called for a decrease in
the overall facility by $4.1 million ($5.0 million) to $32.8 million (NZ$40.0 million), an increase in the facility margin of
0.55% to 2.00%, and the line of credit charge increase from 0.30% to 0.40%. The facility is secured by substantially all of
our New Zealand assets, but has not been guaranteed by any entity other than several of our New Zealand
subsidiaries. The facility includes various affirmative and negative financial covenants designed to protect the bank’s
security regarding capital expenditures and the repatriation of funds out of New Zealand. Also included in the restrictive
covenants of the facility is the restriction oftransferring funds from subsidiary to parent.

Us
Bank of America Revolver

On October 31, 2012, we replaced our GE Capital Term Loan of $27.7 million with a new credit facility from
Bank of America (the “BofARevolver”) of $30.0 million with an interest rate ofbetween 2.50% and 3.00% above LIBOR
and an expiration date of October 31, 2017. Although the new credit facility does not require a fixed interest swap
agreement, we have continued to use the existing fixed interest rate swap of $29.1 million until its term date of December
31,2013. Effective December 31,2013, we replaced this swap with a $31.5 million fixed interest rate swap, see Note 13 —
Derivative Instruments. The BofA Revolver requires borrowing limit reductions of $3.0 million per year with a balloon
payment of $18.0 million at the expiration date. The BofA Revolver contains other customary terms and conditions,
including representations and warranties, affirmative and negative covenants, events of default and indemnity
provisions. The most restrictive covenant of the facility requires that we must maintain a fixed charge coverage ratio at a
certain level.

On March 25,2013, Bank of America extended the borrowing limit on our BofA Revolver from $30.0 million to
$35.0 million and we bomowed $5.0 million on this revolver. On April 1, 2013, we used $2.3 million of the revolver
proceeds to partially repay our US Liberty Theaters Term Loan.

As part of the negotiations of the BofA Revolver, we entered into a master operating equipment lease financing
agreement with Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC to finance the acquisition of up to $15.5 millien in digital
projection equipment for our U.S. cinema operations. See Note 17 — Lease Agreements.

Bank of America Line of Credit

On October 31, 2012, Bank of America renewed and increased our existing $3.0 million line of credit to $5.0
million. The LOC carries an interest rate equal to BBA LIBOR floating plus a 3.50% margin and an unused line fee of
0.03%. The agreement is in effect till October 31,2017 and is potentially renewable at that date. The undrawn balance of
this LOC is $5.0 million at December 31,2013.
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Cinemas I, 2, 3 Term Loan

On June 28, 2012, Sutton Hill Properties LLC (“SHP”), one of our consolidated subsidiaries, paid off its
Eurohypo AG, New York Branch loan with a new $15.0 million term loan (the “Sovereign Bank Loan”) from Sovereign
Bank, N.A. The Sovereign Bank Loan had a one-year term ending on June 27,2013, with a one-year extension option to
Tune 27, 2014 subject to an extension fee equal to 1.00% of the ending principal balance and a compliance requirement
with certain special covenants. We exercised this option in June 2013. As the extensions mature on June 27,2014, we
have classified the $15.0 million as a current liability. While no assurances can be given that we will be successful, we
are currently in the process of renegotiating this loan. The terms of the loan require interest only payments at LIBOR plus
a 5.00% margin to be calculated and paid monthly. This loan is secured by SHP’s interest in the Cinemas 1, 2, & 3 land
and building. Covenants include maintaining a loan to value ratio of at least 50% of fair market value and an 11% debt
yield (with a numerator of the cash available for debt service and a denominator of the outstanding principal balance of
the loan). The Sovereign Bank Loan is further secured by a guaranty provided by Reading International, Inc. and by its
noncontrolling interest member, Sutton Hill Capital, LL.C.

Minetta and Orpheum Theatres Loan

On May 29, 2013, we refinanced our Liberty Theaters loan with a $7.5 million loan securitized by our Minetta
and Orpheum theatres, thus releasing the Royal George from the securitization and leaving it unencumbered. This new
loan has a maturity date of June |, 2018, and an interest rate of LIBOR plus a 2.75% margin with a LIBOR rate cap of
4.00% plusthe 2.75% margin. See Note 13 — Derivative Instruments.

Nationwide Loan 1

On February 22, 2008, our subsidiary entered into a five-year promissory note (the ‘“Nationwide Note 1) with
Nationwide Theatres Corp of $21.0 million associated with the acquisition of 15 motion picture theaters and theater-
related assets from Pacific Theatres Exhibition Corp. The Nationwide Note | was subject to certain purchase price related
adjustments. Through December 31, 2010, these adjustments resulted in a net reduction in principal of $20.4 million
comprised of a reduction in the amount of $6.3 million in 2008, a further reduction of$226.,000 during the first quarter of
2009, an additional advance of $3.0 million in 2009 (such advance was used to pay down a portion of the GE Capital
Term Loan discussed above), a 84.4 million reduction during the first quarter of 2010 in which Nationwide Theaters Corp.
and Reading agreed to reduce the seller’s note, and finally a $12.5 million reduction in September 2010.

The Nationwide Note 1 had an interest (i) as to $4.5 million of principal at the annual rates of 7.50% for the first
three years and 8.50% thereafter and (ii) as to $13.0 million of principal at the annual rates of 6.50% through July 31,
2009 and 8.50% thereafter Accrued interest was due and payable on February 21, 2011 and thereafter on the last day of
each calendar quarter, commencing on June 30, 201 1. Pursuant to the Nationwide Note | agreement, we paid off the
$593,000 balance ofthis loan on February 21,2013.

Sutton Hill Capiial Note

On June 18, 2013, we repaid the SHC Note 2 for $9.0 million. As the debtor on this note was Sutton Hill
Properties, LI.C, in which we have a 75% interest, the note was, in effect, paid $6.75 million by us and $2.25 million by
our co-investor.

Union Square Theatre Tevin Loan

On April 30, 2010, we refinanced the loan secured by our Union Square property with another lender The new
loan for $7.5 million has a five-year term with a fixed interest rate of 5.92% per annum and an amortization payment
schedule of 20 years with a balloon payment of approximately $6.4 million at the end of the loan term.

Summary of Notes Pavable

Our aggregate future principal loan payments are as follows (dollars in thousands):
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Year Ending December 31,

2014 i 75,538
2015 33,009
2016 3,500
2017 21,000
2018 7,500
Thereafter 27913

Total future principal loan payments 3 168 460

Since approximately $79.8 million of our total debt of $168.5 million at December 31, 2013 consisted of debt
denominated in Australian and New Zealand dollars, the U.S dollar amounts of these repayments will fluctuate in
accordance with the relative values of these cumrencies.

Note 13 — Derivative Instruments

We are exposed to interest rate changes from our outstanding floating rate borrowings. We manage our fixed to
floating rate debt mix to mitigate the impact of adverse changes in interest rates on earnings and cash flows and on the
market value of our borrowings. From time to time, we may enter into interest rate hedging contracts, which effectively
convert a portion of our variable rate debt to a fixed rate over the term of the interest rate swap.

For our Australian borrowings, we are presently required to swap no less than 75% of our drawdowns under our
Australian Corporate Credit Facility into fixed interest rate obligations. In conjunction with this NAB Credit Facility, we
entered into a five-year interest swap agreement, which swaps more than 100% of our variable rate term loan based on
BBSY fora 5.50% fixed rate loan which steps down commensurate with the payments ofthe loan balance. At the time of
entering into this NAB swap, our existing BOSI swap was “in-the-money” by $160,000. In licu of a cash payment for the
in-the-money BOSI swap, we negotiated a slightly lower fixed swap rate by 0.05% for our new NAB fixed rate swap.

Although our Bank of America Revolver does not require a fixed interest swap agreement, effective December
31,2013, we entered into an approximate three-year $31.5 million fixed interest rate swap that has a balance reduction
schedule which matches the contraction amortization ofthe Bank of America Revolver.

Effective October 28, 2013, we entered into a three-year $27.9 million fixed interest rate swap for our Trust
Preferred Securities.

As a result of these swap and loan agreements, we pay a total fixed interest rate of 7.90% (5.50% swap contract
rate plus a 2.40% margin under the loan) for our NAB Loan, a total fixed interest rate 0of 3.65% ( 1.15% swap contract rate
plus a 2.50% margin under the loan) for our BofA Loan, and a total fixed interest rate of 5.20% ( 1.20% swap contract rate
plus a 4.00% margin under the loan) for our Trust Preferred Securities instead of the obligatorily disclosed loan rates of
5.09%, 2.67%, and 4.24%, respectively, as indicated in Note 12 — Notes Payable.

Finally, as part of our new US Minetta and Orpheum Theatres Loan, we entered into a five-year LIBOR rate cap
ot 4.00% with a loan margin 0f2.75% (see Note 12 — Notes Payable).

The following table sets forth the terms of our interest rate swap derivative instruments at December 31, 2013:

Receive Variable

Tvpe of Instrument Notional Amount Pay Fixed Rate Rate Maturity Date
Interest rate swap $62.057,000 5.500% 2.690% June 30,2016
Interest rate swap $31.,500,000 1.150% 0.169% October 31,2017
Interest rate swap $27.913,000 1.200% 0.236% October 31,2017

Interest rate cap $7,500,000 4.000% n/a June 1,2018

In accordance with FASB ASC 815-20 — Derivatives and Hedging, we marked our interest swap instruments to
market on the consolidated balance sheet resulting in a $2.0 million decrease to interest expense
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during 2013, a $1.1 million increase to interest expense during 2012, and a $5.0 increase to interest expense during
2011. At December 31, 2013 and 2012, we recorded the fair market value of our interest rate swaps of $3.3 million and
$5.9 million, respectively, as other long-term liabilities. In accordance with FASB ASC 815-20, we have not designated
any of our cument interest rate swap positions as financial reporting hedges.

Note 14 -Income Taxes

Income (loss) before income tax expense includes the following (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011

United States $ 8,745 §$ 836 § (1,391)
Foreign 3,973 1,446 (379)
Income (loss) before income tax expense and equity earnings of
unconsolidated joint ventures and entities h 12,7718 8§ 2282 % (1,770)
Net (income) expense attvibutable to noncontvolling intevests:

United States 24 578 (604)

Foreign (128) (86) (336)
Eqguity earnings and gain on sale of unconsolidated subsidiary:

United States ) 27 33

Foreign 1,370 1,594 (1,585)
Gain on sale of discontinued operaiion:

United States - -- --

Foreign - (405) 1,888
Income (loss) before income tax expense $ 13983 & 3990 § (2,374)

Significant components of the provision for income taxes are as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Current income tax expense
Federal 1,121 % 964 & 1,332
State 432 584 531
Foreign 1,283 1.370 1,067
Total 2,836 2918 2,930
Deferred income tax expense (benefit)
Federal - - -
State - - -
Foreign 2,106 1,986 (15,260)
Total 2,106 1,986 (15,260)
Total income tax expense (benefit) 4942 § 4904 & (12,330)

Deferred income taxes reflect the “temporary differences” between the financial statement carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes, adjusted by the
relevant tax rate. The components ofthe deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows (dollars in thousands):

December 31,

Components of Deferred Tax Assets 2013 2012
Deferred Tax Assets:
Net operating loss carry-forwards 3 21,228 § 31,040
Impairment reserves 2915 3,578
Alternative minimum tax credit carry-forwards 3,291 3,118
84
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Compensation and employee benefits 3,867 3,242

Deferred revenue and expense 2,398 2,688
Land, tangible assets, and option real properties 5477 2,882
Other 3,685 4,003
Total Deferred Tax Assets 42,861 50,551
Valuation allowance (34.022) (37.903)
Net deferred tax asset $ 8,839 § 12,648

In accordance with FASB ASC 740-10 — fncome Taxes (“ASC 740-10™), we record net deferred tax assets to the
extent we believe these assets will more likely than not be realized. In making such determination, we consider all
available positive and negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future
taxable income, tax planning strategies and recent financial performance. ASC 740-10 presumes that a valuation
allowance is required when there is substantial negative evidence about realization of deferred tax assets, such as a pattern
of losses in recent years, coupled with facts that suggest such losses may continue. Because of such negative evidence
available for the U.S., Puerto Rico, and New Zealand, as of December 31, 2013, we recorded a valuation allowance of
$34.0 million. After consideration of a number of factors for the Reading Australia group, including its recent history of
finaneial income, its expected future eamings, the increase in market value of its real estate assets, and having executed a
credit facility of over $100.0 million to resolve potential liquidity issues, the Company determined as of July 1,2011 that
it was more likely than not that deferred tax assets in Reading Australia group will be realized. Accordingly, we reversed
the full valuation allowance in Australia, resulting in a net deferred tax asset of $14.4 million as of December 31, 2011,
with approximately $3.4 million classified as current and $1 1.0 million as non-current.

As of December 31,2013, we had U.5. net operating loss carry-forwards of $15.2 million, of which $8.7 million
expire between 2025 and 2030, while $6.5 million expire between 2030 and 2035.

In addition to the above net operating loss carry-forwards having expiration dates, we have the following carry-
forwards that have no expiration date at December 31,201 3:

e approximately $3.3 million in U.S. alternative minimum tax credit carry-forwards;

e approximately $26.0 million in Australian ordinary and capital loss carry-forwards, including accrued but
unpaid interest on loans from its US parent company; and

e approximately $11.8 million in New Zealand loss carry-forwards.

We disposed of our Puerto Rico operations during 2005 and plan no further investment in Puerto Rico for the
foresecable future. We have approximately $14.1 million in Puerto Rico loss carry-forwards expiring no later than
2018. No material future tax benefits from Puerto Rico loss carry-forwards can be recognized by the Company unless it
re-enters the Puerto Rico market for which the Company has no cument plans.

We expect no other substantial limitations on the future use of U.S. or foreign loss carry-forwards except as may
occur for certain losses occumring in New Zealand related to the Landplan operations, which may only be used to offset
income and gains from those particular activities, and cannot be shared with their respective consolidated group.

U.S. income taxes have not been recognized on the temporary differences between book value and tax basis of
investment in foreign subsidiaries. These differences become taxable upon a sale ofthe subsidiary or upon distribution of
assets from the subsidiary to U.S. shareholders. We expect neither of these events will occur in the foresesable future for
any of our foreign subsidiaries.

The provision for income taxes is different from amounts computed by applying U.S. statutory rates to
consolidated losses before taxes. The significant reason for these differences follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Expected tax provision (benefit) $ 4,894 § 1,397  § (831)

Increase (decrease) in tax expense resulting from:
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Change in valuation allowance (3,882) (558) (15,260)

Expired foreign loss carry-forward - -- 1,100
Foreign tax provision 3,389 3,356 1,067
Tax effect of foreign tax rates on current income (294) (126) 24
State and local tax provision 296 408 361
Tax/Audit Litigation Settlement 1,140 1,140 1,375
Effect oftax rate change - -- --
Other items (601) (713) (166)
Actual tax provision (benefit) $ 4942 % 4904 % (12,330)

Pursuant to ASC 740-10, a provision should be made for the tax effect of earnings of foreign subsidiaries that are
not permanently invested outside the United States. Our intent is that earnings of our foreign subsidiaries are not
permanently invested outside the United States. Current earnings were available for distribution in the Reading Australia
consolidated group of subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013. There is no withholding tax on dividends paid by an
Australian company to its 80% or more U.S. public company shareholder, thus we have not provided foreign withholding
taxes for these current retained earnings. We believe the U.S. tax impact of a dividend ftom our Australian subsidiary, net
of loss carry forward and potential foreign tax credits, would not have a material effect on the tax provision as of
December 31 2013.

We have accrued $20.8 million in income tax liabilities as of December 31,2013, of which $8.3 million has been
classified as current taxes payable and $12.5 million have been classified as non-current tax liabilities. As part of current
taxes payable, we have accrued $3.5 million in connection with federal and state liabilities arising from the “Tax/Audit
Litigation” matter which has now been settled (see Note 19 — Commitments and Contingencies). As part of noncurrent tax
liabilities, we have accrued an additional $11.5 million related to the “Tax Audit/Litigation™ matter. Amounts assessed
by the IRS and expected to be assessed by state income tax agencies in connection with the *“Tax Audit/Litigation”
matter are no longer recorded under the cumulative probability approach prescribed by FASB ASC 740-10-25 but
are recorded as a fixed and determinable liability. We believe the $20.8 million in tax liabilities represents an adequate
provision for our income tax exposures.

The following table is a summary of the activity related to unrecognized tax benefits, excluding interest and
penalties, for the years ending December 31,2013, December 31,2012, and December 31,2011 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Unrecognized tax benefits — gross beginning balance $ 2,171 § 1,974 § 8,058
Gross increases — prior period tax provisions (1) 197 -
Gross increases — current period tax positions - -- 151
Settlements - -- (6,235)
Statute of limitations lapse -- -- --
Unrecognized tax benefits — gross ending balance $ 2,160 § 2,171 $ 1,974

In accordance with FASB ASC 740-10-25 — Income Taxes - Uncertain Tax Positions (“ASC 740-10-25) we
elected to record interest and penalties related to income tax matters as part of income tax expense.

We had approximately $10.8 million and $11.4 million of gross tax benefits as of the adoption date and
December 31, 2007, respectively, plus $1.7 million and $2.3 million of tax interest unrecognized on the financial
statements as of each date, respectively. The gross tax benefits mostly reflect operating loss carry-forwards and the IRS
Tax Audit/Litigation case described below.

We recorded a reduction to our gross unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $3.4 million and an increase to
tax interest of approximately $8.8 million during the period January 1, 2010 to December 31, 2010 and the total balance
at December 31, 2010 was approximately $20.6 million (of which approximately $12.6 million represents IRS
interest). Having settled the Tax Audit/Litigation matter described in Note 19 — Commitments and
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Contingencies, we further recorded a net reduction to our gross unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $6.1 million
and a reduction to tax interest of approximately $10.4 million during the period January 1, 2011 to December 31, 2011,
resulting in a total balance at December 31, 2011 of approximately $4.1 million, consisting of $1.9 million tax and $2.2
million interest. Of the $4.1 million gross unrecognized tax benefit at December 31, 2011, approximately $3.0 million
would impact the effective tax rate if recognized. During the period January 1, 2012 to December 31,2012 we recorded
an increase of $0.2 million to our gross unrecognized tax benefits and an increase to tax interest of approximately $1.1
million, resulting in a total balance of $5.3 million consisting of $2.1 million in tax and $3.2 million in interest. Of the
$5.3 million gross unrecognized tax benefit at December 31, 2012, approximately $4.3 million would impact the
effective rate if recognized. During the period January 1, 2013 to December 31, 2013 we recorded no material change to
our gross unrecognized tax benefits and a decrease to tax interest of approximately $1.4 million, resulting in a total
balance of $3.9 million consisting of $2.1 million in tax and $1.8 million in interest. Of the $3.9 million gross
unrecognized tax benefit at December 31, 2013, approximately $2.9 million would impact the effective rate if recognized.

It is difficult to predict the timing and resolution of uncertain tax positions. Based upon the Company’s
assessment of many factors, including past experience and judgments about future events, it is probable that within the
next 12 months the reserve for uncertain tax positions will increase within a range of $0.5 million to $1.5 million. The
reasons for such change include but are not limited to tax positions expected to be taken during 2013, revaluation of
cutrent uncertain tax positions, and expiring statutes of limitation.

Our company and subsidiaries are subject to U.S. federal income tax, income tax in various U.S. states, and
income tax in Australia, New Zealand, and Puerto Rico.

Generally, changes to our federal and most state income tax retums for the calendar vear 2007 and earlier are
bamed by statutes of limitations. Certain U.S. subsidiaries filed federal and state tax retums for periods before these
entities became consolidated with us. These subsidiaries were examined by IRS for the years 1996 to 1999 and
significant tax deficiencies were assessed for those years. Those deficiencies have been settled, as discussed in “Tax
Audit/Litigation,” Note 19 — Commitments and Contingencies. Our income tax returns for Australia filed since inception
in 1995 are generally open for examination. The income tax returns filed in New Zealand and Puerto Rico for calendar
vear 2007 and afterward remain open for examination as of December 31, 2013.
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Note 15 — Other Liabilities

Other liabilities are summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):

December 31,

2013 2012

Current liabilities

Lease liability $ 5900 § 5,855
Security deposit payable 246 174
Other 9 3
Other current liabilities 5 6,155 § 6,032
Other liabilities

Foreign withholding taxes $ 6,748 § 6,480
Straight-line rent liability 9.259 8,893
Environmental reserve 1,656 1,656
Accrued pension 8,527 6,976
Interest rate swap 3,288 5,855
Acquired leases 1,797 2,078
Other payable 875 1,191
Other 599 630
Other liabilities $ 32,749 § 33,759

Village East Purchase Option

On June 29,2010, we agreed to extend our existing lease from SHC ofthe Village East Cinema in New York City
by 10 years, with a new termination date of June 30, 2020. The Village East lease includes a sub-lease of the ground
underlying the cinema that is subject to a longer-term ground lease between SHC and an unrelated third party that expires
in June 1, 2031 (the “cinema ground lease™). The extended lease provides for a call option pursuant to which Reading
may purchase the cinema ground lease for $5.9 million at the end of the lease term. Additionally, the lease has a put
option pursuant to which SHC may require Reading to purchase all or a portion of SHC’s interest in the existing cinema
lease and the cinema ground lease at any time between July 1, 2013 and December 4, 2019. SHC’s put option may be
exercised on one or more occasions in increments of not less than $100,000 each. Because our Chairman, Chief
Executive Officer, and controlling sharecholder, Mr. James I. Cotter, is also the managing member of SHC, RDI and SHC
are considered entities under common control. As a result, we have recorded the Village East Cinema building as a
property asset of $4.7 million on our balance sheet based on the cost camry-over basis from an entity under common
control with a comresponding lease liability of $5.9 million presented under other liabilities which acereted up to the $5.9
million liability till July 1, 2013 (see Note 25 — Related Parties and Transactions). As the option is able to be exercised
starting on July 1,2013, we classified the $5.9 million lease liability as a current liability.

Note 16 — Fair Value of Financial Instruments

ASC 820-10 applies to existing accounting pronouncements in which fair value measurements are already
required and defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements.

ASC B20-10 (see Note 2 —Summary of Significant Accounting Policies) establishes a fair value hierarchy that
prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The statement requires that assets and liabilities
carried at fair value be classified and disclosed in one ofthe following three categories:

Level 1: Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2: Observable market based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are not comroborated by market data.
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We use appropriate valuation techniques based on the available inputs to measure the fair values of our assets
and liabilities. When available, we measure fair value using Level | inputs because they generally provide the most
reliable evidence of fair value.

Level | Fair Value Measurements — are based on market quotes of our marketable securities.

Level 2 Fair Value Measurements — fnterest Rate Swaps and cap — The fair value of interest rate swaps and cap are
estimated using internal discounted cash flow calculations based upon forward interest rate curves, which are
corroborated by market data, and quotes obtained from counterparties to the agreements.

Level 3 Fair Value Measurements — frpaired Property — For assets measured on a non-recurring basis, such as real estate
assets that are required to be recorded at fair value as a result of an impairment, our estimates of fair value are based on
management’s best estimate derived from evaluating market sales data for comparable properties developed by a third
party appraiser and amriving at management’s estimate of fair value based on such comparable data primarily based on
properties with similar characteristics. For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, the fair value of our impaired
properties was estimated to be $4.1 million and $1.9 million, respectively, which we used to record our impairment
expense and was based on level 3 inputs in developing management’s estimate of fair value. For the year ended
December 31, 2011, the fair value of our Rialto Cinemas investment was $1.6 million (NZ$2.0 million) resulting in an
impairment charge of $2.9 million (NZ$3.8 million). We did not record an impairment charge for our properties during
2013.

As of December 31, 2013, we held certain items that are required to be measured at fair value on a recurring
basis. These included available for sale securities and interest rate derivative contracts.  Derivative instruments are
related to our economic hedge of interest rates. Our available-forsale securities primarily consist of investments
associated with the ownership of marketable securities in Australia.

The fair values of the interest rate swap and cap agreements are determined using the market standard
methodology of discounting the future expected cash receipts or payments that would occur if variable interest rate fell
above or below the strike rate of the interest rate swap and cap agreements. The variable interest rates used in the
calculation of projected receipts or payments on the interest rate swap and cap agreements are based on an expectation of
future interest rates derived from observable market interest rate curves and volatilities. To comply with the provisions of
ASC 820-10, we incomporate credit valuation adjustments to appropriately reflect both our own nonperformance risk and
the respective counterparty's nonperformance risk in the fair value measurements. Although we have determined that the
majority of the inputs used to value our derivatives fall within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, the credit valuation
adjustments associated with our derivatives utilize Level 3 inputs, such as estimates of curmrent credit spreads to evaluate
the likelihood of default by us and our counterparties. However, as of December 31, 2013, we have assessed the
significance of the impact of the credit valuation adjustments on the overall valuation and determined that the credit
valuation adjustments are not significant to the overall valuation of our derivatives. As a result, we have determined that
our derivative valuations in their entirety are classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. We have consistently
applied these valuation techniques in all periods presented and believe we have obtained the most accurate information
available for the types of derivative contracts we hold.

On a recurring basis, we used the above methods and assumptions on the following items to measure fair value
subject to the disclosure requirements of ASC 820-10 at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively (dollars in
thousands):

Book Value Fair Value
Financial Instrument Level 2013 2012 2013 2012
Investment in marketable securities 1 $ 55 % 55 % 55 % 55
Interest rate cap asset 2 b 75 8 - § 75 8 -
Interest rate swap liabilities 2 $ 3288 § 5855 § 3288 § 5,855
B9
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Financial Instruments Disclosed at Fair Value

The following table sets forth the carrying value and the fair value of our financial assets and liabilities at
December 31,2013 and 2012 (dollars in thousands):

Book Value Fair Value

Financial Instrument Level 2013 2012 2013 2012
Cash 1 5 37,696 h 38,531 h 37,696 $ 38,531
Time deposits 1 b - h 8,000 h -- b 8,000
Accountsreceivable 1 $ 9,087 $ B,514 $ 9,087 $ 8,514
Other assets - notes receivable 1 $ - h 2,000 h -- $ 2,000
Restricted cash 1 $ 782 $ 2,465 $ 782 $ 2,465
Accounts and film rent payable 1 $ 25,046 $ 25,566 $ 25,046 $ 25,566
Notes payable 3 § 140,547 $ 159,684 $ 121411 § 154,795
Notes payable to related party N/A $ - b 9,000 h N/‘A § N/A
Subordinated debt 3 $ 27913 8 27913 $ 11,067 $ 12,268

For purposes of this fair value disclosure, we based our fair value estimate for notes payable and subordinated
debt on our internal valuation whereby we apply the discounted cash flow method to our expected cash flow payments
due under our existing debt agreements based on a representative sample of our lenders’ market interest rate quotes as of
December 31,2013 and 2012, respectively, for debt with similar risk characteristics and maturities.

Note 17 — Lease Agreements

Most of our cinemas conduct their operations in leased facilities. Sixteen of our twenty operating multiplexes in
Australia, four of our seven cinemas in New Zealand, and all but one of our cinemas in the United States are in leased
facilities. These cinema leases have remaining terms inclusive of options of 1 to 37 years. Certain of our cinema leases
provide for contingent rentals based upon a specified percentage of theater revenue with a guaranteed
minimum. Substantially all of our leases require the payment of property taxes, insurance, and other costs applicable to
the property. We also lease office space and equipment under non-cancelable operating leases. All of our leases are
accounted for as operating leases and accordingly, we have no leases of facilities that require capitalization.

We determine the annual base rent expense of our cinemas by amortizing total minimum lease obligations on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Base rent expense and contingent rental expense under the operating leases
totaled approximately $32.1 million and $1.3 million for 2013, respectively; $32.6 million and $1.7 million for 2012,
respectively; and $31.2 million and $1.6 million for 201 1, respectively. Future minimum lease payments by year and, in
the aggregate, under non-cancelable operating leases consisted of the following at December 31, 2013 (dollars in
thousands):

Minimum Ground Minimum Premises Equipment Total Minimum

Lease Payments Lease Payments Lease Lease Paymentis
2014 § 2,592 % 28,381 % 2,703 § 33,676
2015 2,591 26,137 2,703 31,431
2016 2,656 22,427 2,694 27,777
2017 2,751 19,744 2,693 25,188
2018 2,759 16,054 2,614 21,427
Thereafter 8,671 49,739 -- 58410
Total minimum lease payments 3 22,020 % 162,482 $ 13,407 % 197,909

Since approximately $75.7 million of our total minimum lease payments of $197.9 million as of December 31,
2013 consisted of lease obligations denominated in Australian and New Zealand dollars, the U.S dollar amounts of these
obligations will fluctuate in accordance with the relative values of these curencies. See Note 25 — Related Parties and
Transactions for the amount of leases associated with any related party leases.
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Digital Projection Equipment [ .ease

Effective December 1, 2012, we entered into a 5-year digital projection equipment lease obligation with Banc of
America Leasing & Capital, LLC enabling us to convert substantially all of our U.5. cinemas to digital projection. The
equipment lease agreement requires that we make lease payments of $218,000 per month for the next 60 months after
which we can either purchase the equipment at a market price or renew the lease for an undetermined length of time. This
lease qualifies as an operating lease and is recorded accordingly.

Note 18 — Pension Liabilities

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan

In March 1, 2007, the Board of Directors of Reading International, Inc. (“Reading™) approved a Supplemental
Executive Retirement Plan (“SERP”) pursuant to which Reading has agreed to provide James I. Cotter, its Chief
Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors, supplemental retirrment benefits effective March 1,
2007, Under the SERP, Mr. Cotter will receive a monthly payment of the greater of (i) 40% of the average monthly
earnings over the highest consecutive 36-month period of earnings prior to Mr. Cotter’s separation from service with
Reading or (ii) $25,000 per month for the remainder of his life, with a guarantee of 1 80 monthly payments following his
separation from service with Reading or following his death. The beneficiaries under the SERP may be designated by Mr.
Cotter or by his beneficiary following his or his beneficiary’s death. The benefits under the SERP are fully vested as of
March 1,2007.

The SERP initially will be unfunded, but Reading may choose to establish one or more grantor trusts from which
to pay the SERP benefits. As such, the SERP benefits are unsecured, general obligations of Reading. The SERP is
administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of Reading. In accordance with FASB ASC 715-
30-05 — Defined Benefit Pension Plans (“ASC 715-30-057), the initial pension benefit obligation of $2.7 million was
included in our other liabilities with a comesponding amount of unrecognized prior service cost included in accumulated
other comprehensive income on March 1,2007. The initial benefit obligation was based on a discount rate 0of 5.75% and
a compensation increase rate of 3.5%. The $2.7 million is being amortized as a prior service cost over the estimated
service period of 10 years combined with an annual interest cost. For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and
2011, we recognized $202.000, $149.,000, and $195,000, respectively, of interest cost and $304,000 of amortized prior
service cost per year For the years ended December31, 2013 and 2012, we recognized $356,000 and $0 of amortized net
gains. The balance of the other liability for this pension plan was $7.4 million and $5.9 million at December 31, 2013
and 2012, respectively, and the accumulated unrecognized prior service costs included in other comprehensive income
balance was $3.8 and $3.2 million at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The December 31, 2013 and 2012
values of the SERP are based on a discount rate of 4.25% and 3.40%, respectively, and an annual compensation growth
rate of 7.50% and 3.50%, respectively.

The change in the SERP pension benefit obligation and the funded status for the year ending December 31,2013
and 2012 are as follows (dollars in thousands):

For the year ending

Change in Benefit Obligation December 31, 2013

Benefit obligation at January 1,2013 b 5,944
Interest cost 202
Actuarial gain 1,252
Benefit obligation at December 31,2013 7,398
Funded status at December 31,2013 $ (7,398)

For the year ending

Change in Benefit Obligation December 31, 2012

Benefit obligation at January 1,2012 5 3511

Interest cost 149

Actuarial gain 2,284

Benefit obligation at December 31,2012 5,944

Funded status at December 31,2012 3 (5,944)
91
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Amount recognized in balance sheet consists of (dollars in thousands):

AtDecember 31, At December 31,
2013 2012
Current liabilities $ 15 8 14
Noncurrent liabilities 7,383 5,930

Items not yet recognized as a component ofnet periodic pension cost consist of (dollars in thousands):

At December 31, At December 31,
2013 2012
Unamortized actuarial loss h 3,166 § 2,269
Prior service costs 627 931
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 3,793 3,200

The components of the net periodic benefit cost and other amounts recognized in other comprehensive income
are as follows (dollars in thousands):

For the year ending For the year ending
Net periodic benefit cost December 31,2013 December 31,2012
Interest cost $ 202§ 149
Amortization of prior service costs 304 304
Amortization ofnet gain 356 --
Net periodic benefit cost 3 862 % 453
Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in
other comprehensive income
Net loss B 1,253  § 2,284
Amortization of prior service cost (304) (304)
Amortization ofnet loss (356) --
Total recognized in other comprehensive income 3 593§ 1,980
Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost and other
comprehensive income $ 1455 § 2,433

The estimated net loss and prior service cost for the defined benefit pension plan that will be amortized from
accumulated other comprehensive income into net periodic benefit cost over the next fiscal year will be $356,000 and
$304,000, respectively.
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The following weighted average assumptions were used to determine the plan benefit obligations at December
31,2013 and 2012:

2013 2012
Discount rate 4.25% 3.40%
Rate of compensation increase 7.50% 3.50%

The following weighted-average assumptions were used to determine net periodic benefit cost for the year ended
December 31,2013 and 2012:

2013 2012
Discount rate 3.40% 4.25%
Expected long-term return on plan assets 0.00% 0.00%
Rate of compensation increase 3.50% 3.50%

Other Pension Liabilities

In addition to the aforementioned SERP, we have defined contribution pension plans for selected current and
former executives of our corporation resulting in a pension liability of $1.1 million and $1.0 million at December 31,
2013 and 2012, respectively. These pensions accrued $35,000 and $204,000 of pension expense for the years ended
December 31,2013 and 2012, respectively.

The benefit payments for all of our pensions, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected
to be paid over the following periods (dollars in thousands):

Pension Payments

2014 $ 14
2015 32
2016 50
2017 633
2018 607
Thercafter 7,191
Total pension payments 3 8,527

Note 19 - Commitments and Contingencies

Unconsolidated Joint Venture Loans

The following section describes any loans associated with our investments in unconsolidated joint ventures. As
these investments are unconsolidated, any associated bank loans are not reflected in our Consolidated Balance Sheet at
December 31,2013, Each loan is without recourse to any assets other than our interests in the individual joint venture.

Rialto Distribution. We are the 33.3% co-owners of the assets of Rialto Distribution. At December 31,2013 and 2012,
Rialto Distribution had a bank line of credit of $1.6 million (NZ$2.0 million) and $1.7 million (NZ$2.0 million),
respectively, and had an outstanding balance of $634,000 (NZ $770,000) and $703,000 (NZ§850,000),
respectively. This loan is guaranteed by one of our subsidiaries to the extent of our ownership percentage.

Tax Audit/Litigation

The Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) has examined the tax return of Reading Entertainment Inc. (“RDGE™)
for its tax years ended December 31, 1996 through December 31, 1999 and the tax retum of Craig Corporation (“CRG”), a
Nevada Corporation with no operating assets, for its tax year ended June 30, 1997, These
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companies are both now wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company, but for the time periods under audit, were not
consolidated with the Company for tax purposes.

CRG and the IRS agreed to compromise the claims made by the IRS against CRG and the Tax Court’s order was
entered on January 6, 2011. In the settlement, the IRS conceded 70% of its claimed adjustment to income. Instead ofa
claim for unpaid taxes of $20.9 million plus interest, the effect of settlement on the Reading consolidated group was to
require a total federal income tax obligation of $5.4 million, reduced by a federal tax refund of $800,000 and increased by
interest of $9.3 million, for a net federal tax liability of $13.9 million as of Tanuary 6, 2011. On October 26, 2011, CRG
reached an agreement with the IRS for an installment plan to pay off this federal tax liability, including additional interest
accruals at the preseribed IRS floating rate. The agreement requires monthly payments of $290,000 over a period of
approximately five years. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, after the payments made during 2013 and 2012,
respectively, the remaining federal tax obligation was $8.3 million and $10.0 million, respectively, in tax and interest. Of
the $8.3 million owed under the installment agreement as of December 31, 2013, $3.5 million was recorded as cumrent
taxes payable, with the remaining balance being recorded as non-cumrent tax liability. Of the $10.0 million owed under
the installment agreement as of December 31, 2012, 83.5 million was recorded as current taxes payable, with the
remaining balance being recorded as non-current tax liability.

The impact of the settlement upon the state taxes ofthe Reading consolidated group, ifthe adjustment to income
agreed with the IRS were reflected on state returns, would be an obligation of approximately $1.4 million in tax plus
interest and potential penalty. As of December 31, 2013, no deficiency has been asserted by the State of Califomia, and
we have made no final decision as to the course of action to be followed when a deficiency is asserted.

Environmental and Asbestos Claims

Certain of our subsidiaries were historically invelved in milroad operations, coal mining, and
manufacturing. Also, certain of these subsidiaries appear in the chain of title of properties that may suffer from
pollution. Accordingly, certain of these subsidiaries have, from time to time, been named in and may in the future be
named in various actions brought under applicable environmental laws. Also, we are in the real estate development
business and may encounter from time to time unanticipated environmental conditions at properties that we have
acquired for development. These environmental conditions can increase the cost of such projects, and adversely affect
the value and potential for profit of such projects. We do not currently believe that our exposure under applicable
environmental laws is material in amount.

From time to time, we have claims brought against us relating to the exposure of former employees of our
railroad operations to asbestos and coal dust. These are generally covered by an insurance settlement reached in
September 1990 with our insurance carriers. However, this insurance settlement does not cover litigation by people who
were not our employees and who may claim second hand exposure to asbestos, coal dust and/or other chemicals or
elements now recognized as potentially causing cancer in humans. Our known exposure to these types of claims, asserted
or probable ofbeing asserted, is not material.

In connection with the development of our 50.6 acre Burwood site, it will be necessary to address certain
environmental issues. That property was at one time used as a brickworks and we have discovered petroleum and asbestos
at the site. During 2007, we developed a plan for the remediation of these materials, in some cases through remowval and
in other cases through encapsulation. As of December 31, 2013, we estimate that the total site preparation costs
associated with the removal of this contaminated soil will be $15.2 million (AUS$17.1 million) and as ofthat date we had
incurred a total of $7.4 million (AUS$8.3 million) of these costs. We do not believe that this has added materially to the
overall development cost of the site, as it is anticipated that all of the work will be done in connection with the
excavation and other development activity already contemplated for the property.
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Note 20 — Noncontrolling interests

As of December 31, 2013, the noncontrolling interests in our consolidated subsidiaries are comprised of the
following:

e 25%noncontrolling interest in Australian Country Cinemas by 21st Century Pty, Ltd;

e 50% noncontrolling membership interest in Shadow View Land and Farming, LLC owned by Mt James I.
Cotter, Sr.; and
e 25%noncontrolling interest in the Sutton Hill Properties, LLC owned by Sutton Hill Capital, LLC.

The components of noncontrolling interest are as follows (dollars in thousands):

December 31,

2013 2012
AFCLLC $ - ¥ 1,737
Australian Country Cinemas 532 601
Shadow View Land and Farming, LLC 1,862 1,912
Sutton Hill Properties 2,213 (152)
Noncontrolling interests in consolidated subsidiaries $ 4,607 § 4,098

The components of income attributable to noncontrolling interests are as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
AFCLLC $ 173 § 612 § 909
Australian Country Cinemas 129 86 311
Elsternwick unincorporated joint venture - -- 25
Shadow View Land and Farming, LLC 50 (843) -
Sutton Hill Properties (148) (347) (305)
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest $ 104 §$ (492) % 940

AFC L1.C Acquisition of Noncontrolling Interest

On June 28, 2013, we acquired the interest in AFC LLC that we did not already own in consideration of the
release of certain claims we held against the owner of that interest under a guaranty agreement. The removal of the AFC
LLC noncontrolling interest balance of $101,000 was reflected as a change in our additional paid in capital pursuant to
FASB ASC 810-10-45,

Sutton Hill Properties

On June 18, 2013, our co-investor, having a 25% interest in our Sutton Hill Properties subsidiary, contributed
$2.25 million toward the payoff of our SHC Note 2 for $9.0 million resulting in a $2.25 million contribution of capital to
Sutton Hill Properties (See Note 12 — Notes Payable).

Shadow View Land and Farming. L.I.C

During the 2012, Mt James I. Cotter, our Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and controlling sharcholder,
contributed $2.5 million of cash and $255,000 ofhis 2011 bonus as his 50% share of the purchase price of a land parcel
in Coachella, Califomia and to cover his 50% share of certain costs associated with that acquisition. This land is held in
Shadow View Land and Farming, LL.C, in which Mr. Cotter owns a 50% interest. We are the managing member of
Shadow View Land and Farming, LLC. However, as Mr. Cotter is considered to be our controlling shareholder, pursuant
to FASB ASC 810-10-05, we have consolidated Mr. Cotter’s interest in the

APP_PAGE_1123



property and its expenses with that of our interest and shown his interest as a noncontrolling interest. Note & —
Acquisitions, Disposals, and Assets Held for Sale.

Elsternwick Sale

On April 14, 2011, we sold our 66.7% share of the 5-screen Elsternwick Classic cinema located in Melbourne,
Australia to our joint venture partner for $1.9 million (AUS$ 1.8 million) and recognized a gain on sale of a discontinued
operation of $1.7 million (AUS$1.6 million).

Note 21 — Total Reading International, Inc. Stockholders’ Equity

Our common stock trades on the NASDAQ under the symbols RDI and RDIB which are our Class A (non-voting)
and Class B (voting) stock, respectively. Our Class A (non-voting) has preference over our Class B (voting) shares upon
liquidation. No dividends have ever been issued for either share class.

2013 Common Stock Activity

During 2013, we issued 217,890 of Class A Stock to an executive employee associated with his prior years’ stock
grants.

62,500 options were exercised during 2013 having an intrinsic value of $133,000 for which we received
$248,000 of cash. Additionally, 75,000 options were exercised during 2013 having an intrinsic value of $124,000 for
which we did not receive any cash but the employee elected to exchange 53,136 personally owned shares of the company
at a market price of $5.66 per share for the 75,000 shares based on an exercise price of $4.01 for the related options.

2012 Common Stock Activity

During 2012, we issued 155,925 of Class A Stock to an executive employee associated with his prior years’ stock
grant, and, during 2012, we issued 9,680 as a one-time stock grant of Class A Stock to our employees valued at 344,000
which we accounted for as compensation expense.

95,000 options were exercised during 2012 having a realized value of $136,000 for which we received $308,000
of cash. Additionally, 41,000 options were exercised during 2012 having a realized value of $103,000 for which we did
not receive any cash but the employee elected to receive the net incremental number of in-the-money shares of 15,822
based on a $4.01 and a market price of $6.53.

2011 Common Stock Activity

During 2011, we issued 174,825 of Class A Stock to certain executive employee associated with his prior years’
stock grants.

During 2011, we purchased 172,300 of Class A Stock on the open market for $747,000.
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive ncome

Unrealized
Gain and
T.osses on
Foreign Available-for- Accrued
Currenecy Sale Pension
Ttems Investments Service Costs Total
Beginning balance 3 64,558 § 9% (3,200)0% 61,369
Net current-period other comprehensive income (19,259) - (593) {19,854)
Ending balance 45,299 9 (3,793) 41,515

Note 22 — Business Segments and Geographic Area Information

The table below sets forth certain information conceming our cinema operations and our real estate operations
(which includes information relating to both our real estate development, retail rental and live theater rental activities) for
the three years ended December 31,2013 (dollars in thousands):

Cinema Intersegment
Year Ended December 31, 2013 Exhibition Real Estate Eliminations Total
Revenue b 239,418 § 26,456 % (7,653) § 258221
Operating expense 200,859 10,830 (7,653) 204,036
Depreciation and amortization 10,741 4,023 - 14,764
General and administrative expense 3,273 644 -- 3,917
Segment operating income 3 24,545 5 10,959 § - $ 35,504
Cinema Intersegment
Year Ended December 31, 2012 Exhibition Real Estate Eliminations Total
Revenue b 234,703 $ 27,256 § (7,529) % 254,430
Operating expense 198,040 11,163 {7,529) 201,674
Depreciation and amortization 11,154 4,441 - 15,595
General and administrative expense 2,508 718 - 3,316
Impairment expense -- 1,463 -- 1,463
Segment operating income 3 22,911 § 9,471 § - 3% 32,382
Cinema Intersegment
Year Ended December 31, 2011 Exhibition Real Estate Eliminations Total
Revenue 3 225,849 3 26,562 3 {(7,432) ¥ 244,979
Operating expense 189,647 10,190 {7,432) 192,405
Depreciation and amortization 11,842 4,444 - 16,286
General and administrative expense 2,740 646 - 3,386
Impairment expense -- 369 -- 369
Segment operating income 3 21,620 § 10,913 § - % 32,533
Reconciliation to net income attributable
to Reading International, Imc. shareholders: 2013 2012 2011
Total segment operating income 3 35,504 5 32,382 % 32,533
Non-segment:
Depreciation and amortization expense 433 454 300
General and administrative expense 14,136 12,801 14,046
Operating income 20,935 19,127 18,178
Interest expense, net {10,037) (16,426) (21,038)
Other income (loss) 1,876 (563) 1,157
Gain (loss) on sale of assets (56) 144 (X))
Income tax benefit (expense) (4,942) {4,904) 12,330
Equity earnings (loss) of unconsolidated joint ventures and
entities 1,369 1,621 (1,552)
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Income (loss) from discontinued operations - (85) 232

Gain (loss) on sale of discontinued operation - (320) 1,656
Net income (loss) 3 9,145 3 (1,406) $ 10,896
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (104) 492 (940)
Net income (loss) attributable to Reading International, Inc.
common shareholders $ 9,041 § 914) § 9,956
December 31
Summary of assets: 2013 2012 2011
Segment assets b 347,637 $ 408,667 $ 414,608
Corporate assets 39,170 19,921 16,156
Total Assets $ 386,807 $ 428,588 hy 430,764

December 31,

Summary of capital expenditures: 2013 2012 2011

Segment capital expenditures $ 19910 § 13,390 % 8419
Corporate capital expenditures 172 333 957
Total capital expenditures 5 20,082 5 13,723 $ 9376

The cinema results shown above include revenue and operating expense directly linked to our cinema
assets. The real estate results include rental income from our properties and live theater venues and operating expense
directly linked to our property assets.

The following table sets forth the book value of our operating property by geographical area (dollars in

thousands):
December 31
2013 2012
Australia $ 97,240 h 106,020
New Zealand 36,319 35,456
United States 58,101 61,302
Total operating property 5 191,660 3 202,778

The following table sets forth our revenue by geographical area (dollars in thousands):

December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Australia § 100399 & 108320  § 110,742
New Zealand 26,310 24,608 22,247
United States 131,512 121,502 111,990
Total revenue 5 258221 5 254430 $ 244979
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Note 23 — Unaudited Quarterly Financial Information (dollars in thousands, except per share amounis)

First Second Third Fourth
2013 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Revenue $ 59,567 § 69,642 § 65472 § 63,540
Net income (loss) h ©®71) % 4,176 § 2431 % 3,209
Net income (loss) attributable to Reading Intemational, Inc.
sharcholders h (668) 3 4,135 § 2393 % 3,181
Basic eamings (loss) per share $ (0.03) § 0.18 § 0.10 § 0.14
Diluted eamings (loss) per share $ (0.03) § 0.18 § 0.10 % 0.13
2012
Revenue $ 62431 $§ 62948 § 63934 § 65,117
Net income (loss) $ (109) 3 224§ 396 §  (L9l7)
Net income (loss) attributable to Reading Intemational, Inc.
shareholders $  (239) $ 239§ 363§ (1,277)
Basic camings (loss) per share $ (0.01) % 001 § 002 § (0.06)
Diluted eamings (loss) per share $ (0.01) § 0.01 $ 002 § (0.06)

Note 24 - Future Minimum Rental Income

Real estate revenue amounted to $18.8 million, $19.7 million, and $19.1 million, for the years ended December
31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively. Future minimum rental income under all contractual operating leases is
summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ending December 31,

2014 h 8,605
2015 7,934
2016 6,662
2017 5216
2018 4,125
Thereafler 21,203
Total future minimum rental income 5 53,745

Note 25 — Related Parties and Transactions

Sutton Hill Capital

In 2001, we entered into a transaction with Sutton Hill Capital, LL.C (“SHC”) regarding the leasing with an
option to purchase of certain cinemas located in Manhattan including our Village East and Cinemas 1, 2 & 3 theaters. In
connection with that transaction, we also agreed to lend certain amounts to SHC, to provide liquidity in its investment,
pending our determination whether or not to exercise our option to purchase and to manage the 86th Street Cinema on a
fee basis. SHC is a limited liability company owned in equal shares by James J. Cotter and a third party and of which Mr.
Cotter is the managing member. The Village East is the only cinema that remains subject to this lease and during 2013,
2012, and 2011, we paid rent to SHC for this cinema in the amount of $590,000, 590,000, and 590,000, respectively.

On June 29,2010, we agreed to extend our existing lease from SHC ofthe Village East Cinema in New York City
by 10 years, with a new termination date of June 30, 2020. The Village East lease includes a sub-lease of the ground
underlying the cinema that is subject to a longer-term ground lease between SHC and an unrelated third party that expires
in June 2031 (the “cinema ground lease™). The extended lease provides for a call option pursuant to which Reading may
purchase the cinema ground lease for $5.9 million at the end of the lease term. Additionally, the lease has a put option
pursuant to which SHC may require Reading to purchase all or a portion of SHCs interest in the existing ¢inema lease
and the cinema ground lease at any time between July 1, 2013 and December 4, 2019.
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SHC’s put option may be exercised on one or more occasions in increments of not less than $100,000 each. Because our
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, and controlling shareholder, Mr. James I. Cotter, is also the managing member of
SHC, RDI and SHC are considered entities under common control. As a result, we recorded the Village East Cinema
building as a property asset of $4.7 million on our balance sheet based on the cost carry-over basis from an entity under
common control with a corresponding capital lease liability of $5.9 million presented under other liabilities (see Note 15
— Other Liabilities).

In 2005, we acquired from a third party the fee interest and from SHC its interest in the ground lease estate
underlying and the improvements constituting the Cinemas 1, 2 & 3. In connection with that transaction, we granted to
SHC an option to acquire a 25% interest in the special purpose entity formed to acquire these interests at cost. On June
28, 2007, SHC exercised this option, paying the option exercise price through the application of their $3.0 million
deposit plus the assumption of its proportionate share of SHP’ liabilities giving it a 25% non-managing membership
interest in SHP,

OBI Management Agreement

Pursuant to a Theater Management Agreement (the “Management Agreement™), our live theater operations are
managed by OBI LLC (“OBI Management”), which is wholly owned by Ms. Margaret Cotter who is the daughter of James
I. Cotter and a member of our Board of Directors.

The Management Agreement generally provides that we will pay OBI Management a combination of fixed and
incentive fees, which historically have equated to approximately 21% of the net cash flow received by us from our live
theaters in New York. Since the fixed fees are applicable only during such periods as the New York theaters are booked,
OBI Management receives no compensation with respect to a theater at any time when it is not generating revenue for
us. This arrangement provides an incentive to OBI Management to keep the theaters booked with the best available
shows, and mitigates the negative cash flow that would result from having an empty theater In addition, OBI
Management manages our Royal George live theater complex in Chicago on a fee basis based on theater cash flow. In
2013, OBI Management eamed $401,000, which was 20.1% of net cash flows for the year. In 2012, OBI Management
earned $390,000, which was 19.7% ofnet cash flows for the year. In 2011, OBI Management earned $398,000, which was
19.4% ofnet cash flows for the year. In each year, we reimbursed travel related expenses for OBI Management personnel
with respect to travel between New York City and Chicago in connection with the management of the Royal George
complex.

OBI Management conducts its operations from our office facilities on a rent-free basis, and we share the cost of
one administrative employee of OBI Management. Other than these expenses and travel-related expenses for OBI
Management personnel to travel to Chicago as referred to above, OBI Management is responsible for all of its costs and
expenses related to the performance of its management functions. The Management Agreement renews automatically
each year unless either party gives at least six months’ prior notice of its determination to allow the Management
Agreement to expire. In addition, we may terminate the Management Apreement at any time for cause.

Live Theater Play Investment

From time to time, our officers and directors may invest in plays that lease our live theaters. The play STOMP
has been playing in our Orpheum Theatre since prior to the time we acquired the theater in 2001. Messrs. James I. Cotter
and Michael Forman own an approximately 3% interest in that play, an interest that they have held since prior to our
acquisition ofthe theater.

Shadow View Land and Farming .I.C

During 2012, Mr. James J. Cotter, our Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and controlling shareholder, contributed $2.5
million of cash and $255,000 of his 2011 bonus as his 50% share of the purchase price of a land parcel in Coachella,
Califomia and to cover his 50% share of certain costs associated with that acquisition. This land is held in Shadow View
Land and Farming, LLC, in which Mr. Cotter owns a 50% interest. We are the managing member of Shadow View Land
and Farming, LLC (see Note 20 — Noncontrolling Interests).
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Note 26 — Casualty Loss

Wellington. New Zealand Parking Structure

On July 21,2013, Wellington, New Zealand experienced a strong earthquake that damaged our parking structure
adjacent to our Courtenay Central shopping center The parking structure has been closed pending repairs to the
structure. We estimate the cost to repair the structure will be approximately $2.0 million (NZ$2.5 million) of which our
earthquake insurance will cover approximately $1.5 million (NZ$1.8 million) after our $584,000 (NZ$710,000) insurance
deductible. For the vear ended December 31, 2013, we recorded a casualty loss of $49,000 (NZ$59,000) based on the
associated net book value of the property as an other income (expense) and a $1.5 million (NZ$1.8 million) insurance
receivable in our current receivables at December 31, 2013. Our reduction in operating income will also be offset
somewhat by our business interruption insurance subject to the relevant deductible.

Christchurch, New Zealand Cinemas

Our 8-screen complex in Christchurch, New Zealand, was damaged as a result of the devastating earthquake
suffered by that city on February 22, 2011. We have earthquake and lost profits insurance on that facility for which we
have received to date $1.1 million (NZ$1.3 million) which is included in our 2011 other income (expense). We are
awaiting a final settlement pavment on this claim for a nominally estimated amount to be received in 2014. This cinema
was reopened on November 17, 2011, but, as a result of a December 23, 2011 earthquake, the cinema was again
temporarily closed for approximately two weeks.

Additionally, the 3-screen complex in Christchurch, New Zealand owned by our Rialto Cinemas joint venture
entity (“Rialto Cinemas™), was damaged as a result of the devastating earthquake suffered by that city on February 22,
2011, and has been closed since that date. Pursuant to the lease on the property, in May 2011, Rialto Cinemas gave
notice to the landlord that Rialto Cinemas would be terminating the cinema lease. Rialto Cinemas and the landlord have
terminated the lease under agreeable terms and did not result in a significant reduction to the value of our investment in
the Rialto Cinemas joint venture relative to its carrying value.
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Schedule IT — Valuation and Qualifving Accounts

Additions
Balance at charged to
beginning of costs and Balance at
Description year expenses Deductions end of year
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Year-ended December 31,2013 — Allowance for
doubtful accounts 5 209 % 505 § 339 % 375
Year-ended December 31,2012 — Allowance for
doubtful accounts $ 53 % 367 § 211 % 209
Year-ended December 31,2011 — Allowance for
doubtful accounts $ 58 § 153 § 158 § 53
Tax valuation allowance
Year-ended December 31,2013 — Tax valuation
allowance $ 37,903 § -8 2,920 $ 34,983
Year-ended December 31,2012 — Tax valuation
allowance $ 38461 § - % 558 % 37,903
Year-ended December 31,2011 — Tax valuation
allowance $ 54513 § - 8 16,052 § 38,461
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None.
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Item 9A — Conirols and Procedures

Management’s Report on Internal Contrel Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting, as such term is defined in Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f), including maintenance of
(i) records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets, and
(ii) policies and procedures that provide reasonable assurance that (a) transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of finaneial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America, (b) our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and our
Board of Directors and (c) we will prevent or timely detect unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of our assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Internal control over financial reporting cannot provide absolute assurance of achieving financial reporting
objectives because of the inherent limitations of any system of internal control. Intemal control over financial reporting
is a process that involves human diligence and compliance and is subject to lapses of judgment and breakdowns resulting
from human failures. Internal control over financial reporting also can be circumvented by collusion or improper
overriding of controls. As a result of such limitations, there is risk that material misstatements may not be prevented or
detected on a timely basis by internal control over financial reporting. However, these inherent limitations are known
features ofthe financial reporting process. Therefore, it is possible to design into the process safeguards to reduce, though
not eliminate, this risk.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting
based on the criteria established in Mmternal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations (COSO) of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under the COSO framework, our
management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2013. The
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013 has been audited by Grant Thornton
LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which is included herein.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We have formally adopted a policy for disclosure controls and procedures that provides guidance on the
evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures and is designed to ensure that all corporate disclosure is complete and
accurate in all material respects and that all information required to be disclosed in the periodic reports submitted by us
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods and
in the manner specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and
procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by an issuer in the reports that it files or submits under the Act is accumulated and communicated to the issuer's
management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. As ofthe end ofthe period covered by this report, we
carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures. A disclosure committee consisting of'the
principal accounting officer, general counsel, senior officers of each significant business line and other select employees
assisted the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer in this evaluation. Based upon that evaluation, our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective
as required by the Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d — 15(e) as of the end of the period covered by this
report.

Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

No changes in intemal control over financial reporting occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2013,
that have materially affected, or are likely to materially affect, our intemal control over financial reporting.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Reading International, Inc.

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Reading Intemational, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31,2013, based on criteria established in the 1992 Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of intemal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s intemal control over
finanecial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of intemal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s intemal control over financial reporting includes
those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance ofrecords that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispesitions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection
of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, intemal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on criteria established in the 1992 Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2013
and ourreport dated March 7, 2014 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

fs/  Grant Thornton LLP
Los Angeles, California
March 7,2014
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PART II1
Items 10,11,12.13 and 14

Information required by Part II (Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14) of this From 10-K is hereby incorporated by
reference from the Reading Intemational, Inc.’s definitive Proxy Statement for its 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders,
which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, pursuant to Regulation 14A, not later than 120 days
after the end ofthe fiscal year.
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PART IV
Item 15 — Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a) The following documents are filed as a part of this report:

l. Financial Statements

The following financial statements are filed as part of this report under Item 8 — Financial Siatements and
Supplementary Data.

Description
Reports of Independent Registered Accounting Firm (page 55)

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,2013 and 2012 (page 56)

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Three Years Ended December 31,2013 (page 57)

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the Three Years Ended December 31,2012 (page 58)
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders” Equity for the Three Years Ended December 31,2013 (page 59)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Three Years Ended December 31,2013 (page 60)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (page 61)

2. Financial Statements and Schedules for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011
Schedule II- Valuation and Qualifving Accounts (page 102)
Financial Statements of Mt. Gravatt Cinemas Joint Venture (page 108)

3. Exhibits (Listed by numbers corresponding to Item 601 of Regulation S-K (page 125)
(b) Exhibits Required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K

See Item (a) 3. above.
(c) Financial Statement Schedule

See Item (a) 2. above.
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Following are financial statements and notes of Mt. Gravatt Cinemas Joint Venture for the periods indicated. We are
required to include in our Report on Form 10-K audited financial statements for the years ended December 31,2012, and
2011. The financial statements for 2013 are unaudited.

Mt. Gravatt Cinemas Joint Venture
Statements of Comprehensive Income
For the Years Ended December 31,2013,2012 and 2011

2013

n AUSS Note (unaudited) 2012 2011
Revenue from rendering services 5 $ 9,765,087 $ 10,689,440 $ 10,022,854
Revenue from sale of concession 3,605,822 4,015,329 3,625,410

Total revenue 13,370,909 14,704,769 13,648,264
Film expenses (3,797,873) 4,311,436) (3,974,267)
Personnel expenses 6 (1,681.,870) (1,845,515) (1,925,190)
Occupancy expenses (1,603,302) (1,584,751) (1,521,307)
House expenses (1,174,667) (1,260,328) (1,159,484)
Cost of concession (853,553) (944,355) (851,573)
Depreciation and amortization expenses 11 (544.,270) (597,349) (555,594)
Advertising and marketing costs (285,815) (313,791) (334,325)
Management fees (267,902) (261,004) (253,914)
Repairs and maintenance expense (155,198) (217,289) (182,566)

Results for operating activities 3,006459 3368951 2,890,042
Finance income 11,922 21,256 58,301

Net finance income 7 11,922 21,256 58,301
Profit for the period $ 3,018,381 $ 3390207 § 2948343
Other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income for the period -- -- --
Total comprehensive income for the period $ 3,018,381 5 3,390,207 5 2.948,343

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Mt. Gravatt Cinemas Joint Venture
Statements of Changes in Equity
For the Years Ended December 31,2013,2012 and 2011

Birch Village
Carroll & Reading Roadshow

Coyle Exhibition Exhibition
In AUS$ Limited Pty Lid Pty Ltd Total
Members® Equity at December 31,2010 $ 1297924 § 1297924 § 1297924 § 3893772
Member distributions (700,000) (700,000) (700,000)  (2,100,000)
Total other comprehensive income - - - --
Profit for the period 982,781 982,781 982,781 2,948,343
Total comprehensive income for the period 982,781 982,781 982,781 2,948,343
Members’ Equity at December 31,2011 $ 1,580,705 $§ 1,580,705 $ 1,580,705 § 4,742,115
Member distributions (1,350,000) (1,350,000) (1,350,000) (4,050,000)
Total other comprehensive income - - - -
Profit for the period 1,130,069 1,130,069 1,130,069 3,390,207
Total comprehensive income for the period 1,130,069 1,130,069 1,130,069 3,390,207
Members’ Equity at December 31,2012 $ 1360774 $ 1360774 § 1360774 $ 4082322
Member distributions (unaudited) (1,100,000) (1,100,000) (1,100,000) (3,300,000)
Total other comprehensive income (unaudited) - - - --
Profit for the period (unaudited) 1,006,127 1,006,127 1,006,127 3,018,381
Total comprehensive income for the period (unaudited) 1,006,127 1,006,127 1,006,127 3018381

Members’ Equity at December 31,2013 (unaudited) $ 1266901 § 1266901 § 1266901 § 3,800,703

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Mt. Gravatt Cinemas Joint Venture
Statements of Financial Position
As atDecember 31,2013 and 2012

2013
In AUSS Note (unaudited) 2012
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 8 h 694,392 $ 898,217
Trade receivables 9 172,293 196,598
Inventories 10 126,947 173411
Total current assets 993,632 1,268,226
Property, plant and equipment 11 3,681,951 3,923,871
Total non-current assets 3,681,951 3,923,871
Total assets $ 4,675,583 $  5,192097
Trade and other payables 12 A 636,832 $ 878,026
Employee benefits 13 172,496 162,961
Deferred revenue 14 32,297 27,683
Total current liabilities 841,625 1,068,670
Employee benefits 13 33.255 41,105
Total non-current liabilities 33,255 41,105
Total liabilities 874,880 1,109,775
Net assels $ 3,800,703 $ 4082322
Equity
Contributed equity 202,593 202,593
Retained earnings 3,598,110 3,879,729
Total equity $ 3,800,703 $ 4082322

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Mt. Gravatt Cinemas Joint Venture
Statements of Cash Flows
For the Years Ended December 31,2013,2012 and 2011

2013
m AUS§ Note (unaudited) 2012 2011
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipts from customers § 14986613 § 16,091,198 § 14,889,678
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (11,600,009) (11,971,304)  (11,450,521)
Net cash provided from operating activities 18 3,386,604 4,119,894 3439,157
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 11 (302,351) (783,266) (1,309,432)
Interest received 7 11922 21,256 58,301
Net cash used in investing activities (290,429 (762,010) (1,251,131)
Cash flows from financing activities
Distributions to Joint Venturers (3,300,000) (4,050,000) (2,100,000)
Net cash used in financing activities (3.300,000) (4,050,000) (2,100,000)
Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (203,825) (692,116) 88,024
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January B98217 1,590,333 1,502,309
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 8 $ 694392 § 898,217 & 1,590,333

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Mt. Gravatt Cinemas Joint Venture
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31,2013

1. Reporting entity

Mt. Gravatt Cinemas Joint Venture (the “Joint Venture”) is a legal joint venture between Birch Carrol & Coyle
Ltd, Reading Exhibition Pty Ltd and Village Roadshow Exhibition Pty Ltd. The Joint Venture is domiciled and provides
services solely in Australia. The address of the Joint Venture’s registered office is 227 Elizabeth Street, Sydney NSW
2000. The Joint Venture primarily is involved in the exhibition of motion pictures at one cinema site.

The joint venture is to continue in existence until the Joint Venture is terminated and associated underlying
assets have been sold and the proceeds of sale distributed upon agreement of the members. All distributions of earnings
are required to be agreed upon and distributed evenly to the three Joint Venturers. The three Joint Venturers will evenly
contribute any future required contributions.

2. Basis of presentation

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance
with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

The financial year end ofthe Joint Venture is 30 June. For purposes of the use of these financial statements by
one of the Joint Venturers, these financial statements have been prepared on a 12-month period basis ending on 31
December.

(b) Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. The methods used to measure fair values are
discussed further in Note 4, Determination of fair values.

(c) Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is also the Joint Venture’s functional
cumrency. Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar, unless otherwise stated.

(d) Use of estimates and judgments
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of' accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,

income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements are
described in Note 15 Financial instruments.

3. Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial
statements.

The Joint Venture has not elected to early adopt any accounting standards and amendments. See Note 3(n).
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(a) Financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents, and trade payables.

Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value plus, for instruments not at fair value
through profit or loss, any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition non-derivative
finanecial instruments are measured as described below.

A financial instrument is recognised if the Joint Venture becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Financial assets are derecognised if the Joint Venture’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial
assets expire or if the Joint Venture transfers the financial asset to another party without retaining control or substantially
all risks and rewards of the asset. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are accounted for at trade date, i.c.,
the date that the Joint Venture commits itself to purchase or sell the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised if the
Joint Venture’s obligations specified in the contract expire, are discharged or cancelled.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Joint Venture’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose ofthe statement of cash flows.

Accounting for finance income and expense is discussed in Note 3(k), Finance income.
(b) Property, plant and equipment
(i) Recognition and measurement
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-
constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the
asset to a working condition for its intended use. Costs also may include purchases of property, plant and
equipment. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part ofthat
equipment. Borrowing costs related to the acquisition or construction of qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

(ii) Subsequent costs

The cost ofreplacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount ofthe
item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Joint Venture and its cost
can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing
of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

(iii) Depreciation

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of
an item of property, plant and equipment. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter ofthe lease term and their useful
lives. Land isnot depreciated.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Leasehold improvementsShorter of estimated useful life and term of lease
Plant and equipment3 to 20 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial vear end and adjusted if
appropriate.
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(c) Leased assets

Leases in which the Joint Venture assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as
finance leases. Upon initial recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower ofits fair value and
the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in
accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.

Other leases are operating leases and are not recognised on the Joint Venture’s statement of financial position.
(d) Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on the
first-in first-out principle, and includes expenditure incumed in acquiring the inventories, and other costs incurred in
bringing them to their existing location and condition. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.

(¢) Impairment
(i) Financial assets

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is
impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset, and that loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can
be estimated reliably.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference
between its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective
interest rate. Losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance against the relevant asset. When a
subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through
profit orloss.

(ii) Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Joint Venture’s non-financial assets, other than inventories, are reviewed at each
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists then the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less
costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments ofthe time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any
indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or
amortisation, ifno impairment loss had been recognised.
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(f) Employee benefits
(i) Long-term employee benefits

The Joint Venture’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit that
employees have eamed in return for their service in the cument and prior periods plus related on-costs; that benefit is
discounted to determine its present value and the fair value of any related assets is deducted.

(ii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the Joint Venture is demonstrably committed, without
realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal retirement
date, or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination
benefits for voluntary redundancies are recognised as an expense if the Joint Venture has made an offer of voluntary
redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and the number of acceptances can be estimated reliably.

(iii) Short-term benefits

Liabilities for employee benefits for wages, salaries, and annual leave represent present obligations resulting
from employees’ services provided to reporting date and are calculated at undiscounted amounts based on remuneration
wage and salary rates that the Joint Venture expects to pay as at reporting date including related on-costs, such as workers
compensation insurance and payroll tax.

(g) Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Joint Venture has a present legal or constructive
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

(h) Contributed equity

The Joint Venture is comprised of three parties who share an equal ownership over the Joint Venture. The
Contributed Equity amount represents the initial investment in the partnership. Distribution to the partners are made on
behalf of the Joint Venture and are recognised through retained earnings.

(i) Revenue
Rendering of service/sale of concessions

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of returns, trade discounts
and value rebates. Revenues are generated principally through admissions and concession sales with proceeds received
in cash at the point of sale. Service revenue also includes product advertising and other ancillary revenues, such as
booking fees, which are recognised as income in the period earned. The Joint Venture recognises payments received
attributable to the advertising services provided by the Joint Venture under certain vendor programs as revenue in the
period in which services are delivered.

(j) Lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term ofthe
lease on a basis that is representative of the pattem ofbenefit derived from the leased property.

(k) Finance income

Finance income comprises interest income on cash held in financial institutions. Interest income is recognised as
it accrues in profit or loss using the effective interest method.
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(I) Taxes
(i) Goods and service tax

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where the
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as
part ofthe cost of acquisition of'the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from,
or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows
arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as
operating cash flows.

(ii) Income tax

Under applicable Australian law, the Joint Venture is not subject to tax on carnings generated. Accordingly the
Joint Venture does not recognise any income tax expense, or deferred tax balances. Eamings of the Joint Venture are
taxed at the Joint Venturer level.

(m) Film expense

Film expense is incurred based on a contracted percentage of box office results for each film. The Joint Venture
negotiates terms with each film distributor on a film-by-film basis. Percentage terms are based on a sliding scale, with the
Joint Venture subject to a higher percentage of box office results when the film is initially released and declining each
subsequent week. Different films have different rates dependent upon the expected popularity of the film, and forecasted
success.

(n) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

The Joint Venture does not consider that any standards of interpretations issued by [IASB or the [IFRIC, either
applicable in the current year or not yet applicable, have, or will have, a significant impact on the financial statements.

(o) Amounts paid or payable to the auditor
The amounts paid or payable to the auditor for the audit of these financial statements has been borne by one of

the Joint Venturers for which these financial statements have been prepared. The auditor provided non-audit service in
the current period to the value 0£$19,700 (unaudited).
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2013
In AUSS (unaudited) 2012

Audit fees h - 5 57,500

4. Determination of fair values

A number of the Joint Venture’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for
both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and disclosure
purposes based on the following methods. Where applicable, further information about the assumptions made in
determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.

(i) Trade and other receivables

The fair value oftrade and other receivables is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at
the market rate of interest at the reporting date.

(ii) Non-derivative financial liabilities

Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future
principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.

5. Revenue from rendering of services

2013
In AUSS (unaudited) 2012 2011
Box office revenue 8,526341 9,508,154 92,019,423
Screen advertising 331472 286,501 249,524
Booking fees 218,025 268,180 200,017
Other cinema services 689249 626,605 553,890
$ 9,765087 % 10689440 $ 10,022,854
6. Personnel expenses
2013
n AUSS (unaudited) 2012 2011
Wages and salaries 1.603,620 1,767,789 1,846,267
Change in liability for annual leave 56,011 65,274 57,628
Change in liability for long-service leave 22,239 12,452 21,295
$ 1,681,870 § 1,845,515 § 1,925,190
7. Finance income
2013
In AUSS (unaudited) 2012 2011
Interest income on cash at bank: 11922 21,256 58,301
$ 11,922 % 21,256 % 58,301
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8. Cash and cash equivalents

2013
m AUSS Note (unaudited) 2012
Cash at bank and on hand 15 694,392 898,217
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 694392 § 898,217

The Joint Venture’s exposure to interest rate risk is disclosed in Note 15(e), Financial instruments, Market visk.

9. Trade and other receivables

2013
I AUS§ Note (unaudited) 2012
Trade receivables 15 172,293 196,598
172,293 § 196,598

The Joint Venture’s trade receivables relate mainly to the Joint Venture’s screen advertiser and credit card

companies.

The Joint Venture’s exposure to credit risk and impairment losses related to trade receivables is disclosed in Note

15(c), Financial instruments, Credit visk.

10. Inventories

2013
In AUS§ (unaudited) 2012
Concession stores at cost 126,947 173,411
5 126,947 § 173,411
11. Property, Plant, and Equipment
Plant and Leasehold
n AUS§ Equipment Improvements Capital WIP Total
Cost
Balance at January 1,2012 10,458,263 2,787,784 242 446 13,488,493
Additions -- - 783,266 783,266
Transfers 94,123 4,900 (99,023) --
Balance at December 31,2012 $ 10,552386 § 2,792,684 926689 § 14271,759
Balance at January 1,2013 (unaudited) 10,552,386 2,792,684 926,689 14,271,759
Additions (unaudited) 1,106,833 118,843 - 1,225,676
Transfers (unaudited) -- -- (923,325) (923,325)
Balance at December 31,2013 (unaudited) $ 11,659219 § 2,911,527 3364 § 14,574,110
Plant and Leasehold
n AUSS Equipment Improvements Capital WIP Total
Accumulated depreciation
Balance at January 1,2012 (8,688,701) (1,061,838) - (9,750,539)
Depreciation and amortisation (492.890) (104,459 - (597,349

Balance at December 31,2012

$  (9,181,591)

$  (1,166,297) §

$ (10,347,888)
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Balance at January 1,2013 (unaudited) (9,181,591) (1,166,297) - (10,347 888)

Depreciation and amortisation (unaudited) (436,407) (L07.,864) -- (544.271)

Balance at December 31, 2013 (unaudited) 8  (9,617.998) § (1,274,161) § - § (10,892,159)
Plant and Leasehold

In AUSS Equipment Improvements Capital WIP Total

Carrying amounts

At January 1,2012 $ 1,769,563 § 1,725,946 $ 242446 § 3,737,955

At December 31,2012 1,370,795 1,626,387 926,689 3,923,871

At January 1,2013 (unaudited) 1,370,795 1,626,387 926,689 3,923,871

At December 31,2013 (unaudited) 2,041,221 1,637,366 3,364 3,681,951

12. Trade and other payables

2013
In AUSS Note (unaudited) 2012
Trade payables 221,732 413,082
Non-trade pavables and accruals 415,100 464,944
15 3 636,832 % 878,026

The Joint Venture’s exposure to liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed in Note 15(d),
Financial insiruments, Liquidity risk. Trade payables represents payments to trade creditors. The Joint Venture makes
these payments through the managing party’s shared service centre and is charged a management fee for these
services. Disclosureregarding the management fee is made in Note 19, Related parties.

13. Employee benefits
Current

2013
m AUS§ (unaudited) 2012
Liability for annual leave 96,527 102,540
Liability forlong-service leave 75,969 60,421

$ 172,496 $ 162,961

Non-cumrent

2013
In AUSS (unaudited) 2012
Liability for long-service leave 33,255 41,105
$ 33,255 § 41,105
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14. Deferred revenue

2013
m AUSS (unaudited) 2012
Deferred revenue 32,297 27,683
3 32,297 $ 27,683

Deferred revenue mainly consists of advance funds received from vendors for the exclusive rights to supply
certain concession items. Revenue is recognised over the term of the related contract on a straight-line basis and is
classified as service revenue.

15. Financial instruments
(a) Overview

This note presents information about the Joint Venture’s exposure to financial risks, its objectives, policies, and
processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital.

The Joint Venture’s activities expose it to the following financial risks;

. credit risk;
. liquidity risk; and
. market risk.

(b) Risk management framework

The Joint Venturers’ have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management
framework and are also responsible for developing and monitoring risk management policies.

Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Joint Venture to set
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems
are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Joint Venture’s activities. The Joint Venture,
through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control
environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Joint Venturers’ oversee how management monitors compliance with the Joint Venture’s risk management
policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the
Toint Venture.

There were no changes in the Joint Venture’s approach to capital management during the year.
(c) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the JToint Venture if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument
fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Joint Venture’s receivables from customers.

The Joint Ventures exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. The demographics of'the Joint Venture’s customer base, including the default risk of the industry and country,
in which customers operate, has less of an influence on credit risk.

Customers that are graded as “high risk™ are placed on a restricted customer list, and monitored by the Joint
Venturers.

The Joint Venture operates under the managing Joint Venturer’s credit policy under which each new customer is
analysed individually for creditworthiness before the Joint Venture’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions
are offered. The Joint Venture’s review includes external ratings, when available, and in some
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cases bank references.  Purchase limits are established for each customer. These limits are reviewed
periodically. Customers that fail to meet the Joint Venture’s benchmark creditworthiness may transact with the Joint
Venture only on a prepayment basis.

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of the Joint Venture’s financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The Joint
Venture’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

Carrying Amount

2013
In AUS§ Note (unaudited) 2012
Trade receivables 9 h 172,293 % 196,598
Cash and cash equivalents 8 694,392 898,217

The Joint Venture’s maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by type of
customer was:

Carrying Amount

2013
m AUSS (unaudited) 2012
Screen advertisers 109,310 72,181
Credit card companies 56,537 114,418
Games, machine and merchandising companies 6,446 9,999

$ 172,293 8 196,508

Impairment losses

None ofthe Company’s trade receivables are past due (2012: $nil). There were no allowances for impairment at
31 December 2013 (unaudited) or 2012.

(d) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Joint Venture will encounter difficulties in meeting its financial obligations as
they fall due. The Joint Venture’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incuming
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Joint Venture’s reputation.

The only financial liabilities are trade and other payables all of which are contractually due within 12
months. The carrying value ofsuch liabilities at 31 December 2013 is $636,830 (unaudited) and 2012: $878,026.

(e) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, will affect the Joint Venture’s
income. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable
parameters, while optimising the return. The Joint Venture is not subject to market risks relating to foreign exchange rates
or equity prices. Furthermore, the Joint Venture does not use derivative, financial instruments to hedge fluctuations in
interest rates.

Interest rate risk

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Joint Venture’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:
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Variable rate instruments Carrying amount

2013
m AUSS (unaudited) 2012
Cash at bank $ 694392 § 855,715

The Joint Venture held no fixed rate instruments during financial years 2013 (unaudited) or 2012.

(f) Fair values
Fair values versus carrying amounts

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement of
financial position, are as follows:

2013
(unaudited) 2012
Carrying Carrying
In AUSS amount Fair valuoe amount Fair value
Trade receivables $ 172,293 § 172,293 § 196,598 § 196,598
Cash and cash equivalents 694392 694392 898,217 898,217
Trade and other payables 636,830 636,830 R78,026 878,026

The basis for determining fair values is disclosed in Note 4, Determination of fair values.
(g) Capital

Capital consists of contributed equity and retained earnings. The contributed equity amount represents the
initial investment in the partnership. The Managing Committee’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to
maintain creditor confidence and to sustain future development of the business. There were no externally imposed capital
requirements during the financial years 2013 (unaudited) or 2012.

16. Operating leases
Leases as lessee

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

2013
m AUSS (unaudited) 2012
Less than one year 1,277,755 1,277,754
Between one and five years 5,083,014 5,111,016
More than five years -- 1,225,244
Total $ 6,360,769 § 7,614,014

The Joint Venture leases the cinema property under a long term operating lease.
17. Contingencies and capital commitments

The nature of the Joint Venture’s operations results in ¢laims for personal injuries (including public liability and
workers compensation) being received from time to time. As at period end there were no material current or ongoing
outstanding claims.
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The Joint Venture has no capital commitments at 31 December 2013 (unaudited); (2012: $nil).

18. Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activifies

2013
In AUSS Note (unaudited) 2012 2011
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the period 3,018,381 3,390,207 2,948,343
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 11 544271 597349 555,594
Interest received 7 (11,922) (21,256) (58,301)
Operaling profit before changes in working capital $ 3,550,730 § 3966300 § 3445,636
Change in trade receivables 9 24,305 (53,110) (53,892)
Change in inventories 10 46,464 (19,512) 81,620
Change in trade and other payables 12 (241,194) 220,135 7,388
Change in employee benefits 13 1,685 17,466 9,195
Change in deferred revenue 14 4614 (L1,385) (50,790)
Net cash from operating activities $ 3386604 § 4,119,894 § 3,439,157
19. Related parties

Entities with joint control or significant influence over the Joint Venture.

The managing Joint Venturer is paid an annual management fee, which is presented separately in the statement
of comprehensive income. The management fee paid is as per the Joint Venture agreement and is to cover the costs of
managing and operating the cinema complex and providing all relevant accounting and support services. The
management fee is based on a contracted base amount, increased by the Consumer Price Index for the City of Brisbane as
published by the Australian Bureau of Statistics on an annual basis. Such management fee agreement is binding over the
life of the agreement which shall continue in existence until the Joint Venture is terminated under agreement by the Joint
Venturers.

As 0f 31 December 2013 (unaudited) the management fee payable was $26,040 (2012: Nil).
20. Subsequent events

Subsequent to 31 December 2013 (unaudited), there were no events which would have a material effect on these
financial statements.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

The Management Committee and Joint Venturers
Mt. Gravatt Cinemas Joint Venture:

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Mt. Gravatt Cinemas Joint Venture, which comprise the
statement of financial position as of December 31, 2012 and the related statements of comprehensive income, changes in
equity, and cash flows for the years ended December 31,2012 and 2011, and the related notes to the financial statements.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity's intemal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation ofthe financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Mt. Gravatt Cinemas Joint Venture as of December 31, 2012 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the
vears ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board.

/s/ KPMG
Sydney, Australia
March 4,2013
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Exhibits

3.1 Certificate of Amendment and Restatement of Articles of Incorporation of Reading International, Inc., a
Nevada corporation, as filed with the Nevada Secretary of State on May 22,2003 (filed as Exhibit 3.8 to
the Company’s report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2009, and incorporated herein by
reference).

321 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Reading Intemational, Inc., a Nevada corporation (filed as Exhibit 3.6
to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the vear ended December 31, 2004, and incorporated
herein by reference).

322 Amended Article V ofthe Amended and Restated Bylaws of Reading International, Inc. (filed as exhibit
3.2 to the Company’s report on Form 8-K dated December 27, 2007, and incorporated herein by
reference).

33 Articles of Merger of Craig Merger Sub, Inc. with and into Craig Corporation (filed as Exhibit 3.4 to the

Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December31,2001).

34 Articles of Merger of Reading Merger Sub, Inc. with and into Reading Entertainment, Ine. (filed as
Exhibit 3.5 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001).

4.1% 1999 Stock Option Plan of Reading Intemational, Inc., as amended on December 31, 2001 (filed as
Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 3-8 filed on January 21, 2004, and
incorporated herein by reference).

42 Form of Preferred Securities Certificate evidencing the preferred securities of Reading Intemational
Trust I (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s report on Form 8-K filed on February 9, 2007, and
incorporated herein by reference).

43 Form of Common Securities Certificate evidencing common securities of Reading International Trust I
(filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s report on Form 8-K filed on February 9, 2007, and incorporated
herein by reference).

4.4 Form of Reading International, Inc. and Reading New Zealand, Limited, Junior Subordinated Note due
2027 (filed as Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s report on Form B-K filed on February 9, 2007, and
incorporated herein by reference).

4.5 Form of Indenture (filed as Exhibit 4.4 to the Company’s report on Form S-3 on October 20, 2009, and
incorporated herein by reference).

4.6% 2010 Stock Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s report on Form S-8 on May 26, 2010,
and incorporated herein by reference).

4. 7% Form of Stock Option Agreement (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s report on Form S-8 on May 26,
2010, and incorporated herein by reference).

4.8% Form of Stock Bonus Agreement (filed as Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s report on Form 3-8 on May 26,
2010, and incorporated herein by reference).

4.9% Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (filed as Exhibit 4.4 to the Company’s report on Form S-8 on May
26,2010, and incomporated herein by reference).

4.10%* Form of Stock Appreciation Right Agreement (filed as Exhibit 4.5 to the Company’s report on Form S-8
on May 26,2010, and incorporated herein by reference).

4.11%* Amendment to the 2010 Stock Incentive Plan (filed as Appendix A of the Company’s proxy statement
on April 29,2011, and incomporated here by reference).

10.1* Employment Agreement, dated October 28, 1999, among Craig Corporation, Citadel Holding
Cormporation, Reading Entertainment, Inc., and Andrzej Matyczynski (filed as Exhibit 10.37 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999 and incorporated herein
by reference).

10.2 Amended and Restated Lease Agreement, dated as of July 28, 2000, as amended and restated as of
January 29, 2002, between Sutton Hill Capital, L.L.C. and Citadel Cinemas, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.40
to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,2002 and incorporated
herein by reference).
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10.3 Amended and Restated Citadel Standby Credit Facility, dated as of July 28, 2000, as amended and
restated as of JTanuary 29, 2002, between Sutton Hill Capital, L.L.C. and Reading International, Inc.
(filed as Exhibit 10.40 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2002 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.4 Amended and Restated Security Agreement dated as of July 28, 2000 as amended and restated as of
January 29, 2002 between Sutton Hill Capital, L.L.C. and Reading International, Inc. (filed as Exhibit
10.42 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 and
incorporated herein by reference).

10.5 Amended and Restated Pledge Agreement dated as of July 28, 2000 as amended and restated as of
January 29, 2002 between Sutton Hill Capital, L.L.C. and Reading International, Inc. (filed as Exhibit
10.43 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 and
incorporated herein by reference).

10.6 Amended and Restated Intercreditor Agresment dated as of July 28,2000 as amended and restated as of
January 29, 2002 between Sutton Hill Capital, L.L.C. and Reading International, Inc. and Nationwide
Theatres Corp. (filed as Exhibit 10.44 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31,2002 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.7 Guaranty dated July 28, 2000 by Michael R. Forman and James J. Cotter in favor of Citadel Cinemas,
Inc. and Citadel Realty, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.45 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.8 Theater Management Agreement, effective as January 1, 2002, between Liberty Theaters, Ine. and OBI
LLC (filed as Exhibit 10.47 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31,2002 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.9 Omnibus Amendment Agreement, dated as of October 22, 2003, between Citadel Cinemas, Inec., Sutton
Hill Capital, L.L.C., Nationwide Theatres Corp., Sutton Hill Associates, and Reading International, Inc.
(filed as Exhibit 10.49 to the Company’s report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2003,
and incorporated herein by reference).

10.10 Assignment and Assumption of Lease between Sutton Hill Capital L.L..C. and Sutton Hill Properties,
LLC dated as of September 19,2005 (filed as exhibit 10.56 to the Company’s report on Form 8-K filed
on September 21,2005, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.11 License and Option Agreement between Sutton Hill Properties, LLC and Sutton Hill Capital L.L.C.
dated as of September 19, 2005 (filed as exhibit 10.57 to the Company’s report on Form 8-K filed on
September 21, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.12 Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Master Operating Lease dated as of September 1, 2005
(filed as exhibit 10.58 to the Company’s report on Form R-K filed on September 21, 2005, and
incorporated herein by reference).

Purchase Agreement, dated February 5, 2007, among Reading International, Inc., Reading International
Trust I, and Kodiak Warehouse JPM LLC (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s report on Form 8-K
filed on February 9, 2007, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.14 Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust, dated February 5, 2007, among Reading International Inc.,
as sponsor, the Administrators named therein, and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as property trustee, and Wells
Fargo Delaware Trust Company as Delaware trustee (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s report on
Form 8-K dated February 5, 2007, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.15 Indenture among Reading Intemational, Inc., Reading New Zealand Limited, and Wells Fargo Bank,
N.A,, as indenture trustee (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s report on Form 8-K dated February 5,
2007, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.16%* Employment Agreement, dated December 28, 2006, between Reading International, Inc. and John
Hunter (filed as Exhibit 10.66 to the Company’s report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2006, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.17 Reading Guaranty Agreement dated February 21, 2008 among Consolidated Amusement Theatres, Inc.,
a Nevada corporation, General Electric Capital Corporation, and GE Capital Markets, Inc. (filed as
Exhibit 10.73 to the Company’s report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, and
incorporated herein by reference).

10.18 Pledge and Security Agreement dated February 22, 2008 by Reading Consolidated Holdings, Inc. in
favor of Nationwide Theatres Corp (filed as Exhibit 10.74 to the Company’s report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31,2007, and incorporated herein by reference).
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10.19 Promissory Note dated February 22, 2008 by Reading Consolidated Holdings, Inc. in favor of
Nationwide Theatres Corp. (filed as Exhibit 10.75 to the Company’s report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31,2007, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.20* Form of Indemnification Agreement, as routinely granted to the Company’s officers and directors (filed
as Exhibit 10.77 to the Company’s report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2008, and
incorporated herein by reference).

10.21 Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Master Operating Lease Agreement, dated June 29, 2010,
between Sutton Hill Capital, L.L.C. and Citadel Cinemas, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.21 to the Company’s
report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,2010, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.22 Amended and Restated Purchase Money Installment Sale Note, dated September 19, 2003, as amended
and restated as of June 29, 2010, by Sutton Hill Properties, LLC in favor of Sutton Hill Capital, L..I..C.
(filed as Exhibit 10.22 to the Company’s report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010,
and incorporated herein by reference).

10.23 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated February 21, 2008, as amended and restated as of
November 30,2010, among Consolidated Entertainment, Inc., General Electric Capital Cormporation, and
GE Capital Markets, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.23 to the Company’s report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31,2010, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.24 Bill Acceptance and Discount & Bank Guarantee Facility Agreement dated June 24, 2011, among
Reading Entertainment Australia Pty Ltd and National Australia Bank Limited (filed as Exhibit 10.24 to
the Company’s report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011, and incorporated herein by
reference).

10.25 Property Finance Wholesale Term Loan Facility dated June 20, 2007, among Reading Courtenay
Central Limited and Westpac New Zealand Limited (filed as Exhibit 10.25 to the Company’s report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.26 Letter dated May 6, 2009, amending Property Finance Wholesale Term Loan Facility dated June 20,
2007, among Reading Courtenay Central Limited and Westpac New Zealand Limited (filed as Exhibit
10.26 to the Company’s report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011, and incorporated
herein by reference).

10.27 Letter dated February 8, 2012, amending Property Finance Wholesale Term Loan Facility dated June 20,
2007, among Reading Courtenay Central Limited and Westpac New Zealand Limited (filed as Exhibit
10.27 to the Company’s report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011, and incorporated
herein by reference).

10.28 Amended and Restated Note dated June 28, 2012 among Sutton Hill Properties, LLC in favor of
Sovereign Bank, N.A., amending Promissory Note dated June 27, 2007, by Sutton Hill Properties, LLC
in favor of Eurohypo AG, New York Branch (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s report on Form 10-
Q for the period ended June 30,2012, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.29 Amended and Restated Mortgage, Assignment of Leases and Rents, Security Agreement, and Fixture
Filing (“Agreement”) dated June 28, 2012 among Sutton Hill Properties, LLC in favor of Sovereign
Bank, N.A., amending Agreement dated June 27, 2007, by Sutton Hill Properties, LLC in favor of
Eurohypo AG, New York Branch (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s report on Form 10-Q for the
period ended June 30,2012, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.30 Credit Agreement entered into as of October 31, 2012, among Consolidated Entertainment, LLC and
Bank of America (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s report on Form 8-K dated October 31, 2012,
and incorporated herein by reference).

10.31 Master Lease Agreement dated October 26, 2012, between Consolidated Cinema Services LLC and
Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC (filed herewith).

10.32 Amendment dated October 31, 2012 to the Master L.ease Agreement dated October 26, 2012, between
Consolidated Cinema Services LLC and Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC (filed herewith).

10.33 John Hunter Separation Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s report on Form 10-Q for the
period ended June 30, 201 3).

10.34 JTames I Cotter, I Employment Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s report on Form 10-Q
for the period ended June 30,2013).

21 List of Subsidiaries (filed herewith).

231 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, Grant Thornton LLP (filed herewith).

232 Consent of Independent Auditors, KPMG (filed herewith).
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31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer dated March 7, 2014 pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0f2002 (filed herewith).

31.2 Certification of Principal Finaneial Officer dated March 7, 2014 pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0of2002 (filed herewith).

321 Certification of Principal Executive Officer dated March 7, 2014 pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 ofthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).

322 Certification of Principal Financial Officer dated March 7,2014 pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 ofthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0of 2002 (filed herewith).

101.INS XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation

*These exhibits constitute the executive compensation plans and arrangements of the Company.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.
(Registrant)

Date:  March 7,2014 By: /s/ Andrzej Matvczynski
Andrzej Matyczynski
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title(s) Date
/s/ James I. Cotter Chairman of the Board and Director and Chief Executive Officer March 7,2014
Tames I. Cotter
/s/ Andrzej Matyczynski Principal Financial and Accounting Officer March 7,2014
Andrzej Matyczynski
/s/ Guy W. Adams Director March 7,2014
Guy Adams
/s/ Ellen M. Cotter Director March 7,2014
Ellen Cotter
/s/ James I. Cotter, Ir. Director March 7,2014
Tames I. Cotter, Ir.
/s/ Margaret Cotter Director March 7,2014
Margaret Cotter
/s/ William D. Gould Director March 7,2014
William D. Gould
/s/ Edward L. Kane Director March 7,2014
Edward L Kane
/s/ Douglas J. McEachem Director March 7,2014
Douglas I. McEachern
/s/ Tim Storey Director March 7,2014
Tim Storey
/s/ Alfred Villasefior Director March 7,2014
Alfred Villasefior
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CERTIFICATIONS
EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Tames I. Cotter, certify that:

1)
2)

3)

4)

3)

Thave reviewed this Form 10-K of Reading International, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the finanecial condition, results of operations and cash flows ofthe registrant as of, and
for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and [ are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and intemal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

¢) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness ofthe disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of'the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s intemal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifving officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s Board of Directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ James J. Cotter

James I. Cotter
Chief Executive Officer
March 7,2014
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EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Andrzej Matyczynski, certify that:

1) Thave reviewed this Form 10-K of Reading International, Inc.;

2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows ofthe registrant as of, and
for, the periods presented in this report;

4) The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and intemal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules [3a-15(f) and 15d-15(1)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

¢) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness ofthe disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end ofthe period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s intemal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

5) The registrant’s other certifving officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s Board of Directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other emplovees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s Andrzej Matvezynski

Andrzej Matyczynski
ChiefFinancial Officer
March 7,2014
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EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
(18 US.C. SECTION 1350)

In connection with the accompanying Annual Report of Reading International, Inc. (the “Company™) on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,2013 (the “Report™), I, JTames I. Cotter, Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 ofthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0£2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) ofthe Securities Exchange Act 0f 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company.

/s/ James J. Cotter

James I. Cotter
Chief Executive Officer
March 7,2014
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EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
(18 US.C. SECTION 1350)

In connection with the accompanying Annual Report of Reading International, Inc. (the “Company™) on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,2013 (the “Report™), [, Andrzej Matyczynski, Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 ofthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0£2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) ofthe Securities Exchange Act 0f 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Andrzej Matvezvnski

Andrzej Matyczynski
ChiefFinancial Officer
March 7,2014
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READING INTERNATIONAL, INC. — LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES
Subsidiary (Jurisdiction of Incorporation)

A.C.N. 143 633 096 Pty Ltd (Australia)

AHGP, Inc. (Delaware)

AHLP, Inc. (Delaware)

Angelika Film Center Mosaic, LLC (Nevada)
Angelika Film Centers (Dallas), Inc. (Texas)
Angelika Film Centers (Plano) LP (Nevada)
Angelika Plano Beverage LLC (Texas)

Australia Country Cinemas Pty Ltd (Australia)
Australian Equipment Supply Pty Ltd (Australia)
Bayou Cinemas LP (Delaware)

Bogart Holdings Ltd (New Zealand)

Burwood Developments Pty Ltd (Australia)
Carmel Theatres, LLC (Nevada)

Citadel Agriculture, Inc. (California)

Citadel Cinemas, Inc. (Nevada)

Citadel Realty, Inc. (Nevada)

City Cinemas, LLC (Nevada)

Consolidated Amusement Holdings, LLC (Nevada)
Consolidated Cinema Services, LL.C (Nevada)
Consolidated Cinemas Kapolei, LLC (New Zealand)
Consolidated Entertainment, LLC (Nevada)
Courtenay Car Park Ltd (New Zealand)

Craig Corporation (Nevada)

Damelle Entemprises Ltd (New Zealand)
Dimension Specialty, Inc. (Delaware)

Epping Cinemas Pty Ltd (Australia)

Gaslamp Theatres, LLC (Nevada)

Hope Street Hospitality, LL.C (Delaware)

Hotel Newmarket Pty Ltd (Australia)

Kaahumanu Cinemas, LLC (Nevada)

Kahala Cinema Company LL.C (Nevada)

Liberty Live, LLC (Nevada)

Liberty Theaters, LLC (Nevada)

Liberty Theatricals, LLC (Nevada)

Minetta Live, LL.C (Nevada)

Movieland Cinemas (NZ) Ltd (New Zealand)

New Zealand Equipment Supply Limited (New Zealand)
Newmarket Properties #3 Pty Ltd (Australia)
Newmarket Properties No. 2 Pty Ltd (Australia)
Newmarket Properties Pty Ltd (Australia)
Orpheum Live, LLC (Nevada)

Port Reading Co (New Jersey)

Queenstown Land Holdings Ltd (New Zealand)
RDI Employee Investment Fund LL.C (California)
Reading Arthouse Distribution Ltd (New Zealand)
Reading Auburm Pty Ltd (Australia)

Reading Australia Leasing (E&R) Pty Ltd (Australia)
Reading Belmont Pty Ltd (Australia)

Reading Capital Corporation (Delaware)

EXHIBIT 21
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Reading Center Development Corporation (Pennsylvania)
Reading Charlestown Pty Ltd (Australia)

Reading Cinemas Courtenay Central Ltd (New Zealand)
Reading Cinemas Management Pty Ltd (Australia)
Reading Cinemas NJ, Inc. (Delaware)

Reading Cinemas of Puerto Rico, Inc. (Puerto Rico)
Reading Cinemas Pty Ltd (Australia)

Reading Cinemas Puerto Rico LLC (Nevada)
Reading Cinemas USA LLC (Nevada)

Reading Colac Pty Ltd (Australia)

Reading Company (Pennsylvania)

Reading Consolidated Holdings (Hawaii), Inc. (Hawaii)
Reading Consolidated Holdings, Inc. (Nevada)
Reading Courtenay Central Limited (New Zealand)
Reading Dandenong Pty Ltd (Australia)

Reading Dunedin Limited (New Zealand)

Reading Elizabeth Pty Ltd (Australia)

Reading Entertainment Australia Pty Ltd (Australia)
Reading Exhibition Pty Ltd (Australia)

Reading Foundation, LTD (Nevada)

Reading Holdings, Inc. (Nevada)

Reading International Cinemas LLC (Delaware)
Reading International Services Company (California)
Reading Licenses Pty Ltd (Australia)

Reading Maitland Pty Ltd (Australia)

Reading Malulani, LLC (Nevada)

Reading Management NZ Limited (New Zealand)
Reading Melton Pty Ltd (Australia)

Reading Moonee Ponds Pty Ltd (Australia)

Reading Murrieta Theater, LLC (Nevada)

Reading New Lynn Limited (New Zealand)

Reading New Zealand Ltd (New Zealand)

Reading Pacific LLC (Nevada)

Reading Properties Indooroopilly Pty Ltd (Australia)
Reading Properties Lake Taupo Ltd (New Zealand)
Reading Properties Manukau Ltd (New Zealand)
Reading Properties New Zealand Ltd (New Zealand)
Reading Properties Pty Ltd (Australia)

Reading Properties Taringa Pty Ltd (Australia)
Reading Property Holdings Pty Ltd (Australia)
Reading Queenstown Ltd (New Zealand)

Reading Real Estate Company (Pennsylvania)
Reading Restaurants New Zealand Limited (New Zealand)
Reading Rouse Hill Pty Ltd (Australia)

Reading Royal George, LLC (Delaware)

Reading Sunbury Pty Ltd (Australia)

Reading Theaters, Inc. (Delaware)

Reading Wellington Properties Ltd (New Zealand)
Rhodes Peninsula Cinema Pty [.td (Australia)

Rialto Brands Ltd (New Zealand)

Rialto Cinemas Ltd (New Zealand)

Rialto Distribution Ltd (New Zealand)

Rialto Entertainment Ltd (New Zealand)

Ronwood Investments Ltd (New Zealand)

Rydal Equipment Co. (Pennsylvania)

S Note Liquidation Company, LL.C (Nevada)
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Sails Apartments Management Ltd (New Zealand)

Shadow View Land and Farming, LL.C (Nevada)

Sutton Hill Properties, LLC (Nevada)

Tobrooke Holdings Ltd (New Zealand)

Trans-Pacific Finance Fund [, LLC (Delaware)
Trenton-Princeton Traction Company (New Jersey)

Twin Cities Cinemas, Inc. (Delaware)

US Agricultural Investors, LLC (Delaware)

US Development, LLL.C (Nevada)

US International Property Finance Pty Ltd (Australia)
Washington and Franklin Railway Company (Pennsylvania)
Westlakes Cinema Pty Ltd (Australia)

Wilmington and Northern Railroad Company (Pennsylvania)
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EXHIBIT 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We have issued our reports dated March 7, 2014, with respect to the consolidated financial statements, schedule and
internal control over financial reporting included in the Annual Report of Reading Intemational, Inc. on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2013. We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference of said reports in the
Registration Statements of Reading Intemational, Inc on Form S-8 (File No. 333-36277) and on Form S-3 (File No. 333-
162581).

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP

Los Angeles, California
March 7, 2014
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EXHIBIT 23.2

Consent of Independent Auditor

The Management Committee and Joint Venturers

Mt. Gravatt Cinemas Joint Venture:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements No. 333-167101 on Form S-8 of Reading
International, Inc., of our report dated March 4, 2013 with respect to the statement of financial position of Mt. Gravatt
Cinemas Joint Venture as of December 31,2012 and the related statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity,

and cash flows for years ended December 31,2012 and 2011, which report appears in the December 31,2013, annual
report on Form 10-K of Reading Intemational, Inc.

/s/ KPMG

Sydney, Australia

March 7,2014
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EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, James J. Cotter, certify that:

1) I have reviewed this Form 10-K of Reading International, Inc.;

2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4) The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(¢)) and intemal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

b) designed such intemal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for extemal purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

¢) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that
has maternially affected, or is reasonably likely to matenally affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5) The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s Board of Directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of intemal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s intemal control over financial reporting.

7s/ James J. Cotter

James J. Cotter
ChielfExecutive Officer
March 7,2014

...........................................................................................................................................................................................................................
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EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Andrzej Matyczynski, certify that:

1) I have reviewed this Form 10-K of Reading International, Inc.;

2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4) The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(¢)) and intemal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

b) designed such intemal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for extemal purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

¢) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that
has maternially affected, or is reasonably likely to matenally affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5) The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s Board of Directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of intemal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s intemal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Andrze] Matvezynski

Andrzej Matyczynski
ChiefFinancial Officer
March 7,2014

...........................................................................................................................................................................................................................
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EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
(18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350)

In connection with the accompanying Annual Report of Reading International, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 (the “Report”), I, James J. Cotter, Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0f 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all matenal respects, the financial condition and
results of operations ofthe Company.

/s/ James J. Cotter

James J. Cotter
ChiefExecutive Officer
March 7,2014
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EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
(18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350)

In connection with the accompanying Annual Report of Reading Intemational, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 (the “Report™), [, Andrzej Matyczynski, Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0of2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act 0f1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all matenal respects, the financial condition and
results of operations ofthe Company.

/s/ Andrze] Matyezynski
Andrzej Matyczynski

ChiefFinancial Officer
March 7,2014

...........................................................................................................................................................................................................................
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EXHIBIT 22



Morningstar® Document Research™

FORMDEF 14A

READING INTERNATIONAL INC -RDI
Filed: April 25, 2014 (period: April 25, 2014)

Official notification to shareholders of matters to be brought to a vote (Proxy)

The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user
assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information, except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be
limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 14A
Proxy Statement Pursunant to Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act 0f 1934

Filed by the Registrant
Filed by a party other than the Registrant [

Check the appropriate box:
(1 Preliminary Proxy Statement
O Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))
Definitive Proxy Statement
O Definitive Additional Materals
(1 Soliciting Material under Sec. 240.14a-12

READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.
(Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter)

(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)
Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):
No fee required

[ Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11
(1) Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies:
(2) Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies:
(3) Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set
forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):
(4) Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction:

(5)Total fee paid:

O Fee paid previously with preliminary matenals.

[ Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which
the offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form
or Schedule and the date of its filing.

(1) Amount Previously Paid:

(2) Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:
(3)Filing Party:

(4) Date Filed:

...........................................................................................................................................................................................................................
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READING

IR TERHATICGHAL

READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.
6100 Center Drive, Suite 900
Los Angeles, California 90045

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS
TO BE HELD ON THURSDAY, MAY 15,2014

TO THE STOCKHOLDERS:

The 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Annual Meeting”) of Reading International, Inc., a Nevada
corporation, will be held at 6100 Center Dnive, Suite 900, Los Angeles, California 90045, on Thursday, May 15, 2014, at
11:00 a.m., local time, for the following purposes:

1. To elect nine Directors to our Board of Directors to serve until the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders;
2. To acton an advisory vote on executive compensation; and

3. To transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment or postponement
thereof.

A copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 201 3 is enclosed. Only
holders of our class B voting common stock at the close ofbusiness on April 17,2014 are entitled to notice of and to vote
at the meeting and any adjournment or postponement thereof.

If you hold shares of our class B voting common stock, you will have received a proxy card enclosed with this
notice. Whether or not you expect to attend the Annual Meeting in person, please complete, sign, and date the enclosed
proxy card and return it promptly in the accompanying postage-prepaid envelope to ensure that your shares will be
represented at the Annual Meeting.

By Order of the Board of Directors

A

L W »

TN RET
T e .r".*

James J. Cotter, Sr.
Chairman

April 25, 2014

PLEASE SIGN AND DATE THE ENCLOSED PROXY CARD AND MAIL IT PROMPTLY IN
THE ENCLOSED RETURN ENVELOPE TO ENSURE THAT YOUR VOTES ARE COUNTED.

...................................................................................................................................................................................
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READING

IR TERHATICGHAL

READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.
6100 Center Drive, Suite 900
Los Angeles, California 90045

PROXY STATEMENT

Annual Meeting of Stockholders
Thursday, May 15,2014

INTRODUCTION

This Proxy Statement is furnished in connection with the solicitation by the Board of Directors of Reading
International, Inc. (the “Company,” “Reading,” “we,” “us,” or “our”) of proxies for use at our 2014 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders (the “Annual Meeting”) to be held on Thursday, May 15, 2014, at 11:00 a.m., local time, at 6100 Center
Drive, Suite 900, Los Angeles, California, and at any adjournment or postponement thereof. This Proxy Statement and
form of proxy are first being sent or given to stockholders on or about April 25,2014,

At our Annual Meeting, you will be asked to (1) elect nine Directors to our Board of Directors to serve until the
2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, (2) act on an advisory vote on executive compensation, and (3) act on any other
business that may properly come before the Annual Meeting or any adjoumment or postponement of the Annual Meeting.

As of April 17, 2014, the record date for the Annual Meeting (the “Record Date”), there were outstanding
1,495,490 shares of our class B voting common stock (“Class B Stock™). James J. Cotter, Sr., our Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer, beneficially owned 1,123,888 shares of our Class B Stock on the Record Date, which shares represent a
majority of the outstanding voting rights of the Company. Accordingly, Mt Cotter, Sr. has the power, acting alone and
regardless of the vote of our other stockholders, to determine the outcome of each of the proposals on the agenda for the
Annual Meeting. Mz Cotter, Sr. has advised us that he intends to follow the recommendations of our Board of Directors
in casting his votes and to vote in favor of each ofthe proposals described 1n this Proxy Statement.

IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING THE AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIALS FOR THE STOCKHOLDERS
MEETING TO BE HELD ON MAY 15,2014 — This Proxy Statement, along with the proxy card, and our Annual Report to
Stockholders on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,2013 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
are available at our website, http://www.readingrdi.com, under “Investor Information.”
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VOTING AND PROXIES
Am I eligible to vote?

If you owned shares of Class B Stock on the Record Date, you are eligible to vote, and you should have received
a proxy card enclosed with this notice. If you own Class B Stock and did not receive a proxy card, please contact our
Corporate Secretary at (213)235-2240. Your shares of Class B Stock are entitled to one vote per share.

What if I own Class A Nonvoting Common Stock?

If you do not own any class B Stock, then you have received this proxy statement only for your
information. You and other holders of our class Anonvoting common stock (“Class A Stock™) have no voting rights with
respect to the matters to be voted on at the Annual Meeting.

How will my shares be voted if I am a stockholder of record?

If you are a stockholder of record and do not vote via the Intemet, by telephone or by retuming a signed proxy
card, your shares will not be voted unless you attend the Annual Meeting and vote your shares or designate some other
person to vote on your behalf by issuance to such person of a valid proxy and such person attends the meeting and votes
such shares on your behalf.

If you vote via the Intemet or telephone and do not specify contrary voting instructions, your shares will be
voted in accordance with the recommendations of our Board of Directors with respect to each of the Proposals. Similarly,
if you sign and submit your proxy card with no instructions, your shares will be voted in accordance with the
recommendations of our Board of Directors with respect to each of the Proposals.

If I am a beneficial owner of shares, can my brokerage firm vote my shares?

If you are a beneficial owner and do not vote via the Intemet, by telephone or by returning a signed voting
instruction card to your broker, your shares may be voted only with respect to so-called routine matters where your broker
has discretionary voting authority over your shares. Brokers will have no such discretionary authority to vote on any of
the Proposals. We encourage you, therefore, to provide instructions to your brokerage firm by returning the voting
instruction card provided by that broker.

How do I'vote in person?

If you are a stockholder of record, you may vote in person by attending the 2014 Annual Meeting.

If your shares are held in the name of a brokerage firm, bank nominee, or other institution, only it can give a
proxy with respect to your shares. Accordingly, if you want to vote in person, you will need to bring that proxy with you
to evidence your rights to vote such shares. If you do not have record ownership of your shares and want to vote in person
at the Annual Meeting, you must obtain a proxy from the record holder of your shares and bring it with you to the Annual
Meeting.

If I plan to attend the Annual Meeting, should I still submit a proxy?

Whether or not you plan to attend the Annual Meeting, we urge you to submit a proxy. Submission of a proxy
will not in any way affect your right to attend the Annual Meeting and vote in person.

What if I want to revoke my proxy?

You have the right to revoke your proxy at any time before it is voted on your behalfby:

1
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« submitting to our Corporate Secretary at our address at 6100 Center Drive, Suite 900, Los Angeles,
California 90045, prior to the commencement of the Annual Meeting, a duly executed instrument dated
subsequent to such proxy revoking the same;

¢ submitting a duly executed proxy bearing a later date; or

e attending the Annual Meeting and voting in person.
Proxy Solicitation and Expenses

In addition to the solicitation by mail, our employees may solicit proxies in person or by telephone, but no
additional compensation will be paid to them for such services. We will bear all the costs of soliciting proxies on behalf
of our Board of Directors and will reimburse persons holding shares in their own names or in the names of their nominees,
but not owning such shares beneficially, for the expenses of forwarding solicitation materials to the beneficial owners.
Quorum and Vote Required

The presence in person or by proxy of the holders of a majority of our outstanding shares of Class B Stock will
constitute a quorum at the Annual Meeting. Each share of our Class B Stock entitles the holder to one vote on all matters
to come before the Annual Meeting.

The following voting rights are associated with respect to the Proposals:

¢ Asto Proposal 1 regarding the election of Directors, you may vote “FOR” or “WITHHOLD” with respect to
all or any of the nominees.

e Asto Proposal 2 regarding the approval, by non-binding vote, of the compensation of our named executive
officers as disclosed in this proxy statement, you may vote “FOR,” “AGAINST” or “ABSTAIN.” If you clect
to abstain, it will have the same effect as an “AGAINST” vote.

An automated system administered by our transfer agent will tabulate votes cast by proxy at the Annual Meeting,
and the inspector of elections for the Annual Meeting will tabulate votes cast in person at the Annual Meeting.

Is my vote kept confidential?

Proxies, ballots and voting tabulations identifying stockholders are kept confidential and will not be disclosed
to third parties except as may be necessary to meet legal requirements.
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PROPOSAL 1: ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
Nominees for Election

Nine Directors are to be elected at our Annual Meeting to serve until the annual meeting of stockholders to be
held in 2015 or until their successors are elected and qualified. Unless otherwise instructed, the proxy holders will vote
the proxies received by us “FOR” the election of the nominees below, all of whom currently serve as Directors. The
nine nominees for election to the Board of Directors who receive the greatest number of votes cast for the election of
Directors by the shares present and entitled to vote will be elected Directors. If any nominee becomes unavailable for any
reason, it is intended that the proxies will be voted for a substitute nominee designated by the Board of Directors. We
believe the nominees named will be able to serve if elected.

The names ofthe nominees for Director, together with certain information regarding them, are as follows:

Name Age Position

James J. Cotter, Sr. 76 Chairmman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer (1)
James J. Cotter, Ir. 44 Vice Chairman of the Board(2)

Ellen M. Cotter 48 Director

Margaret Cotter 46 Director

Guy W. Adams 63 Director

William D. Gould 75 Director (3)

Edward L. Kane 76 Dircctor (12 ){4)5)

Douglas J. McEachem 62 Director (4)

Tim Storey 56 Director (4)(5)

(1) Member of the Executive Committee.

(2) Member of the Tax Oversight Committee.

(3) Lead Independent Director.

(4) Member of the Audit and Conflicts Committee.

(5) Member of the Compensation Committee.
James J. Cotter, Sr.

James J. Cotter, Sr. has been a Director of our Company since 1991, the Chairman of our Board since 1992, and
our Chief Executive Officer since December 27, 2000. Mr. Cotter, St. also served as our Chief Executive Officer from
August 1, 1999 to October 16, 2000, and as a Director of our Company from 1986 to 1988. Mr. Cotter, Sr. is a 50% owner
of Sutton Hill Associates, a general partnership engaged in cinema-related activities primarily with our Company, a 50%
member in Shadow View Land and Farming, LLC, a limited liability company in which our Company owns the remaining
membership interest, and the sole voting member of Cotter Enterprises LLC (a family-owned private investment
vehicle). Mr. Cotter, St is the father of Ellen M. Cotter, James I. Cotter, Jr., and Margaret Cotter.  Mr. Cotter also serves as
a Director, officer, and/or manager of all of our consolidated subsidiaries, other than Shadow View Land and Famming,
LLC, which is managed by our Company under the supervision of the Audit and Conflict Committee.

Mz Cotter, Sr. is highly qualified to serve on our Board due to his decades of experience as an executive in the
film exhibition and real estate industries, as well as experience in diverse ventures and investments. Mr. Cotter, Sr. has
also served on several Boards of public and private companies, primarily engaged in banking and real estate
activities. Furthermore, as the largest stockholder of the Company, his
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interests are generally aligned with those of the other stockholders of the Company, which enhances his value as a
Director. In those situations where there may be a conflict of interest, such matters are referred to our Audit and Conflicts
Committee comprised entirely of independent Directors.

James J. Cotter, Jr.

James J. Cotter, Jr. has been a Director of the Company since March 21, 2002, and was appointed Vice Chairman
of the Board in 2007. The Board of Directors appointed Mr. James J. Cotter, Jr. to serve as the Company’s President,
beginning June 1, 2013. He had been Chief Executive Officer of Cecelia Packing Corporation (a Cotter family-owned
citrus grower, packer, and marketer) since July 2004. Mr. Cotter, Jr. served as a Director to Cecelia Packing Corporation
from February 1996 to September 1997 and as a Director of Gish Biomedical from September 1999 to March 2002. He
was an attomey in the law firm of Winston & Strawn, specializing in corporate law, from September 1997 to May
2004. Mr. Cotter, Jr. is the son of James J. Cotter, Sr. and the brother of Margaret Cotter and Ellen M. Cotter.

James J. Cotter, Jr. brings to the Board his experience as a business professional and corporate attomey. In
addition, with his direct ownership of approximately 671,000 shares of our Company’s Class A Common Stock, Mr.
Cotter, Jr. is a significant stake holder in our Company. Mr Cotter Jr. also holds options to acquire an additional 22,500
shares of Class A Common Stock.

Ellen M. Cotter

Ellen M. Cotter has been a member of the Board of Directors since March 13, 2013, She joined the Company in
March 1998, is a graduate of Smith College and holds a Juris Doctorate from Georgetown Law School. Prior to joining
the Company, Ms. Cotter spent four years in private practice as a corporate attorney with the law firm of White & Case in
Manhattan. Ms. Cotter is the daughter of James J. Cotter, Sr. and the sister of James J. Cotter, Jr. and Margaret Cotter.

Ms. Cotter brings to the Board her 15 years of experience working in our Company’s cinema operations, both in
the United States and Australia. For the past 12 years, she has served as the senior operating officer of our Company’s
domestic cinema operations. She has also served as the Chief Executive Officer of Reading’s subsidiary, Consolidated
Entertainment, LLC, which operates substantially all of our cinemas in Hawaii and Califomia. With her direct ownership
of approximately 674,000 shares of Class A Stock, Ms. Cotter is a significant stake holder in our Company. Ms. Cotter
also holds options to acquire an additional 95,000 shares of Class A Common Stock and 50,000 shares of Class B Voting
Common Stock.

Ms. Cotter is a senior executive officer of our Company and, accordingly, will not be paid for her services as a
Director, but has been granted the 20,000 stock options customarily granted to all new Directors.

Margaret Cotter

Margaret Cotter has been a Director of the Company since September 27, 2002. Ms. Cotter is the owner and
President of OBL, LLC, a company that provides live theater management services to our live theaters. Pursuant to that
management arrangement, Ms. Cotter also serves as the President of Liberty Theaters, the subsidiary through which we
own our live theaters. Ms. Cotter manages the real estate which houses each of the four live theaters (without
compensation). Ms. Cotter secures leases, manages tenancies, oversees maintenance and regulatory compliance of the
properties as well as heads the day to day pre-development process and transition of our properties from live theatre
operations to major realty developments. Ms. Cotter was first commissioned to handle these properties by Sutton Hill
Associates which subsequently sold the business to Reading with other real estate and theaters in 2000. Ms. Cotter is also
a theatrical producer who has produced shows in Chicago and New York and a Board member of the League of Off-
Broadway Theaters and Producers. Ms. Cotter, a former Assistant District Attorney for King’s County in Brooklyn, New
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York, graduated from Georgetown University Law Center. She is the daughter of James J. Cotter, St. and the sister of
James J. Cotter, Jr. and Ellen M. Cotter.

Ms. Cotter brings to the Board her experience as a live theater producer, theater operator and an active member of
the New York theatre community, which gives her insight into live theater business trends that affect our business in this
sector. Operating and overseeing these properties for over 15 years, Ms. Cotter contributes to the strategic direction for
our developments. In addition, with her direct ownership of approximately 655,000 shares of our Company’s Class A
Common Stock, Ms. Cotter is a significant stake holder in our Company. Ms. Cotter also holds options to acquire an
additional 27,500 shares of Class A Common Stock and 35,100 shares of Class B Voting Common Stock.

Guy W. Adams

Guy W. Adams is a Managing Member of GWA Capital Partners, LLC, a registered investment adviser managing
GWA Investments, LLC. The fund invests in various publicly traded securities. Over the past ten years, Mr. Adams has
served as an independent Director on the Boards of Directors of Lone Star Steakhouse & Saloon, Mercer International,
Exar Corporation and Vitesse Semiconductor having served in various capacities as lead Director, Audit Committee Chair
and/or Compensation Committee Chair. Prior to this Mr. Adams provided investment advice to various family offices as
well as investing his own capital in public and private equity transactions.

Mr. Adams received his Bachelor of Science degree in Petroleum Engineering from Louisiana State University
and his Masters of Business Administration from Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration.

Mr. Adams brings many years of experience serving as an independent Director on public company Boards, and
in investing and providing financial advice in making investments in public companies.

William D. Gould

William D. Gould has been a Director of the Company since October 15,2004 and has been a member of the law
firm of TroyGould PC since 1986. Previously, he was a partner of the law firm of O’Melveny & Myers. We have from
time to time retained TroyGould PC for legal advice.

As an author and lecturer on the subjects of corporate governance and mergers and acquisitions, Mr. Gould
brings to the Board specialized experience as a corporate attorney. Mr. Gould’s corporate transactional experience and
expertise in corporate govemance matters ensures that we have a highly qualified advisor on our Board to provide
oversight in such matters.

Edward L. Kane

Edward L. Kane has been a Director of the Company since October 15, 2004. Mr. Kane was also a Director of the
Company from 1985 to 1998, and served as President from 1987 to 1988. Mr. Kane currently serves as the Chairman of
our Tax Oversight Committee and of our Compensation and Stock Option Committee (which we refer to as our
Compensation Committee). He also serves as a member of our Executive Committee and our Audit and Conflicts
Committee. Since 1996, Mr. Kane’s principal occupation has been healthcare consultant and advisor. In that capacity, he
has served as President and sole shareholder of High Avenue Consulting, a healthcare consulting firm, and as the head of
its successor proprietorship. At various times during the past three decades, he has been Adjunct Professor of Law at two
of San Diego’s Law Schools, most recently in 2008 and 2009 at Thomas Jefferson School of Law, and prior thereto at
California Westermn School of Law.
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Mr. Kane brings to the Board his many years as a tax attomey and law professor. Mr. Kane’s tax law experience
has served the Company in its recent tax litigation and his expertise and guidance in such complex matters continue to be
invaluable to the Company.  Mr Kane also brings his experience as a past President of Craig Cormporation and of
Reading Company, two of our corporate predecessors, as well as a former member of the Boards of Directors of several
publicly held corporations.

Douglas J. McEachern

Douglas J. McEachem has been a Director of the Company since May 17,2012 and Chairman of our Audit and
Conflicts Committee since August 1, 2012. He has served as a member of the Board of Directors and of the Audit and
Compensation Committee for Willdan Group, a NASDAQ listed engineering company, since 2009. Mr. McEachem is
also the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Community Bank in Pasadena, Califomia and a member of its Audit
Committee. He also is a member of the Finance Committee of the Methodist Hospital of Arcadia. Since July 2009,
Mr. McEachem has also served as an instructor of auditing and accountancy at Claremont McKenna College and of
accounting at Califomia State Polytechnic University at Pomona. Mr. McEachem was an audit partner from July 1985 to
May 2009 with the audit firm, Deloitte and Touche, LLP, with client concentrations in financial institutions and real
estate. Mr McEachem was also a Professional Accounting Fellow with the Federal Home Loan Bank Board in
Washington DC, from June 1983 to July 1985. From June 1976 to June 1983, Mr. McEachem was a staff member and
subsequently a manager with the audit firm, Touche Ross & Co. (predecessor to Deloitte & Touche, LLP). Mr. McEachem
received a B.S. in Business Administration in 1974 from the University of California, Berkeley, and an M.B.A. in 1976
from the University of Southemn Califomia.

Mr. McEachem brings to the Board his more than 36 years’ experience meeting the accounting and auditing
needs of financial institutions and real estate clients, including our Company. Mr. McEachem also brings his experience
reporting as an independent auditor to the Boards of Directors of a variety of public reporting companies and as a Board
member himself for various companies and not-for-profit organizations.

Tim Storey

Tim Storey has been a Director of the Company since December 28, 2011. Mz Storey has served as the sole
outside Director of the Company’s wholly-owned New Zealand subsidiary since 2006. He has served since April 1, 2009
as a Director of DNZ Property Fund Limited, a commercial property investment fund based in New Zealand and listed on
the New Zealand Stock Exchange, and was appointed Chairman of the Board of that company on July 1, 2009. From
2011 to 2012, Mr. Storey was a Director of NZ Faming Systems Uruguay, also a New Zealand listed company. NZ
Farming Systems Uruguay owns and operates dairy farms in Uruguay. Prior to being elected Chairman of DNZ Property
Fund Limited, Mr. Storey was a partner in Bell Gully (one of the largest law firms in New Zealand). Mr. Storey is also a
principal in Prolex Advisory, a private company in the business of providing commercial advisory services to a variety of
clients and related entities. Prolex Advisory has provided consulting services primarily with respect to fund management
and commercial property/project transactions across a range of industries including health care, community housing,
student accommodations and agriculture.

Mr. Storey brings to the Board many years of experience in New Zealand corporate law and commercial real
estate matters. He serves as a Director of our New Zealand subsidiary.

Attendance at Board and Committee Meetings
During the year ended December 31, 2013, our Board of Directors met five times.  The Audit and Conflicts

Committee and the Compensation Committee each held six meetings, while the Tax Oversight Committee held five
meetings.
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Each Director attended at least 75% of these Board Meetings and at least 75% of the meetings of all committees
on which he or she served.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Ethics applicable to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer,
principal accounting officer or controller and Company employees, which is available on our website at
www.readingrdi.com.

Indemnity Agreements

We currently have indemnity agreements in place with each of our current Directors and senior officers, as well as
certain of the Directors and senior officers of our subsidiaries. Under these agreements, we have agreed, subject to certain
exceptions, to indemnify each of these individuals against all expenses, liabilities and losses incurred in connection with
any threatened, pending or contemplated action, suit or proceeding, whether civil or cniminal, administrative or
investigative, to which such individual is a party or is threatened to be made a party, in any manner, based upon, ansing
from, relating to or by reason of the fact that such individual is, was, shall be or has been a Director, officer employee,
agent or fiduciary of the Company.

Compensation of Directors

During 2013, all of our Directors, except those who are working executives, received an annual fee of $35,000
for their services, including attendance at meetings of the Board and Board committees. In addition, each Director
received aone-time payment of $3.000. For 2013, the Chairman of our Audit and Conflicts Committee received an
additional $7,000, the Chairman of our Compensation Committee received an additional $5,000, and the Chairman of our
Tax Oversight Committee received an additional $18,000.

Prior to becoming the Company’s President on June 3, 2013, James J. Cotter, Jr. received $59,000 for his
services as Director and Vice Chairman of the Board in 2013.

In addition, upon joining the Board, new Directors receive immediately vested options to purchase 20,000 shares
of our Class A Stock at an exercise price equal to the market price of the stock at the date of grant. Our Directors are from
time to time granted additional stock options as a part of their continuing compensation for their ongoing participation
on our Board of Directors. These awards are based upon the recommendations of our Chairman and principal sharcholder,
James J. Cotter, Sr., which recommendations are reviewed and acted upon by our entire Board of Directors. Typically, in
such cases, each sitting Director (other than Mr. Cotter, Sr., who does not participate in such awards) is awa rded the same
number of options, and such options are granted on the same terms. Historically, we have granted our officers and
Directors replacement options where their options would otherwise expire with exercise prices that were out of the money
at the time of such expiration. Such awards have in each case been recommended by Mr. Cotter, Sr. to our Compensation
Committee for the committee’s consideration.
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Director Compensation Table

The following table summarizes the Director compensation for the year ended December 31, 2013:

All Other
Fees Earned or Option Awards Compensation

Name Paid in Cash (§) (%) ($) Total (%)

James J. Cotter, Sr. (1) $ -3 - % - 8 -
James J. Cotter, Jr. (1)  § 59,000 § - 3 - $ 59,000
Ellen M. Cotter (1) $ -5 35,000 (4) $ - $ 35,000
Margarct Cotter (2) $ 38,000 $ 10,000 (5) $ - $ 48,000
Guy W. Adams (3) S - 5 -3 -3 -
William D. Gould $ 38,000 $ 10,000 (5) $ - $ 48,000
Edward L. Kane $ 61,000 $ 10,000 (5) $ - $ 71,000
Douglas J. McEachern  $ 45,000 § 10,000 (5) $ - $ 55,000
Tim Storey $ 38,000 § 10,000 (5) $ 21,000 (6) § 69,000
Alfred Villasefior (7) $ 38,000 $ 10,000 (5) $ - $ 48,000

(1) Mr. Cotter, Sr. and Ms. Ellen Cotter receive compensation only as executive officers of the Company and not in
their capacities as Directors. Prior to becoming the Company’s President on June 3, 2013, James J. Cotter, Jr.
received $59,000 for his services as Director and Vice Chairman of the Board in 2013.

(2) In addition to her Director’s fees, Margaret Cotter receives a combination of fixed and incentive management
fees under the OBI Management Agreement described under the caption “Certain Transactions and Related Party
Transactions - OBI Management Agreement,” below.

(3) Mr. Adams joined the Board on January 14, 2014 and was granted 20,000 options on the same date.

(4) Asanew Director, Ellen Cotter was granted 20,000 options on March 7, 2013.

(5) Each ofthese Directors was granted 5,000 options on June 21, 2013.

(6) This amount represents fees paid to Mr. Storey as the sole independent Director of our Company’s wholly-owned
New Zealand subsidiary.

(7) Alfred Villasefior, who has been a Director of the Company since 1987, has decided not to put his name forward
for re-election this year. Accordingly, his term will end and he will be retiring from our Board, effective upon
election of his successor at our upcoming Annual Meeting.

Board Committees and Corporate Governance

Our Board of Directors has standing Executive, Audit and Conflicts, Compensation, and Tax Oversight
Committees. These committees are discussed in greater detail below.

James J. Cotter, Sr. owns beneficially a majority of our Class B Stock and accordingly holds more than 50% of
the voting power for the election of Directors of the Company. Therefore, our Board of Directors, has determined that our
Company is a “Controlled Company” under section 5615(c)(1) of the listing rules of The NASDAQ Capital Stock Market
(the “NASDAQ Rules”). After reviewing the benefits and detriments of taking advantage of the exceptions to the
corporate govemance rules set forth in section 5605 of the NASDAQ Rules, our Board of Directors in 2009 unanimously
determined to take advantage of all of the exceptions from the NASDAQ Rules afforded to our Company as a Controlled
Company.

A Controlled Company is not required to have an independent nominating committee or independent
nominating process. It was noted by our Directors that the use of an independent nominating committee or independent
nominating process would be of limited utility, since any nominee would need to be acceptable to Mr. Cotter, Sr. as our
controlling stockholder, in order to be elected. Mr. Cotter, Sr, as the holder of a majority of the voting power of our
Company, is able to unilaterally clect candidates to our Board of Directors at our annual meeting or any other meeting
where our Directors are to be elected or remove a Director from the
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Board of Directors. Historically, Mr. Cotter, Sr. has identified and recommended nominees to our Board of Directors in
consultation with our other incumbent Directors.

Our Board of Directors does not have a formal policy with respect to the consideration of Director candidates
recommended by our stockholders. No stockholder has, in more than the past ten years, made any proposal or
recommendation to the Board as to potential nominees, nor has Mr. Cotter, Sr. ever proposed, in the time he has been our
principal or controlling stockholder, any nominee that our remaining Directors have found to be unacceptable. Neither
our governing documents nor applicable Nevada law place any restriction on the nomination of candidates for election to
our Board of Directors directly by our stockholders. In light of the facts that (i) we are a Controlled Company under the
NASDAQ Rules and exempted from the requirements for an independent nominating process and (ii) our goveming
documents and Nevada law place no limitation upon the direct nomination of Director candidates by our stockholders,
our Board of Directors believes there is no need for a formal policy with respect to Director nominations.

Our Board of Directors will consider nominations from our stockholders, provided written notice is delivered to
our Secretary at our principal executive offices not less than 120 days prior to the first anniversary of the immediately
preceding annual meeting of our stockholders at which Directors are elected, or such earlier date as may be reasonable in
the event that our annual stockholders meeting is moved forward. Such written notice must set forth the name, age,
address, and principal occupation or employment of such nominee, the number of shares of our common stock that are
beneficially owned by such nominee, and such other information required by the proxy rules of the SEC with respect to a
nominee of our Board of Directors.

Our Directors have not adopted any formal criteria with respect to the qualifications required to be a Director or
the particular skills that should be represented on our Board of Directors, other than the need to have at least one Director
and member of our Audit and Conflicts Committee who qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert,” and have not
historically retained any third party to identify or evaluate or to assist in identifying or evaluating potential
nominees. We have no policy of considering diversity in identifying Director nominees.

Five of the current nominees are long-standing incumbent Directors, and all nine nominees were originally
recommended by Mr. Cotter, Sr. No other recommendations were received by us with respect to possible nominees to our
Board of Director for consideration at our upcoming Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

James J. Cotter, Sr., serves as our Chief Executive Officer and as Chairman of the Board of Directors. We believe
this leadership structure 1s appropriate because it is more efficient than having these roles divided, and, because the first-
hand knowledge of our business operations that our Chairman possesses as Chief Executive Officer, better serves our
entire Board in its decision making. In lieu of separating the Chief Executive Officer and Chairman functions, the Board
has designated William D. Gould t o serve as our Lead Independent Director, to chair meetings of the independent
Directors, and to act as liaison between our Chairman and our independent Directors.

Our Board of Directors oversees risk by remaining well-informed through regular meetings with management and
our Chairman’s personal involvement in our day-to-day businessincluding any matters requiring specific risk
management oversight. OQur Vice-Chairman chairs regular senior management meetings, which are typically held weekly,
one addressing domestic issues and the other addressing overseas issues.  The rnisk oversight function of our Board of
Directors is enhanced by the fact that our Audit and Conflict Committee is comprised entirely of independent Directors.

We encourage, but do not require, our Board members to attend our annual meeting of stockholders. Six of our
nine then-incumbent Directors attended last year’s annual meeting.
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Executive Committee

Astanding Executive Committee, comprised of Mr. Cotter, Sr., Mr. Kane and Mr. Villasefior, 1s authorized, to the
fullest extent permitted by Nevada law, to take action on matters between meetings of the full Board of Directors. In
recent years, this committee has not been used to take any action on comporate matters.  With the exception of matters
delegated to the Audit and Conflicts Committee or the Compensation Committee, all matters requiring Board approval
have been considered by the entire Board of Directors.

Audit and Conflicts Committee

Our Board of Directors maintains a standing Audit and Conflicts Committee, which we refer to as the “Audit
Committee.” The Audit Committee operates under a Charter adopted by the Board of Directors, and is available on our

website at www.readingrdi.com. Our Board of Directors has determined that the Audit Committee is comprised entirely of
independent Directors, (as defined in section 5605(a)(2) of the NASDAQ Rules), and that Mr. McEachem, the Chairman of
our Audit Committee, is qualified as an Audit Committee Financial Expert. With respect to our fiscal year ended
December 31,2013, our Audit and Conflicts Committee was comprised of Messrs. McEachern, Kane, and Storey.
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Audit Committee Report

The following is the report of the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors with respect to our audited
financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013.

The information contained in this report shall not be deemed to be “soliciting material” or “filed” with the
SEC or subject to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange
Act™), except to the extent that we specifically incormporate it by reference into a document filed under the Securities
Act 0of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act.

The purpose of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board in its general oversight of our financial reporting,
internal controls and audit functions. The Audit Committee operates under a written Charter adopted by our Board of
Directors. The Charter is reviewed periodically and subject to change, as appropriate. The Audit Committee Charter
describes in greater detail the full responsibilities of the Audit Committee.

In this context, the Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed the Company’s audited financial statements
with management and Grant Thomton, LLP, our independent auditors. Management is responsible for: the
preparation, presentation and integrity of our financial statements; accounting and financial reporting principles;
establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e));
establishing and maintaining intermnal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f));
evaluating the effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures; evaluating the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting; and evaluating any change in internal control over financial reporting that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, internal control over financial reporting. Grant Thornton, LLP is
responsible for performing an independent audit of the consolidated financial statements and expressing an opinion
on the conformity ofthose financial statements with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America, as well as an opinion on (i) management’s assessment of the effectiveness of intemal control over financial
reporting and (i1) the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.

The Audit Committee has discussed with Grant Thornton, LLP the matters required to be discussed by
Auditing Standard No. 16, “Communications with Audit Committees” and PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 2, “An
Audit of Intemal Control Over Financial Reporting Performed in Conjunction with an Audit of Financial
Statements.” In addition, Grant Thomton, LLP has provided the Audit Committee with the written disclosures and the
letter required by the Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1, as amended, “Independence Discussions with
Audit Committees,” and the Audit Committee has discussed with Grant Thornton, LLP their firm’s independence.

Based on their review of the consolidated financial statements and discussions with and representations from
management and Grant Thornton, LLP referred to above, the Audit Committee recommended to our Board of Directors
that the audited financial statements be included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year 2013 for filing
with the SEC.

It is not the duty of the Audit Committee to plan or conduct audits or to determine that the Company’s
financial statements are complete and accurate and in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States. That is the responsibility of management and the Company’s independent registered public
accounting firm. In giving its recommendation to the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee relied on
(1) management’s representation that such financial statements have been prepared with integrity and objectivity and
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and (2) the report of the Company’s
independent registered public accounting firm with respect to such financial statements.

Respectfully submitted by the Audit Committee.

Douglas J. McEachem, Chairman
Edward L. Kane
Tim Storey

APP_PAGE_1187



Compensation Committee

Our Board of Directors has a standing Compensation Committee comprised entirely of independent Directors.
The current members of this committee are Alfred Villasefior, Tim Storey and Edward L. Kane, who serves as Chairman.

The Compensation Committee evaluates and makes recommendations to the full Board of Directors regarding
the compensation of our Chief Executive Officer, James J. Cotter, Sr. and of any Cotter family member, provides from
time to time advice to James J. Cotter, Sr. regarding the compensation of other executives, as requested by Mr. Cotter, Sr.
and performs other compensation related functions as delegated. The Compensation Committee Report is shown below
under the heading, “Compensation Committee Report.”

Tax Oversight Committee

Given our operations in the United States, Australia, and New Zealand and our historic net operating loss carry
forwards, our Board formed a Tax Oversight Committee to review with management and to keep the Board abreast of and
informed about the Company’s tax planning and such tax issues as may emerge from time to time. This committee is
comprised of Messrs. Edward L. Kane and James J. Cotter, Jr. Mr. Kane serves as the Chairman of the committee.

Vote Required

The nine nominees receiving the greatest number of votes cast at the Annual Meeting will be clected to the
Board of Directors.

Mr. Cotter, Sr. has advised us that he intends to vote his shares of Class B Stock in favor of each of our
nominees. Since Mr. Cotter, Sr. owned a majority of the outstanding shares of Class B Stock on the Record Date, if he
votes all of his shares as he has advised, each of the nominees will be elected regardless of the vote of our other
stockholders.

Recommendation of the Board

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS A YOTE “FOR” EACH OF THE DIRECTOR NOMINEES.

PROPOSAL 2: ADVISORY VOTE ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (the “Dodd-Frank Act”) mandates that
our stockholders vote whether to approve, on an advisory or non-binding basis, the compensation of our “named
executive officers” as disclosed in this proxy statement. Currently, our named executive officers are Messrs. James J.
Cotter, Sr., Ellen M. Cotter, Andrze] Matyczynski, Robert F. Smerling, and Wayne D. Smith. A description of the
compensation paid to these individuals is set out below under the heading, “Executive Compensation.”

This vote is advisory in nature and therefore not binding on us, our Compensation Committee, or our Board of
Directors. Furthermore, this vote is not intended to address any specific item of compensation, but rather the overall
compensation of these executive officers and our general compensation policies and practices.
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Vote Required

The affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of our Class B Stock present in person or represented by proxy
and entitled to be voted on the proposal at the Annual Meeting is required for advisory approval of this proposal.

Mr. Cotter has indicated that he intends to vote his approximately 70% of the outstanding shares of our Class B
Stock in accordance with the Board of Directors’ recommendation and “for” such approval, and if he does, Proposal 2 will
be approved.

Recommendation of the Board

OUR BOARD RECOMMENDS A YOTE “FOR” THE APPROVAL OF THE COMPENSATION OF OURNAMED
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AS DISCLOSED IN THIS PROXY STATEMENT PURSUANT TO THE
COMPENSATION DISCLOSURE RULES OF THE SEC.

BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP OF SECURITIES

The following table sets forth the shares of Class A Stock and Class B Stock beneficially owned on the Record
Date by:

e cach of our incumbent Directors and Director nominees;

¢ cach of our named executive officers set forth in the Summary Compensation Table of this Proxy
Statement;
¢ cach person known to us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our Class B Stock; and

¢ all of our incumbent Directors and executive officers as a group.

Except as noted, we believe that each beneficial owner has sole voting power and sole investment power with
respect to the shares shown.

Amount and Nature of Beneficial Ownership (1)

Class A Stock Class B Stock
Name and Address of Number of Percentage Number of Percentage
Beneficial Owner Shares of Stock Shares of Stock
James J. Cotter, Sr. (2) 3,024,097 13.7% 1,123,888 70.4%
James J. Cotter, Jr. (3) 718,232 3.3% - -
Ellen M. Cotter (4) 768,766 3.5% 50,000 3.2%
Margaret Cotter (5) 682,870 3.1% 35,100 2.3%
Guy Adams (6) 20,000 * - -
William D. Gould (7) 84,840 * - -
Edward L. Kane (7) 65,000 * 100 *
Douglas J. McEachem (8) 29,000 * -- --
Tim Storey (8) 25,000 * - -
Alfred Villasefior (9) 34,300 * - -
Andrzej Matyczynski (10) 73,244 * - -
Robert F. Smerling (11) 43,750 * - -
Wayne Smith - - - -
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Mark Cuban (12) 72,164 * 207,611 13.9%
5424 Deloache Avenue

Dallas, Texas 75220

PICO Holdings, Inc. and PICO Deferred N/A N/A 97,500 6.5%
Holdings, LLC (13)

875 Prospect Street, Suite 301

La Jolla, California 92037

All Directors and Executive Officers as a 5,534,799 24.7% 1,209,088 71.9%
Group (12 persons)(14)

(1) Percentage ownership is determined based on 22,015,738 shares of Class A Stock and 1,495,490 shares of Class
B Stock outstanding on the Record Date. Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with SEC
rules. Shares subject to options that are presently exercisable, or exercisable within 60 days ofthe Record Date,
which are indicated by footnote, are deemed to be beneficially owned by the person holding the options and are
deemed to be outstanding in computing the percentage ownership of that person, but not in computing the
percentage ownership of any other person. An asterisk (*) denotes beneficial ownership of less than 1%.

(2) The Class B Stock shown includes 100,000 shares subject to stock options and 1,023,888 shares owned by the
James J. Cotter Living Trust, of which Mr. Cotter, Sr. is the sole trustee. The shares of Class A Stock shown
include 1,602,226 shares owned by the James J. Cotter Living Trust, 29,730 shares held in a pension fund in
Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s name, 1,000,000 shares held by Cotter Enterprises, LLC, of which Mr. Cotter, Sr. 1s the sole
voting member, 289,390 shares held by a trust for Mr. Cotter, St.’s grandchildren, of which Mr. Cotter, Sr. is the
trustee, and 102,751 held by the James J. Cotter Foundation, of which Mr Cotter, St is the trustee. Mr. Cotter,
Sr. has no pecuniary interest in the shares held by his grandchildren’s trust or the James J. Cotter
Foundation. Mr Cotter, St.’s pecuniary interest in the shares held by Cotter Enterprises, LLC is limited to
10,000 of the shares held by Cotter Enterprises, LLC, representing his 1% interest in that entity. The Cotter
2005 Children’s Trust U/D/T dated December 31, 2005 (the “Cotter Children’s Trust™) holds a 99% non-voting
interest in Cotter Enterprises, LLC.

(3) The Class A Stock shown includes 22,500 shares subject to stock options, and excludes any indirect interest in
the shares held by Cotter Enterprises, LLC. It also includes 25,000 shares subject to stock options exercisable on
June 3,2014.

(4) The Class A Stock shown includes 95,000 shares subject to stock options, and excludes any indirect interest in
the shares held by Cotter Enterprises, LLC. The Class B Stock shown consists of shares subject to stock options.

(5) The Class A Stock shown includes 2 7,500 shares subject to stock options, and excludes any indirect interest in
the shares held by Cotter Enterprises, LLC. The Class B Stock shown consists of shares subject to stock options.

(6) Includes 20,000 shares subject to stock options.
(7) Includes 47,500 shares subject to stock options.

(8) Includes 25,000 shares subject to stock options.
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(9) Includes 22,500 shares subject to stock options.

(10) Includes 47,600 shares subject to stock options.

(11) Includes 43,750 shares subject to stock options.

(12)Based on Mr. Cuban’s Form 4 filed on July 18,2011 and Schedule 13-G filed on February 14, 2012.

(13)Based on the PICO Holdings, Inc. and PICO Deferred Holdings, LLC Schedule 13-G filed on February 15,2011.

(14) The Class A Stock shown includes 423,850 shares subject to stock options and the Class B Stock shown
includes 185,100 shares subject to stock options.

SECTION 16(A) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our officers and Directors and persons who own more than 10% of
either class of our common stock to file reports of ownership and changes in ownership with the Securities and Exchange
Commission. The SEC rules also require such reporting persons to furnish us with a copy of all Section 16(a) forms they
file.

Based solely on a review of the copies of the forms we have received and on written representations from certain
reporting persons, during 2013, it appears that certain Section 16(a) filings were not timely made.  Mr. James J. Cotter,
Sr. filed four late reports on Form 4 covenng five transactions. M. James J. Cotter, Jr. filed one late report on From 4 and
one late report on Form 5 covering two transactions. Ellen M. Cotter filed two late reports on Form 4, pertaining to five
transactions. Ms. Margaret Cotter filed one late filing on Form 4 and one late filing on Form 5 pertaining to two
transactions. Messrs. William Gould, Edward L. Kane, Douglas J. McEachern and Alfred Villasenor each filed one late
Form 4 relating to the grant of Director stock option to them on June 21, 2013. Mr. Andrzej J. Matyczynski made three
late filings on form 4 relating to three transactions. Mr. Wayne Smith filed one late filing on from 4, relating to a single
transaction. Generally speaking, these late filing related to the granting or exercise of stock options or stock grants or, in
the case of the members of the Cotter family, transfers between affiliates of such Cotter Family Members and did not
involve open market transactions.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
The following table sets forth information regarding our executive officers other than James J. Cotter, Sr., James

I. Cotter, Jr, and Ellen M. Cotter, whose information is set forth above under “Proposal 1: Election of Directors —
Nominees for Election.”

Name Age Title

Andrzej Matyczynski 61 Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Robert F. Smerling 79 President - Domestic Cinemas

Wayne Smith 56 Managing Director — Australia and New Zealand

Andrze] Matyczynski has served as our Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of our Company since November
1999. Pror to joining our Company, he spent 20 years in various senior roles throughout the world at Beckman Coulter
Inc., a U.S. based multi-national. Mr. Matyczynski earned a Masters Degree in Business Administration from the
University of Southern Califomia.

Robert F. Smerling has served as President of our domestic cinema operations since 1994, Mr. Smerling has been
in the cinema industry for 56 years and, immediately before joining our Company, served as the President of Loews
Theatres Management Comoration.
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Wayne D. Smith joined the Company in April 2004 after 23 years with Hoyts Cinemas. During his time with
Hoyts, he was a key driver, as Head of Property, in growing the company’s Australian and New Zealand operations via an
AUD$250 million expansion to more than 50 sites and 400 screens. While at Hoyts, his career included heading up the
group’s car parking company, cinema operations, representing Hoyts as a Director on various joint venture interests, and
coordinating many asset acquisitions and disposals the company made.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Compensation Discussion and Analysis
Role and Authority of the Compensation Committee

The Board of Directors of our Company has established a standing Compensation Committee, which we refer to
in this section as the “Committee,” consisting of two or more of our non-employee Directors. As a Controlled Company,
we are exempt from the NASDAQ Rules regarding the determination of executive compensation. The Compensation
Committee has no formal charter, and acts pursuant to the general authority delegated to the Committee by our Board of
Directors.

The Compensation Committee recommends to the full Board of Directors the compensation of our Chief
Executive Officer and of any Cotter family members. Our Board of Directors, with Directors James J. Cotter, Sr., Ellen M.
Cotter, Margaret Cotter, and James J. Cotter, Jr. abstaining, typically accepts the recommendation of the Compensation
Committee without modification, but reserves the nght to modify the recommendations or take other action. James J.
Cotter, Sr., as our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, has been delegated responsibility by our Board to determine the
compensation of our executive officers other than Cotter family members. In his discretion, however, Mr. Cotter, Sr., may
seek the advice of the Compensation Committee on matters related to the compensation of other named executive
officers. The Board of Directors exercises oversight of Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s executive compensation decisions as a part of his
performance as our Company’s Chief Executive Officer, and from time to time performs other compensation-related
functions.

Throughout this proxy section, the individuals named in the Summary Compensation Table, below, are referred
to as the “named executive officers.”

CEO Compensation

The Compensation Committee recommends to the Board of Directors the annual compensation of our Chief
Executive Officer, based primarly upon the Compensation Committee’s annual review of peer group practices and the
advice of an independent third-party compensation consultant who reports directly to the Compensation
Committee. Consistent with the above program, the Compensation Committee utilizes three elements -- a base salary
cash component, a discretionary annual cash bonus component, and a fixed stock grant component — with respect to our
Chief Executive Officer’s compensation. The objective of each element is to reasonably reward Mr. Cotter, Sr. for his
performance and leadership.

In 2012, the Compensation Committee engaged Towers Watson, executive compensation consultants, to analyze
our Chief Executive Officer’s total direct compensation compared to a peer group of companies. In preparing the analyses,
Towers Watson, in consultation with our management, including Mr. James J. Cotter, Sr, identified a peer group of
companies in the real estate and cinema exhibition industries, our two business segments, based on market value,
industry, and business description. The Committee relied upon the Towers Watson 2012 analysis in determining our
Chief Executive Officer’s compensation for 2013.
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In 2007, our Board of Directors approved a supplemental executive retirement plan (“SERP) pursuant to which
we agreed to provide Mr. Cotter, Sr., supplemental retirement benefits to reward him for his more than 25 years of service
to our Company and its predecessors. The SERP is described in greater detail below under the caption “Supplemental
Executive Retirement Plan.” As this plan was adopted as a reward for past services and as the amounts to be paid under
that plan are determined by application of an already agreed to formula, the Compensation Committee does not take into
account the benefits under that plan in determining Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s annual compensation. The amounts reflected in the
Executive Compensation Table under the heading “Change in Pension Value and Nonqualified Deferred Compensation
Eamings” reflect an actuarial analysis of any increase in the present value of the SERP benefit and reflects the actuarial
impact of the payment of Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s cash compensation and changes in interest rates. Since the plan is unfunded,
this amount does not reflect any actual payment by our Company into the plan or the value of any assets in the plan (of
which there are none). The benefits to Mr. Cotter, Sr. under the plan are tied only to the cash portion of his compensation,
and not to compensation in the form of stock options or stock grants.

2013 CEQ Compensation

For purposes of establishing our Chief Executive Officer’s 2013 Compensation, Towers Watson in December
2012 provided the Committee an updated written assessment of Mr. Cotter Sr.’s total direct compensation compared to
the following peer group of companies:

Acadia Realty Trust Inland Real Estate Corp.

Amalgamated Holdings Ltd. Kite Realty Group Trust

Associated Estates Realty Comp. LTC Properties Inc.

Bluegreen Corp. Pennsylvania Real Estate Investment Trust
Carmike Cinemas Inc. Ramco-Gershenson Properties Trust

Cedar Shopping Centers Inc. Regal Entertainment Group

Cinemark Holdings Inc. The Marcus Corporation

Entertainment Properties Trust Urstadt Biddle Properties Inc.

Glimcher Realty Trust Village Roadshow Ltd.

IMAX Corporation

The 2012 Towers Watson analysis predicted pay levels of the peer group for 2013 using regression analysis to
adjust pay data based on estimated annual revenues of $250 million. Towers Watson considers pay levels to be
competitive if they are within 15% (plus or minus) of the levels among the peer companies. According to Towers
Watson’s assessment, Mr. Cotter Sr’s overall compensation was in line with the 66th percentile among the peer
companies. The Compensation Committee, however, does not target Mr. Cotter Sr.’s compensation to any particular
percentile of compensation among the peer companies.

The Company paid Towers Watson a fee of $24,000 for its services in preparing the 2012 analysis.

Based on the above 2012 Towers Watson analysis, on January 15, 2013, the Compensation Committee
recommended to the Board, and the Board subsequently accepted, the following compensation program for our Chief
Executive Officer for 2013.

Salary: $750,000

The Compensation Committee determined to increase Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s 2013 annual base salary from $700.,000 in
2012 to $750,000, or approximately 7%. According to Tower Watson’s advice, most of the peer group companies were
considering increases in the range of 3%. In deciding to recommend an increase in Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s annual base salary,
the Compensation Committee decided to maintain Mr. Cotter Sr.’s overall total compensation increase from 2012 to
within the 3% range, but make the adjustment fully on the base salary. The Compensation Committee also considered the
fact that the increase would necessarily result in an increase in Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s SERP, but this did not affect the
Compensation Committee’s recommendation,
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since the SERP is fully vested and, except for changes in benefits resulting from changes in Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s annual cash
compensation, Mr. Cotter, Sr. is no longer accruing additional benefits under the SERP.

Discretionary Cash Bonus: Up to $500,000.

The Compensation Committee determined to maintain the upper range of Mr Cotter, Sr’s usual discretionary
cash bonus for 2013 at the 2012 level. No benchmarks, formulas or quantitative or qualitative measurements of any kind
were specified for use in determining the amount of cash bonus to be awarded within this range. In its annual
compensation review, the Compensation Committee recommends to the Board the actual amount of the cash bonus,
within such range, at its discretion and based solely on its subjective evaluation of our Chief Executive Officer’s
performance. As it typically has done in the past, in December 2013 the Compensation Committee recommended that the
full amount of the discretionary cash bonus be awarded to Mr. Cotter, Sr. for 2013. The Compensation Committee
reserved the right to increase the $500,000 upper range of discretionary cash bonus amount based upon parameters
discussed with Mr. Cotter, Sr.

At its January 15, 2013 meeting, the Compensation Committee also determined to recommend to the Board of
Directors an additional 2013 cash bonus to Mr. Cotter, Sr. of up to $500,000 based on the achievement of specified
criteria relating to the progress of the Company’s proposed Cinemas and Union Square developments in New York City.

In subsequent informal discussions among the Compensation Committee members later in 2013, they discussed
the progress of the Company’s development, which had been delayed temporarily by subway and landmarking issues, as
well as the continued importance to the Company of the proposed development and estimated appreciation in the value
of the proposed development. The Compensation Committee members also considered the diversion of Mr. Cotter, St.’s
time and attention by other business of the Company, including the successful sale of the Company’s Moonee Ponds
Property for AUS$23 million, which the Compensation Committee had not considered in recommending the additional
$500,000 bonus for 2013.

As a result of the above, at a meeting of the Board of Directors on January 14, 2014, the Chairman of the
Compensation Committee summarized the discussions among the Compensation Committee members and reported that
there was a consensus among the members that Mr. Cotter, St. should be awarded the full additional $500,000 bonus for
2013 despite the Company’s failure to meet certain criteria originally established by the Compensation Committee in
January 2013 as the basis for the payment of the additional $500,000 bonus for 2013. Based on the Compensation
Committee’s report and recommendations, the Board of Directors, with Mr. Cotter, Sr. and Mr. Cotter, Jr. and Ellen Cotter
abstaining, approved the payment to Mr. Cotter, Sr., of the full $500,000 additional bonus for 2013.

Stock Bonus: $750,000 (125,209 shares of Class A Stock).

In its meeting on January 15, 2013, the Compensation Committee determined that, so long as Mr. Cotter, St.’s
employment with the Company was not terminated prior to December 31, 2013 other than as a result of his death or
disability, he was to receive 125,209 shares of our Company’s Class A Stock: the number of shares of Class Anonvoting
common stock equal to $750,000 divided by the closing price of the stock on January 15, 2013, the date the Committee
approved the stock bonus. These shares were issued on April 8, 2014.

None of our executive officers plays a role in determining the compensation of our Chief Executive Officer.
When invited by the Compensation Committee, Mr. Cotter, Sr. attends meetings of the Compensation Committee. In
2013, he attended one such meeting. Before recommending any changes to our Chief Executive Officer’s compensation,
the Compensation Committee typically discusses the proposed changes with Mr. Cotter, Sr. and Andrzej Matyczynski,
our Chief Financial Officer, occasionally attends Compensation Committee meetings as he did in 2013 to provide
information as requested by the Committee.
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2014 CEQ Compensation

For purposes of establishing our Chief Executive Officer’s 2014 compensation, the Company engaged Towers
Watson to generate an updated report, which the Company received on February 26, 2014.

The Company paid Towers Watson $7,455 for the updated report.

The Towers Watson analysis focused on the competitiveness of Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s annual base salary, total cash
compensation and total direct compensation (i.e., total cash compensation plus expected value of long-term
compensation) relative to, with one exception, the same peer group of 19 United States and Australian companies and
published compensation survey data, and to the Company’s compensation philosophy. The excepted former peer group
company was Bluegreen Corp., which was acquired in 2013.

Towers Watson again predicted pay levels by using regression analysis to adjust compensation data based on
estimated annual revenues of $260 million (i.e., the Company’s approximate annual revenues) for all companies,
excluding financial services companies. The published survey data was updated to January 1, 2014 using an annual
update factor of 3%, which reflects the projected 2013 salary budget increase for the arts, entertainment and recreation
industry. As in its prior reports to the Company, Towers Watson did not evaluate Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s SERP, because the
SERP is fully vested and accrues no additional benefits except as Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s annual cash compensation changes.

The Towers Watson analysis indicated that Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s total direct compensation for 2013, including the
$500,000 additional cash bonus to Mr. Cotter, Sr., was in line with the 66th percentile of the peer group.

The Towers Watson analysis indicated that the peer group data, with the exception of annual base salary, is
above Mr. Cotter, Sr’s annual base salary as it was in 2012 even after the 7% increase in Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s salary
implemented in 2013. The peer group is partially comprised of companies that are larger than Reading and the 66th
percentile level tend to reflect the larger peers. However, Towers Watson analysis also indicated that the size of the
Company’s peers does not materially affect the pay levels at the peer companies. The published survey data of companies
of comparable size reviewed by Towers Watson is below the Company’s pay levels.

Towers Watson combined the data from the peer group and the published survey data to compile “blended”
market data. As compared to the blended market data, Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s cash compensation is in line with the 66th
percentile while the total direct compensation, which includes the expected value of long-term incentive compensation,
would have been below the 66th percentile, without the additional $500,000 cash bonus paid to Mr. Cotter, Sr. for 2013.

Because our Company is comparable to the smaller companies in the peer group, Towers Watson reviewed
whether the size of the proxy peer group of companies had a meaningful impact on reported CEO pay levels, and
concluded that there is a weak correlation between company size and CEO compensation. It concluded, therefore, that it
1s not necessary to separately adjust the peer group data based on the size of our Company, since the peer group was
selected based on the acceptable revenue range. The Compensation Committee met on February 27, 2014 to consider
the Towers Watson analysis. At the meeting, the Compensation Committee determined to recommend to our Board of
Directors the following compensation for our Chief Executive Officer for 2014. The Board met on March 13, 2014 and
accepted this recommendation without change.

Salary: $750,000

The Compensation Committee recommended maintaining Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s 2014 annual base salary at $750,000,
1its 2013 level.
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Discretionary Cash Bonus: Up to $750,000.

The Compensation Committee determined to increase the upper range of Mr. Cotter, St.’s usual discretionary
cash bonus for 2014 from the 2013 level of $500,000 to $750,000. The bonus is subject to Mr. Cotter, Sr. being
employed by our Company at year-end, unless his employment is terminated earlier due to his death or disability. No
other benchmarks, formulas or quantitative or qualitative measurements were specified for use in determining the amount
of cash bonus to be awarded within this range. As in the past, the Compensation Committee reserves the right to increase
the upper range of discretionary cash bonus amount based upon exceptional results of the Company or Mr. Cotter, St.’s
exceptional performance as determined in the Compensation Committee’s discretion

Stock Bonus: $1,200,000 (160,643 shares of Class A Stock).

In its meeting on February 27, 2014, the Compensation Committee determined that, so long as Mr. Cotter, St.’s
employment with the Company is not terminated prior to December 31, 2014 other than as a result of his death or
disability, he is to receive 160,643 shares of our Company’s Class A Stock; the number of shares of Class A nonvoting
common stock equal to $1,200,000 divided by the closing price of the stock on February 27, 2104, the date the
Committee approved the stock bonus.

Compensation of Other Named Executive Officers

Mr. Cotter Sr., our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, sets the compensation of our executive officers other
than himself and the members of his family. Mr. Cotter, St.’s decisions are not subject to approval by the Compensation
Committee or the Board of Directors, but our Compensation Committee and our Board consider Mr. Cotter, St.’s decisions
with respect to Executive Compensation in evaluating his performance as our Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Cotter, Sr. has
informed the Company that he does not use any formula, benchmark or other quantitative measure to establish or award
any component of executive compensation, nor does he consult with compensation consultants on the matter. Mr. Cotter,

Sr. has advised the Company that he considers the following guidelines in setting the type and amount of executive
compensation:

1. Executive compensation should primarily be used to:

e attract and retain talented executives;
e reward executives appropriately for their individual efforts and job performance; and

e afford executives approprate incentives to achieve the short-term and long-term business objectives
established by management and our Board of Directors.

2. In support of the foregoing, the total compensation paid to our named executive officers should be:

e fair both to our Company and to the named executive officers;
e rcasonable in nature and amount; and
e competitive with market compensation rates.

Personal and Company performances are just two factors considered by Mr. Cotter, Sr. in establishing base
salaries and awarding discretionary compensation. We have no pre-established policy or target for allocating total
executive compensation between base and discretionary or incentive compensation, or between cash and stock-based
incentive compensation. Historically, including in 2013, a majority of total compensation to our named executive
officers was in the form of annual base salaries and discretionary cash bonuses, although stock bonuses have been granted
from time to time under special circumstances. These elements are discussed further below.
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Salary: Annual base salary is intended to compensate named executive officers for services rendered during the
fiscal year in the ordinary course of performing their job responsibilities. Factors that may be considered by Mr. Cotter,
Sr. in setting the base salaries include (1) the negotiated terms of each executive’s employment agreement or the original
terms of employment; (ii) the individual’s position and level of responsibility with our Company; (iii) periodic review of
the executive’s compensation, both individually and relative to other named executive officers and (iv) a subjective
evaluation of individual job performance of the executive.

Cash Bonus: Cash bonuses may supplement the base salaries of our named executive officers and are entirely
discretionary on the part of Mr. Cotter, Sr. Factors that may be considered by Mr. Cotter, Sr. in awarding cash bonuses are
(1) the level of the executive’s responsibilities; (i1) the efficiency and effectiveness with which he or she oversees the
matters under his or her supervision; and (iit) the degree to which the officer has contributed to the accomplishment of
major tasks that advance the Company’s goals.

Stock Bonus: Equity incentive bonuses may be awarded to align our executives’ long-term compensation to
appreciation in stockholder value over time and, so long as such grants are within the parameters set by our 2010 Stock
Incentive Plan, are entirely discretionary on the part of Mr. Cotter, Sr. Other stock grants are subject to Board Approval.
Equity awards may include stock options, restricted stock, bonus stock, or stock appreciation rights.

If awarded, it is generally our policy to value stock options and restricted stock at the closing price of our
common stock as reported on the NASDAQ Capital Market on the date the award is approved or on the date of hire, if the
stock is granted as a recruitment incentive. When stock is granted as bonus compensation for a particular transaction, the
award may be based on the market price on a date calculated from the closing date of the relevant transaction. Awards
may also be subject to vesting and limitations on voting or other rights.

Andrzej Matyczynski, our Chief Financial Officer, has a written employment agreement with our Company that
provides for a specified annual base salary and other compensation as described elsewhere in this proxy statement.

Other than Mr. Cotter, Sr.'s role in setting compensation, none of our executive officers play a role in determining
the compensation of our named executive officers.

Key Person Insurance

Our Company maintains key person life insurance on certain individuals who we believe to be key to our
management. These individuals include certain of our current officers, Directors and independent contractors.  If such
individual ceases to be an employee, Director or independent contractor of our Company, as the case may be, he or she is
permitted, by assuming responsibility for all future premium payments, to replace our Company as the beneficiary under
such policy. These policies allow each such individual to purchase up to an equal amount of insurance for such
individual’s own benefit. In the case of our employees, the premium for both the insurance as to which our Company is
the beneficiary and the insurance as to which our employee is the beneficiary, is paid by our Company. In the case of
named executive officers the premium paid by our Company for the benefit of such individual is reflected in the
Compensation Table in the column captioned “All Other Compensation.”

Retirement Benefits

We provide all of our employees, including Mr. Cotter, Sr. and our other named executive officers, a retirement
savings plan qualified under Intemal Revenue Code section 401(k). To be eligible to participate, employees must have
completed four months of employment, and must be over 21 years of age. Employees choosing to participate can make
contributions to their plan account on a pre-tax basis up to the maximum
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annual amount permitted by IRS rulings. The Company usually matches employee contributions dollar-for-dollar up to
3% of employee wages, then 50 cents per dollar between 3% and 5% of employee wages.

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan

In March 2007, our Board of Directors approved a Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (“SERP”) pursuant
to which we agreed to provide Mr. Cotter, Sr. supplemental retirement benefits to reward him for his more than 25 years of
service to our Company and its predecessors. Under the SERP, following his separation from our Company, Mr. Cotter,
Sr. will be entitled to receive from our Company for the remainder of his life (with a guaranteed minimum of 180 monthly
payments) a monthly payment of the greater of (i) 40% of his average monthly base salary and cash bonuses over the
highest consecutive 36-month period of earnings prior to Mr. Cotter, Sr's separation from service with us or (i1)
$25,000. The beneficianes under the SERP may be designated by Mr. Cotter, Sr. or by his beneficiary following his
death. The benefits under the SERP are fully vested.

The SERP is unfunded and, as such, the SERP benefits are unsecured, general obligations of our Company. We
may choose in the future to establish one or more grantor trusts from which to pay the SERP benefits. The SERP is
administered by the Compensation Committee.

Other Retirement Plans

John Hunter, our former Chief Operating Officer, left the company in June 2013, and in accordance with the
provisions of his employment agreement, the Company paid the vested pension benefit of $400,000 on February 3, 2014,
without interest.

During 2012, Mr. Matyczynski was granted an unfunded deferred compensation plan (“DCP”) that is partially
vested and will vest further, assuming he remains in our continuous employ. If Mr. Matyczynski is terminated for cause,
then the total vested amount reduces to zero. The incremental amount vested each year is subject to review and approval
by our Board of Directors (with the concurrence of our Chairman). Assuming no changes in the incremental vesting
amount by our Board of Directors, Mr. Matyczynski’s DCP will vest as follows:

Total Vested Amount at
the End of Each Vesting
December 31 Year

2013 $ 300,000
2014 $ 375,000
2015 $ 450,000
2016 $ 525,000
2017 $ 625,000
2018 $ 750,000
2019 $ 1,000,000

Payment of the vested benefit is to be made in three equal annual payments, starting six months after he ceases
to be employed by our Company.

We currently maintain no other retirement plan for our named executive officers.
Tax and Accounting Considerations

Deductibility of Executive Compensation
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Subject to an exception for “performance-based compensation,” Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code
generally prohibits publicly held comporations from deducting for federal income tax purposes annual compensation paid
to any senior executive officer to the extent that such annuval compensation exceeds $1.0 million. The Compensation
Committee and our Board of Directors consider the limits on deductibility under Section 162(m) in establishing
executive compensation, but retain the discretion to authorize the payment of compensation that exceeds the limit on
deductibility under this Section as in the case of Mr. Cotter, Sr.

Nongqualified Deferred Compensation

We believe we are operating, where applicable, in compliance with the tax rules applicable to nonqualified
deferred compensation arrangements.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

Beginning on January 1, 2006, we began accounting for stock-based payments in accordance with the
requirements of Statement of Accounting Standards No. 123(R). Our decision to award restricted stock to Mr. Cotter, Sr.
and other named executive officers from time to time was based in part upon the change in accounting treatment for stock
options. Accounting treatment otherwise has had no significant effect on our compensation decisions.

Say on Pay and Say When Pay

At our Company’s Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on May 19, 2011, we held an advisory vote on
executive compensation and an advisory vote on the frequency of future executive compensation advisory votes. Qur
stockholders voted in favor of our Company’s executive compensation and in favor of providing stockholders with an
advisory vote on future executive compensation every three years. In light of the voting results and other factors, the
Board determined to provide stockholders with an advisory vote on future executive compensation every three
years. The Committee reviewed the results of the advisory vote on executive compensation in 2012 and did not make
any changes to our compensation based on the results of the vote. The Committee will review the results of the upcoming
advisory vote on executive compensation and decide whether any changes should be made going forward.

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed with management the “Compensation Discussion
and Analysis” required by Item 401(b) of Regulation S-K and, based on such review and discussions, has
recommended to our Board of Directors that the foregoing “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” be included in
this Proxy Statement.

Respectfully submitted,

Edward L. Kane, Chairman
Tim Storey
Alfred Villasefior
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Summary Compensation Table

The following table presents summary information concerning all compensation payable to our named executive
officers for services rendered in all capacities during the past three completed fiscal years:

Change in Pension

Value and
Nonqualified
Deferred
Option Compensation All Other
Salary Bonus Stock Awards Awards Earnings Compensation Total
Year % &) 6] ® )] 8) ®
James J. Cotter, Sr. 2013 750,000 1,000,000 750,000 (1) -- 1,455,000 (2) 25,000 (3) 3,980,000
Chairman of the Board 2012 700,000 500,000 950,000 -- 2,433,000 24,000 4,607,000
and Chief Executive 2011 500,000 500,000 750,000 -- -- 25,000 1,775,000
Officer
Andrzej Matyczynski 2013 309,000 35,000 -- 33,000 50,000 (5) 26,000 (4) 453,000
Chief Financial Officer 2012 309,000 -- -- 33,000 250,000 25,000 617,000
and Treasurer 2011 309,000 -- -- 31,000 -- 22,000 362,000
Robert F. Smerling 2013 350,000 50,000 -- -- -- 22,000 (4) 422,000
President — Domestic 2012 350,000 50,000 - - - 22,000 422,000
Cinema Operations 2011 350,000 25,000 -- -- -- 18,000 393,000
Ellen M. Cotter 2013 335,000 -- -- -- -- 25,000 (4) 360,000
Chief Operating Officer 2012 335,000 60,000 -- -- -- 25,000 420,000
Domestic Cinemas 2011 275,000 - - - - 24,000 299,000
Wayne Smith 2013 339,000 -- -- -- -- 20,000 (4 359,000
Managing Director - 2012 357,000 16,000 -- 22,000 -- 19,000 414,000
Australia and New Zealand 2011 353,000 26,000 -- 33,000 -- 40,000 452,000

(1) Based on closing price of our Class A Nonvoting Common Stock on January 15,2013,

(2) Represents an increase in the actuarial value of Mr. Cotter. Sr.’s SERP at December 31, 2013, as estimated by
Towers Watson in January 201 4. As the SERP is unfunded, this does not represent any current payment or
contribution by our Company. Rather, it is simply a calculation of the increase in the present value of the
formula benefits provided for in the SERP, and reflects items such as the timing of cash compensation payments
made to Mr. Cotter, Sr., and interest rates from time to time. No change has been made to the SERP benefits since
its inception in 2007.

(3) We own a condominium in West Hollywood, California, which is used as an executive meeting place and
office. “All Other Compensation” includes our matching contributions under our 401(k) plan, the incremental
cost to our Company of providing the use of the West Hollywood Condominium to Mr. Cotter, Sr. , the cost ofa
Company automobile used by Mr. Cotter, Sr., and health club dues paid by the Company.

(4) Represents our employer’s matching contributions under our 401(k) plan, key person insurance, and any car
allowances.
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(5) Represents increases in the value ofthe DCP for Mr. Matyczynski at December 31, 2013. As this DCP is
unfunded, these amounts do not represent any current payment or contribution by our Company. Rather, it is
simply a calculation of the increase in the value of the benefits provided for by the DCP.

Grants of Plan-Based Awards

The following table contains information conceming the stock grants made to our named executive officers for
the year ended December 31,201 3:

All Other
Stock Awards: Grant Date
Number of Fair Value of
Shares of Stock and
Name Grant Date Stock or Units Option_Awards
James J. Cotter, Sr. 1/15/2013 125,209 (1) $ 750,000

(1) Represents the value, determined by reference to the closing price of our Class A Stock on January 15,2013, of
shares issued to Mr. Cotter in satisfaction of the stock bonus portion of his compensation package for 2013.
This valuation does not reflect any discount for the fact that these shares are restricted and cannot be sold for
five years.

Outstanding Equity Awards

The following table contains information conceming the outstanding option and stock awards of our named
executive officers as of December 31,2013:

Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of Number of Number of Market

Shares Shares Shares or Value of

Underlying Underlying Units of Shares or

Unexercised Unexercised Option Option Stock that Units that

Options Options Exercise Expiration Have Not Have Not

Class Exercisable  Unexercisable Price (5) Date Vested Vested (3)
James J. Cotter, Sr. B 100,000 -$ 1024 5/9/2017 -- --
Ellen M. Cotter A 20,000 - $ 5.55 3/16/2018 - -
Ellen M. Cotter B 50,000 -$ 1024 5/9/2017 -- --
Andrzej Matyczynski A 35,100 -8 5.13 9/12/2020 - -
Andrzej Matyczynski A 12,500 37,500 $ 6.02 8/22/2022 - -
Robert F. Smerling A 43,750 -$ 1024 5/9/2017 - --
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Option Exercises and Stock Vested

The following table contains information for our named executive officers conceming the option awards that
were exercised and stock awards that vested during the year ended December 31, 2013:

Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of Number of
Shares Shares

Acquired on Value Realized Acquiredon Value Realized
Name Exercise on Exercise (8) Vesting on Vesting ($)
James J. Cotter, Sr. - $ - 125,209 $ 937,815
Ellen M. Cotter 75,000 $ 300,750 -3 --
Wayne Smith 50,000 $ 200,500 - $ --

Pension Benefits

The following table contains information concerning pension plans for each of the named executive officers for
the year ended December 31,2013:

Number of
Years of Present Value of Payments
Credited Accumulated During Last
Name Plan Name Service Benefit (8) Fiscal Year (8)
James I. Cotter, Sr. SERP 26 S 7,398,000 $ -
Andrzej Matyczynski CFODCP 4 3 300,000 $ --

Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control
We have entered into the following termination arrangements with the following named executive officer:

Andrzej Matvezynski. Pursuant to his employment agreement, Mr. Matyczynski is entitled to a severance
payment equal to six months’ salary in the event his employment is involuntarily terminated.

Wayne Smith. Pursuant to his employment agreement, Mr. Smith is entitled to a severance payment equal to six
months’ salary if the Reading Board terminates his employment for not meeting the standards of anticipated performance.

No other named executive officers have termination benefits in their employment agreements. None of our
employment agreements with our named executive officers have provisions relating to change in control.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

The current members of our Compensation Committee are Alfred Villasefior, Tim Storey and Edward L. Kane,
who serves as Chairman. There are no “interlocks,” as defined by the SEC, with respect to any member of our
Compensation Committee.

CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The members of our Audit and Conflicts Committee are Edward Kane, Tim Storey, and Douglas McEachem, who
serves as Chairman. Management presents all potential related party transactions to
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the Conflicts Committee for review. Our Conflicts Committee reviews whether a given related party transaction is
beneficial to our Company, and approves or bars the transaction after a thorough analysis. Only Committee members
disinterested in the transaction in question participate in the determination of whether the transaction may proceed.

Sutton Hill Capital

In 2001, we entered into a transaction with Sutton Hill Capital, LLC (“SHC”) regarding the leasing with an
option to purchase of certain cinemas located in Manhattan including our Village East and Cinemas 1, 2 & 3 theaters. In
connection with that transaction, we also agreed to lend certain amounts to SHC, to provide liquidity in its investment,
pending our determination whether or not to exercise our option to purchase and to manage the 86th Street Cinema on a
fee basis. SHC is a limited liability company owned in equal shares by James J. Cotter and a third party and of which Mr.
Cotter is the managing member. The Village East is the only cinema that remains subject to this lease and during 2013,
2012, and 2011, we paid rent to SHC for this cinema in the amount of $590,000 annually.

On June 29, 2010, we agreed to extend our existing lease from SHC of the Village East Cinema in New York City
by 10 years, with a new termination date of June 30, 2020. The Village East lease includes a sub-lease of the ground
underlying the cinema that is subject to a longer-term ground lease between SHC and an unrelated third party that expires
in June 2031 (the “cinema ground lease”). The extended lease provides for a call option pursuant to which Reading may
purchase the cinema ground lease for $5.9 million at the end of the lease term. Additionally, the lease has a put option
pursuant to which SHC may require Reading to purchase all or a portion of SHC’s interest in the existing cinema lease
and the cinema ground lease at any time between July 1, 2013 and December 4, 2019. SHC’s put option may be exercised
on one or more occasions in increments of not less than $100,000 each. We are advised by SHC that they intend to
exercise their put option this year. In 2005, we acquired from a third party the fee interest and from SHC its interest in the
ground lease estate underlying and the improvements constituting the Cinemas 1, 2 & 3. In connection with that
transaction, we granted to SHC an option to acquire a 25% interest in the special purpose entity formed to acquire these
interests at cost. On June 28, 2007, SHC exercised this option, paying the option exercise price through the application
of their $3.0 million deposit plus the assumption of its proportionate share of SHP’s liabilities giving it a 25% non-
managing membership interest in SHP. We manage this cinema property for a management fee equal to 5% of its gross
income.

In 2005, we acquired from a third party the fee interest and from SHC its interest in the ground lease estate
underlying and the improvements constituting the Cinemas 1, 2 & 3. In connection with that transaction, we granted to
SHC an option to acquire a 25% interest in the special purpose entity formed to acquire these interests at cost. On June
28, 2007, SHC exercised this option, paying the option exercise price through the application of their $3.0 million
deposit plus the assumption of its proportionate share of SHP’s liabilities giving it a 25% non-managing membership
interest in SHP.

OBI Management Agreement

Pursuant to a Theater Management Agreement (the “Management Agreement™), our live theater operations
are managed by OBI LLC (“OBI Management”), which is wholly owned by Ms. Margaret Cotter who 1is the
daughter of James J. Cotter and a member of our Board of Directors.

The Management Agreement generally provides that we will pay OBI Management a combination of fixed
and incentive fees, which historically have equated to approximately 21% of the net cash flow received by us from
our live theaters in New York. Since the fixed fees are applicable only during such periods as the New York
theaters are booked, OBI Management receives no compensation with respect to a theater at any time when it 1s not
generating revenue for us. This arrangement provides an incentive to OBl Management to keep the theaters booked
with the best available shows, and mitigates the negative cash flow that would result from having an empty
theater. In addition, OBI Management manages our Royal George live theater complex

.............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................
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in Chicago on a fee bagis based on theater cash flow. In 2013, OBI Management carned $401,000, which was
20.1% of net cash flows for the year. In 2012, OBI Management earned $390,000, which was 19.7% of net cash
flows for the year. In 2011, OBI Management earned $398,000, which was 19.4% of net cash flows for the
year. In each year, we reimbursed travel related expenses for OBI Management personnel with respect to travel
between New York City and Chicago in connection with the management of the Royal George complex.

OBI Management conducts its operations from our office facilities on a rent-free basis, and we share the
cost of one administrative employee of OBI Management. Other than these expenses and travel-related expenses for
OBI Management personnel to travel to Chicago as referred to above, OBI Management is responsible for all of its
costs and expenses related to the performance of its management functions. The Management Agreement renews
automatically each year unless either party gives at least six months® prior notice of its determination to allow the
Management Agreement to expire. In addition, we may terminate the Management Agreement at any time for
cause.

Live Theater Play Investment

From time to time, our officers and Directors may invest in plays that lease our live theaters. The play STOMP
has been playing in our Orpheum Theatre since prior to the time we acquired the theater in 2001. Messrs. James J. Cotter
and Michael Forman own an approximately 5% interest in that play, an interest that they have held since prior to our
acquisition of the theater.

Shadow View Land and Farming LLC

During 2012, Mr. James J. Cotter, our Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and controlling sharcholder,
contributed $2.5 million of cash and $255,000 of his 2011 bonus as his 50% share of the purchase price of a land parcel
in Coachella, California and to cover his 50% share of certain costs associated with that acquisition. This land is held in
Shadow View Land and Farming, LL.C, in which Mr. Cotter owns a 50% interest. We are the managing member of
Shadow View Land and Farming, LL.C, with oversight provided by the Audit and Conflicts Committee of our Board of
Directors.

Certain Family Relationships

Mr. Cotter, Sr., our controlling stockholder, has advised the Board of Directors that he considers his holdings in
our Company to be long-term investments to be passed onto his heirs. The Directors believe that it is in the best interests
of our Company and our stockholders for his heirs to become experienced in our operations and affairs. Accordingly, all
of Mr. Cotter, Sr.’s children are currently involved with our Company and all serve on our Board of Directors.

Certain Miscellaneous Transactions

We have loaned Mr. Robert Smerling, the President of our domestic cinema operations, $70,000 pursuant to an
interest-free demand loan that antedated the effective date of the Sarbanes-Oxley prohibition on loans to Directors and
officers.

INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

Our independent public accountants, Grant Thomton, LLP, have audited our financial statements for the fiscal
year ended December 31,2013, and are expected to have a representative present at the Annual Meeting who will have
the opportunity to make a statement if he or she desires to do so and is expected to be available to respond to approprate
questions.
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Audit Fees

The aggregate fees for professional services for the audit of our financial statements, audit of internal controls
related to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and the reviews of the financial statements included in our Forms 10-K and 10-Q
provided by Grant Thomton LLP for 2013 and 2012 were approximately $550,000 and $593.000, respectively.

Audit-Related Fees
Grant Thomton, LLP did not provide us any audit related services for both 2013 and 2012.
Tax Fees

Grant Thomton, LLP did not provide us any products or any services for tax compliance, tax advice, or tax
planning forboth 2013 and 2012.

All Other Fees
Grant Thornton, LLP did not provide us any other services than as set forth above forboth 2013 and 2012.
Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

Our Audit Committee must pre-approve, to the extent required by applicable law, all audit services and
permissible non-audit services provided by our independent registered public accounting firm, except for any de minimis
non-audit services. Non-audit services are considered de minimis if (i) the aggregate amount of all such non-audit
services constitutes less than 5% of the total amount of revenues we paid to our independent registered public accounting
firm during the fiscal year in which they are provided; (i1) we did not recognize such services at the time of the
engagement to be non-audit services; and (111) such services are promptly submitted to our Audit Committee for approval
prior to the completion of the audit by our Audit Committee or any of its member(s) who has authority to give such
approval. Our Audit Committee pre-approved all services provided to us by Grant Thomton LLP for 2013 and 2012.

STOCKHOLDER COMMUNICATIONS
Annual Report

A copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 201 3 is being provided with
this Proxy Statement.

Stockholder Communications with Directors

It is the policy of our Board of Directors that any communications sent to the attention of any one or more of our
Directors in care of our executive offices will be promptly forwarded to such Directors. Such communications will not be
opened or reviewed by any of our officers or employees, or by any other Director, unless they are requested to do so by the
addressee of any such communication. Likewise, the content of any telephone messages left for any one or more of our
Directors (including call-back number, if any) will be promptly forwarded to that Director.

Stockholder Proposals and Director Nominations

Any stockholder who, in accordance with and subject to the provisions of the proxy rules of the SEC, wishes to
submit a proposal for inclusion in our Proxy Statement for our 2015 Annual Meeting of
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Stockholders, must deliver such proposal in writing to the Secretary of the Company at the address of our Company’s
principal executive offices at 6100 Center Drive, Suite 900, Los Angeles, Califomia 90045. Unless we change the date of
our annual meeting by more than 30 days from the prior year’s meeting, such written proposal must be delivered to us no
later than January 6, 2015 to be considered timely. If our 2015 Annual Meeting is not within 30 days of the anniversary
of our 2014 Annual Meeting, to be considered timely, stockholder proposals must be received no later than ten days after
the carlier of (a) the date on which notice ofthe 2015 Annual Mecting is mailed, or (b) the date on which the Company
publicly discloses the date of the 2015 Annual Meeting, including disclosure in an SEC filing or through a press
release. If we do not receive timely notice of a stockholder proposal, the proxies that we hold may confer discretionary
authority to vote against such stockholder proposal, even though such proposal is not discussed in our Proxy Statement
for that mecting.

Our Board of Directors will consider written nominations for Directors from stockholders. Nominations for the
election of Directors made by our stockholders must be made by written notice delivered to our Secretary at our principal
executive offices not less than 120 days prior to the first anniversary of the date that this Proxy Statement is first sent to
stockholders. Such written notice must set forth the name, age, address, and principal occupation or employment of such
nominee, the number of shares of our Company’s common stock that is beneficially owned by such nominee and such
other information required by the proxy rules ofthe SEC with respect to a nominee of the Board of Directors.

Under our goveming documents and applicable Nevada law, our stockholders may also directly nominate
candidates from the floor at any meeting of our stockholders held at which Directors are to be elected.

OTHER MATTERS

We do not know of any other matters to be presented for consideration other than the proposals described above,
but if any matters are properly presented, it is the intention of the persons named in the accompanying proxy to vote on
such matters in accordance with their judgment.

DELIVERY OF PROXY MATERIALS TO HOUSEHOLDS

As permitted by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, only one copy of the proxy materials are being delivered
to our stockholders residing at the same address, unless such stockholders have notified us of their desire to receive
multiple copies of the proxy materials.

We will promptly deliver without charge, upon oral or written request, a separate copy of the proxy materials to
any stockholder residing at an address to which only one copy was mailed. Requests for additional copies should be
directed to our Corporate Secretary by telephone at (213) 235-2240 or by mail to Corporate Secretary, Reading
International, Inc., 6100 Center Drive, Suite 900, Los Angeles, California 90045.

Stockholders residing at the same address and currently receiving only one copy of the proxy materials may
contact the Corporate Secretary as described above to request multiple copies of the proxy materals in the future.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

% @?”"
J\%;m -

James J. Cotter, Sr., Chairman
Dated: April 25, 2014
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PROXY CARD

Electronic Voting Instructions

You can vote by Internet or telephone!
ﬁ‘ g&“&g& § N Q\% i&vailzblc;% .lll.ours a day, 7 days a week!h o .
I NYERMATIONAL nstead o mailing your proxy, you may choose one of the two voting
methods outlined below to vote your proxy.
VALIDATION DETAILS ARE LOCATED BELOW IN THE TITLE BAR
Proxies submitted by the Internet or telephone must be received by
1:00 a.m., Central Time, on May 15, 2014.
Vote by Internet
Log on to the Internet and go to
www.investorvote.com/RDI
Follow the steps outlined on the secured website.
Vote by telephone
Call toll free 1-800-652-VOTE (8683) within the USA, US territories &
Canada any time on a touch tone telephone. There is NO CHARGE to
vou for the call.
Follow the instructions provided by the recorded message.

Annual Meeting Proxy Card
IF YOU HAVE NOT VOTED VIA THE INTERNET OR TELEPHONE, FOLD ALONG THE PERFORATION, DETACH
AND RETURN THE BOTTOM PORTION IN THE ENCL.OSED ENVELQOPE.

A. Proposals

1. Election of Directors — The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR all the nominees listed.

Nominees: For Withhold For Withhold For Withhold
01 - James J. O O 02 - James J. O O 03 — Ellen O O
Cotter, Sr. Cotter, Jr. M.

Cotter
04 - O O 05 - Guy W. O O 06 - O O
Margaret Adams William D.
Cotter Gould
07 - Edward O O 08 — Douglas O O 09 - Tim O O
L. Kane J. McEachern Storey

2. Advisory vote on executive officer compensation — The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR
approval of the advisory and non-binding vote on the Company’s named executive officer

compensation.
For Against Withhold
O O O

3. Other Business. In their discretion, the proxies are authorized to vote upon such other business as may
properly come before the meeting and at and with respect to any and all adjoumments or
postponements thereof. The Board of Directors at present knows of no other business to be presented by
or on behalfofthe Company or the Board of Directors at the meeting.

B. Authorized Signatures — This section must be completed for your vote to be counted. — Date and Sign Below

Please date this proxy card and sign above exactly as your name appears on this card. Joint owners should each sign
personally. Corporate proxies should be signed by an authorized officer. Executors, administrators, trustees, etc., should

give their full titles.
Date (mm/dd/yyyy) — Please print Signature 1 — Please keep signature Signature 2 — Please keep signature
date below. within the box. within the box.

IF VOTING BY MAIL, YOUMUST COMPLETE SECTIONS A - CON BOTH SIDES OF THIS CARD.
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Proxy - READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.

PROXY FOR THE ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS -TO BE HELD MAY 15, 2014
THIS PROXY IS SOLICITED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The undersigned hereby appoints James J. Cotter, Sr. and Andrzej Matyczynski, and each of them, the attorneys, agents,
and proxies of the undersigned, with full powers of substitution to each, to attend and act as proxy or proxies of the
undersigned at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Reading International, Inc. to be held at the offices of Reading
International, Inc., 6100 Center Drive, Suite 900, Los Angeles, Califomia 90045, on Thursday, May 15, 2014 at 11:00
a.m., local time, and at and with respect to any and all adjournments or postponements thercof, and to vote as specified
herein the number of shares which the undersigned, if personally present, would be entitled to vote.

The undersigned hereby ratifies and confirms all that the attomeys and proxies, or any of them, or their substitutes, shall
lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof, and hereby revokes any and all proxies heretofore given by the
undersigned to vote at the Annual Meeting. The undersigned acknowledges receipt of the Notice of Annual Meeting and
the Proxy Statement accompanying such notice.

THE PROXY, WHEN PROPERLY EXECUTED AND RETURNED PRIOR TO THE ANNUAL MEETING, WILL
BE YOTED AS DIRECTED. IF NO DIRECTION IS GIVEN, IT WILL BE VOTED “FOR” PROPOSAL 1, 2, AND IN
THE PROXY HOLDERS’ DISCRETION AS TO ANY OTHER MATTER THAT MAY PROPERLY COME BEFORE
THE ANNUAL MEETING OR ANY POSTPONEMENT OR ADJOURNMENT THEREQF.

PLEASE SIGN AND DATE ON REVERSE SIDE
C. Non-Voting Items
Change of Address — Please print new address below. Meeting Attendance

Mark the box to the right if you O
plan to attend the Annual Meeting.

IF VOTING BY MAIL, YOUMUST COMPLETE SECTIONS A - CONBOTH SIDES OF THIS CARD.
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Reading International Announces
The Passing of James J. Cotter, Sr., the
Former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Los Angeles, California, - (BUSINESS WIRE) — September 15, 2014 — Reading International, Inc.
(NASDAQ: RDI) is saddened to advise that our controlling shareholder and former Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer, James J. Cotter, Sr. has passed away. Mr. Cotter has been the controlling force at our
Company for nearly three decades. He will be missed.

He is survived by his three children, each of whom is active in our Company. James J. Cotter, Jr.
continues as our Chiel Executive Officer and President. Ellen Cotter continues as our Chairman and as
the head of our domestic cinema operations. Margaret Cotter continues as our Vice Chairman, and as the
head of our live theater operations.

About Reading International, Inc.

Reading International (http://www.readingrdi.com) is in the business of owning and operating cinemas
and developing, owning and operating real estate assets. Our business consists primarily of:

e the development, ownership and operation of multiplex cinemas in the United States, Australia
and New Zealand; and

e the development, ownership, and operation of retail and commercial real estate in Australia, New
Zealand, and the United States, including entertainment-themed retail centers (“ETRC”) in
Australia and New Zealand and live theater assets in Manhattan and Chicago in the United States.

Reading manages its worldwide cinema business under various different brands:

e in the United States, under the

o Reading brand (http://www.readingcinemasus.com),
Angelika Film Center brand (http://www.angelikafilmcenter.com),
Consolidated Theatres brand (http://www.consolidatedtheatres.com),
City Cinemas brand (http://www.citycinemas.com),
Beekman Theatre brand (http://www.beekmantheatre.com),
The Paris Theatre brand (http://www.theparistheatre.com);
Liberty Theatres brand (http://www libertytheatresusa.com); and
Village East Cinema brand (http://www.villageeastcinema.com)

o 0 O O O ¢ C

e in Australia, under the
o Reading brand (http://www.readingcinemas.com.au);
o Newmarket brand (http://www.readingnewmarket.com.au); and
o Red Yard Entertainment Centre (http://www.redyard.com.au)

e in New Zealand, under the
o Reading (http://www.readingcinemas.co.nz);
o Rialto (http://www.rialto.co.nz) brands;
o Reading Properties brand (http://www.readingproperties.co.nz);
o Courtenay Central brand (http://www .readingcourtenay.co.nz);
o Steer n” Beer restaurant brand (http://www.steernbeer.co.nz); and
o Taupo Motel brand (http://www.sailstaupo.co.nz).

Forward-Looking Statements

Our statements in this press release contain a variety of forward-looking statements as defined by the
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements reflect only our expectations
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regarding future events and operating performance and necessarily speak only as of the date the
information was prepared. No guarantees can be given that our expectation will in fact be realized, in
whole or in part. You can recognize these statements by our use of words such as, by way of example,
“may,” “will,” “expect,” “believe,” and “anticipate” or other similar terminology.

These forward-looking statements reflect our expectation after having considered a variety of risks and
uncertainties. However, they are necessarily the product of internal discussion and do not necessarily
completely reflect the views of individual members of our Board of Directors or of our management team.
Individual Board members and individual members of our management team may have different views as
to the risks and uncertainties involved, and may have different views as to future events or our operating
performance.

Among the factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in or
underlying our forward-looking statements are the following:

e  With respect to our cinema operations:

o The number and attractiveness to movie goers of the films released in future periods;

o The amount of money spent by film distributors to promote their motion pictures;

o The licensing fees and terms required by film distributors from motion picture exhibitors
in order to exhibit their films;

o The comparative attractiveness of motion pictures as a source of entertainment and
willingness and/or ability of consumers (i) to spend their dollars on entertainment and (ii)
to spend their entertainment dollars on movies in an outside the home environment; and

O The extent to which we encounter competition from other cinema exhibitors, from other
sources outside of the home entertainment, and from inside the home entertainment options, such
as “home theaters” and competitive film product distribution technology such as, by way of
example, cable, satellite broadcast, DVD rentals and sales, and so called “movies on demand;”

e  With respect to our real estate development and operation activities:

o The rental rates and capitalization rates applicable to the markets in which we operate and

the quality of properties that we own;

The extent to which we can obtain on a timely basis the various land use approvals and

entitlements needed to develop our properties;

The risks and uncertainties associated with real estate development;

The availability and cost of labor and materials;

Competition for development sites and tenants; and

The extent to which our cinemas can continue to serve as an anchor tenant which will, in

turn, be influenced by the same factors as will influence generally the results of our

cinema operations;

e With respect to our operations generally as an international company involved in both the
development and operation of cinemas and the development and operation of real estate; and
previously engaged for many years in the railroad business in the United States:

o QOur ongoing access to borrowed funds and capital and the interest that must be paid on
that debt and the returns that must be paid on such capital;

o 'The relative values of the currency used in the countries in which we operate;

o Changes in government regulation, including by way of example, the costs resulting from
the implementation of the requirements of Sarbanes-Oxley;

o QOur labor relations and costs of labor (including future government requirements with
respect to pension liabilities, disability insurance and health coverage, and vacations and
leave);

o Our exposure {rom time to time to legal claims and to uninsurable risks such as those
related to our historic railroad operations, including potential environmental claims and
health related claims relating to alleged exposure to asbestos or other substances now or
in the future recognized as being possible causes of cancer or other health-related
problems;

o Changes in future effective tax rates and the results of currently ongoing and future
potential audits by taxing authorities having jurisdiction over our various companies; and

2

O

O O © O
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o Changes in applicable accounting policies and practices.

'The above list is not necessarily exhaustive, as business is by definition unpredictable and risky, and
subject to influence by numerous factors outside of our control such as changes in government regulation
or policy, compelition, interest rates, supply, technological innovation, changes in consumer taste and
fancy, weather, and the extent to which consumers in our markets have the economic wherewithal to
spend money on beyond-the-home entertainment.

Given the variety and unpredictability of the factors that will ultimately influence our businesses and our
results of operation, no guarantees can be given that any of our forward-looking statements will
ultimately prove to be correct. Actual results will undoubtedly vary and there is no guarantee as to how
our securities will perform either when considered in isolation or when compared to other securities or
investment opportunities.

Finally, we undertake no obligation to publicly update or to revise any of our forward-looking statements,
whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required under
applicable law. Accordingly, you should always note the date to which our forward-looking statements
speak.

Additionally, certain of the presentations included in this press release may contain “pro forma”
information or “non-US GAAP financial measures.” In such case, a reconciliation of this information to
our US GAAP financial statements will be made available in connection with such statements.

For more information, contact:;

Andrzej Matyczynski, Chief Financial Officer
Reading International, Inc. (213) 235-2240
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 8-K

Current Report
Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Date of Report (Date of Earliest Event Reported): June 12, 2015

READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in 1ts Charter)

Nevada

(State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation)

1-8625 95-3885184
(Commission File Number) (.LR.S. Employer Identification No.)
6100 Center Drive
Suite 900
1.os Angeles, California 90045
(Address of Principal Executive Offices) (Z1p Code)

(213) 235-2240

(Registrant’s Telephone Number, Including Area Code)

n/a

(Former Name or Former Address, if Changed Since Last Report)

Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing
obligation of the registrant under any of the following provisions (see General Instruction A.2. below):

O

O

Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425).
Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12).

Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR
240.14d-2(b)).

Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CIFR
240.13e-4(c)).
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ITEM 5.02 Departure of Directors or Certain Officers; Election of Directors; Appointment of
Certain Officers; Compensatory Arrangements of Certain Officers

On June 12, 2015, the board of directors (the “Board”) of Reading International, Inc. (“‘we,” “our,” “us,”
“Reading” or the “company’’) terminated the employment of James J. Cotter, Jr. as our President and Chief
Executive Officer, effective immediately. The Company currently intends to engage the assistance of a
leading executive search firm to identify a permanent President and Chief Executive Officer, which will
consider both internal and external candidates.

On June 12, 2015, our Board appointed Ellen Marie Cotter, 49, Chairperson of the Board and the Chief
Operating Officer of our Domestic Cinemas Division, to serve as our interim President and Chief Executive
Officer. No new compensatory arrangements were entered into with Ms. Cotter in connection with her
appointment as interim President and Chief Executive Officer.

Ellen Cotter has been a member of the Board since March 7, 2013, and on August 7, 2014 was appointed as
1its Chairperson. Prior to joining our company in 1998, Ms. Cotter spent four years in private practice as a
corporate attorney with the law firm of White & Case in Manhattan. She is a graduate of Smith College and
holds a Juris Doctorate from Georgetown Law School. Ms. Cotter is the sister of James J. Cotter, Jr. and
Margaret Cotter.

Under Mr. Cotter, Jr.’s employment agreement with the company, he 1s entitled to the compensation and
benefits he was receiving at the time of a termination without cause for a period of twelve months from notice
of termination. At the time of termination, Mr. Cotter Jr.’s annual salary was $335,000.

Under his employment agreement, Mr. Cotter, Jr. is required to tender his resignation as a director of our
company immediately upon the termination of his employment. After a request to do so, Mr. Cotter, Jr. has
not yet tendered his resignation. The company considers such refusal as a material breach of Mr. Cotter, Jr.’s
employment agreement, and has given him thirty (30) days in which to resign. If he does not do so, the
company will terminate further severance payments, as permitted under the employment agreement.

No new compensatory arrangements were entered into with Mr. Cotter, Jr. in connection with his termination.

ITEM 8.01 OTHER EVENTS

On June 12, 2015, Mr. Cotter, Jr. filed a lawsuit against us and each of our other directors in the District Court
of the State of Nevada for Clark County, titled James J. Cotter, Jr., individually and derivatively on behalf of
Reading International, Inc. vs. Margaret Cotter, et. al. The lawsuit alleges, among other allegations, that the
other directors breached their fiduciary duties in taking the actions to terminate Mr. Cotter, Jr. as President and
Chief Executive Officer of the company and that Margaret Cotter and Ellen Cotter aided and abetted the
breach of such fiduciary duties of the other directors. The lawsuit seeks damages and other relief, including an
injunctive order restraining and enjoining the defendants from taking further action to effectuate or implement
the termination of Mr. Cotter, Jr. as President and Chief Executive Officer of the company and a determination
that Mr. Cotter, Jr.’s termination as President and Chief Executive Officer is legally ineffectual and of no force
or effect. The company believes that numerous of the factual allegations included 1n the complaint are
maccurate and untrue and intends to vigorously defend against the claims in this action. The company has
been informed that the other directors intend to seek indemnification from the Company for any losses arising
under the lawsuit, in which case the company will tender a claim under its director and officers liability
isurance policy.
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Exhibit 99.1
ITEM 9.01 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND EXHIBITS

(d) The following exhibit is included with this Report and incorporated herein by reference:
Exhibit No. Description
99.1 Press release of Reading International, Inc. of June 15, 2015
SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused
this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: June 18, 2015 READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.

By: /s/ William D. Ellis
William D. Ellis
General Counsel and Secretary

110376285 v1
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Exhibit 99.1

Reading International Announces Appointment of Ellen Cotter as Interim
Chief Executive Officer

Los Angeles, California, (Business Wire) June 15, 2015 — Reading International, Inc. (NASDAQ:RDI)
announced today that its Board of Directors has appointed Fllen M. Cotter as interim President and Chief
Executive Officer, succeeding James J. Cotter. Jr. The Company currently intends to engage the assistance of a
leading executive search firm to identify a permanent President and Chief Executive Officer, which will
consider both internal and external candidates.

Ms. Cotter 1s the Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company and has served as the senior operating
officer of the Company’s US cinemas operations for the past 14 years. In addition, Ms. Cotter is a significant
stockholder in the Company.

Ms. Cotter commented, “James Cotter, Sr., who served as our Company’s Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer for over 20 years, grew Reading International, Inc. to a major international developer and operator of
multiplex cinemas, live theaters and other commercial real estate assets. I look forward to continuing his vision
and commitment to these businesses as we move forward to conduct our search for our next Chiefl Executive
Officer. I will work diligently to ensure that this transition is seamless to all of our stakeholders.”

The Company plans to report its second quarter financial results on or before August 10, 2015.

About Ellen Cotter

Ellen M. Cotter has been a member of our Company’s Board of Directors since March 2013, and in August
2014 was appointed as Chairman of the Board. She joined Reading International, Inc. in 1998 and brings to the
position her 17 years of experience working in our Company’s cinema operations, both in the United States
and Australia. For the past 14 years, she has served as the senior operating officer of our Company’s domestic
cinema operations. Ms. Cotter 1s a graduate of Smith College and holds a Juris Doctorate from Georgetown
Law School. Prior to joining our Company, Ms. Cotter was a corporate attorney with the law firm of White &
Case in New York, New York.

About Reading International, Inc.
Reading International (hitp://www.readingrdi.com) 1s in the business of owning and operating cinemas and
developing, owning and operating real estate assets. Our business consists primarily of:

» the development, ownership and operation of multiplex cinemas in the United States, Australia and
New Zealand; and

» the development, ownership, and operation of retail and commercial real estate in Australia, New
Zealand, and the United States, including entertainment-themed retail centers (“ETRC”) in Australia
and New Zealand and live theater assets in Manhattan and Chicago in the United States.

Reading manages its worldwide business under various different brands:

= in the United States, under the
o Reading brand (hitp://www.readingcinemasus.com);
o Angelika Film Center brand (hitp://www.angelikafilincenter.com);
o Consolidated Theatres brand (http://www.consolidatedtheatres.com);
o City Cinemas brand (http:/www.citycinemas.com);
o Beekman Theatre brand (http://swww.beekimantheatre.com);
0 The Paris Theatre brand (http://www.theparistheatre.com);
o Liberty Theatres brand (http:/libertytheatresusa.com/); and
o Village East Cinema brand (htty://villageeastcingma.com)

110376285 v1
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Exhibit 99.1

= in Australia, under the
o Reading brand (http://www.readingcinemas.com.au); and
o Newmarket brand (bttp://readingnewmarket.com.au)
0 Red Yard Entertainment Centre (hitp://www.redvard.com.au)

= in New Zealand, under the
o Reading brand (http://www.readingcinermas.co.nz);
o Rialto brand (http://www .rialto.co.nz);
o Reading Properties brand (http:/readingproperties.co.nz);
o Courtenay Central brand (http://www readingcourtenay.co.nz);
o Steer n” Beer restaurant brand (http://steernbeer.co.nz);

Media Contact:

Andrzej Matyczynski
Tel: 213-235-2240

110376285 v1
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ABOUY THE ANNUAL MEETING AND VOTING
Why am | eecebving these proxy materizh?

This proxy statement is beirgg sent do o) of our steckbolders of recard as of the chowe of business on (8tober &, 3015 by
Reuding's Hoard of Thinecrony b sadicd the proxy of taridets of sy Ol 8 Stovk o fae voted  Reasding™s 2018 Aaous Meeting of
‘\*ssskimhima whs»‘t vt B hold om Voosday, Minonber (6, 2038w {106 wam, Peorlle Time, &8 The Rtz Carlton ~ Sarion Dol Rey,
fovated @ 4378 Adminalty Way, Muwina Dol Roy, Colifornia 0043

What Hems of business sl be votid o af the annust meeting?
Thuore are e items of tasiness schodudd to 3 voted on 8t the 3518 Aapuad Meeting:
i PROFOSAL b Fleation of mne dircotors o the Board of Divectars.

? PROPUSAE I Rutifloaties of the sppaintmont of Uont Thosmton LEP sconr indepersiont aadiors for the vy
senhng l}s:twm; 33, Jais

W wall shae consider any ofher §‘:u>+n a8y fhe iy proporty come Before the Aol Mocrag oc any adiotinments o
fRIAPOREReREG iin\ﬂru! .miﬁdmﬁ appoving wy such afjournmnent, i necossary. Ploase note that m dits Hi W AT B v o
sy sgch bastasss

How dues iy Board of Direciors recominend that | vote?
Thar B of Dinsciors recommends that vou voites
T U PROFOSAL L SFORT the eleciion of B nominges o the Board ol Thsoctars

T U FROPOSAL DFCR” e vanefintion of ey appossment of Gram Thoenien LLP as owr indepeoadnt aeditos x
i v cephing d Beasentiy 3 LWL
Wit bupguens if sddiditionad matiors sre gresentad st the S anuad Meatiag?

¢ uher thas tha £V sns of bustiess deseribed by this Peoxy Stateren, sos are oot aware of iy other bustaess by by avtsd
sy 38t Aol Meoting. Hvaa grant o prosy, e porses ng arrod ws proxivs will have the daveotism i vt Your shaees e any
addtionsd matters propocdy grosentiad Ty @ voie #f e Sowiaal Mosting,

Ao § eligibis so voie?

Yo sy YOl vour shants e Llaes B Brock ot e Anpual Moviag i vow wae s 3 hedder o vovand of Class B Sinck ot e
¥ T o Basiness on Dvtober & 2018 Your shares of Class B Stock aee entitlad fo ane vote poy shate, At thad tine, thens werg
S8 AN shateg o Uik B *rtmh Our\mmdmg, angd 'xmm:e\mm{x Iy &5 hobdors of reveed. Faoh share of Chass B Stosk by entiled i ene
m& o each wEgier praperiy browght belore the A Mecting.

What 8 | owan Ulass A Nomvotiag Coomos Stock?

£ o ddie 207 ovr any Class B Stock, then you bave ransived this proxy h!mema st ondy for vy flrmation. You awd other
aldoes of oy Class & Nonvoling Comenomn Stock P Class & Sioek ™ heve no eating tighis with tespect 1 thie matlers o b vowal o
s Hne Saensd Mocting.

How ran § ge.i: elecironic scoeay i thae pmw mnteriais?

Waat shouhd § ﬁu ;fi receive More t!‘um SR Ly {¥f e prasy mxerms-?

¥ meary Seceie o thae dne copy of s Praxy Statemuent amd moltiphe proxy casds or voting isarastion sands. Far
exunple, H v N vaur shares iy perg sis,m Qi Brokerige Secount, YOR IRUEY FOO0INE § SOIai NOHOS 6F 3 SOREANT voung
swtenction caed for cach brakersy g i i swhich yon ke shares, B yestd s s wdeckhedder o recerd amd vouy shaess s
FORTSIOTant diy e 1RGN GO BRI, YOI IREY FOCQsE 3108 that AN copy of He Proay SIarment or moe thag fne praxy card,
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msteuction card from their bk, brokor or aoaines may rotien the voling bastroction card by mail as st fonh on the.
card.  Proxies subnsitted by masd must be received befors the polis are closed at the annual Meeting

® B Persog - Holders of oor Class T S1ock o8 receed pay wote shiaros hold in their manwg in porson af the Annoa
Meeting. Youwalsomay be reprosented by another person ab the Anrasyd Moeeting by execating wproxy designating.
that person. Shares of Clhass 1 Stovk for which a steckhobider i the baneticial hudder but ant the stockhntder of recerd
away be voted in peeson at ihe Anaual Mécting enle iF such stockbolder i able 1o obiain a proxy from the bank, broker
ot pominee hat holds the stockhotder’s shares, mdicating that the stockboelder wiis the beneficial holder as ofthe
revord dinte and the numbes of shares for which the stockbolder senx the beawficial osvner o tha second dae.

Holders ot our Class B Stk are encouraged to voie their proxies by nternet, wlephone or by completing, signing, dating
and returning a proxy Gid or voting msracton vard, but sot by maore than one method, H vou vite by mare than one metind, or
verte ruptiphe times wsgg the same method, onby the hast-dased vote that is receroed by the inspesion of electinmwill be coumted, and
gach provious vole will be disreparded. 1§ vouw vote in persen ot the Aanusd Mesting, you will revok any prioy proxy that you may
have given  Yinewill noad 1o being a valid form of identification tsuch as s driver™ heamse or passport} 1o the Ananal Mewting fo
wse shares held of revard by vy e persun. '

What if my shares are hohl of record by oo entily such o8 & corporation, Hnited Hability corpaay. seners] partaership, Hmited
grarinershigs i teasd (o “Eatiy ™), or in the game of mare than one persos, o3 ¥ ai voling in 5 repeexestative or filuciary eapacity?

Rharey edd of record B o Enpisy: o ordir to vote shares on behall of an Emtity, yvou pegd 1o provide evidence {such as @
soabed pesohution) of your athorsy to vore such shares, paless yoware Hsted of rovord i o holider of such shares.

Shizees fodd of revenf fvg grast: Tha trastes of g trust i ortitlesd W woete the shaces helid by the tost, cither by proxy or by
atbending aml voting iy gaason at the Anaual Meeting, Tt you ape viring as @ trostes, and are ot sdeptificd a2 record
o of the stees, el vou mast provide suitabde ovidonos of vonr sidtus as @ towstes of the record rus ovwasr, Hthe
eecnrd e & trustand there are multiple trastees, o it only one trusice voles, that frasiee’s yvote apphies o alt of the
shares beld of eevord by the tust.  Havore thanone trostee vaes, the varsi of the najority of the vatag irusices apalby tw
it of the slsares hobid ofrecord by tha irudd. B mow fhasime nestis votes sl ther votes e apdn evenly on aaye pastwular
Fropasat, sach rrasiee may voie proporionatly S shaees hold of record by the trust,

Shares Iald of voveed fn the namee gf ware dipe one person: Honby one individasl yoles, tu divadual's vole appligs to
adt ot the sbarss se held of veeord, B wmne than one perion vafes, Qre votey & the majuriy of thi voting waby iheals apgly
0 2df afsuchabares. B mone than o individaal vasens and e vores sre sphit svanly onoaay padticakyr Popasad, arh
wehivadaal sy votr sich shares proporbosstiv,

What i a rrokey son<vaie?

Appheabie rules porant brokers to vote shares held in sreet naine oo touling mafors. Sharos that ave not vated on hot
rouine matiees, such as the slection of reetwors or any proposed amendment of vor Articles o Bylases, are entlad broker somvntes.
Brobor pon-votes will kave no sffset on e vots for the ehectigns of dreovion:, but conbd sffous (e onteoine of Suy e regnamg e
sppeoval oF the holiiers of wn absolute majonty of the Class B Mook, W aee not cirreatly avware of sny mabier o be prosentes) e
Annual Meeting that would requine the approval o the holders ol an absolute majority of the Class ¥ Stk -

What routine auttlers wiltl be votd on at the snanul mectiog?

The ratification of Grast Thoruon LLP a5 our indepeadent suditoes for 2008 & the anly rogting maiter to be peesonted af the
Anpual Miseting by the Board on which brokers may vole in their discrésion on behadf of benelivial owners wha have aot provided
Young instrnctions. -
What nos-routing satters will be voled on at the anoust mecliog?

_ The cloction of nit mombers to the Hoard of Divectors 1 the ondy non-roptinematior includod wnong the Hoard's

propasats un which brokers may sl voie, uniess they have reggived spectiic voling wtructions from bess Aot owners of our Chass
B Saeck. '

Howe gy shafentiogs sed broker nop-vales sonnted?

)
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 Abwuntions sl beoker ronyotes we invhded in deteoniung whetbor 3 Quonm is present. hi tabsadating the voling results
fior thie e to be voted on at the BH S Annual Mocting, shares that constiwts shdentsons and broket nosovotes sre aot gonsidersd
anithl te vote on that mater and will not 3iTeel the e of any inatier deing voted on at the meehag, urless the matter requires

e apgproest of e hobilors of Lsaiority of the outstand g shaces of Chas B Sovk,

How can § change wy vote alier | subimit 4 peaxy?
I you are a Stockhadder 0F tecord, there ate throe waps y0u vist) nhanges yout voie of rovebe yanr proxy siior yeu e

sudamitied youy proxy:

b Ereat, von may semd s wuiten notics fe Reading hnetutional, e, posting o nther delivery charges propasl. ef
{x¥ioe of the Sovrstary, 6 R Conter P, Sue W0, Loy Angetes, U8 HRME, siating thst vou revoke yorr prasy. Te
be effective, we ratst receive your Wit votioe prioy on the closiag ol the potis & the Annuat Meeting.

T Seeond, you may complere ad subimit 2 now proxy i one of tie manners deseribed shove ginder the caplion, “Hiw
Pard Vate ™ Any cochier prosies wilt b tovoked sistomnsticsity,

Y Thivd, voumay atend the Sneust Meetig and vore s porsen. Aay earbior proxy will be sevoked. Hoswarver, attending
the Aunued Meehng watbma voting @ persen will nad revobe your groxy.

Heow will you sollvdt proxies amd shs wilh pay the coana?

W owal pay the costs af B sobicitation ol fragies. We puy rotmburse broboruge froes and othey possons rapresenting
emseTe el anwoes of shares for oxpenies wosrred in fonwaniing the volng materals I Goy custimnesy who soe bapretrorad invaues snd

abladuiig ther voting instnations. 13 sddinon 1o solicitiag prosivs By mail, vur bostd pembers, effioors and sopplayees may sohent

preaios o our beliall, withowt sdditional comperion, pessonally o by wiephons,
Ix there & Bt of stockhniders entithad to vate st the Anaual Meeting?

Fhw pasaes of stackhotders of rovosd ontitied o vote st the Annual Meaing widl be avadioble al the Aol Meeting and s
tetn by peia e e Annaal Mustiog @ owe pomcyial exeoutive offions fetweon the hours o W gov and 300 p ot iy any prepose
redecant die the Soned Mg, Toarrange 1o viow this bt dorisg 1he faws speniiiod abave, phoase contind the Sevretary afibe
Company.

What comntiiutes 8 quorin?

O The proseieg i possan oF by proay of e holders of reoord of @ sttty of gur satstaring shiaees of Uhes B Nock
catitted e vee will cessitate 8 gueram R e Snol Moeettng, Bach share of pue Class 13 Stk ontitios the fodder of roard to ame
wOIE i o anHIEey 1o vem Dot he Aanwat Mudiing.

Frow ars cofen connied amd who will cortify she resulte?

Fiens Coast Roswlis, Jour @il o s the tsdeponhot iapectis of Tleotins und il wront the vides, detonine whather s
gacsi ss prosent, evaluate the vididiy of proces and ballows, ad coroly the vesalts, A represergative of Fiest Coast Resulis, fng.

il be present ot the Annual Moegting. The faal voting respits will b repariad by ws o s Corsent Report on Foem 8K 1 be Hled
with the SEC withay Fouy basess ity s following ihe Anaust Meeting.

What is the vate rospuived foc 3 Propesal fo pas?

O Hhe pio fndioss foe plectiom o TRercioes of the Annaisd Moeting whe reseree e bighned sumbor of "FCR™ votis will be
ghecred we Pheonsors, This is callod plussy voting. Unlesy vou pdicare atherwise, the peosons pamed o vour poaxies will vose vonr
sharis FOR aft dwe sommdiees for Piecctos maned w Pepesal 1. 1 vour shaves are hedid by & broker o othey somanes and you seeadd
ke i vode vore sheres for the olertion of Directaws wer Proprosal bl vow snstU sty e brokiey or nessranics so vete “FORT o wah
rembor of the dhate. 8 vou give ng isiractioms o YO Drokor or gominee, then vour shares will s e vatod, 1 von peslivet ving
beokor ur aveinee 80 TWEEHMOLLY™ thon vour voie with nod be courded i determantegg the elegtion.

Proposad I requires the sfifnative “FOR™ vole of 3 majonity of the vates o5t by the stovkhuddess present in parsor or
pegresenied by procy 8t e Aneest Mosling amd ontitled 1o vote theram,

g

B iR RRLALLLR G L b L b Kb R ERANRY G S b ba b b L R SR L AL LR RA LR AR b b b s b LA OB NLAR SL RS it A S b LR L L LR BB LAL LR AL LA LR L BL R B BB BB LR L EAR SEANEE AL A i e S UL LR b

APP_PAGE 1228



}'\u,;) tavith reapect to the Froposal to raudy onr indegendent udifors, wheee brakies notvieres wall be cotmted, ouly vites
for oy against Propaast § atthe Annuad Maoting will B cotntod as sotes cast and abstontions and broker nen-votes will net be
couated for YOI puEposes.

Es my vote kept confidential?

~ Proxivs, baHlobs and veting tabualtions identifving stnckbolders are Rept confidential aud will oot be disclosed to thind
parties, excopt 1 may b pecessary 1o mcet logal rogquirements,

Eow will the Ansus Meetiog be contductad?

B vcconstinee with oue Rvbioss, Bllen M Coster s e Chiatsperson of the Board of Direciors, will be the Presuding Officer of
the Sl Meeting. Cruig’ Fampking has boer i!mm,ﬂed by Mg, Cotter 1o serve as Secrctary for the Snnual Meoting.

S5, Cotter ond other membors of snanagamet will addross altondees Follawing the Apniad Mucting. Stovkhobders desiring
t poss i ations o our manaoment sre encouraged o send ther guestions e s, Care of the Anaust Mecting Secretiy, in _
advinoe of the Artual Mesiiag, 50 85 10 355051 O8F SOUEROMIENE 1 PYSfHNeR MPHroprids responss aed 1o fioitsie compliance with
applacabde secnrines faws

T Peagiiding Offives has broad suheriy to sonduct e Savaal Moeting i on crdeely.aeid timely manaer, This suthoriy
inchudes estadthshing s rules for stockholders who swish addeess the meetiog o bring wianers before the Ansual Movting. The
Frosiding €ficer nay alsn exeecise broad disg TRTEGH 6 SRCORIIIAE MO khuslckers wha wish jo speak and i deformining the extnt of
discussion o sl fem of businks. o Bghe of fhe newd tie Sonclide the Agnuad Nk withiin @ seasenble preiod of pme, theee
cot PO no assurne that svary ﬂm,t\ismsi 3 sl whahien o speak will be obile 1 doso, The i‘mtdmg fYicer has suthority, in et
dtycretion, o at 3Ny thine s o mdjourn the Anangt Mecting. Oaly stockholdess re catitied to sttved ol wilderss the Anmed
Kevting, Any questions or deptes as i wids iy o0 may ot avtend and sdadress e Annual Mating it be detenmined by it
%‘u‘\sdms CHBogy:

Onsly such buniness xsshalt fave tuen prapedy brought bofone the Aonuad Muocting shatl be conduaiad, Porsignt so s
FovErning docunien s wid appticable Nevads law, i arlato Yt ;ms;mh roveeghir dodore i Sl Muoeting, such buginess aest
fe beought by or 31 the dinechonof (e hmagmmm {27 our Bosd of Devectors, or{ 3 bodders of nevard o oty Class B Stoch. At
*h nﬁprmn%ﬁ». I, Gy \Er‘tﬂ\hﬂit!hf whit wistues dr addeess the Amrad Mutm“ shoutd do soanly apon bowg recogried v the
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CORPOHATE GOVERNARCE

Drivecioe Lendership Sirnciure

o Ellen M Cotter 45 g curont Chasrpeesen 2o alse seoves s ou e Chiel Exsanive O and President and servis ag
the Thiel Operating Cticer forow Donsedtis Cinvmans. Ellon 8. Cloater hs Boen with our Company for more than |7 vears, focusing
priveipally oh the cinuma operations axpests of our busingss, During this time period, swe have growe oy Danestic Oinems.
Dipurations frowd 8o M8 sorcems aod our cinumna oxvenss sve geowa oen U5 S8 puiflion to DR S8 T mallion.  Mdsrgarst Cotter
oy varrent Vice-Chaveporson, Shargaeet Uofiet bss boors rosporsdble B the operation af our five theaiory o mose than the past 14
vears and B Tor muess thaw the par five years beor Retivedy mvolved o b r-developmmnt of eir N York propenties.

Edlon M Cottor Bus 3 substantiad siahe i our businnss, fwaing directly T 8T shares of Class A Blook amd B304 shares
of Class 8 3tock. Muargsest Uotter Hkowtse hay 8 substsntial stoke i ony usiposs, owrgng dtresthe 834,17 shares of Class A Suxck
apd 35100 sdares of tf;m 8 Sjock.  Iilen and Margane Ooiter ane she Oo-Bxecuttops of thedy father s {lses b Oonter, S0 3 ustiie send
L Trgsdess of atoust (e “Liviag Do estabiished for the benefit of i fedrs. TogetBier thoy Nuve shavad soling sxmiead ovis ag
spgrope of LINNAES shares op TEPG of var Class B Stoek. Blfon amd Mavgaret Cotser fave nforswed 1he Bowrd g they mdead to
oty the shares tenehwially bold by deem tor cach of the aine nowmaces amsed wt ihas Froxy Siatement for sleciion fo the Hoand of
Dyrectoes under Progosd 1 '

Famees Cotier, dradieges be has tee pight t vore the shaees bedd by thae Lretag ot The Covepay belioves dhast, under
sppdecable Mesads Lo, whues G avecomdiiple irustees of o ot i saorsiand oo of volting shasss of & Kovigds L opossiun,
arpd poasre i o IresiG voles, e votes of the majority of the voting wusices apply o afl of the shares beld of reverd by the
st Hmore ta one Sastos voles amd the viles s spiit evendy on woy patitcsiar propesal, saoh (asioc may vote praoportionatly
B shaves el of recerd By heast, Blen ML Usstor and Maouwet Gttt whin colleciivedy coustide i spaponity of the e Trustaes
of thr Liviog Teast, fave widonned the Boued that oy witond 1 vode e shares hobt by the Laving Trist for oach of e ae
RORRRES haraed i Prony Mament Yoe sleciian 1o the Boasd of Diveitors wader Proposal . Accordagly, the Company belivve
shiat Brdlen M Cotter amd Msrgaset 3

: ot : tter vadlectively Bave he povesy and suthariy to vote ol of the shaem of Class 8 Soek inld of
sovad By the Lpviag Toets wheeh, vhon wlided b the wsher slares thaey tepart 2y horag boneBically soared by them, will constituie
TEA%S af the sharey of Ulass 8 Stock entgiod to sude oy dirgsters of the Annual Steeting.

The Corpany has elocted fo ks the "sonirothed company™ cxveplaon tedor apphicabdy sting radex of The NASDAL
Capiral Mook Starker ¢ihe NASLIAD Listiag Rules™ . Avvosdmgly, ihe Conpany 3 oxonyued Hoes the roparonsst jo fave an
fnkoponin nomissebig Cenantie: wid toBve @ beard comprised of 3t st @ magoray of pubrponde dirvdions. weare
aovoriheless nommating s badependent diesctors & sloction o our Boaed: W have an Awdit sd Oonthiets Conmsittes he " aads
Cesmmiibie Vasd & Compensation sl Rtock OQptaas Copsaitier {the Conpesiation Dampaties  compriad wmtisehs of udegunden
dtsectons,  Amd, eeehave & our swexauss Exenoive Comspaios oaprised o oar Ulweeporson sad Ve Ulisieporson and to
eneposdent dirovtery Odessrs. Guy W Adeas and BEdward L. Kangh. e w thiv stractige, the coneanence of st o one
Swlepeaden aumber of e Pxeahe Commriteoe 35 roquirdd i srder S the Exevaiive Comnuaioe to tike sition.

W belipve thig vur Dheeniors bring 3 broad smge of hadershap oxpooenss i our Uppany sl rogidacdy comtribage so the
Hioughi il deseissa svolvasd imcoHeadbvely oveomeing the bustnes and aifaees of the Company. We bebeve tu 3 Boand
mambers we well enganed i iy sesporaibatities snd that o] Boord members vspross thewr views it consider e opimons
sxpressed by ot Drecties. S Pirectons on our Beaed aoe indupinadont tader the MAS0AG Listing Raofes and SEC vadex, and
Wiltaaas I Gonld seeves as tha el dvpior smeag our Bndepessiont Dareatoes, o that capasay, Me QGould chairs nesetings of the
wedependent Lrooons ard #ols av Hatsor beywesn ous Uhamparson of e Bowd and interin Chief Execative {fioer and vur
Indeprenident Dincctors. Car Budependont Dicegions sirecnvabend fn the londership stractorg of o Begd by serving onaut sl
Lommitier, the Canpeasatan: Cogunaies, and the s Overspla Cianauttes, vach baving s separae mdopoasdent chatrproson. In
soareciion wath the Aaneal Meeting, wo have estabhshed a Spooidd Nonsinatisg Uominittee comprized of the chars of ol Excowtivg,
Audit sk Compensation Cornmittons, ‘

Munagensent Succession
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dovnes b Cotter, St o {Sﬁmgam;y*_s contreliing stnckedder, Chaveponumy amd Uit Bxeoutive (ibroor, rosigand oo alt
passifiians B our Conipaty on Asgust ¥, 2, anud passed vy o Sepiember 13, 2850 Lipowchis resigastien, EHen M Cottes wis
appointed Uhabpeonn, Marpana Colter, e sty woss appoisged Vo Chatopersons st heonas doLoRey, §o., bee banbee, wag
appoarmted Ol Sxecutive Criroor, whils continaag s position a8 Prestdent.

Uiy done 43, HHES, the Bosrd teontinsied thicwnplovment of hanes £ Cotter, 30 s oue Prevsident sl Chied Pregutbve Offiver,
and appodafed Ellen M. Cotier to serve as the Company 'y anerisn Prostdent snd Chitef Exevutive Othioey. The Board has ostablished
an beevetive Search Committes t1he " Search Commnitiee ) comprised of eur Chadporson, vir Vice Chuuperson sead direciors Adams,
ot and MuBacinen sod hag retatmed Rom Ferey to sek out candidues fo the Chet Bxgautive Uifleer pnsition.  The Soarch
Cusnviites widl consihy both wstsnad and oxtemad condidntes.

Hasnsd's Hole in Rivk Oversiphi

O L manageme st s responsible for the day-taeday simagesient of oisks s fee o Company, whitke wy Board, axsovimle
atsd teaugh My commanes, hes reepmeabidity for ihe evonvight ol ik patagoment. 18 1t¢ o3k overnght 1ok, our Bosed g the
responsibality 1o satisfy tsell that the sek management processes destgned and implomeniad by masagoment are adegueds snd
functioniag wy desigasd. ' : - : .

The Rosrd plays an tmporiant role i risk oversipht &y Hoading thyough divent docizsivnmaking suthority with respeet to
sty ficant ystiors, as wedl we thoovgds the oversigle of management by the Board and ds comeniias. By paetivelsr, the Board
HEHBISRTS 3 Visk oversight Runchon theongh () the reviee and disowon of wigudar proiodic opoanss by e Boawd snd iy
SO e W dopdes selating tothe risks thetthe Conspany Bogs, {23 e woguired approval by e Hogrd {08 8 connaittes of the
Hourd) of signiticant ansactions and ottse doctsans, 133 the disect oversigli of spreoriic arvas of dhe Coragany s lopsineass by S
Aadd Comeaey, the Compsamtion wnnitiee s the Tax Crearsight Commation, el (8 regubn proodiv repists froat she aubiton
st other veside vonsubtins roganding varjous sos of patcatiad sk, incladng, ooy othors, those sehating e it contal
aver Hnancidd roparsing. The Baed abvo relies ot management to being sgnsfioant sattaes hupaciag the Company 3o Sy aicmtional
the Bousd. '

*osiroled Cumpsay™ Satas

Lt sowtion SSE8G0 T Y of the NASEIALD Eustug Rules, 3 “controlled company™ v 3 company w whach 30% of the vt
gy R the clevton s disostors s hubd by s mddeidend, 3 gonip or sisghes cospsiy, Trpotisy, Margarst Urater wand FReg &
Ot doneHoiadiy own L I0RREE aves af Ulae BY ’

: ok, Based onadvioe of soussel, aur Hosrd has detormiiad thet o e the

Crmmgraany 35 3 Teoneradiod compraay’ anhion the NASIAL Listtng Rades.

_ S ey ol the Bossdity and dedriments of saking advantage of the exeeplions o the corparsie giverspioe raloy sa
it e ahe NANIIAC) Lasesng Hates, out Boand hay doteomined e fake abvimiugs of vertais syoeptesrs foo e NASDAG Listing
Rides afforded o s Uompany s & Coatrediod Company. In rodianee o e “eoniredled compamy™ oxsepion, G Uampasy dees ot
AL A osepanie standing Romdsstiog Cossities. The Compity: seestibades at thes v maimeing v Tt Boogd comprissd of 3
oty of arkoporadiot Brirccteny and fully ndepeadent Audit amnd Canpemuition Cimnetices, sad Bas ne privi iniention so sy
Frong Phat stipstad, P prrposes ol sehotirag norinoes for eue 2018 Arvinal Movnag, the Board foanod 8 Speciad Momvinatiag
Comuaitee compeiaad of the Chades af aay Fxeowtiee, Awdit and Omnpeasason Comnuitoes { Meswrs, Adasen, dMoBuchers wad £,
swgmschivede ), and dologinted b e coverpittos suttearay 1o roconsmond sy to e Board for the Buaard s appoevad and
oonpinstion. Proposal § s oomprised of the nominees recovsmended by the Speciad Namsging Usandites élﬁ.ii approved ant

sopvanated fe e Bogwd
Board Conutittees

Ay Boand has 3 stunding Executive Uommitice, Audit Copstter, Campensation Compitien, sd Tac Dversight
Comming. Thoss onneittees arss dbsonsced i gonger dotn odow:

C Havtutise Comgbtiee. The Execntive Conunittee operides puesuaat e a Charter ssloptesd by one Beard, Our Exeomtise
Casprntiiog & sapvently cornpeasad of Mg Blen M Coster My Margarot Uonsee Sndd Sdessrs. Adsam and Kane. Porsuant o 58
{hetee the Bxevudiey Commnatien b suthoeized, 3 the Tullos extent peomatiod By Movady Baw aod sar Byboss, o takie any a1
;mts’xm‘s;!\fim cotdd Bave boen iskon by the fll Board tetween ety of the i Buaomd. T Faecuiive Commatios held s meetings
durig Jeid '

Sudi Copveigsey. The Auadis Qonsanttos oporates puesassst fo Chartor sbapied by our Seard that i svadabie ap o website
at weway reingnitosm. Cu Boaed by dorersimad that the Awdis Comaiieg w comprised ontisehy of independont
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Stock (raprosenting 35 3% of sueh &1 a8 Secky. M. Margaret Cotter is alve a Eo- Frieer of the Jumes 1 Colter, St Trost, whih s
the revord owned of 696080 shares of Class B Vasiag Camunon Stock {representing wn adiditional $4.0% of such Class B Siock)

S M Cotter hrisgs o the Bosrd bor experienog oy i hve thoeater producer, thassfor aprator and ag active member of ihe New
York theatre commmunity, which gives her dpsight inte live theater business weads g affect our business i tiny sestor. Operating
wtd overseeeg these properiies for over 10 voars, Ms. Coiter conirtbutes o the stitegie dircetion forour developments. b
addition, w&ihier direcy oweenabip of $64,1 73 sharss of Clasy & Stock and 35,100 shares of Chy B Stock and Key positions &g Coe
E;xce;tssar of her Rather s ostate andd Un-Trustoe of ihe lmes L Cotter, So. Teost, M3, Colter {s o signsiicant stike holiker i our
Campang.

Withiam 1Y Uould William D (Gouid fas been a Dieector of vur Corpiny since Oviober £5, 3088 and fas besn 3 menbery of
the tesy fiem ol Proviioskd IO stavs 1986, Proveously, hewas o paemer of the taw fiom of O Metveny & Myers. W have from time to
siine eetraed Teone Oondd PO or fepad adeion. Totl fees puid tocMe Gogdd"Clas Breedoring 20bwee LML M Gouldisan
awhor and lecturer on the sulfe Qs oF corponte gove onanes and aeygers el spuisiiions.

Fdward | Rae, Bdwarrd L Kang Bas boon a Dhireeior of our Company since Dvinber 13, 204, Me Kone was also a Dircctr
o our Comgrny from P98 o 1908, and sorved as Prosdent from P98T te 18K My Kune currently seeves i the Chare of our Tax
Crvensight Comeniteee and of our Compensation Convmatier, He also serves s aomembor of our Escoutive Comantios and our Aadit
Cuamition. At varlous thines during the past three decades, be has boen Adjunct Professor of Law attwo of San Diggo’s law
sehools, mst recently w JG08 amd 3009 @ Thisnss Kefierson School of Law, amd prioe theredo at Catiformia Wisstemn Schoot of Law

Al Kanw Hrioes o the Board s mane vears @ 2 tax attarney. amd bee profesan, sehich cxperissoe wellsorves ous
Company i addiessing e mgtters, M Kang also diags s Ssproenes &8 2 past Presadent of Crag Cogpoation and of Kendiog
Camnptany, e of out oorparate prodecassors, wxosvel as 2 ormer msmber of the bourds of directors of soverst pubhiely hold
eoporations.

o Dronadae 8 Mebpchern {}w{;a}as L McEachors bas beett o ESrvctor of our Company st May 17 2042 and Chatr of our
Aadiy Conmbies e Augist 2000 B b sorvad a s incmbor a0 Bowed and of thie Asdiy spd Sompeasatiig Cosindiee f
Wit Group, a NASDAG Fated sngineening company, since JO00. My MeBachern i alie the iy of 8w bawd of Cotnnesity
Bank in Pasadorns, Califrna mud s mombor of 13 Awdit Commigios.  Fe alse samembar of the Finnee Computiee of the Methodist
Hospaial of Areadin, S Septamber 3004, M. MeBachern has alee seoved us s imsirucior of unditing smd accounipnuy ot
Chirerunt Mol onng Cullepe. Mt *MeBachern was an audit paeer from Saby PR3 to Moy 2000 with the andt o of Djodie sl
Touchie, LEP, with chiont oonceatratmns in fivanal wstitotions amd read cstpie 8 dolachem was alse s Professionst Acoonnting
Fotow wath ihe Federst Home Loan Baok bosrd o Woashergion DX froe Jupe 1983 R0 July PI8S. Fran Jone P06 1o hag $9830 M
MbrEachimn svas @ stafUmember and subseguenty womanagerwith the bt frm of Topehe Ress & Ua, {praduecmasor to Dolottie &
Tovehe, LLPY My MeBachers recerved a 1S, i Bustrusa Sdminestontion in 1974 Frony the University of Cablorsis, Bokebey, sand an
NEBAL e PTG frome the Uinivensity of Souheora Dalifons ) - - '

oy
P

WA

C 0 Me MeBachorn brings e the Board s avors thaee 37 vears” expenican mecting the scooumting snd auditing sweds of
frosetell instilationy amd roat ostate chiopty, ipcluding our Company. Mr. MoEachesm wso brings his exprricace reposting as on
sk pendint auditor to the boards of diteciony of g varicty of public reporting companies and 4 a boand trember himsal{ Tor varbous

campantes v pol-tor-profit orgasizaives.

~ Michoel Wiotiiah, Machas! Wrotnmak say slected bo serve o5 3 Diovctor iof the Casnpany on Octobee 12, 2045, Since 2009,
Ste, Wrotnuak b baen ihe Chief Execmive Qfficer of Aminen Resources, LLU £ Amigon ™), a posely tebid internataomnd commuighitios
teasding tivm, Me Weotniak joted Amancs i P99 and is ereddited with expanding Amince’s aetivitios in Buropo and Asia. By
gekahirdhung 2 y0int vontuee With 2 Swing dngineicting company; a8 well a3 vreating pantserships witle Asta-based busnesses, My
Weatnhak succesafully divensifiod Amince’s product portiohio,. My Wiesndak bodaine o peemer of Qamnco in 2002 My, Wiotaiak has
boew for piote thap the past Bve veaes, 3 trustes of 56 Joseph’s Church i Bromxville, New York, and s 2 member of the Baard of
Advasors of e Little Sasters of Gy Poor ot Bl nuesing boree i she Beong, Mow York sinee approximatedy 2004 My, Wroiniak
graduated from Goorgeros invorsity in 1989 wath a B8 B A S fauade).
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7 - M. Wratadak is o ;;p_c’:r:.iaﬁ:i;{%t i foreign ade, and brings {o the Board his considerable expetence o ntermtionsd businoss,
wchiding foreign exchange oisk muigation.

Atlendance at Board and Comasiiter Mectings

o During thie yaar oncled December 38, 2014, our Bodrd of Directirs mel seven times. The Audit Commitiiee held four meetings
s the Compensaiion Commities held three trmﬁg.-;ix's%fg, white the Tax Crversight Comnuttive held fous imeetings. Bach Director atfondind
31 teast T8% of these Boand mectings and at Jeast 7% of the meetings of al commistees on vehaeh B or she sepved.

Indemnity Agreements

W cutromtly have sndemndy sgesemionts in place with cach of o current Pheectons ansd sentor affioers, as woll a3 oostain of
the Urirccrns and sonder offroers of onr subsudisrics. Vndor these ageoemends, we lirve sgeeeid, suluect te ceraim excoplions, fo
indepmibe each of these wadbviduads spamst all expenses, liphilitas wnd fossos medsrod w coomection with any threatesed. pendmg ot
condummplated shon st or pocvedagg, whethor cevib or criminal, sclimmastative o syvestigaive,

whicht stch fredividual is o party o 5 thonened t be made 3 purty. i any manner, based upen, sising from, selating o or by foason
oo e okt snch induviduat i50 was, shalt b or B boen a Digector, sdlicer, emplivvee, sgeat or fidnciry of the Comypaity.

Crampensation of Bircctaes

Pravieg 2084, s pusid oar ven-cmplopen Siregtos 333,000 pae yoar, This dummerd vats increased to 33G 008 I 2018, Wepay
the Chaitman e our Audit Coramatiag s slditionad 87000 per yeur, the Chedgman of our Componsasim Uonsmttee an additiona
L35 000 por ver the Clawrssan of our Tag Crversighe Coninities an additional $18,08 per veay amd thi Lead Inddependunt Director in
sckbitionat $3.000 poy yosw,

Proring 2014 we paid an sldaioral sneme fee of ST g cachof Messes. Autans, Gould, Melachem amd Kane and an
pdditions one-Bnw Haaod S0 R M. Stoeey. Messrs. MeEhem and Storey alse each regeived an additionat 6,008 for thew
schilinond oonugiie work. B 201X we paed s askditdonad one-tipae fog of $23.000 w onch of Messes A, Gowhd, Moelachens and
¥ ane and wa wdlitionad soe-dime oo ol 373 (8880 Me Shwey. T tees svate owawshad aetwanch et 13 onoopranios of thei sereie
o sy Hoed ad Couaiitiias

X

O Upaw joinieg our Baswd, pow Ditectons fuve istovicafy receieed immedisrely vosed five-yRarstock optiens to purchase
R shares of our Chse A Stock ot s exerorsg prive ogist (o the market price of the sieek af the date of graee. Initial gomts i be
wpde o Ms Cwedidiog and Mo Wtk owr rocemtly appotnted Directors, ane eaag rovisvand by sor Compeasatinn Commptior,

Copumneing Iy 13, 3014 cuch of vur poramgiovee Disectors will ratedve sn adiditionat aonoal gram of stk ophions 1o
parainpie LOHERaes of iy Chase & Stork, The sward will be on Japuaey 15 of the appdicablo year, sl be tor a torm of Tive yoars,
have an gxercisy priogvgust to e market poice of Clase A Stuch ou the goand Jivte and b fully vesand irumediaioly upos grat.

Pireeior Cumpinsation Table

The following table sets Rt information concerning the Comprnsitast 1o persons wha served 33 our tim-saplepes
Dhitectons daring 2010 Rar iy servioes as Directors,

Al Other
Fres Eavsed or  Upion Awanly Compensation
Name B . Patdia Cosh (%) {31 R\ U L. 1R
Mangarey Colter €43 oo T
Ly W Adams {2) 0,000 69,000 4] O HERO0
Esbwasrd £ Kamw AR 0 4 £33 (06
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PR()P{}“!“L 3 Rajification of A ;}plﬁn!mfnt“f il Epen dent neﬂh‘iﬂ‘m}
Public Acconutiog Firm -

- The Andit Committes has selected Grant Thornton LLD ag our indepomdent registered pubbie sesopnting firm for the yoar
encding December 34, 2003 and the Boaed has riiiied such uppotntment. The Bosrd b disected that our managament sulundt the
selvenonof Gant Thomdon TLP sxoue independent registered public accounting Ben for 2018 G eatification by the stockholders ot
the Antual Moecung, ' : '

Cirant Thoraon LEP bas atsdited our Songedidated fioancial statomenty st 201 1 Represergatives of Grant Thoowon LLF
are dxprectedd o be w the Anmal Meeting, witl have an apportumty o aks sostatemend i they 5o desiie anid will be peatable w
respand W appropriae questivns.

Srwckhohder esiificativn of the seloction of Geant Theaentis LLP a5 one sedepondent reggisiorad poblic stcoustiing Nonc iy
018w need vosgionid by el Bybrws or othensdse. However, the Board has directed our masapoment 10 sebmdl this selection 1o the
snchholders for satifcation as @ mptes of poed corponyte pracues. {n the overt e tockholders Gt 1w ratity the selestion of Grae
Fhoraton LLP, die Apdie Compraiiee will nof be requirad to ropliace Gamt Thomton LLF s our independend registered pubhic
secortsting fiem Ircthe seont of such a Failore to ratify . the At Conmmittce and the Beard st rooonseder whathor ar g e etam
Gram Thoraton LLP a8 our wdependent registorad pubthe sccoumntng e in fiture vears. Evenaf the solection is manfud, the Al
Lot woimheoretion may duect the appointment of 3 diffsent independent remstered pobhic stconmnting firm s any vme 3 e
Audii Commitos deteraines that such s change seoubid be i oud and oy stockholdens” bost mtaeests:

Viete Ruguired

The atfirmative vote of the holders of & majoridy of the shares prosent i person o reprosented by proxy and entitled fiy vt
it ihe Annnal Mesting & requarad 1o satby te suldeoton ot Grast Thorston LLP sy indepindent registared publio seonunigg o
fur 201N '
Hecommendation of the Board

FHE BOARE RECOMMENDS & VOTE“ROR™ THE BATIFICATION OF THESKLECTION OF GRANT THUORNTON LLF AS
OUR PRPEPENDENT REGISTERED PURBLI ACUOUNTING FHUM FOR 2015,

-,
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HEPORY OF THE AUIHT AN CONFLICTS COMMITTEE

The balfewrag iy the sepont of the Audit Uonnrittes of our Bowd of Pioscton with rospect b o audited fienedisd dateanty
Yo 1 fisval v ewidedt Drousnbue M, 34

Fhe idormation contained i ihis report shall not be deemed 1o be Swliciting material” or “nw‘ with the SEC or subsject 1o
the Hubilites of Seohun 13 of the Becuritios BExchange Act of 1934, as aorended (e “Exchange AL except W the exient that we
spechiially incorponste by yeference into s dovoes flod ander the Sevanties Actof 1932, s amendad, of the Exchange Act,

Tha P of the Agdi Demoative & ooenit ihe Boaad in 8y gopord] avooight of pwr financrd reg wﬂm§ aten

copiraly s sudy Reshoss, The Andit Commitiar opesates wmder g witivn O hessser adopind by ay Buawd af Direeders. T Charsy

sy posdewed periadivatly e sabicad e change, s sppropriare. The Awdit Commiie Uhwter Jeseribes in grester dotast the full
\{R‘imfh{mt“s of the Audit Comsna,

o this contexy, i Ausht Commitics has reviewed and discuwssed the Compane's audiied foangsd gaiomentg wiilt
emismagerneat gl Cuot Thasntan LLE, s idupendent saditers. Managiment i respensible fae the prepacsiion, presentation wmd
iy of ouy Ragnoral semenis, scoountiog and Smmeoiad roparting prinvples; ousbibsdiag snd msignning disclosune costrels
annd provedures gas defined o Exchange At Rude 13- 130 estubdishing aod nuaintaining intoemt comtrod over finsneial R,msr‘tmg( {4
defimed in Exchange Aut Rule § S i 0K o alugnng e offectsaness of dm,imaiw contiels snd ;}m;uﬁm es; evabiating the
effectivemess ot inteonal comtrol sver finumeid requariing snd pvslasiiag sy chunge o vrnsl contod aeer fuameid repanting that
fve enknteehalfy si¥ceted. of ¢ ronanmabily Hkudy ro antenuly affoct, aneowd (‘N!t«:'i wer invaraial coporting. Qe Themton ELR t
TR ;mwsbtr R pine -*‘mamu\ % s mﬂﬂcm audit of the consotidued Snoncin? statosients and oxpressing oW opion en e
coniprmty of thesg Snamw mi sintemenis wih sceousitng priveaples geeweadty socepdad iy ihe Vated Sates of hmssm aa well 43 an
TUREEER of {13 sRuRgOTIEIE S ansivs et of the effectiveness of ittt contred over Bravial seportion and (6} the vifeativenss of
wteevtad conteal s fnuncidd ropoding

The dudg Commiittes s discussed with Gieant Thomton LLP the arattess vequired 1o b disenssed by Sudinng Stavtard
Mo 18, "Compugications with apdit Commtices” and 8B ,‘&{31:: ,"su&mmﬁ Standerd Na. 3 A Ands of baoraal Contept Over
Finmnetal Heposting that i satepratesd waly Andit ot Faunmoiad Sugemonts 7 s adiditem, Grad Thooton LLE has provided she Asdg
i osmies with the wiiton dscliseees wd 1 ke ey soguived by she hadepondeace Sroncfards Board Sumded \u 18y snemshed,
“indepesdenee Dhvcusions with Awlt Comurdteers” and e Audi Uommatioe has dscussed with Sirant Thomten LLP dew fion's
xdopaiones.

 ihased o thue yeview of the consedidatsd Srasaast statemuats ad ilscusasons ith and represatitions fom sumagenes
s (vt Thoraton LLEP robreed Wwabove, ithe Aadd Coremaiee secortmoidiod fo aur Board of Paroctors tha the audand Boagwin
stapeaveny by daciusded 18 0w A Remzmn Form HAE for Broad vour ‘Nw For Blig wahy fine B

aew wﬁpk ir wend wECBOC .tmc:l i .1{ m\bmge mth aumzmmg ;mm mhw ww c\ii?s Boge g\im i Em i*mkcd ‘«cm{m ﬂ\n I ziu
yesponstindity of remtporns simd the Oamgany’s aulepembont rcg:\ium st arsennting Bra. i glvimg sty reviunrmendaténg W the
Rogrd of Qbveiors, the Audt Conaiton ot an £} management s sopvosendtion that sl t;mmnssi statemonds have boen
pwpmm seath Jeegoty and abavotivity and m oontormay swith gecounting priciphe gervratly acsepied in the Linded States and
£33 the sopodt of the Compang s ndepeadont regidered {mtsht, BecoUniEg knn il rospoet o such Baanosd statemens,

Respeethadly subantted by the Auda Covemitis:,
Dougle £ Mekachem, Chagpam

Tebward L. Koo
Tas Sey

¥at
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BENBFICIAL (AVNRERSHIPOF SECURITHES

E;‘:'xt';-:'s. s shoeeiend bolew, ta folltvwiog ta¥ds s oot the sinres o Classy A Stock amd Chass B Btk beseReially awisd

sufors asd Decior posiness,

ey

® \\.\§ £ o s

«  uph ﬁ"u it ;mm,busss exevtive adfioesy ad named axoqudive offioney ser ferth in the Summany Cotapensation Tably of this
Pooxy Satenmes
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The folhswing iable sots forth information rogarding our excoptive mhmn siber piws LHen ML Cotter, whose wfonnatine s
sed foath abuvve vader Praposad T Flegtionoed Dieeaines ~ Nonsnees for Blactim ™

Name \gg ‘l i

TRovasts b L Reet Flogeciad Oftioer

Robert b, Smerling NC? Frosidont - Dxnoiic Clnvans

Willous ) Bl AR Genersd Coynsed sl Seorgtery

Winvere I Bmsh £ M\mﬂm:g} Prvester - Assteaise and Now Zentand
Janes f Cattee, Be Foemer Ohisd Prevagive Cooy (i coend}
Joves | Oiwter, Je A% Paemey { heed Easvgnee Cffioer

Aadran; Matveaypska ad Former Olief Fisacad OFee, Trossurss and

Compongds Socrehae

Besais Oy Ghose. Dresusts Dl way appodatnd Chief Finsmoial Offiver sond Teonsurer oit May #2058 Oovr the
pssg I3 wm{ $r. CGhow servid s Bxerathe Vi Prs st and Ohief Pinarial Officee and i 3 huesber of sepios Sinnee moles with
fheie. WYSE-hsted compstiza; SRillod Heabows Booup (3 hoolth derviees vompany, sow part of Chenosls HhadihtUae) from 008 10

SH1Y, Shergard Rtorage Uenters, g, fun internationadt comgamy focused on Hi ssguistion, dovelihmatt and opension of soif-

\:mp: cortars IR the L0 aod Bheope; s pard of Puldic Biorage] oo 200 0 2600, ared HOP, Ine  {chich wveats poasardy inooesd
“awm wrving the hoaliboars ndasdrg s o T80 b BN and s Monmaging Dhrediot-Intomationy sw:ﬂ irpen Niedet Adensors hm
smict:ﬂi’ﬂt‘k‘ut reaearch amd tadag Frem usmt‘mmm;\ Qn puhisd» h'mh,d Fonh astate COPpOTRbE SECHERIOS 30 LB R E Krwoged Boon
2006 BT Prior wreto, Me Ghose wisskiod far 1 vears B £ piorrcierioseUoapers i the U8 Trun 1975 gy P93, and KPME
the R, He gushBed as 3 Cotithind Publa Acsrintans i e LS and o Chartred Sosmuntiant iy shes LKL and babds an Horwes
Prigro w1 Phystes fropy ihe Uiivorsity of Defly, fodis sl an Exvcutive MBAC frowm the Taiversity of U <sm(m\s<a bad Angekes

Robept ¥ Sowrling %mh“ﬂ Sprdiing s sorvad a8 Preshdont of pir domestic oo aperations stree 19940 e Sanerbng
has DOs I 1N CTRea maim&n fip 3F yoask anad, inenecately hefors jooning we Uniapasi, 3 sared e e Prosidues of Lovws
Fhiomarsy ‘-.’ms:ez\w::;u, at Usypawation.

3&3\}}\5&3\1\{3\?}& Willian 12 Bl v appoiated ovr Generst Connae? aid Soovetaey in Ovtober W4 Me Dl has more dun
3 vears o Rands-on oot CxpRrinee i i rond estate fivvver, Heforo yoining sur ey, B W F puntasy w ihe rORl ostate group o
Rifloy Rustin LEF for 16 yeors. Bofre that, b worked of e T firm of Muorgan Lowis & Bockina LIP, M Pl dopan His oatroer
@ s porah aod seourities kevyer thandBeg irpesate sugnasitions, PO s mergoer. 2ic  and then maved o e roal ostats
spevrad pration thandiing iuiwmg\\mmm;ims < gt oy, duwingmn*n! aid farmd wse anad ventiomest soreas the Thagod
Segtesd He bad a \{ifi\&hiﬁi\\af road oSty prRting in Newe Yk and Hawadh, spens 1 whish wo have paotioalis aymt Soromersiumy.

My Efis goadoated ¥ha Seta Kaggos fom Ouvilontal College i 399 with a Badodor ol e dogroe in Boltund Sufeson. Ho seppdeod
feiw TAX sdegrow v PORT fom the Plabvorsaty of Mictdgaen Law Selend,

“\3&33 L3 Dt Wavee D Sweith joaed onr Cosspasny s Sl 2084 o o Muaaging Birector  Aopvabis and fow
Zenibndt, aior i o i Hoves Cinomis, During His tie Wil Floves, be woig Rew driver, i Head of Propiaty, oy growiag thi
wmpassw s Asistintine and New Zeatund aperstions vii an ALDIIN milion capomsion rere Hian 30 sitey and 900 sorsvns, While
at Hoves, s aarcen rtoded heading g the groap’s oor peking compaey, CHnma operations; sepresenting Hovts av o directior on

VRrious fRag ventiaty wterests, awd mmsimmug Ay peel seguisiions amt dlspasaly the sommpany made,

LA h\“lgﬂg S Reres £ Cotder Br sevved as our Chaforsan and Cheel Execurve Dfloer durmg 343 unnt his soxipnation
g Agupd

S d L Mh.t Jr. Bawes & Upitee Jo sveved sy our Prosidusy during o of 3044 JM wis appotnied owy Chiel Exeeutive
£ Roor o 2 "wmm T 0N He smxdemxm Ve {hatreenn shuring 208 theough An&mi FOAREL M Chatler™s posstion sy Pesstdant
and Chid Exeoutive Qfficer continuod waith fune {3, 3%

1 Andregf Malyoryaski soreed as our Ulief Pinsncisl Officer, Treasutes s & GrpORIte SSoretiny
3Ki rosigned a3 mecsr.m: Becretany of Octobor 39, 3014 and as vy Uit Pinwneisd £ ey amd Trowsuree
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EXELCUTIVE CDMPENSATHEY
o prnsatim Dhoussion and Analpsd
ol npd Anhoriy of the Compensatiog Commitive

Dy Boand has extablishud 3 standing Compaasatices Cortmitioe consistng of twi or Mot of our pu-erpleye
Piroctars. As a Controted Qumgrany, we are sxempt from the NASDAC Listing Rules regarding the deteratination of excoutive
compensation,

The Compenstion Comugiites coopmemends o the Bl Boasd the compeasation of vur Chiel Exvoutive Offteer and of the
other Cotter fianty menbers whes serve as efficery of our Coonpany. Dur Hoayd, with dhe Colter fimnly Birectors sbstainimg, ivpioally
B aceopiod withow medifioataon tay sompneativn rocomprandations of the Uomponsation Commitier, bul regerves the right to
rendiby the rocommondations o taky vther conyensation sctions of ity owe. Prior to Bby resignatin as owe Chaionan and Chiel
Exsestive Offfer om Augaes 7, 300 durteag J014, as w prior yoars, Jaimon JCouer, Br, v dbelepated rosponstiality by ouwr Beard for
{*w:msmn\s\ She corpRnNanon of oul ST etficers othe than hisweld wd Ris family mombers. Pl Boarsd oseronad eerigh of
My, Cotter, 31 s exstutive compensation decisions as 2 past of his perfornass sxoom former Chief Bxevotive Otiver.

Theowghowut this PRy shuemeat, the wdividoals paawd i the Sumpmey Conpensatan. Dible, fedow, are refepred o as the
“sned exvvative oiflien.”

CEQ Comipeaivation

T Compensaon Uonumittes rocoimends o our Bogs &i 3"3'}@:‘ anning compensiriong of gt Uhie! Exeouiive Sxilioer, hased
peimacly s e Dampensation Clanusiier s atmead tosiw of pect praup proactives sad th advice ol an widepeasing, !hm{ HHITY
CoMpedREl N Soteita. P Compepsiatam Cornmities has t‘\mhmimi e componeits of oy Chiet £ xegntive UHTRoer ™y
CORIPOHSET T D ase msh srdaey, & discretonary annug] cash bonus, and g fixed stek grant.  The obfzatvay of wanh el nwm 1% 19
ressonatdy resvaed ot Uhied Exsvative Offtcsr e has o her ;}uiurm*muﬁ atad Joadeesinp,

ey 2007, oue Hoand sppooved & supplumentid executive seticanend plan (USERFT) parsuae o which we sgreed o provide My
Ldior, &y mgmimmztai retfrors bone s v arewaed By Bl more s IR vowy of service g pray ety snd #8
i\f\ﬁ‘t& w\mh \ossg n; ‘S.i: dsm\‘a 5 Y {siit‘ 3% " mﬂ h e {‘iu i *um«». Ui\tsﬂ:r \ts Hieﬂ \1 £ oodter. say ssum*m Uhied Exaentesy
e : SERP, which & descrbad i Y
msmﬁ ‘trkm mk\ks e t“\gmosi \u\wg‘%mmm&i § cenive 8 *nw;wm §‘i\m iiu, e :hu\ plan wy ad(t;tmi as s rewvarsd to Nl Slaatet
S, o s servicey wind the smounts 1 b paid wodor dhat plas e detearannd by an es(:mui P formrds, the Campons ation
Coranition did s ke i A henetits vedey tha phaay do dteradieg My, Conter, B s anmal EEBPORHR M’ Myt gy
jrevans vears The :‘»SIN}HB{\ yeflectad ndhie B -h\n{m. Covupronrttig Table wisker the heading “Ulange 4o Peasten Value and
‘w:sz;m}\n wd Pleforged t‘m;\“ﬂ\-sim‘iﬁ weapgs” RGect w iperesse in the presemt valae of the SERP bene i basod upon the
acinariat wapsct of the payinm ai Mr Cotiey, Sr. & aily sompensatinn wead chingus 41 interas mu.\ St the SERP w untundad,
tass aprveeand shoes wot redlect ang st payant iy aur Compay it e planas L erkatse s sen S b the phion (o whieh shese
e ey, Vhie Brasti 1o b Uoiter, B0 wedur the SERE wore ted 1 the vash porhon oaly of fiis sovponsation, wisd not o
comgensataon e By o ek epiions oF stock gesnts.

M CEQ Compensarion

The ovapeisation Consnities engaged Toveers Watson, Brmerty Towces Portin, oxoostive oompensation comadiants, in
RSB .amh e Chied Frevmive (oo s total divect componsation conmpared o & piy group of tompanies. s preparing the
saelysts, Towers Watson, i cotaulatiss vt o wanagenent, including James . Cottey, Sr, sdontified 9 poer group of companes
so the seal eabtie and cinenin eshaduton Idstoes, OuE B Dukiness SOIBenty, hmed on marked valpe, wshusiey, "tk Dusiness
e TpimiL,

&

For purpsees of oxtablistiog cur Chud Eapentive (Miwes 3014 sompansaion, he Compensatam Cammitios engagnl
Towers Watsen to mxﬁst&* s wndvaas of Se LRy, S0 compensaiion ay vempared fo Day poers, alipol apdated Tepel was
received o Fobomary 3 205 The Compeny paid Toveers Watson 811,401 for the updatd repadt.

The Tivears Watson analvsts focgsed on the compotitivenass of Mr. Tobror, S8 anrasal hade xadasy, fo1al gash _
compeasativn and ol direct compoasation {ov. ot cash componsating Pt rxpc,umi el ard fong-tonm conmpamsiinn sefative
o 41 gy gronp of Undted Siates and Austedian comytanios and publivhd soraponsation sutvey s, sl e ane
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BEHYE o gl asive SaRERmenix vve spectiied for wwy daaeiormag the amouns of vash botus 1o by avgedod within i

page. A 8 2R the Conpensation Uomanities also rpsorved the right 1o morcass the upper range of discretionary cash bonns

amourny bused upon oxesptivnal rosults o owr Company oy My, Opiter, 30 oxoptionsd performianee, a8 deteravinest i the
“oengensation Lumraitios s disvrtiog. ' |

Y

Ad Hs peating o Augest B4, 344, the Compoasation Commattes determmed it Mr. Caiter, 5003 spccessiul sonapletion of
sare xades oF the Hurseood propesty in Austialia sl pthee secomphishmunts o 201 pestilied the swand 10 Mr, Cotter, 8¢, of the Yl
$ 30000 cavh boruy, plus an sdditonal cxsh boviug of 3300008, The Componsebon Cemimties s doterimnation 1o sward the
axtravrdinary cazh bopes was based i part on thy sdvies of Towers Wadsaa,

Binck Bomen 3 200 08 {160.843 shaves of Claas A Juxk}

A mocting o Folvisiry 37, 3014, dhe Compraation Cownuiiios dutermdned thin, so Jong o My Cotter, Se.'s eniplayaiag
with the §”?xmf§3m;\}-‘ i ol teemantod poter to Devsmbor 31, 3019 other thaw as o cosulbof has duath ar draabidity, he was fo seoeive
Al odd shars af oue Cotagamy ‘s Ulis A Siock: the nuinbes of whares of Ulsas A ponvating comna sTack cquad 1o 31, 28,001
itk By the closing prive of the stock on Febouary 37, 264, she date the Comamtine approved the stock borgs. This compares W
& shvidfiar stoek e jo M. Catter, Sy o PTRO00 w3013

The stock boaws was pand 1o the Estate of My, Uoiter, 3r. i Febrogey 2513

 Following biv appointment on Augest 7, 3004 as our Uhief Bxeontive Ofonr i watil Mo womination froo it postion on

Tgme b3 20FS damies 3 Cudier, Jrocontamed fo seopive the smme base salaey of K331 000 that e had provigasdy boss reCerving 8y hig

vaprreity w snn Prasadom,

i

My Uoltee, I s el aovarded salisorotimary oash banns g .

Tunverd Errvey Costensstion

W gnd aur Compatsation Comeniis e s potioy regasding the xsnua of saliry and cash bons paid to ouy Uiel
Excontive CHlcer o othey samed sxavatrvg sifioms i propotiog te b il Jut compansation,

Lamponawiion of Liker Nawmed Execuiive Qfffcsrs

The sampeasatior od e Coster funtle sreoatsny s sosintive ofhwen of agy Clinpay s sdotermrasnd by e Componsstem
Compmitgee baseid an the 300 compansation phitosopdiy used o dotramined S Cotier, 808 2014 sompensation. The Outier famiy
peshens " HOSPREive sornpanion convists of @ bave cash sadary discreiieney canh temus and poriodic disertiaaay gois of
stoek aplioas. ' '

S Cator, S st the 30 bast sabiries of s sveentive aificers othor shan bt amdmendors of fis fuwdy. M Datier,
WUs depisions s nob sislesd to approvat by e Compousation Comuaitter 8wy Bord, Bt ous Conpupsanss Conumise and siw
Poard ooustaerad My, Cota, B s deoiaiomi Wl aepecd 1 SR g0 SOMPORIRGON 11 Svakiting his peoienwiwe ay aar £t
Executtvr (Hheer. My, Cattee, %e. wifomed e dag he dal not s gy Hyemle, fnchough of otiey quaniitdive reswy ke estabdish
ay sward Gy CRponont of ascutive somponsation, por did e convalt with componsation comisitans on te matter. Me. Usiter, B
sy issi.vi:‘;_t:t‘iimxthai b considered the following guidelioes i setung the type and wpouni of exagutive tompansation:
1. Exegative vompensation should privsaeily be vsed 1
w  grteach and rotain talented sxecuiives
v powand Quasutives apgropiaiely for their individual offons and job perfornanes; and

¥ affvd executives appropingy contives ko aehivve the shavtders and fongorm busingss shjotives
astebdished by sanagerment and srwe B,

2o inauppert of the feraguing. the el compoasatm ped 1 v named exeemive ofioors shoitd e
*  faif, bodh i ouy Company aeed o the nansesd execaiive offioers;
* cepsabie o nanes ad wnpuat; aml

% Compolaive with R COMpensaking reb,

28
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Persetil annd Corapangy porlongns seire st v lctors tinsidered by My, Untter, 51, 1 establishing hase salartes. We
have no pre-ostabdished policy or targer S sBovating total exgcutive compensation betwegn hase and discretinnacy or incemlive
cemplnsation, o botiveen cash sad stock-bised wicentive compensation. Histenoally, inclading in 3014, amajority of fotal ,
contpensation 9 our pamesd axeentivie pffivees has boor in tie form of avcusl fase salaries and discretionary casdy bonuses, aithongh
stoek bonuses bave been grinted oo e Wy tine waler specis Grgumstinees,

Thess slonents o our gxocutive compensation are dscissed funther below,

Sluty Al base wilary B intended to compensate named executive officers Tor serviges sondered during the Reed vem
i O rdnary courge of peeforming their job responsibiditios. Factors considired by My, Cotter, Sr. in setting the bise salaries may
have iscduded (1 -the nopetistod 1wims of cach executive sy emploviment agresnent o the original forms of ceployment; (0 the '
urdivigisal's gosition and tevel of respussibility with our Compny, (it petiodic resiew ol the exsiative’'s caanpensation; both
insdivtchuatly and relative to our other named exevutive nfficers, and (v} a subjoctive eviduation of idividoal job perlormaance of the
exponiivie, '

Cash Bomps Historicay. we have awarded annuat cash bonuses (o supphement e o sabiries of oue namad excadive
efficers, and vor Boasd as didegated to oy Chied Exesutive Dificer the suthority to deterrming 6 his discertion the anal esshe
Yenuses, iF a0y, 10 be puid to our xcodive officess other than the Cottay iy cxentthves, Aoy disonstionary annval bongies 1o
the Catter Ganily executive have Bistotiostly been demmrained by our Boasd based ppan i recommendation of our Compensation
Lenmitleg.

C 0 Ny cash Binased wive awarded te Cottor Bandd inenibory other than Mr. Cotige. S for 2008 Factors -t be considored
i determbeing o reeennnesding sy such casl Pongses inchude (1 the lovel oF the exeoutive's responsibilities, U ihe clficiuney and
elfeciiveness with which bsr or sl vvarsoss the uatiees wodec s oc her sugrervision, sund (il the degroe to owheh the offtoer s
contributess] o she accomplishnens o magor weks that sdvanee e Coovipaay ‘s goads.

Stock Bons: Baniey incentive omuses naay e awarsied te phgn ous excoutives” fongstorm compensation to appreciagion i

........ SEnm N St oy

stockholder vatuwe iver v aosd, so ong as sach grasts @ wither the parasaetens set by our 2016 Stock toeptive Plag, hisworicatly
wive ondiredy disereionany on the part of Mr. Cottor, Se. Uther stock grant e sulject toippeovad by the Corposstan
Conwitey Bagaity avords sy i hude stiock options, restrieted stuck, butus stock, oy steek apprecianon s

frawarrded, 7 generalby sty polion 10 valoe stock aptions and resivicted stoek ot the closing poee of our common stoek g
repyted of the NASTIAQ Capitel Mavker on il due the wwand i approved oron G dae o hire 17 the sloek s rasted s 2
secritment inventive. Whon stock 1S granted a8 bongs compensation for 3 partuiar riesand e, the sward may s based on the
market price on adite caloslaed ram the choving date ol the rebevant wansachon. NwandS vy also b subgortto vostiag sad
Hipitations oh vouing of pidur nghds, '

Aredrzey Matyinenshy, aor former Chict Finsacad Difiver, Troavwrer and Cospaarate Socraiary, has g wiittes smploymen
agrreort willl our Cannpiany thad poovides foe i spectiicd snnual base salady and other congiiion, M Mityazynshi texigaesd
etfective Septomber 1 EL, but e and our Company agreed o postpone the elfeaive by of his rosgnstion vead Apat {3,

HHE Upon My, Matvceyaski™s Revoement Dise, e witl become entitlod under s emplovinnt agreenent 1o 3 lamp-sum severgnse
prpvneas of $234 300 and o the payment of s vested bene it under his delerred compensation plan discussad befuw in this section.

Cither than M. Cotter, 507 snd My, Coster, 3r's rofes as Chief Execntive Offtcer in setting compensatio, now of oy
gxvcttive officers play o rode in deteemining the compensaiion of oar aamed executive offioen. '

2014 Buse Salaries and Target Bowses

We have histopically establivhid base sidaries and target thscreonary cush bompiss for our pamed Rxecutive officers
throngdy negotimions with the individual pamed execotive oificer, gonersily 8t B¢ time the nuisad exscntive affiwer commenced
smiplovment with us, with the intent of provading annual cash compensation st a level sufficlent th atirsct wid retain adented and
sxperenecd fndividuads . Qur Compensation Cormitha recomnended and e Board sppeaved the fodlowing base salancs fr MY
Conter, Jroand Bllen 8 Cottar for 2014

a9
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2§13 Bave Salary 2018 Hase Salary

Namie - B3] . - 1) S
Elon 8. Cotgy ERELY IR

The base salaries of our other pamed execntive officers wore estabhishod by Mr. Cotter, B¢ as show in the fotlowing tabler

20013 Raxe Balary 2014 Base Safury
L v evoomermmeeeesrgrdide :

Robert ¥ Smcrling .
Wivpe Smah T

AN samed execntive officers o ol igible 10 receive o diserctionry aonuad cash borus. Gl bomibigs are fypicatly provsted
ter petont g parbisd year of sorvice, Ous Boand reservex dheorenion t adpst bonuses for the Cotler Tamly membaers bused on s own
evaluations of the recommendations of sar Componsation Commusee oy 18 did inbosh 201 Land 20 Mr Cotter, Srisome

Wa offer-siock options and stock awards to opremployees, including named oxecaive officers. o5 the Jong s icentive
sampenent of our compensiatien paopram. Wi sdenctanes gt eguity awards to new hires ppon thew commencing cumplevmen with
wsad Fremn T o et theeeaBes: Dur stock options atiow eoiployess W purchase shres of Sut common S0k of & Prge PR share
egual to the Ty neivkot vialue of et cormanon siock o e date of grant s may or may pot be intended o quadily as inaastive.
stck apttsns” Gy LUS federal invome tax purposey. Genenslly, e staek optinns we geant b our empdoyees vest over Foue years i
cpeal pastadiasents upn e sonmed spniversarios of the dade of grant, subjoct tethedr confraned crplovment with vy on auh vosting
dute.

Cher Blegnogs of Copgprensation

Setieomerst Slars

W it o BEER  vethorement savings phan that affows eligitle omplovees to defer 2 portion of thewr compensation, within
Bty prosoribod by the inmmmad Hovenpe Unde, oft 3 pee-ix basis through costebutions to the play Oy anesd excouth offiogrs
oty tun Ay Swidh, scho oo nieoasinlent of the T8S are elygable b pastiopati 3 she WK phon onthe same fooms as ither fidh
s coploveer meneratly. Cuiresdy, o aaich contribaions sk by partacipants o the S0 plan np te aspeeitiod poroeniage,
aved these sagohmg comributions are fully vested as of the date on wineh the contributinn s made. We baleve that privubing &
vehwebs S ke ferred sepivement savings Humgh e S8 plas, and neding Rully vested matchmg catobuioos, whis 1o i
sverad! dostrabulioe of our oyeative comyimsmion packape sol et iy our ceplovers, inchaling oy ssed oxrgiive
ofleeery. 1w geeendimiee with oue compedsation padicies.

Suprenrensgd Exoouive Retivement Pl

fn March M8, our Howrd approved the SERP pursaant w which we agreed 1o praviske Mr. Cower, Sr supplenwnial
retiveriayt beaetits, Lhgder the SERE, hloving bis sepaeaiion from ouy Company, M, Cottir, Sv0was toche entited tereceiss frea
our Cempany Toe B ormsinder of Rig {ife or B30 months, winchever is longer. 3 mentdy paymont of 40% oF his svitage exombly base
satury and cash bonuses over the hughest consecutive St-month peciod of eareings prioy 1o Mr. Cistier, So7s sepanstion from service
with us. The dendits under the SERP wre fully vesond.

Fhe SERE s mdimdial snd, as such, the SERF bonedits s wrsecnred, general ubligstions of v Cumpang. We miay
chintse i ihie futens to establish one of more grantor sty from which to pay the SERP bepeits. The SERP o admanpyonad by th
Congrensation oaurnities,

Enbr Betivomend Floss

Praring 2012, Mr, Matveaynski was gravted an unfunded, nonquatified doferred compensanon phan CRCP Hibat was

30
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paartiatly vusted and seas to vost farther se ongas he sepsadied 4 pue comtinusks anpleoy. IEAE Matvozyaski woee i fae teamiusted
im catese, then the sotad vested amount would e redisond oo, The Wnromental mneunt vestad Cvh Y v e SUgRCE B
reviesy and upproval by our Bomrd. Mr Matyeryaski's DER vested av Bitfovs:
Total Yesied Amount ot the Ead of
l‘m:emher.ﬂ . N _th\nm&%ear cceeeeesseocmsmmmns
CORMMX D e
i £ R L

M. Satyeay sk resigned his employment s the Company efecnve Sepmber §, 01, but he and ooy Compasy agreed
o pospone the sifective date of tos resignaiam uoti &gmt, s Lipon e teromaationad . \iim‘ cryniske s emplavivant, b would
Iroonra sntiod walr the LUT agroomint w povitust of the ustad boseiits woder s P in ane aiiwm Sraents Seflowing the lae
of fa) 30 days s\ﬂtumng M. Satverynaki's 63 birthaay or (b six monthis aiter his soparation From sorvice, snloss ks emplovimens
wore i be terminaiod for cduse.

W curonthy maintain ag Sther retitement plan for sor naned erecutive uilicers,
Ky Frraon Inveronge

Char Cmpasy madiiang HIC insunaes ot ovrtas idividuals whoe we bobieve 10 e key © owr sumagement. b 33HA thow
ncdivisduale mchwded Yames 3 Cotter, 55, Banuns 3 Ontwee, Jr, Blen M Cotter, Sargarel Uhtter and Mossrs, Matvorenshy, Spaordieg snd
Sl 3 sk individest consen 1o de anemphinige, Direcios ¥ independen QonFaIne ol nue O SRR, &S E otones s B, she &
B by pernmttiad, by assursing rospnsbility For ol Betuse promaim paymonts, o rephre due € RUIBEE RS the bepe oty aoder sueh
pebicy. Those policies shlow eacl such individual to pusdiuse Bp 1 98 squal whoind of sy for sach v ddust s owa

houeiy, I the sase of aur dmployees, the g -&;musm o both the smumme 2 beewhah ane Compatiy i it benelicaacy arnd the

ISREEROS 3 fo selsboh s canplovae i the besetiohiy, s paad by sy U ‘oonpany. 101he case of gumod Crerive officdes. s AR
p«ssé by sy Coangrary S the bopefie o such iy isdat i roffeciod i ihe ‘ompersaiion Tobhe i the coban coptiosed © XH Usthor
{. qmm‘smmwn

Sapedavey Besngdaes oved Povspuastes

Ohige anssd exegnties oTRGe o ol te puaripate o o bealdy sad watfirs phias te i cume exveat s fullaiae
winplisvess genenilly. We do ant geanratly pevvade sne mad oxcoutive offmms wisth porquasetey o adhor personl betdie, sltungh
m ﬁn past we pmndmi Ke S0y, N the pe:s»ma af use o oy West Hinflewsod, Califoriin, cossdomimum, shilch Wwas veed aa an
e rating plice o offtee s vold i Fobiougry JULE, § Company-awiies) sutmodste and 3 healib chsh awandeiihip.
Hif'scmmth\ at} afvesr wiber samed exevutive officony st v recoteast  autemotule alwamnes, Froo i to tume, we iy provek
otfiey perquisiios ro-om ay Mo of ey wher samed exsentiv offeers,

Fay Lornay g

Aga genead rude, we de ot ke QISP paymoais 1 COVE otr nand eaerntevy adlioers” porsosmd Jnoome s tha

WAV Peiln m any of the u}mgtfamﬁaﬂ! pasted o provided by our O wapany. in JO14, however, we relmbased M, Ellen 8 Cotigy
356, e For dnoae tavnes st ipouered as w oot of hee saevve of steck aptinns tak werne deemed 9 be aepquaditiad stogk aptions
fm HIRINTE BN pusposes, bl which were inferdad by the O omp\‘mam.m Commiies and ber to de sogatied incentive sock optivns,

RO, when swt;,;mih srasied. Our mxp&ﬂmmm Commiter folieved w was apprroprinte o soimbarse My Cotter beeanse it
wm ity Convygrany s iedeniio 38 et of the Bsuunce o give By the Gy defereal Reahuaee applivable e 1508 Due 10 the application
of vy stirtbution rabes, e did vet in B quadity forsnch tax deferad. Accordingly, upon exesoise, she raived e
connpeisation i the Compensation Conunittes had invonded,

Fax gad Acconnting Consideraiinns
{ductibifine of Exeoutive Compersaiion

Subjoet 1o an exception “perfenmiante-hased CHpPeRIaion,” Sl TaIimy of the dmeranl Reveaue Code generally
ool pasblichy fudd corporatias Soom dedncting Ry fesdersd inciahe tax parposes s comprivssion pad to any snior
encoutive pifieer o the ensont that sick anemal comprasstion eiconds S5 mithot. The Congpeemngion Camitice ek s Pored
srpsidor e Hints va dodueitbifity sidor Section 1620 wpsthinhing oxcowtive compasstion, bl retais the
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Putential Payments Upos Terminntion of Empleyment or Changy ia Control

~The following pasagrapls pravide informsion regardiog potenial payments to ciach of dut nagwd exeautive offivess in
commction with cotain icrannation ovents, acleding u eninaton nidaled (o change of control of the Canpany, at of Deconday
33 2004 > ' |

M Devasis Gl - Tarmimstion sithoat oiss Under his amplosment sgreeant, we iy teenvaane My, Glose’s
crployrent with or without causy (as defined) at oy ine. Hote forayimate s amployment withou! vinse of fnl o renew hes
emplovivent spresrnest spon expitation without case, M. Qb wall be entithod 10 T000VE SOVEERTES 11 & amouit egual to the
satary and bepctins e was receiving for 3 period of 12 months folfowing such rermunadion o por-remsest. H the tenminstion i« in
comgectiion with 3 “change of control” {as defiped . Mo Ghose woudid be entiifed 1o severmnee in an amoum egual fo i
vompessation he would have recervead for 3 posiod taa yeans fromy such fersimtion.

Me William Bl : ting withonr Caas Under his conplosment agreemend, we may enminme Mr. Bl cmplovient
seith af without ceuse (e dehiped stagy Boawe 1 we tennage bis cm;:ipgmmt withotrt cawse, Mr, LHis will be eptatled, subject 1o
receipt of i penetil yefiaso, W receive SEvorass it an amount cysal & the vompensation b would tave reesived Ry the vemuiader
of the torm of s emploviien agreement, o 2 awmhs, shichever s fesg, butin noevent foss thay 12 wonths. 3 the woninstion s
1 copmection with ¥ "vhange of contral™ (as dedimed), Mr Bl vonuded be entitlad 10 severanes 1o w8 smount gl o the
compensation he wouhl huve seceived for 3 poviod of twice the number of sonths romainmg i the onw of s smplovineat
agesow.

¢ Porlormin Shandhedy M Swih's omployimont is

e Winens Smities Toontmten ol Baplor et B Baliog to Mest Pulvomaua Stundady
hogancs, Mo Smah wilt be enhitlod e sovrane

tm‘e‘:-&-nn’tmi}::y thie Broard tor Sulag te moet the ssandards of Sig goprcipated p
parient of speomonths base sufary

Ko ather samed excatdive offfesss cunmily livve orgplovinent Bpcemonts of ooy drangements providing bendis apot
oraating of 3 dadge of Santeol,

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The oribers o v Sl aed Conthicts Computies gre Duoglis MeEnchesy, who sorviss s Uty sod Ulwaad _
Kb, Mapagcusir e all petentiad refated pacty wsctions W the Coallivis Uonpaister for sovisw. D Confliats Camnsitioy
pisviews whedBer i hvon rokatiod pairty teansaclio o bossiiciad i o Company, atsdd approves or bars the namsacuon gise s
thorough apalves. Unly UComanee smonbess disintersstid in the teansscsion iy gaeibon participas in i delomianon of whother
the wassacion auty prisct

s

Sutton Hilk {apitad

I 2001, we ontered inte 8 trassection with Swson Hill Capriad, LLC O SHC regavding the teasugg walyomopion o
prarchase of vertain cincws focted i Manbattan ‘:ﬂt‘-imiiﬂg our Village Fastand Cinemas {2 & Jtheaters. I connection seith thai
ransaction, we alse apreed 1o fend ceriatn wmoums 10 SHU, wyprovide Bgaidity in a3 ivestment, pending oor deasrmnipatom whsther
OF 1Ot I ExerUive O ppinn 1 purchine and to manage the 38t Steoet Cioens oo o o basis, SHO is o Hoted Diability company thist
r-ovwnest by Sutten PR Assoxiinen, which wim a SUES ot s Detseotn Somes 3. Cutter, Se. anid Michae! Forman. The Village
Fast is the anly cinoma subypeet to this fease, s duriag 2053 3003 amd 3072 sorr paid rent to SHEC tn the amonnt of 330000 anrually.
Chr e 39, 208, we sgvoasd o extend pur existing feaxe from ST of the Viliage B Cinepng @ Mew York City by Hhyears,

with @ new tenydntion dae of Jane 30, 3020 The Village Bt lease mebudes o subeledse of thae groosnd undochying ihe Sinems that s
subjedt to o longerterm pround fease detwosn SHEC and an unrclated thind posty that expiegs i June 203 (the “cineous ground
foase”y The oxtended hease provides for s ol oprion purspant e which Reading ntity purchase thy chwraa ground lease oy J3.9
willios w thee end o the lease womt. AakdiGonady, the toase has 5 pat sptiom pursuant 10 which SHC may regquire w30 purchase off pe
a potiion of SHOs inferest i the exbiing sincmr foase and the cinciia ground fsase 8
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sl 10 gover Bix H share of cortare cusds sasoeistesd with fug atquisinen. This faad i beld w Shadow View Lamd and Paoming,
L, wehrich fs osned 3% by wur Company. M Ustter, Jr. contends that the other 3% miceest i Shadow Vizw Land aod Farrong,
L0 o ooeaed byt Faesties & oty Sy Davegg Trastowddle BHen W Cottor aind Marpan Cotier sinrtead i suck pterest i towaisd
fev the Betate of Jamns 1 Cotiey, Sr. W wre e cuanagivng mevadet of Rudiry View sl and Fasrsing, LI, with ovoraght provided
by ous Agshit Comming.

INGEPENSUENT PURLIC MCCOUNTANTS
Sumaacy of Princips! Accounting Feex for Professinat Services Rewdereyd

) ~ Ohur wmadepomient public accountants, Grant Thoesion 1P, have wwlitial s Fosnowl stabements Bor the Bxead year cndd
Drecember 31, BHA, and wre expected 1o have 2 represeamtive preseal st e Anpusl Mocting, whe will have the opportundy B make
 siatenent if he or she dosares 1o de 50 and 15 expocted 1o be avaidable 1o respond 10 appropeiaie giestions.,

Awnidit Fees

The spgrogete Ros for probssionsd sorvives For the auda of our Bapelad statements, wudit of seierad controbs relised io the
Sarbanesdey At sl ibe reviews of the Rospcisl stntvments inchadhind i vur Fopms 10K imd B provaled by Gramt Thotston

ELF for T aad 2013 waee spproxensiehe SO0 708 snd 3SM 00, senpretiively.
Kokt Hebyied Frex
frrang Thostor LUP dud not prosiske vy any awdit seditod sepvices for 2004 or 3813,
Fax Feex
it ¥honten LLE dhl not pravike ws any produets sr sy servioes for iax complinnas, ax sdeioe, or fax plammang iy 364
sy MY
AR Dher Foes
Cerand T hoomton LLF dic o poeeid s any services Gy 200 or 2013 e than as sot fouth adunvg,
Pro-Appraes! Policies sad Procaduees

LR At Crapusios mued pre-apprinee, Reihe oxtant soprarad e spplicable faw, 1 sedit sevvives ond fusrasiasebiy s
et sorviees praveihad by our iodepesshont ropastored pubthie seounting Bom, wowept oy iy o sendsi noi-aadi soreiees. Saw
andit servioss gy constilored o seinieny 10 1he SpRropate amasit of b such pore sl Serviees constisies oxs than Mol the
il sponnt of ravenes we patd 1o e sndepemlin seguiiured pahia: soonnating o dormg e fisead v s which they e
provided! fad wi B s roegoss xach Srvices @t e e o He engagpene fo by sonesuda setviva dnd 184 yach e iees M
poosnptly submitied © s Swdit Uomrgistos for appooval peioy o ihe complotion of g audit iy our Audit Camises o any of is
seprbers whee s smborgy jo give suck apgroved. O Aaadit Comnuites pre-appruved all services proveisdiad fo aw by Geang
Thovagw LEF e 301 annd 2013

STOCKHOLIER COMMUNIUATIONS
Annuat Repors
A uapy of our Aaoust Ropert en Foont HEK By the Nsoad vesr onded Proumber 3, 2008 3% hoings provided with this Prosy
StgLmi,
Steckbolder Conpannicsiions with Dieeetors

1 s the pehoy of o Soasd of I aotion iBat sy cosunumoations sent i the Qlontion of wry ang of more of wur Dipdass
iR cave o Qur exeoutive oifes will he prowptly oreaded o suck Divcatins. Such sommunications will st be opened ar seviessud
by anty of our offloers or ooprlevnes, o by any sudu Daecioy, undess Hhey o regaestod 1 dicse by the sddroein of sny sueh
copdnvaiogtion. Libeaise, the content of any whephone tsessiges ot for ary one of ore of our TRreciors (omiuding waid-hack
snacheer, 6 and sl be promply forwardod o that Diirecta,

Sterhhalder Propossb and Diveglor Noninstions
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PROXY VOTING INSTRUCTIONS |
YOUR VOTE IS5 APORTANT, PLEASE VOTE TODRAY,
e anNOuTege you IG take advamtage of infernet or trlephoae viting.
- Both are availabis 24 howrs 3 dey 7 days aweek
tnrgmet 90d MEEORSNR YITNG B S\ RiETR theough 1153 p.me BT, an Novkishar 3, 2018,

WOTE HY iINTEHNET AORW FIRSTOOL dTREIULT 3 0 SR

Ak T TR T PWRRS e NG RIS B D I Ry W
i Xo o BT L A ) ss\a U Nmwesl § INE Ece vas m~m
"‘W B '\a xm“txxm v;mtz\w 'ﬂws‘m:*m O ARER

| B.R_
VOTE BY TELEPHONE e mmmas
GRS AT SIS Eatere B IR LT RN RIAERS @ e it 332

T T GIETRE B ORNTR B SRy SRS NN TR P S P
i TN RN

VOTE 8Y L
B L R T e S R m* m *mmgwm e
A8 RN PURSANE N R LY Faeath. v, A0 e ML Oney 2wl

Reach. ¥ NHRNMRIL

N pon o SRS WAL ¥y TRUW XN WRRNR e 30 NET e T we SRR
O ORE TR Gt Wi o RERESh oiE SiRdeash e imad
S B Wby EOU SN W TR SpRE A 3w I o maried wipued
50 TRARIG P PARY DT,

CONTROU RUMBER

HEADING IHTERﬂA?!ﬁNAL ANRUAL MECTING PROXY CARD
BOARD OF BIRECTORYS - The Boand of DReciorns recommancs ¢ vote FOR sl nominess Hsted.

Fropase | _ _ ‘
31 Elen 3 Curdter (G2 iy . Adems 3R Judy Doddng Sdrsames d. Colter dr. (08} Margaret Uoiler
ERyWitian D Gould (ST Edeard L Xens (R Dougtas., KeEBachwrn {09 Michael Winlrisk,
K Bei ':} VTR Bl ‘-r R AL RESART "%

To withhokd your mtefot arry individuat nominge{x), mark “For Al Excapt® hoxand weite the number{s; of the nominees{s} on
the line batow,

PR RO T BN
Frogossl 2 Ratification ofthe Appointrment of Our tndeperiden Suditors, Grant ThamianLLP for . .
Escal year 361 5. The Board of {iragors recormmends a voie FOR appraval of the 3 B i
apoairtmens of ooy Srand Thamtsn LLE.

FProposal. 3_,;‘}&1:‘( Business. irthisi chsorstion e provges sre avthoriedin v e SROn sumh ol
Bei%intes s 3% My propedy coms before ihe masbing and at and with respact 1o aoy st
all Bgjumaents o posiponements theraol, Thw Basra o Dinsgues o pressneKnos of
Ry t:ss'h&rmsjnﬁsia be pfﬁﬁﬁm e ot Sn ks of tve Somparsy o the Boardof

THIE PROXY CARDHS WAL ONIY WHEN SIGRED AND DATED.

SRR

SR TR

TE¥
TR SRR TS SIS RI LSO TETY BALLTS ALEDS STOLASNEE BT R
‘-"f“ W}“""\‘ B SR s-.'tww t\v’f TRV WEWR W 3.w £ SN

W sx-.fq:-:n;&_ e g ROTIR RS B VR ;ﬁﬂt\a Ntu_s 24"
TERTEN SR Gy FLOERE STRDS Frod e R 2L
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SIGH, DATE AHD MAR. YOUR PROXY TODAY,
URLESS YOU HAVE VOTED BY INTERNET OR TELEPHONE.

B YO HAVE BOT VOTED Y INTERNET OR TELEPHONE, PLEASE DATE, MARK, SIGN ARDRETURN
THIS PROXY PROMPILY. YOUR VOTE, WHETHER BY. IHYERHET TELEPHONE OR MANL, MUST BE
RECENVED NO LATER THAN 11:58 P, PACIFIC TIME, NOVEMBER 9, 2015,

TO BEMCLURED I THE VOTING RESULTS, ALL VALID PROXIES RECEIVED PRICR TO11:59P.M,
FACIFIC TIME, NOVEMBER 9. 2015 WiLL BE VOTED,

SEE REVERSE SIDE

‘ it auMsWﬁ& Proxy s Iy ik, ;m R s-:utt SRG Fete 1R Darg a8 Mrvrrse an g snd deizch aarg st rforation betors mmiim,; i

L RO MM CORMMIEE. MRS MMM MENEREE BRI MRS GRMARE.  ARAERD  SAMRERE  MRRRAT MR AN

READING

LA IRTERNATISMAL

ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKKOLDERS
November 10, 2015, 11:00 a0,
THIS PROXY 18 SOLICHED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Theundersignediereby apports Ellenhl. Toltar anddoiigibatyctyish aod gachiofthem, Ihe alvrneys, agants, sndproxies ofihe

LR Sgred, w il Rl [ty 61s Of EUBS RO IO SACH, 10 AHENA AN BT A3 DRy O prodies o the undersigned &t e Srwal Klastog of

SHack hoscers of Resdnginterational jng o he naid st the Rils Carftors- hanna Dol Rey, lovabed a8 4375 Admirsiy Wey, Manns deiRey,
Catifgrmg SU2R2. O Toasday, Novemper 15, 2085 ab 4450 3 o | iooal kg and sl snd wth respeetio anyans ail anparraents oy
posinonemertanaresh degtio ee sk spacited erainthe number ol shweswhichine urar sigrest, f pureooaly peesaed. wouidbe anliiets

wiile,

Freundamgaed heﬁt:, rafifies s Feotens sl that tha o mys sr\apfmm sr aery of thaem, of theds substiuies, shabiaeluly voor
GERES 0 Be dturve Dy v hsosod, anidburshy revaves arey I a1 peowies Ranstotors given iy theunasesignedto v e mibe Snnai Bleating
The GRS Ersuen RO RO EORs raosips of Hie Hatoe of anecst Mesting argt tha Proxy Sistamant scosmpandng suoh aotice:

THE PROXY, WHEN PROPERLY EXECUTED AND RETURNED PRIOR TO THE ANNUAL MEETING, WiLL BEVOTED A'S DIRECTER.
IF HO DIRECTIDN IS GIVER, T WILL BE VOTED "FOR” PROPOSAL 1, 1, AND i THE PROXY HOLDERS DISCRETION AS TOANY
OTHER MATTER THAT MAY PROPERLY COME HEF ORE THE ANNUAL MEETING OR ANY PO STROREMENT OR ADJGURNMENT
THEREDF.

SEE REVERSE SIDE

47

APP_PAGE_1268





